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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

GROUP REVENUE

£10.6bn**

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND
ADJUSTED (TEMS

£176.4m™>

INTERIM AND FINAL DIVIDEND

£613.8m™”

6.8p + 11.9p = 18.7p"*

BASIC EARNINCS PER SHARE

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

7. 2p “70.7%

30.4p™"*

‘; Read more on p08-09 —l

ABOUT OUR REPORTING

NAVIGATING THE REPORT

REPORTING PERIOD

PLAN A

Throughout this document a senes of icons
demonstrate how we've mtegrated information
about our business model with details of our
strategy and risk

PLAN A

RISK

STRATECY - REMUNERATION LINK

READ MORE

Thus year wearereporting on the 52-weeks to 1st
Apnl 2017 compared tolast year whenweraported
orta 53-week basis, as every sixyears an additional
week s included toensure that the year-end date
stays inLne with the end of March To provide a
mearngful comparison with ths year, all inancial
movemnents are reported ona 52-week basis,
andexcluding the 53rd week last year, unless
otherwisenoted

Details of the 53-week comparisons can be
found in the Financial Review p26.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

This report provides alternative performance
measures (APMs) which are not defined or
specified under the requirements of International
Financial Reporting Standards We believe these
APMs provide readers with important additional
information on our business New for this year,

we have included a glossary on page 133 which
providdes a comprehensive list of the APMs that
we use, Including an explanation of how they are
calculated, why we use them and how they can be
reconciled to a statutory measure where relevant

Plan Ans integrated throughaut this report,
demonstrating how it 15 embedded in every part
of our business This makes it easier for
shareholders to see how our sustanability
programme is creating value in our different
drasions More detalled information 1s available in
our aonline 2017 Plan A Report at
marksandspencer.com/plana2017

ONLINE INFORMATION

We have comprehensive financial and company
information on our website To register for
notifications, go to marksandspencer.com/
investors and follow the Electronic Shareholder
Communication link.
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INTRODUCTION

M&S IS ONE OF THE
UK'S LEADING RETAILERS.

WE ARE COMMITTED TO
MAKING EVERY MOMENT SPECIAL
FOR OUR CUSTOMERS, THROUGH
OUR HIGH QUALITY, OWN-BRAND
FOOD, CLOTHING AND HOME
PRODUCTS WE OFFER IN OUR 1,433
STORES WORLDWIDE AND ONLINE.
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*Directors’ Report
Sharaholder information forms part
of the Directors' Report
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OUR BUSINESS

AT A CGLANCE

FOOD

Making every food moment specialis the
aim of our Food business, which accounts
for 60% of our UK turnover. Through the
innevation, quality and choice that we offer,
customers know they can come to us for
every occasion, whether it 1s healthy cooking
ideas, deucious meals from around the world
or convenient food on-the-go. We sell food
through 942 UK stores, including 253 owned
and 383 franchise Simply Food stores

l Read more on p23 j

FOOD REVENUE

CLOTHING & HOME

We sell beautifully designed, high quality,
own-brand clothing and homeware through
343 full-line stores, Outlets and our
M&S.com website. Qur Wormmenswear,
Menswear, Kidswear, Lingerie, Beauty and
Home products account for 40% of our UK
turnover With our focus on contemporary
style and wardrobe essentials, we are the
UK's biggest clothing retailer by value
We are also the market leader in Womenswear,
Lingenie and Menswear

[ Read maore on p23 1

CLOTHING & HOME REVENUE

£5.6bn™

NUMBER OF NEW LINES NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS

£3.8bn™

FULL-PRICE SALES NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS

1,600

24% of range

20.5m

+0.5m

+2.7% 24.6m

-0.1m
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INTERNATIONAL
]

We export the best of M&S Clothing &
Home and Food around the world, with stores
across Europe, Asia and the Middle East
We also have a growing international online
business. Following a strategic review of
our International business, we are focusing
on our established joint venture and
franchise partnerships and operating fewer
wholly-owned markets.

| Read more on p24 !

INTERNATIONAL REVENUE

PLAN A

In January 2067, we launched Plan Ato
address the key environmental, social and
ethical challenges facing M&S. After ten years
and two further updates, Plan A continues
to lead the sustainable business agenda.
This year we are launching a new set of
commitments which have been developed
to transition Plan A into a new way of working
and engaging with our customers.

| marksandspencer.com/planaz017 |

TOTAL PLAN A 2020 COMMITMENTS

£1.2bn™"

107

INTERNATIONAL STORES COMMITMENTS ACHIEVED COMMITMENTS NOT ACHIEVED
-14 net
4:54: new stores 64 6
TERRITORIES COMMITMENTS ON PLAN COMMITMENTS BEHIND PLAN

55"

25 11

COMMITMENTS CANCELLED

1

OUR BUSINESS

QUR PERFORMANCE

COVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OUR BUSINESS

CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

This year Steve has set out clear and decisive plans. | will leave an
M&S that is well equipped for the digitat age and totally focused
on its customers. This more relevant M&S is underpinned by effective
succession planning, good governance and active sharehotder
engagement which have been my focus during my time as Chairman.

INTERIM

ROBERT SWANNELL CHAIRMAN

FINAL

TOTAL DIVIDEND FOR 2016/17

6.8p 11.9p 18.7p

PAID ON 13 JANUARY 2017

TO BE PAIDON 14 JULY 2017

OVERVIEW

PERFORMANCE

This s my last Annual Report as Chairman
after more than six years at M&S It has
beenanextracrdinary honour to seérve
this company

Since Steve Rowe becarne Chief Executive,
he has set out clear plans to accelerate the
pace of change across M&S By simplifying
the way we do things and by focusing on the
customer, we have laid solid foundations

for growth We repositioned our Clothing &
Home business, made important decisions
about the future shape of our UK and
internaticnal store estates, and put inplace
farer pay and benefits for our employees

It has been a year of great change cutside
MES as welt Last surmmer’s vote to leave
the European Union has caused inevitable
uncertainty Nobody yet knows what the
long-term effect of Brexit wili be Like many
businesses we have been impacted by the
depreciation of sterling, butit is ourjob to
seize the opportunities ahead and prepare
foralleventualibes

We have made some hard decisions Some
have led to significant adjustments to our
profits this year and also, in the case of
repositicning our Clothing & Home business,
to some short-term reduction in our
adusted profits However, these changes
needed to be made for the long-term
heatth of the business Decisive actionand
strong execution have never been rnore
important to compete in afast-changing
retail enwironment These actions allow us
to embrace the future from a posiion of
strength, well equipped for a digital age
and with a sustainable business model

| belreve our food s, without exaggeration,
among the best in the world Once agan,
we delivered a good performanceina
tough market Sales grew as customers
responded to the quality of our food and
the convenience of our stores We are very
pleased with the overall performance of
the Simply Foed stores opened dunng

the year Thereturn oncapital from the
format rernains compeling With product
Innovation remaining the backbone of our
Food business and a strong, but measured,
store opening pragramme, we have a clear
pathto growth

We repositioned our Clothing & Home
business for sustainable growth by ending
adamaging cycle of promotions and
discounts Wealsorefocused our ranges on
stylish, wearable, great-quality essentials
By implermenting a sensible, competitive
pricing architecture for our customers,

we have sean encouragingimprovemeants
infull-price sales As expected, fewer
prometions and less discounting resulted
in lower sales Theres much work stilto

do but we are beginning to see signs of
recovery Steve made it clear a year ago
that this repositioning would have a short-
term negative Impact on profits but would
set us up for sustainable performance and
astronger business nthe long term A year
on,we are even clearer that this was the
nght thing todo

OurInternaticnal business hada
challenging year However, we announced
a clear strategy to focus on our strong
franchise partnerships and our established
joint ventures, and operate in fewer owned
markets, by exiting ten owned, loss-making
marketsand 53 stores

Overall, adjusted profit before tax was

£613 8m, down 10 3% on last year However,
due to charges of £4374m, Group profits
fellto £176 4m The main elements of the
charges relate to the cost of Implementing
the new pay and pensions arrangements,
and the cost of the Internaticnal stare
closures Lwas Charman when atbout half of
these 53 stores opened and so must accept
rny full share of the responsibility for this
disappainting result However, consumer
behawviour has changed in the intervening
years We had already significantly scaled
back ourambitions in cwned markets
before we announced these closure plans,
and just as there was a rationale for cperning
the stores then, thereis one for clesing
them now It)s essentizl that we adapt to our
custormners’ changing needs and recognise
the current realities of the markets nwhich
we opérate, despite the short-term cost

Having the nght stores nthe nght places

15 also why we are reshaping our UK store
portfolic,as we focus on having less, more
inspinng Clothing & Home space and
growing our Food space At the end of this
five-year programme we wilt have increased
our space overalland employed more
people Our stores will be more relevant

to the changing needs and habits of our
customers ina digital world



HIGHUGHTS OF THIS YEAR'S
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Governance report provides:

— Aclear and honest review of the year,

—2 Aclear map ilustrating our stakeholder
considerations and engagement,

= The outcorne of our ndependent
Board Evaluation,

- Creater disclosure around Board
discussions and associated actions, and

- Qurapproach tonsk andrisk appetite

As a Board we regularly discuss:

-> Strategy and > Cyberand T
performance > TheM&Sbrand
- Culture and = International
behaviour
- Supply chan
= Succession
planming > Risk
- Ecormmerce = Property
-» Plan A

Read more on p34-83
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A VALUES AND PLAN A

INTRODUCTION

ARCHIE NORMAN
CHAIRMAN DESICNATE

In May, we anncunced that Archie
Norman will join M&S as Chairman on

1 September 2017 Archie has significant.
retail experience and a long-termtrack
record of value creation in several
major British companies He has led
transformations of major businesses
inthe UKand abroad, and served onthe
boards of several others, most recently
as Chairman of ITV ple

Cur values of Inspiration, Innovation,
integnity and In Touch run through
averything we do at M&S This 1s a business
that tries to do the nght thing and this1s
demgenstrated nmany ways, from our Long
Service Awards to helping disadvantaged
people intc work, to the chanty support
delivered through Plan A

This 1sn't new, 1t 1s part of what has defined
us for over a2 century In 1964 Lord Sieff,

our then Deputy Chairman, spoke about
ourvalues “The main purpose of buiding
up a great business should not be

merely to make money,”Lord Sieff said

A company has its responsitiiities, not only
to shareholders but also to the staff the
customers and the whole community in
which it trades Unless it gives satisfaction,
and even happiness to all concerned,

1t wll farllin iks arms in the long term”

His comments are as pertinent as ever

and this philcscphy continues to guide

the way we do business at M&S

This year marks the tenth anriversary of
Plan A tam extremely proud of the work

we have done Fram becoming a zero

waste to landfill business and sourcing

raw materials more responsibly, tc cur
ambitious programmes to support workers
throughout our global supply chain, we
have sought to lead the way on truly
sustamnable change We recently relaunched
Plan A and the latest versionisaimed at
beng evenmorerelevant to customers
and the communities in which we trage

BOARD CHANGES

Since | became Chairmanin 2011 thave
consistently focused on succession
planning as one of the most important
tasks forthe Board Last year, aftera
rigarous process, we appointed Steve as
Chief Executive the first internalappointee
for many years Steve's strategy s firmly in
place so this is now the nght time for 2 new
Charrman to take over as plans for growth
Inthe longer term are developed

After an equally ngorous process led

by Vindi Banga and our Nomination
Committee, i wilt be replaced as Chairman
by Archie Norman in September Archie
brings a breacdthand depth of relevant
experience to M&S and an extensive track
record inretalland brands |am delighted
with Archie’s appointment and | wish him
great success inthisrole

SHAREHOLDER RETURNS
AND DIVIDENDS

We know how important cur dividend

1s to shareholders Our policy remains
progressive, with dividends broadly covered
twice by earnings Despite a reduction

of 10 3% in cur adjusted profits, we have
decided to maintain the total dividend per
share for the year at the same level as last
vear with the proposed payment of a final
dividend of 11 9p per share, this dividend

remains wellcovered on a cash basis
Civenthe cash costs assoaated with our
strateqic change and the uncertain market
conditions, we consider It 1s prudent

not to make additional returns of cash

to shareholders under our enhanced
return programme

A STRONGER COMPANY

lwill leave M&S a stronger company We are
now set up to compete, with a modern
distnbution and logistics backbone and
excellent digital, design and sourcing
capabilities | have been committed to
strong governance throughout my tenure
and your Board today has abalanced
breadth of talent, bothamong the
executives and the non-executives

We have worked toincrease engagement
with our shareholders and employees
Over the last six years, we have engaged
our major Institutional shareholders in
depthin owr business to ensure as much
transparency as pessible Now, through
our Shareholder Panel, we are engaging
with our private shareholders nan
unprecedented way In addition, through
channels such as my reqular meetings
with the Charr of our Business Invotvernent
Croups (BIC), M&S's network of elected
ermployees,and his attendance at our
Board, we are engaging with our people
as never before

Having focused on these three pillars -
governance, successton and engagernent
- believe M&S1s now better prepared

for the further changes ahead

There s no business | would have been
prouderto char than M&S Jwill miss being
part of It its values and the place It holds

in customers hearts My colleagues at

M&S are the most dedicated | have ever
worked with and | never fail to be impressed
by theirr commitrment to the business

They want M&S to succeed and they know
what ‘doing the nght thing means

The last six years have seen profound
changes inretailand at M&S, technology
has transformed the way that people shop
Under Steve, change will continue unabated
-it must To meet the challenges ahead,
M&S must be bold, ambiticus and decisive

It must think big and execute effectively
And, as Lord Sieff said, it must alsc give
satisfaction and happiness to its customers,
Iits employees andits communities

Finally, I would like to thank our customers,
our employees and our shareholders for
their support It has been an unforgettable
privilege to be Chairrnan of M&S and

lwish the business every successinthe
years shead

ROBERT SWANMNELL CHAIRMAN

QUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MARKET & CUSTOMER

INSICHTS

Our actions are driven by listening to our customers and
analysing the market to build a rich and robust picture of our
customers’ shopping habits and outlooks. Everything we do as
a company is filtered through the lens of what we know about
our customers and every decision starts with them,

UNDERSTANDING OUR CUSTOMERS

Qur Customer Insight Unit (CIU} gathers
feedback through a number of different
channels, Including store exit surveys,
online surveys and reviews, till surveys,

the Customer Contact Centre and focus
groups, to build a comprehensive picture

of what our customers want from M&S This
year, we carned out over 700,000 customer
interviews, either in person or through
onlne surveys Within CtU, we have createda
centralised data analytics team to ensure we
nave a single accurate view of Gur customers
Through ananymised data analysis, we can
better understand how our customers are
shepping with us by examining purchasing
behaviours and patterns both in our stores
and online By understanding how our
customers choose to spend therr money
and time at M&S, we can ensure we are
always working to deliver the preducts

and shopping experience they want

QOur Consurmer Barometer gives us a regular
snapshot of how consumers are feeling
about their household finances and the
economy INgeneral Every monthwe talk

to 70,000 M&S customers across our key
customer greups, as well as those who
don't shop with us regularly, to take the
nation’s pulse

We overlay this nsight with externat market
data, such as weather patterns, travel time
to our stores, local footfall dataand the
competitor environment, to build a solid
understanding of our customers and our
positioninthe overall retail landscape

But gathering this crucial data 1s only half
of the equation - it's how we use It to put our
customers centre stage that's important
By carefully analysing ali the information that
we have, we can ensure we are in touch with
consumer attitudes and Ufestyles The data
allows us to identify patterns and groups of
custormers By understanding these groups
indetall, we can bulld our strategies from
the customer upwards rather than from

the boardroom downwards

In short, the information allows us to
doabetter job for our most important
stakeholders - the people who shop with
us - 50 that we are more relevant, more
often By understanding and knowing our
custorners through carefutand detaled
data analysis, we can put customers right
at the heart of everything we do

WHAT CUSTOMERS ARE TELLING US

After holding up reasonably well over
Christmas, consumer confidence in
general dippedin the early months of 2017
People started to feel a littte tess certan
about the wider economic outlook due

to concernaround ISsues SUch as rsing
inflation, the falling pound and uncertainty
asaresult of the UK’s decision to leave

the European Union

Whenasked about therr future spending
intentions, all consurmners —rather than
M&S customers inparticular - said they
were Likely to trim back their discretionary
spending Iin the months anead due tothese
economic concerns They also said they
were more likely than before to put their
money INto experiences and events, such
as tnps to the cinerna, gym membership
or meals out, rather thaninte buying
consumer goods onthe high street

Net optimism, a measure of how pesitive
people are feeling, ncreased by 5% over
the year Interms of their biggest concerns
inthe mmediate future, people cited nsing
food prices, worries about the Brexit
negehiations and geopoltical uncertainty
following the Amernican presidential
election last November

But despite all this, consumer confidence 1s
still relatively high compared with the period
between 2008 and 2013, when it suffered

a prolonged slump due to the credit crists

Mare of our food shoppers say that they
would recommend us to family and friends
Our Net Promoter Score (NPS), which
measures customers wilingness to
recormmend M&S, In Food 1s up four points
in Clothing & Home, while overall NPSwas

broadly level, we saw animprovement in
ratings from our most freguent customers
andin our larger stores, so we know
customers are noticing the difference
Although our Clothing & Home business

15 stillrecovering, custorners can see we
are doing the nght things Customers find
M&S corn easy to navigate and customer
satisfaction has significantly improved
over the last yaar

HOW WE USE OUR INSIGHTS

The information we gather gives us
acructal nsight into the contextinwhich
we're trading Our insights mean nothing
unless we act onthem We share the
information with all our business units
and use the results to help us inform our
business decisions

From product development and design, to
the content we put on our website, to our
online delivery proposition - they are all
guided by what our customers tellus

This year there were rmany examples of

how we took insights from our CIU and used
them toimprove our customers’ experience,
for example

- We changed the layout of our clothing
departments because of custormer
feedback that our stores were sometimes
confusing to shop in Untilthis year, we
organised Womenswear by sub-trand,
such as per una or Lirmnited Edition But this
led toa fragmented shopping experience
and product duplicabion where sub-
brands had sirnilar garments Our stores
now have clear product departments, with
the key products for the season brought
together at the front of the store, leading
toamore Intuitive shopping experience

= We have used our insights toincrease
levels of personalisation forour 56m
Sparks members who now receive tallored
offers based on thew interests and shopping
halnts We Invite them to special Sparks
events and experiences, such aswine
tastings or fashion shows, depending cn



how rmany Sparks they have and what we
know they are passionate about We are
also being more targeted in our emait
communications by sending customers
updates specfically related to therr local
store and area so they only get the
information that 1s maost relevant to them

- We used quantitative data from 7000
customers {o guide our Investment in
Improving service Inour stores This research
told us customers wanted to seemacre
Customer Assistants in our stores
Weresponded by putting over 3,000
more coileagues into the departments
where our customers told us they value
service most, ncluding Fitting Rooms,

Bra Fit, Men's Suits and Footwear

- We showcase our ciothing collections to
the fashion press twice a year — Auturmny
Winter in May and Spring/Summer in
Novermnber — so cur customers get to
see some of what's coming next season
This year, we responded to feedback that
customersincreasingly want to buyinto
new season trends as soon as they see
therm with "See Now Buy Now' capsule
collectons, enabling customers to
shopkey pieces from the new season
straight away

- The Clothing & Home research panel
we use for product development has
a customer interaction every five seconds
through our dedicated panel of around
231,000 customers With this we gain
invaluable feedback on new products
durning design development, so we can
Increase the buys on customer favourites
and eliminate products that score less
well at the concept stage, ensuring we
are shaping collections that most
resonate with our customers

= For this year's Christmas campaign, we
listened to thousands of customers
to understand what they want to see
from M&S at Christmas The feedback
we gathered said they wanted us to own
Christmas in the traditional sense, but in
away that was surprising andg different
So we created the Chnstras with Love
campaign starrng the oftenunsung hero
of Christmas, Mrs Claus, who epitomised
the huge efforts our customers put into
making the festive season special

Thisis just the beginning The next few years
present exciting opportunities, For example,
since the launch of Sparks in 2015, nearly
15rm people have downloaded our M&S app
This combination of technology and loyalty
1s powerfulit brings us closer to our customers
and will allow us te further enrich our
proposition It will allow us toincrease
customer engagement And it wall atlow

us to drive frequency of purchase across
channels and categones

Smart use of data can boost sales and
therefore create value for everyone aur
custorers, our employees and, ultimately,
our shareholders

07
ANNLUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017

M&S TODAY

m

NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS

CLOTHING & HOME CUSTOMERS

8.3m

WEBSITEVISITS
PERWFEK

38% 62% 40%

(V] 0 0
OFOURCUSTOMERS  OF QURCUSTOMERS FOOD CUSTOMERS SHOP
AREMALE ARE FEMALE ‘FORTONIGHT

OF CUSTOMERS SHOP QF ONILINE ORDERS ARE MADE
FORBOTHCLOTHING & THROUCH TABLET ANDMOBILE

HOME AND FOOD

23%

OF CUSTOMERS UNDER 25

UK FOOD MARKETPLACE

We face stiff competition across the UK food sector with nsing inflation, recovery
among the main four supermarkets and the continued growth of the discounters
Foodretallers and suppliers alsc face cost headwinds due to nising raw matenal prices
and the depreciation of sterling However, through listening to our customers and
monitonng the market, we keep on top of changing shopping habits Consumers remain
as savvy as ever and relish nnovation They are also doing smaller convenience’ shops
These trends play to our strengths

UK CLOTHING MARKETPLACE

The market remains highly competitive, with retailers facing cost pressures due to
increasing commodity prices and the impact of the fallin sterlng At the same time,
households are managing therr finances carefully due to fears of inflation and polstical
uncertainty Customers still love treating themselves, but consumer confidence dipped
inthe early months of 2017 Spending on clethingis also coming under pressure as
consumers spend more enexperiences and retallers are vying with cinemas and
restaurants for spend However, we believewe can attract consumers by focusing

on offenng high quality, stylish products that are competitively priced

Source GfK

QUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

COVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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EXECUTIVE'S

STRATEGIC UPDAIE

By listening to our customers and simplifying how we do things,
| believe we have the right strategy in place to make M&S a relevant,
profitable and truly sustainable retailer

STEVE ROWE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OVERVIEW

Avyear ago,| started inmy role as Chief
Executive by posing a senies of guestions
that | hoped would help unlock the future of
MBS, giving us a platform from which to first
recover and then to grow 2016/17 has been
ayear of change as we started to answer
these questions, which | address below

The steps we aretakingare making a
difference and we are making progress
However, as we said when we set cut our
plan,it has resulted in some shart-term
pain Scme of the action needed has been
costly and profits are down Clothing &
Home sales were down year-on-year as we
reduced promotions and markdown activity
We expected this and we still belleve we are
doing the nght thing for the future of our
busiNness We have seen encouragng signs
fromtheincrease in full-price Clothing &
Home sales and n the sales growth during
the key Chrnistmas tracing period Andin
Food, we continued to grow ahead of the
market with new stores cutperforming
expectations

MAKING EVERY MOMENT SPECIAL

The business has adapted well as we start to
build a sustainable foundation for the future
We have laid alot of the groundwork for

our recovery, however, we are not there yet
lwant to see consistent delivery over time
and [want to see us move out of recovery
Even as our perfarmance improves, we

can't stand still While we are still focused
onrecovering our business and we have a
lot more to do,lamalso starting to look

to future growth opportunities, some of
which loutune at the end of this update

OUR CUSTOMERS

We asked how we could put customers at
the heart of everything we do Due tothe
changes weve made, we are now a more
data-driven organisation where decisions
are made based on what we know about
our customers, not what we think we know
We conduct more custorner listening
groups than ever before, all trading
meetings now begin withinsight into cur
customers, and, as we celebrate tenyears
of leading the soccial and environmental
agenda, we have repurposed Plan Ato
make 1t more customer-focused

Our customer-focused changes are most
keenly felt Inour stores We invested in
customer service by recruiting additional
colleagues into the areas we know are most
impartant to our customers We alsorolled
out our Making Every Mament Special
n-store service initiative

Read more about Making Every Moment
Special below

Our new Spend It Well marketing campaign
- like our Mrs Claus Christmas campaign
before it - focuses squarely on our
customers Ufestyles It taps into people’s
emotional connection with M&S and 1s
aimed at driving a reappraisal of our brand
Life 1s short so we should Spend It Welt The
campaign encourages customers to make
the most of what's relevant for themn today

CLOTHING & HOME

We asked how we could recover and grow
our Clothing & Home business The answer
{lay n making a series of commaon sense,
customer-focused changes to the way we
dothings Inatough market, lam pleased
with the progress we are making

Our Making Every Moment Special
employee engagement programme has
been transformational for our customers
and our people alike Through it, we believe
we've taken customer service to new levels
Last surmmer, we gave over 70,000 store
colleagues interactive traming with the
objective of putting customers at the heart
of what we do We encouraged thermto make
real-time decisions based on individuat
customers' needs and we removed non-
customer-facing tasks from their daily
routines, giving them more time to spend
with customers The response fram

colleagues has been phenormenaland as
positive as anything fve known in my 28
years at M&S Qur ‘Customer at the Heart’
site on Yammer, our internal sccial media
network, contains thousands of examples
of great service by our calleagues
Throughaut our 133-year history, we have
learnt that better service leads to better
sales Making Every Morment Special shows
this principle naction It has become cur
rnantra across the business. By empowenng
our people to make custormer-focused
deaisions, our sales floors are buzzing
witharenewed sense of purpose
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OUR STRATEGY
|

CUSTOMERS AND BRAND

RECOVER AND GROW

CLOTHING & HOME

CONTINUE TO GROW

FOOD

STYLE AUTHORITY NEWNESS CONVENIENCE

QUALITY QUALITY

Focus on product Drive execution Focus on product Drive execution

Style wardrobe
essentials and it

Price, availlability
and service

Innovaticn, health
and capability

Price, avatability
and convenience

OQUR BUSINESS

UK STORE ESTATE

INTERNATIONAL

ORGANISATION & COSTS

-> Crow Food space
= ¢ 60 fewer, more inspirationat
Clothing &Home stores

- Rebalance ¢ 50 stores
rogrowthareas

-» Focus on partnership
modeland online

-> Drnive execution-
price, availlabiity and service

= Create alean, effective
Head Office

- Continuetodevelop
cost culture

We made shopping simpler for customers
by reducing the number of times we launch
new lines from 14 to nine times a year

We cut the number of garment options

by 10% We are phasing out the Indigo,
Collezione and North Coast sub-brands
These measures enabled us tomprove
avallability across our ranges Previously,
we acted too much ke a ‘fast fashion’
company, pricritising frequency over quality
and taking too many cues from catwalk
fashions So we improved our fits, fabrics
and finishes, wencreased availability and
we refocused on delivering contemporary
wearable style and wardrope essentials
Qur ranges are now mare relevant to what
custormers want from M&S

We started offering better value than ever
before by reducing prices cn 2,400 Clothing
&Home lines We simultanecusly reduced
our prormotional activity Thisput anend tc
confusing pricing which meant cur products
were either toc expensive or too heavily
discounted Not only have these changes
gvenclanty to customers, but they made
our sales more profitable and boosted our
full-price market share

We alsomade our steres far easier to shop
in by merchandising more of our clothes

by product categery rather than by brand
This change in emphasis reflected the
changes we made last year to the way our
teams design and buy products Our shops
are now simpler and more intuitive They are
based arcund customers needs

We are stillinthe recovery phase of our plan
and getting it nght s absolutely crucial to
our success In May this year, we announced
anew roleto lead this work JillMcDonald
will join as Managing Director, Clothing,
Home & Beauty and will have overall profit
and loss accountability for allaspects of
our Clothing & Home business, from design
and sourcing through to supply chainand
logistics The scope of this role highlights
the importance we are placing on
continuing te recover and starting to

grow Clothing & Home We are making
encouraging progress and | believe we

are on the right path to growth

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STRATEGIC UPDATE CONTINUED

OUR OPERATING MODEL

Simplicity and accountability are key
to running an agile and successful
business. We are therefore changing our

operating model to give us two clear profit

andloss accountabilities - one for our
Clething &Heme business unit and one
for our Food business unit Both sides of
the business are now responsible for ther
own end-to-end profit & loss As part of
the change, M&S com has moved from
being a separate business unit to being

a sales channel,along with Stores and
Intermational Allthree channels now
feed into cur two business units, with our
customers at the centre Underpinning
these changes I1s the ongoing drive for
simplicity in the way we do things

FOCD

Convenient Special Different These are
the reasons why customers love our food
These are also the reasons why our Food
business s on aclear path to sustainable
growth We know that seling quality food
from convenient locations s a winning
formula sales from the 30 owned Simply
Food stores we opened this year are ahead
of plan We'll continue to grow our Food
Hbusiness by opening 250 further Food
stores by 2020 Were succeedingin

our aim of making every food moment
special Customers love cur huigh levels of
Innovation — we renew around a quarter
of our range every year —and they love
the high quality of our products We wont
accept second-rate ngredients Inaworld
where you get what you pay for, it shows
Thus year we extended Collection, our

top tier range for customers who want
something extra special Andcustomers
know they can trust us on health Itis ther
number one concern when it comes to
buying food, so we launched 200 new
products aimed at helping our customers
to eat well, and extended our Made Without,
Batanced for You and Eat Wellranges

The grocery market continues to be very
competitive but we will continue to set
ourselves apart with superior quality,
innovation and convenient foad in
convenient locations Aswe grow our
Food store presence, cur food will be even
mere accessible to more customers

OUR PEOPLE

By thinking, working and behaving with
atruly customer-centric mindset, | beligve
our people areintegral to our success

Last year lasked what our nght cost base,
shape and structure was, and how this
woutd affect our people In Apnl 2017, we
finalised the pay and pensions changes
that | outlined last year and we now reward
our people ina farer, more consistent way
lam immensely proud that we now have
pay and benefit parity across the businass
Following detailed consultation with our
National Business Involverment Group of
elected employee representatives, we now
offer one of the best reward packages in
UK retail

In Novermber, we cutlined further plans to
simplfy the business and lower our costs
This resulted in a reduction of roles at our
Head Office and the decision toreduce our
central Londaon office space as we move
te more efficient ways of working Some
of these decisions had a direct impact on
anumber of our employees But | beleve
our people recognise that we made them
for the right reasons and that they were
necessary for our sustainable growth

lwould Uke to thank all our people for ther
dedication and professionalism ina year
of significant but necessary change

STORE ESTATE AND INTERNATIONAL

Qur custorners shopping habits are
changing, so | asked whether our UKand
International store estate 1s the right shape
forthe future It s not Customers’ behaviour
1sevolving, and the pace of changes
accelerating Rather than doingone big
food shop aweek, thereis a growing trend
of custormers picking up food for now or for
tonight Look at how people use technology
They'llbrowse or buy ontne and collect in
store Or they'lLbuy on their smartphone
forhome delivery Sales on M&S comnow
account for 17% of Clothing & Horme sales

At the same time, custormers want to shop in
maodern stores that offer a great experience
Our store portfolo needs to reflect how
people live therr lives today

Sowe announced plansto rebalance our
UK space to meet changing customer
needs The transformation will enable us

to grow Clothing & Home sales through
fewer better stores Over five years, we will
change the use of around 25% of our space,
withmore of it being deployed to Food and
other growth areas Clothing &Home space
will reduce by around 10% Approximately
30 full-line stores will clese, and 45 will be
caonverted te Simply Food

To be clear, this s neither a withdrawalnor a
retrenchment Due to our ambitious Food
expansionwe willhave mare stores in the
future, not fewer But our estate willbe the
shape which meets how our customers
want {o shop at M&S

Our International operations have also
changed While our franchise business with
our knowledgeabile partners s profitable,
our owned estateis not Thisis unsustainable
so we are focusing on our joint venture and
franchise partnershups and cur growing
online business,and exiting ten of our loss-
making owned markets The programme s
on track We have now closed all ten of our
stores N China and completed employee
consultations inthe remaining markets

We rermain a significant player onthe global
stage witha store or online presence in

55 markets | believe inan international
business for M&S and remain cormmitted
toit

N

These changes show that we're willing to
adapt to ensure we're n the best shape for
our customers
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OUR CHAIRMAN

Cost controlremains a top priority

QOur operating costs were up 3 8% this

year as we put more colleagues into stores
and absorbed the costs of our Food store
opening programme We funded some of
this through our Crunch Costs inttiative,
which challenged allof our people to tackle
unnecessary costs, and from simplifying
our Head Office structure Better buying
initiabives, such as direct design and food
packaging optmmisation, mitigated the
currency headwinds we saw on both sides
of the business The steps we've taken to
transform M&S led to charges of £4374m
this year These were largely driven by
charges for International store closures
and for the changes to pay and pensions

While profits were sigrificantly down,
lcontinue to believe Ingood cash
rmanagement, a robust batance sheet and
aprogressive dividend policy We know how
important our dividend 1s to shareholders
bigand small

Read more in the Financial Review on p26-29

Qur Charman, Robert Swannell has
announced that he witl step downin
Septermber.On behalf of allof us at M&S, |
wish Robert well He has overseen significant
change at M&S Qur infrastructure now
provides a strong platform for growth, and
Robert has beeninstrumentalindriving
shareholder engagernent, good governance
and succession planning He has also been
atremendous support to me personalty
over the last year On behalf of the whole
business, lwould lke towelcome Robert's
successor, Archie Norman

LOOKING AHEAD

My priorities for the year ahead are to
continue to recover and grow Clothing &
Home and to grow our Food business Twill
also establsh the foundations for new
paths to growth Inthe UK, these will focus
on areas of market share opportunity in
Kidswear, Footwear, Home and Beauty
Internationally, we will explore new territories
with our franchise partners And hwill continue
to develop talent within the organisation

It continues to be a privilege to lead this
fantastic cormpany Curjob as aretalleris
quite simple we must offer customers great
products at the night price n physical or
digital emvironments that they enjoy, with
great service Ifwe do thig, they willcome
back to us for more

OPERATING COMMITTEE

But to do this year-in, year-cut, we must
constantly adapt We must adapt both to stay
in tune with our customers needs andinthe
way we sell our products Shopping habits
won't stop changing, so neither must we

As Chief Executive, | want to make M&S agile
and flexible enough to change with our
customers lwant to see the end of big
transformation pregrammes followed by
years of standing still, followed by yet more
transformation Remaining relevant should
pbe a continucus process

By simplifying how we dothings and really
Ustening te our customers, wa've already
become more agile this year By rationalising
our Clothingranges and reshaping our store
portfolio, we've started to put this agility
into practice Indong this, we've built a solid
foundation for growth We must never stop
adapting our business for our customers

Nothing makes me prouder of the work our
teams do than heanng from our customers
and what they love about M&S Those
customers are the reason were here They
willremain at the heart of everythingwe do

STEVE ROWE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Steve Rowe Helen Weir Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne Andy Adcock

Chief Executive Chief Finance Cfficer Executive Director, Customer, Food Director
Marketing & M&Ss com

Sacha Berendji Paul Friston Dominic Fry David Guise

Retail Director

International Director

Relations Director

Jo Jenkins
Wornenswear, Lingerie &
Beauty Director

Amanda Mellor
Group Secretary and Head
of Corporate Governance

Commurications & Investor

Hurnan Resources Director

QUR BUSINESS

OQOUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OUR BUSINESS

CREATING SUSTAINABLE

VALUE

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We create long-term value through
the effective use of our resources and

relationships. We manage these in line

OUR RESOURCES & RELATIONSHIPS

with our core values of Inspiration,
Innovation, Integrity and In Touch.

These values influence how we behave
and they run through everything we

do - they make the M&S difference:
making every moment special through
the products and services we offer our
customers in the UK and internationally.

FINANCIAL

Cenerating returns for our stakeholders
through effective management
of our financial rescurces

OUR PRODUCTS & CHANNELS

Maintainng our channels and supply
chaminfrastructure tomeet
customer demand

QOUR INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

Strengthening our brand through
creation and protection of our

THE M&S DIFFERENCE

intellectual property

1 LISTEN & RESPOND

Activities: Our customers are at the heart
of everything we do,and our strategy
today1s more customer-focused than ever
before By understanding what drives theirr
behawviour, both within M&S and externally,
we canensure we work to deliver the
products and expenences that customers
want This year we strengthened the data
and analytics team withun cur Customer
Insight Unit (C1U), which gathers and
interprets customer data, as wellas a
wealth of external sources The ClU then
ensures that its insights are used across
our business units Through the CIU, we can
understand each customer’s needs and
relationshig with M&S - whereverand
however they shop

Outcome! By listening to customers and
responding to what they tell us, we can
create products and shopping expernences
thatarerelevant to them

2 STRATEGY & PLANNING

Activities: Efficientimplermentation of our
strategy 1s key This year, changestoour
organisational structure saw us streambine
our senior management teamand bring
each channel's merchandising operations
together, increasing efficency Wealso
revised our operating model, which wilt
give our two business units — Clathing &
Home and Food —clear profitandloss
accountability Through our Smarter
Working programme, we created anew
technology huk which will roll-cut
significant technology improvements
toincrease our digital savviness across

the business

Outcome; Successfully implementing our
strategy allows us toimprove our financial
performance throughincreased profits
and strengthened cash flow

3 DEVELOP & DESIGN

Activities: By fostering tatent and
encouraging entrepreneurialism among
our people, we can continue to develop
high gquality preducts for cur customers
Our product developers are experts inthewr
fletds, whether they are food technologists
or experienced tailors Our food Innovation
sets us apart and with talent ranging from
Michelin-traned chefs to Masters of Wine,
cur Food team isamong the best nthe
business We now design 68% of cur
clothing ranges in-house and buy cur
clothes by product category rather than
sub-brand

Qutcome: The talent in our Food team
underpins the innovation that our
customers love By developing and
designing clothing n-house, we have
reduced product proliferation, designed
ranges characterised by a more consistent
colour palette and refined our quality
through improved fit, upgraded fabnc

and betlter finishes



4 SQURCE & BUY

Activities: A strong, ethical supply chainis
crucialin creating sustainable value We work
with cur suppliers to ensure contihuous
socaland envircnmentalimprovernent,
whether It relates to sourcng cotton or
fishing more sustainably We are committed
tobeing mere transparent about our supply
chains, and our interactive Supplier Map
details all the clothing, hcme, beauty and
food factones that supply M&S Al 3,000 of
our suppliers must adhere to our Global
Sourcing Principles, which cover working
conditions and werkers nghts We comply
with the Crocenes Supply Code of Practice
{GSCOP) and help build global 2approaches
to ethical sourcing through organisations
suchas the Consumer Coods Forum

Outcome: An effective sourcing strategy
creates sustainable value by driving
efficiencies and margin improvement,
while using our scale to deliver great
guslity at every price point
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FIND OUT MORE

Read about how our business model
creates value on p14-15

Read about how our
business model works on p16-17

QUR BUSINESS

‘OUR RESOURCES & RELATIONSHIPS

OUR PEOPLE

Developing our employees
andtherrknowledge

QUR STAKEHOLDERS

Buillding and nurturing retationships with
our custamers and suppliers, andinthe
communities in which we operate

NATURAL RESOURCES

Sourcing responstbly and using
natural resgurces efficiently

S BRAND & SELL

Activities: We constantly evolve how we sell
our products to suit custormers’ changing
Ufestyles Customers today are Increasingly
looking for deeper engagement with brands,
they wantricher and more meaningful
experiences They want morments that matter
Wethereforework across departments

and channels to create great customer
experiences Forexampte, our stores are now
laid outin preduct areas, more aligned with
M&S corm,and M&Scomis evolving froma
purely transactional experence to a place of
inspiration and perscnalisation Our Spend

It Well carmpaign reflects theunique feeling
that our customers have about M&Sand our
high quality own-brand products We're also
making “‘doing the nght thing’ synonymous
with the M&S brand by committing toall our
products havinga Plan A story to tell by 2020

QOutcome; Qur own brand creates value by
distimguishing us from our competitors and
our Plan Aambitions make sustainability
accessibletoalt

_

6 SERVE & ENGAGE

Activities: We buld on cur privileged position
of trust among customers with igh levels
of service This year cur Making Every Moment
Special employee engagement inttiative
saw 70,000 store colleagues recarve training
ingiving better custorer service and
rmaking the shopping experience effortless
for customers Inunderstanding our
customers better, we can become maore
relevant more often We alsc serve and
engage with cur customers via our Sparks
loyalty scheme Through Sparks, they share
therr passions and preferences with us,

so we canintroduce new services, progucts
and channels that we know will Interest
them We also serve and engage wath the
communitiesin which we cperate

Outcome: Good service and engaging with
our customersin a way thatis relevant to
them dnves higher sales and customer
loyalty This creates long-term sustainable
value across the business

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OUR BUSINESS

CONNECTED VALUE

INPUTS

CORE OBJECTIVES
I

BUSINESS MODEL THE M&S DIFFERENCE

Qur resources and relationships
Across our business, we depend
upon key resources and
relationships to create financial,
non-financial and strategic value

FINANCIAL

OUR PRODUCTS
& CHANNELS

OUR INTELLECTUAL
CAPITAL

OUR PEOPLE

OUR
STAKEHOLDERS

NATURAL
RESOURCES

Group financial
objectives

Crow Crouprevenue

Increase earmings
andreturns

Strong cash generation

See KPis pi18

How our activities deliver financial value

Listen & Respond

Source & Buy

We use comprehensive data to
understand what customers want
to buy and how they want to shog

Strategy & Planning

Robust financial management
ensures we are able to continue
to mvest 1IN our business and
deliver profitable growth for
our shareholders

Develop & Design

New ideas fuel future performance,
which 1§ why attracting and
developing talent is centrat to

the future of our business

We capitalise on the strong,
long-term relationships we have
with

our suppliers to deliver efficiencies,
improve margins and drive
profitabitiy without compromising
on the guality of our products

Brand & Sell

Our brand 15 at the heart of the M&S
difference and we create unigque
products that drive financial value

Serve B Engage

We build and mamntan customer
Lloyalty by priontising customer
service and Uinking it to our

Non-financial
objectives

Engage, serve and
retain customers

Foster a skilled,
motivated and
engaged team

Source products
withintegnty

Efficient and
responsible operations

How our activities deliver non-financial value

Listen & Respond

Source & Buy

Our customers’ trust in the M&S
brand s a key point of difference

We retan this competitive advantage
by doing things in the most
responsible way — we do the work

50 our customers don't have to

Strategy & Planning

We improve efficiency and reduce
waste across the business through
the effective use of our resource
and sourcing systems

Develop & Design

By cultivating talent and
encouraging diversity we have

We are leading the way on sourcing
products with integrity to exceed
customers’ expectations on quality,
safety and sustainable sourcing

Brand & Sell

We have built our brand on rebust
standards of responsibly sourced
products and services

Serve & Engage

We bring our brand to Life by driving
engagement and participation

in store, online and through
community support and
volunteering

See KPls p19 an engaged and autonomous
workforce empowered to put
our customers first
How our activities deliver strategic value
St f:ateg I Listen & Respond Source & Buy
objectlves By anatysing what our customers Our progress towards a more
Y | :
want, we ensure our growth plans flexible and direct sourcing
Drive growth are nght for the future of M&5 operation is benefiting our
. Clething & Home margins
Reachcustomers Strategy & Planning Brand & Sell
Qur UK store estate programrme will
Improve profitability drive sales growth by ensuring that we sell our products through our

See KPIs p20-21

we have an estate that reflects how
our customers want to shop

Develop & Design

By constantly improving product
quality and choice, we drive growth
by making M&S more relevant to
our customers more often

own branded channels, empowering
us with the abluty to grow and
develop them in the way that 15 nght
for

our customers

Serve & Engage

The rationale behind every strategic
decision starts with our customer -
we want a winning culture buitt
around grnang them great products
and service
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We are committed to delivering sustatnable value for stakeholders.
Here, we summarise how our business model drives value creation,
how the process is managed, and how we measure the value created.

RELATED RISK FACTORS
]

ACCOUNTABILITY
I

OUTPUTS
|

Financial performance risks

Financial accountability

Key financial measures

Financial value created

There are a number of nsks
related to how we delver financial
value

1 Clothing & Home recovery

8 Margin
11 Profitable growth

12. Third party management

See Risk p32-33

BOARD

™

GPERATING COMMITTEE

See Governance p34-84
See Remuneration p66-78

Croup revenue

Group profit before tax
and adjusted items

Adjusted earrings per share

Dividend per share

Return on capital employed

Strong profits build
strong cash position

Returns to shareholders

Taxes to government

Free cash flow (pre-shareholder
returns)

See KPIs p18

Increased Investment,
opportunities

Employeerewards

Non-financial performance risks

Non-financial accountability

Key non-financial measures

Non-financial value created

There are a nurnier of risks
related to how we deliver
non-financial value

1 Clothing & Home recovery

2 Food safety and integrity
3 Corporate responsibility

4 Information security
(including cyber)

6 Customer proposition &
experence

7 Talent & succession

BOARD

T

OPERATING COMMITTEE

ADVISORY PLAN A COMMITTEE

/T\

OPERATIONAL PLAN A COMMITTEE

Total Food customers and
average number of shops
per customer

Total Clothing & Home customers
and average number of shops
per customer

Employee engagement score

Percentage of products with
a Plan A quality

Creenhouse gas emissions
(tonnes)

Creenhouse gas ermissions
{per sg ft)

Maintaned and
improved reputation
with consumers

Better traned and fully
committed employees

Stronger relationshups with
suppliers and communities

Culture where iInnovation
and agility thrive

9 8rand See Plan A Report
See Risk p32-31 See KFis p19
Strategic performance risks Strategic accountability Key strategic measures Strategic value created
There are a number of risks BOARD Food UK revenue
related to how we deliver Food gross margn
strategic value ™ Growthn sales, product

1 Clothing & Home recovery

5 Technology

8 Margn

10 UK store estate

11 Profitable growth

See Risk p32-33

QPERATING COMMITTEE

See Covernance on p34-84
See Remuneration p66-78

Food Like-for-like revenue growth

UK space growth — Food

Clothing & Home UK revenue

Clothing & Home gross margin

Clothing & Home UK like-for-like
revenue growth

International revenue

rangeand presence

Supply chain efficency

Increased customer base
with broadening appeal

Arnore dynamic,
flexible and agile business

International operating profit

International space growth

M8S com sales

ME&S corn weekly site visits

See KPIs p20-21

QUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



1 LISTEN & RESPOND

We have seen a big change inh how our
customers shop for healthy food. As
nterests have shifted away from dieting,
consumers are looking for ways totive
healthier Ufestyles every day and 81% of our
customners teltus that healthis therr number
one concern when buying food We have also
seenanincrease nmterest in wheat-free and
ptant-based eating, with vegan products
bengone of the biggest product requests
werecelve from our customers Thisismt just
vegetarians and vegans - ndustry data
suggeststhereis a growing number of
people in the UK who identify as flexitananin
that they eat a largely plant-based diet with
the occasional addition of meat and fish

4 SOURCE & BUY

Our buying teams worked with our
suppliers to source unusual grains and
on-trend ingredients, such as buckwheat
and cauliflower couscous, to bring
something new and different to our
customers. The Avocado & Egg Nourish
Bowlis the first product orithe UKhigh
street to use sorghum, a protenand fibre
rich wholegrain similar to pearl barley,
while the Edamarne & Black Rice and the
Sweet Potato Nourish Bowls are our first
vegan Food onthe Move salads
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VALUE CREATION IN ACTION:

FOOD

2 STRATEGY & PLANNING

With a 4.5% market share in the on-the-
go lunchtime food market, we saw an
opportunity for us to add to our Food on
the Move range by bringing these trends
to our customers. \We also noticed there
was a gap in the market for vegan-friendly
lunchtime options Qur product development
team went on aresearch trip to California,
the home of healthy eating, to get ideas and
mspiration The big trend i San Francisco was
for nounsh bowls - cotourful, wholesome
salad bowls composed of vegetables, healthy
grains and proten

5 BRAND & SELL

We launched the new range in January,
when consumers are typically looking

for new ways to eat healthily. Our TvVand
print campaign, Adventures in Wonderfood,
showcased praducts frorn the néw ranges
inavibrant and exciting way, and this was
supported by acoordinated campaign

N our stores and editoral features on

MB&S com Withits range of new flavours, we
introduced the Nourish Bawls to customers
aspart of our lunchmealdeal, andrana
specigl promaoticn for Sparks members with
10% of f all Eat Well products, whichincluded
the new Food on the Move products

3 DEVELOP & DESIGN

Taking the customer insight, market trend
data and inspiration from their trip, the
team developed a new range of Nourish
Bowls, featuring hearty, wholesome and
fresh ingredients including edamame,
black rice, avocado and sweet potato.
They also developed our first ever vegan
sandwiches and a range of vegetable wraps,
made with beetroot, pumpkin or spimach,
which all contain a portion of vegetables

6 SERVE & ENGAGE

The January edition of our Adventures in
Food customer newspaper was all about
the new ranges, with information on some
of the more unusual ingredients, tips for
ways to eat more healthily and recipe
ideas for creating healthy meals at home.
Cornrunications went to all stores to
educate colleagues onthe new ranges and
we hosted tasting events in 50 stores, giving
customers the chance to try the Nourish
Bowls and the new wraps and sandwiches
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VALUE CREATICN IN ACTION:

CLOTHING & HOME

1 LISTEN & RESPOND

The pea coat is a consistently popular
style and it has joined garments such
as the trench and the camel coat as

a timeless classic. lt'salsoastylethatis
consistently popular with our customers -
our Winter 15 collection featured aclassic
pea coat in two colours that was an instant
hit and sold out early Inthe season. As the
market leader in coats, we know thisisa
style we need to get right

4 SOURCE & BUY

With confidence in the style, we bought
our classic £55 pea coat in greater depth
and more colours. For themore trend-led
£99 version, we bought it in the two key
colours of the seascn - navy and khak)

Leveraging our direct sourcing capabilities,

we have consclidated some of cur supply
base, which has enabled us towork more
closely with our key suppliers to source
better quality fabrics and focus on styling
andg fit

2 STRATEGY & PLANNING

We have set out a clear strategy to focus
on style over fashicn trends,and we know
our customers want a consistent fit that
flatters with good qualty fabrcs We also
know we are at our best when we focus on
what we are famous for In order to maximise
the opportunity, our Womenswear tearm set
out to create a collection of pea coats that
used gqualty fabrics and styling to delwver a
range suitable for our broad customer base

5 BRAND & SELL

The £99 M&S Collection wool-mix pea
coat was the star of our Autumn/Winter
marketing campaign, and was avallzable

to customers inall our stores Inline with
our pricing strategy to offer consistently
good prices, from our £55 opening price
point pea coat to the £199 100% lambswool
version, we offered great value and quality
at everyprice point

3 DEVELOP & DESIGN

Following the changes to the structure

of our Womenswear team, our products
are now designed and bought by category
rather than by brand, Our Cuterwear design
tearn created a coltection which took that
classic shape and updated it with different
colours and Interesting fabrics Using our
sub-brands, the team created distinct
products for our custemers This gave

the range a clear point of difference across
M&S Collection and the sub-brands, from
the coats'length, fabric and colour te styling
details suchas pockets, tnims or collar shape
At £55, our M&S Collection cpening price
point pea coat gave customers a wardrobe
classic at a great price, while the peruna

pea coat featured gold military buttons

and a faux fur collar, as we know per una
custormers like a touch of elegance

6 SERVE & ENGAGE

We know coats are one of the most
important product categories for our
customers when it comes to determining
their view of M&S. Coatsare quick to try
onduring ashopping tnip and customers
want to be able to easily compare the look
and feel of each itern For Autumin/Winter 16,
we made our coats easter to shop witha
Coats destination area at the front of our
stores Thearea featured an event zone
which showcased the key coats of the
season, withunstructured coats inearly
autumn switching to the warmer pea coats
as the weather got colder

QUR BUSINESS

QUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OUR PERFORMANCE

KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

GCROUP FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES

OBJECTIVE KP1 2016/17 PERFORMANCE (52 weeks to 1 April 2017)
Grow Group GROUP REVENUE Croup revenues were up this year,
revenue rnainly driven by the growth in our
Total Group revenue, ncluding retail
sales for owned businesses and E&?,S bu:' :_Jn;fs: ris :f g&inrftd nnew
wholesale sales to franchise partners =4 prov :
International revenues
Increase GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX (PBT) Croup PBT before adjusted items was
earnings AND ADJUSTED ITEMS down on last year largely due to the
and returns Adjusted profit provides additional rercoizggﬁg 'tlctﬁgler;g &lggme ;-Jtrliss
information on performance, adjusting Sosts i the € ar =€ perating
for items considered to be sigruficant ye
Innature and/or value
RETURN ON CAPITAL, The decrease it ROCE primarily reflects
EMPLOYED (ROCE) the decrease in earnings before interest,
Return on capritatemployedis taxand adjusted items
arelative profit measure of the
returns from net operating assets
ADJUSTED EARNINGS Basic adjusted EPS decreased primarily
PER SHARE (EPS) due to the lower profit generated inthe
The weighted average number of
Adjusted earnings per share (EPS) 1s the year
pr(iﬁt hefore the?wr?pact of ac(ijust)ed shares in1ssue dunng the pericd was
items divided by the weighted average 16231m (last year 16359rm;
number of ordinary shares INissue
DIVIDEND PER SHARE The Board s recommending a finat
dnidend of 11 9p per share, resulting
S;\{Li—‘e;ga:;er share declared in respect inatotal dividend of 18 7p
Strong FREE CASH FLOW We delivered free cash flow up 8 5%
cash (PRE SHAREHOLDER on last year mainly due to the impact
generation RETURNS) of reduced capttal expenditure,

Free cash flow s the net cash generated
by the business inthe period before
returns to shareholders excluding the
impact of exchange rates ontranslation
of foreign currency denominated
cashbalances

which was partally offset by weaker
business perforrmance

1 Toprovide ameaningful comparson with last year the revenue and profit KPis are relative to the 52 week penod to 26 March 2016
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KEY TO RESCURCES & RELATIONSHIPS AFFECTED

Natural
Resources

Financial OurProducts  Ourintellectuatl

& Channels Capital

QOur People Cur
Stakeholders

Linked to
remuneration

Read more in the glossary of alternative performance measures on p133-134

NON-FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES

Engage, serve
and retain
our customers

KPI 2016/17 PERFORMANCE
TOTAL AVERAGE
FOOD CUSTOMERS NUMBER OF

Tetalnumber of UK¥ood customers SHOPS PERYEAR

per year and average number of shops

QOur convenient, special and different
food and our conbinued Simptly Food
store opening programme continue

per custorer resultingin a purchase 20.5111 22-5 to draw customers in
across all UK shopping channels +0.4m Level
CLOTHING & HOME E%Is%mens QYJ&:?;&EOF We are stillin the recovery phase

f our plan for Clothing & Home
Total number of UK Clothing & Home SHOPSPERYEAR U
custamers per year and ave?'age We grew the number of CUStomerﬁ
nurmber of shops per custemer 24.6111 7.2 ifgosegl;% E:;%ugfrgsh;f‘ g CZ?&EE; s
resutting in a purchase across all -0.1m -3.5% “ Y

i customers in our stores

UK shopping channels
Foster EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT 810/ +3% The annual survey was completed
a skilled, Engagement is a key driver of (1] by 80% of employees Employee
motivated and engagement results were positive
engaged team performance OurYour Say survey andup on last year

{ocks at the key drivers of employee

engagement such as pride in M&S

and our products, feelings about

M&S as an employer and the role

of inemanagers
Source PRODUCTS WITH A This represents an improvement
products PLAN A QUALITY of 6% Our target is to have at

with integrity

This is a quality or feature regarded
asacharacteristic or inherent part of
a product which has a demonstrable
positive or significantly lower
environmentaland/or socialimpact
during its sourcing, production,
supply, use andfor disposal

least cne Plan A gquality in all
M&S products by 2020

Efficient and
responsible
operations

GROSS GREENHOUSE
GAS EMISSIONS

Total gross CCLe emissions
resulting from M&S operated
activities worldwide

526,000 co.c

We achieved a 7% reduction,
rmainly through lower carbon

UK gnd electricity We also
maintained our position of carben
neutrality (zero net emissions)

by sourcing renewable energy
and carbon offsets

GROSS GREENHOUSE GAS
EMISSIONS PER 1,000 SQ FT

Total gross CO.e emissions
per 1,000 sqg ft resulting from
M&S operated activities worldwide

206 tCO.e/
1,000sqft
-10%

We achieved a 10% per sq ft
improvernent, mainly through
lower carbon UK gnd electncity
This has contributed towards the 7%
reduction in total gross emissions

OUR BUSINESS

COUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS CONTINUED

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

OBJECTIVE KPI FOOD CLOTHING & HOME

Drive REVENUE UK REVENUE UK REVENUE

growth b +4.2% b 2.8%
£5.6bn £3.8bn
2015016 £54bn 2015/16 £39bn
Definition UK Food sales including sales Definition UK Clothing & Home sales
from our owned business and sales to from cur owned business
our UK franchisees Performance As expected, Clothing &
Performance Crowth was driven by Home revenues declined as a result of
new space Our strategic objectives our strategy to reduce promotions and
in Food remain consistent superior rmarkdown activity However, we are
quality, innovation and convenient encouraged by some early evidence that
food N converient locations aur strategy 18 working, with full-price

sales up
Reach REVENUE GROWTH/  UKLFLREVENUF GROWTH UK LFL REVENUE CROWTH
customers SPACE CROWTH/ 0 0
ONLINE VISITS '0-8/) ‘3.4/)
Definition Sales growth from stores open Definition Sales growth from stores open
at least 52 weeks and with no significant at least 52 weeks and with no sigrificant
change in footage change in footage
Performance Sales were down shghtly Performance As expected, Clothing &
In a competitive market Home revenues declined 3 4% as a result
UK FOOD SPACE GROWTH of our strategy to reduce promotions
and markdown activity
0

+5.1%
Definition Increase n absolute Food
selling space
Performance We increased the reach and
convenience of our offer by opening 68
new Food stores, of which 38 were franchise
Franchise accounted for ¢ 10% of new space
growth

Improve GROSS MARGIN/ UK GROSS MARGIN UKGROSS MARGIN

profitability OPERATING PROFIT

32.5%"

561%™

Definition Gross margin 1s the percentage
of revenue retained after costs for
producing and transporting goods

Performance Cross margin was below
expectations, owing to input cost inflation
and higher than anticipated waste in the
second half of the year

Definition Cross margin is the percentage
of revenue retained after costs for
producmng and transporting goods.

Performance Cross rmargin was ahead

of expectations. This was driven by the
Improverment in the buying margn

which offset currency headwinds as

we continued to deliver benefits from
leveraging our direct scurcing capabilities
Gross margin also benefited from
reduced discounting




Read about our Strategy on p08-11

21

ANMNUAI REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 201/

Read more on Remuneration on p54

Read about our Resources and relationships on p12-15

M&S.COM INTERNATIONAL LOOKING AHEAD
TOTAL ONLINE REVENUE REVENUE = In Clothing & Home we expect a space
5 decline of 1-2%, weighted towards the
+5.6% +10.7% '
£836.3m £1 .2bn end of the year We anticipate gross
margin to be +25 to -25 basis points
2015/16 £7915m 2015016 £11bn as we seek to mitigate currency

Definition Total revenue from the Croup's
online platforms including international
online sales

Performance We grew sales, although
these were adversely affected by the
reduction in prometional activity Full-price
sales performance improved over the
course of the year as we improved
operational effectiveness as well as
reduced discounting

headwinds with better buying and

Definition Sales from the International a further reduction i discounting

business ncluding sales from owned
Business and sales to franchisees - In Food, we expect space growth of
¢ 7%, weighted towards the end of the

Performance Internationat revenues
year as we open ¢ 90 new Simply Food

rose driven by currency translation
benefits On a constant currency basis,

revenues declined by 0 1% will slightly outweigh operational

efflaencies with a resulting decrease

n gross margn of between 0and -50
basis pants largely weighted towards
the first half

- We expect UK cost growth of ¢ 25

WEEKLY SITE VISITS!

8.3m™

to 3 5% as a result of new space, cost
inflation and the annuabisation of
investment N customer service, partly

SPACE GROWTH

-3.3%

Definition Weekly wisits to our UK
desktop, tablet, mobile sites and app

We have continued to make improvements
to our website over the year and now more
customers than ever are shopping with us
on M&S com

offset by Head Cffice restructuring
efficiencies Cost growth willbe
welghted towards the first half of
the year

->The 2017/18 effective tax rate on
adjusted profit before tax 1s expected
to be around 21% as a result of the
Scottish Limited Partnership structure

Definition Year-on-year change
inabsolute selling space

Performance We are re-establshing
our Internaticnal business as a more
sustainable and profitable operation
with our focus on a partnership model
While we remain committed to our joint
ventures in India and Creece and our
owned businesses in some key markets,
we are exiting owned stores in ten loss-
making markets We have closed all cur
stores in China and we are on track for the
further planned closures to be largely
completed by the end of the first half
of the year

- Capital expenditure 1s expected to
be ¢ £400m as we increase the rate
of Simply Food store openings

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE ADJUSTED ITEMS

£'64.4m+15.4%

Definition Adjusted operating profit
provides additional nformation on
performance adjusting for itemns that
are considered to be significant in nature
and/or value

Performance The improvernent was due

to a reduction in losses In owned markets
This followed our decision to ext ten
rmarkets and the adjusted charges we took
at the point of that decision Profits from our
franchise markets were down due to lower
shipments to our partners inthe Middle East

stores We anticipate input cost inflation

1 Based on restated FY16 figure of 7 4m due to immprovernents in data capture and analytics
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OUR PERFORMANCE

OUR PEOPLE

QUR PEQPLE

We took action this year to simnplify and
modernise ourbusinessinbnewith our strategy
to put cur customers at the heart of
averythuing we do keep things simple and
work as one tearn We reduced the number
of roles in our UK Head Office by 590
alongside moving 4001T and Logistics roles
out of central London We also put inplace
a farer, simpler and more consistent
appreach to pay The changes, which took
effect in April this year, saw us iNCrease basic
pay for our Customer Assistants to alevel
well above the National Living Wage and
move to a single approach for premium
payments We also moved toa more
consistent and sustanable approach to
pensions for all M&S employees and closed
the UK defined benefit pension scheme to
future accrual These changes were made
followingan extensive consultation process
with allemployees through our National
Business Involvement Group (BICG),

ME&S's network of elected emoloyee
representatves, and through town hall
meetings and Lstening groups IN our stores
The feedback gathered n these sessions
directly nfluenced the outcome, which
demonstrates the importance of BIG

We now have a pay and benefits package
that is arnong the best in UK retarl, which
rmeans we can both reward our store

MAKING EVERY MOMENT SPECIAL
IN OUR COMMUNITIES

Our pecple believe ndoing the night
thing, not Just saying it Spark Something
Cood s M&S's way of helping customers
and colleagues make a real difference
This year, we tock Spark Something Cood
toanother seven cities, with over 4,000
customers and emnloyees voluntgenng
onmare than 240 projects We're also
sparking something good by working

to beat cancer - our colleagues and
custormersraised £3 2m for Macmillan
Cancer Support through a series of
activities such as our involvementin

the World's Biggest Coffee Morningin
stores across the country,and £2 8Bm

for Breast Cancer Now

employees appropriately and continue
toattract the best people to serve our
custorners While nochange 1s easy, these
were necessary actions to build arobust
platform for future growth We are amore
relevant and agile company as aresult

We implemented customer-facing changes
too By increasing the number of employees
N our stores, we can better serve our
custormers, Having mare peopte on the
shop floor has had a discernible impact

on customer satisfaction levels and our
people’s engagement levels, creating
awirtuous circle of improvernent Qur

Your Say survey showed that employee
engagement increasedagainto 81% lt also
highlighted areas where employees want

te see animprovement — we learnt we

need to do moere to demonstrate the
opportunihes for development and this

will be a focus inthe year ahead

In November, we outlined a reshaping of
our UK store estate Althoughthis prograrnme
151N 1ts early stages, over the next five years
it will lead to change for some of our people
QOur aimis to redeploy as many af fected
colleagues as possible and to create more
jabs as we continue with aur Food store
opening programme Through constant
cialogue we will keep our people informed
every step of the way - they wilLbe the first
to know of any changes thatare planned

Qur 85 000 colleagues are the heart and

soul of M&S, and we have put Inplaceaclear
strategy for our People that underpins

our business strategy We want to develop
and attract great talent at alllevels of our
business We want awinning culture, adiverse
and inclusive workforce,and we want a fit and
flexible organisation that allows our people
toflounsh By fostering talent ina structured
way at every level of M&S—be that onthe
shop floor,in cur schoolleaver or graduate
programmes orat more senior levels,

our people can realise their full potential

Our new Retall Apprenticeship programme
1sa pnme example of fosterng talent
Launched n May, we will take on 40C retail

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY <. &« A~F 07

BE YOURSELF

M&S has always taken employee
wellbeing senously We have an
astablished wellbeng programme,
whichincludes adedicated online
Mental Wellbeing area on our employee
onling portal with tools and matenals
from mental health experts designed

ro support M&S employees and line
managers alike in both prevention and
support Wealsohad a seres of activities
bringing inclusion and wellbeng together
under Dare to Be Yourself, with a series
of events led by our expert diversity
partners representing gender, ethnicity,
LCBT+ and welibeing looking at research,
insight and views on the important nk
between wellbaing and inclusion

apprentices this year They will gain
expenencen different parts of the business,
including digital, and will finish the
prograrnme with a recognised qualification
The programme will provide the first steps
to acareer inretal At M&S we want toinstl
an ‘anything s possible’ culture and we have
great role models inanumber of our senior
team who started ther careers in our stores

A Gur Marks & Start programme for people
who face barners getting into work went from
strength to strength, helping over 2,300
people, around half of whorn were under
25, take theyr first stegs nto work

No business can stand still, we are focused
on cantinuous Improverment and being

an agile and flexible organisation that 1s
constantly evolving Qur long-term growth
will rely on us having talented, dedicated
people at cur core
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OUR PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

FQOD

We have had a good year ina difficult
environment Saleswereup 4 2% and

our growth outpaced the market Over the
year, our market share rose 20bpsto 4 5%

Our focus this year was on building on

our strengths of nnovation, guabity and
convenience We made our food more
accessible by opening 68 new Food-only
stores, taking the total to 636, iIncluding 383
franchise stores Between cur three formats
—Foedhall, Simply Feod and Feod To Go -
we deliver convenient food inconvenient
locations, with ranges talored to each
store’s location and size and offering the
most relevant choice for our customers
We continue to focus onmaking the
shopping experience as speciat as our food

Constantly curious, cur déevelopment team
15 always trying to push the boundanes of
innovation Independent tests prove that
we are maintaning our lead on guality and
innovation We intreduced 1,600 new Uines
this year,and from festive Secret Centre
Cheeses to our Texan-inspired Smokehouse
BBQG collection, newness accounted for
aquarter of our entire range We extended
our premium Collections range to more

HEALTHY CHOICE

We want to lead the market on health

oy offering custemers heatthy ways to
feel great and great ways to feel healthy
We extended our Eat Well range, and
added 41 lines to cur Made Without range,
which has trebledin size since 2015 -

sales rose 4% and 38% respectively We
introduced a wholesome store cupboard
range with 37 new products across areas
including dried grains and grain pots Our
axpert chefs travelled tc Japan to bring
back the knowledge and skills required

to develop a2 new collecticn of exceptional
sushi using traditional methods and
specialist Ingredients With specially
selected Japanese rice, authentic norn
seaweed, fresh wasabt and soy sauce
brewed in Japan, it s our most authentic
sushi range ever and customers love it -
we have already sold 740,000 packs

products for custormers looking for
something extra special. We introduced
shoppers to exciting new fruits and
vegetables, including the biggest avocado
on the UK hugh street and bancol,

a cauliflower similar in appearance and
texture to Tenderstem broccoll We added
14 dishes from Vietnam, Thalland, Singapore
and Korez to our ever-popular Taste Asia
range and offered customers a delicious
fresh mealin 25 minutes with our
relaunched Cookrange Our product
developers are constantly working to
translate the theatre of restaurant desserts
INto scrmething our custamers can enjoy
athome - hits this year included our
Chocolate Melting Dome and Chocolate

& Passionfrurt Star

We know our custorers want great value
every time they shop with us So we reduced
the number of promotions we ranand
focused on delivering competitive prices
every day alongside simplified promotions
We upgraded our popular Bine In offer and
our inchian Takeaway meal deals, and saw
sales increases of 7% and 10%, respectively
A basket of our opening price point

Sirmnply products, excluding milk for

which we pay a prermium to our farmers,

1s competitor price-matched to ensure

we are offering customers great value on
everyday essentials

At Chnistmas, we improved service for our
customers with a new Christmas Foad to
Order site and a better in-store collection
experience ~ customer satisfaction
increased by 20% We hosted Taste of
Christmas events in 600 steres, offering
our customers INnspiration and the chance
totry special and new products to help
them plan therr Christmas dining

R Customers are increasingly concerned
about the origin of therr food, so maintaining
the integrity of cur foad supply chainis
essential to cur success At M&S we pride
ourselves on our strong relationships with
supplers, from those with large factories
to smaller craft preducers QOur Farm Animal
Health & Welfare Policy sets cut the hugh
standards we expect of our suppliers,and
we have a dedicated tearn of agriculture
and fishernes specialists responsible for
implementing our agricutture policies
acress our supply base Our business s
founded onatong-standing mutuat
trust between us, our suppbers and our
customers Scif a trusted supplier makes
amistake, we believe Itis ight to stick with
themn, help themtorectify the ssues and,
inturn, make them a more robust business

R A TRANSPARENCY

Our sustamability credentials are akey
part of the M&S difference and we need
to ensure our strong ethical standards
rernain at the forefront of everything we
do We publshed our inaugurat Human
Rights Report which outlines the steps
we are taking to support and respect
human rights and cur plans for the future
We were one of first organisations to
report against the UN Guiding Principles
on Business and Human Rights Reporting
Framework and the highest ranked
retailer in the Corporate Human Rights
Benchmark We also extended the

reach of ourinteractive supply chain

map to nclude Food, Beauty and

Home suppliers

We know our strategy in Food 1s the nght
one We will continue to make every food
moment special with cur differentiation,
newness and quality

CLOTHING & HOME

Qur priority n Clothing & Home 1s to recover
and grow sales We have focused on
impreving guality, lowering prices and
streambning our ranges Our performance
15 0N animproving trajectory as a result

Sales over theyear fellby 2 8% to £38bnas
we reduced our reliance on discounting
We grew market share in Lingerie and
Kidswear, and stabilised our share in
Menswear Werermoved a greater proportion
of promotions from Womenswear which
affected market share As we continue our
Journey of iImproverment, one overarching
aim underpins everything we do tc getit
right Right proaduct Right price Right fit
Right availability Deliveredwith great
service We bellieve we are on a solid path
to sustainable growth

Read more about our Clothing & Home
strategy on p03-09

We reduced the number of promotions
and lowered prices to focus on full-pnce
clothing sales As result full-price sales
were Up 2 7% We have lowered over 2,400
prices since January 2016, particutarly on

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE
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openiNg price points, so we are Now
offering our customers better value every
day We ran

89 fewer promoticns and reduced the
number of sales in the year from nine to six
In 2017, we will reduce this further to four
At the same time, we increased the number
of tallored promotions for Sparks members
50 that we continue to reward our loyal
custamers By removing the noise of
constant promotional activity and by
cutting prices, we delivered more
consistent value and restored our price
ntegrity

and customers noticed the difference

For example, when we lowered the price

of Jeggings from £1950 to £15, sates rose
by 35% year-on-year This resulted in an
improverment in full-price sales

We are working hard toimprove the style
and design of our products InWomenswear,
this means creating beautiful, high quality
wardrobe essentials, the area for which M&S
15 famous, In one master colour palette

We know fit s one of the most Important
measures of quality for our custormers,

so we reviewed and updated our block
patterns to ensure that everythung from
exactly where we put darts to the
measurements ona neckline means we

are offenng a consistent, good fit In Men's
formalwear, we reduced the number of fits
from six to four while increasing the range of
styles, colours and sizes This gave clanty to
shoppers and customer feedback measures
onquality, fit and style were all up onthe
previous year

Some of our customers told us that M&S
had become too difficult to shopin, with
too much product duplcationleading to
confusion about the sub-brands Sowe
are streamlining our ranges by cutting the
number of sub-brands we sell, Indigo In
Wormenswear and Collezione and North
Coast In Menswear are being phased out
We also tnmmed the number of clothing
limes we offer by 12% At the same time, we
have increased the depth of cur buys and
Improved avaitability across all Clothing &
Home departments The result was more
consistent ranges with better size and
colour availability

Itis now a year since we changedthe
structure of our Womenswear tearm to
focus on product categories rather than
brands We have also smplified how we work
N Menswear, with an even greater focus on
product categones that reflects how our
male customers shop Some 68% of cur
products are now designed n-house and
our simplfied structure means our buying
teams across Clothing & Home can work
Inamare collaborative way Not only dces
thisremaove duplication and allow greater
coordination n our pricing architecture, but
it leads to efficencies inour supply base We
can focus on warking with cur best suppliers
and buy bigger volumes and better guality
fabncs through fewer factones

R Our improved margin performance s
aresult of better sourcing and less reliance
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OUR PERFORMANCE CONTINUED

on promotions Whilst there s a nsk that
nising sourcing costs willimpact margin
growth, our efficient buying operation and
strong focus on costs will help mitigate this

We increased our focus on product
categories for which we are best known, such
as Lingerie, Schoolwear, Bedding and Bath,
which resutted inmarket share growthin

all these categories We know where our
strengths lie and these categeries provide
opporturties far growth From our
credibitty In Food, we will grow our Cooking
& Dining departments We will capitalise on
our number one market share positionin
Schoclwear to grow our school shoes market
share We also have agreat cpportunityin
Beauty - we sold 210,000 of our innovative
Beauty Advent Catendar in just two weeks,
highlighting the success of offering
something different to our customers

Customers are responding positively to
these changes As we move through
recovery to growth, we willcontinue to

isten to our customers and to focus on
conternporary style and wardrobe essentials
with better products, prices and avalability

INTERNATIONAL

This year we announced changes to our
International operations that willbuild a
more sustainable, profitable and customer-
focused Internaticnal business for M&S

International revenues were broadly flat at
-01% at constant currency (up 10 7% cn
areported basis) while adjusted profits grew
15 4% to £64 4m However, performance
vaned across different parts of the business
While our franchise business made a profit
of £819m, our owned business was loss-
rmaking inanumber of markets In our
franchise business, revenues fram
shiprments to our partners declined by 3%,
due to lower shipments to the Middle East
as aresult of the weak retail market in
theregion, although there was better
rmomentum in the second half of the

year Shipments to our European partners
increased, driven by new Food store
openings in France, while shipments to Asia
also benefitted from the expansion of our
Food business and new store openings

As we announced in November, our new
strategy will put our International business
onamore sustainable footing by focusing
on our partnership models, International
opportuntties for growth remarn inimarkets
where M&S's unique of fer resonates with
customers The action we are taking will
make us maore customer- and partner-
focused, driving sustainable profit growth
overseas inacapral-bght way

Qur decision te exit owned stores inten
rarkets will result in the closure of 53 stores,
thelast of which 1s expected to shut this
autumn The affected businesses were loss-
making and in markets where there is imited
opportunity for growth These closures
resulted in ¢charges of £130 5m, which
significantty impacted profits this year

We atso simplified our overseas

OVERSEAS GROWTH

In Aprilwe opened our new flagship store
in Doha with our largest franchise partner,
Al-Futtaim The 46,000 5q ft store inthe
Doha Festival City Mall sells fresh food for
the first time n Qiatar It also features our
largest international Lingerie department,
anin-store bakery and a table-waited M&S
Café, which serves British classics Lke fish
and chips and afternoon tea The store s
the 28th M&S store in the Culf and the
thirdin the city

multichannel strategy, closing websites
invery smallmarkets and shifting more
focus onleveraging our M&S com platform
and e-commerce distribution centre to
fulfitinternational orders

We've simplfied our International business
and rermain committed to our internaticnal
ambitions We still sellour products from
Cubbn to Dubaiand from Sydney to San
Francisco After the reorganisation, we witl
trade 1n 50 markets with cver 400 stores and
anonline presence In 25 markets We are just
as focused on our customers internationally
as we are in the UK - international customer
satisfaction levels have risen significantly
year-on-year The changes will allow us to
play to our strengths in markets where

we have strong brand awareness, an
established store estateand a loyal
customer base Cong forward, we will
continue to expand with our trusted
franchise partners, enabling us to leverage
their scale, infrastructure andlocal
expertise We will focus on our successful
joint ventures in India, where like-for-like
clothing sales grew 9%,and Creece, where
sales were up 3% on a constant currency
basis We alsoremain committed to our
established owned business in the Republic
of Ireland, which this vear was affected by
our strategy te reduce promotions and
discountng We will expand our popular
franchised Food business in France
Inaddition, we will continue tc reach
customers through fully localised owned
and operated websites, via established
marketplaces such as Myntra in India

and Zalandoin Europe and with cur
franchise partners

REACHING QUR CUSTOMERS

In November we outlined plans to reshape
our UK store estate to ensure it rermains
relevant and convenient for our customers
The changing shape of retall and the growth
N online has inevitably had animpact onour
space reguirements This year alone, online
salesrose by 56% onareported basis to
£836 3m (up 4 9% at constant currency}




We willreduce our Clothing & Home space
by around 10% over the next five years while
continuing to grow sales through fewer
stores in better locations and through M&S
com We are alsoimproving the customer
experience instore As part of the
transformation, we willimprove around 25%
of our Clothing &Horme space More space
will be deployed tc Food and to growth areas
such as Kidswear ang Home Approximately
30full-line stores will close At the same time,
we will open 250 new Simply Food stores

to take our Food business to evenmore
customers This will result in us having more
stores inmore convenient locations with an
estate that reflects how our customers want
to shopwithus

Qur commitment to putting our customers
at the heart of everything we do has been
brought to life this year through our Making
Every Moment Special initistive It's about
knowing our customers and stering to
what they want The results have seen
custorner service satisfactionratings
improve, and our people are energised -
Making Every Moment Speciai has evobved
Into amovernent within M&S We also made
changes in store that further enabled our
colleagues to spend more time with our
customers We put over 3,000 extra
employeesin key areas, we remoaved certan
tasks that were taking colleagues off the
shop floor, we introduced hosts in some of
our bigger stores to greet customers,and
we introduced handheld devices to improve
the shopping experence This technology
gives our store colleagues access toa
wealth of inforrmation that enables themto
spend more time helping customers, from
up-to-date stock information to letting
them assist with activating Sparks offers

We also made our stores easier to shopin

LISTENING TO OUR CUSTOMERS

Our Fasy Dressing School Uniform,
created with customer insight and help
fromthe National Autistic Society, makes
dressing for school easier, quicker and
more comfortable for both parents and
children Popular itemns include the Boy's
trousers, which area'pullup’ style, sonoc
fiddly zips or buttons, with the care label
nside the side pocket for comfort After
a customer contacted us about offering
clothing for children lke her grandson
who have specialist needs, we worked
closely with her,her grandson and other
farmiles on adapting and extending some
of our bodysuits and sleepwear up to
age 7-8 Therange was very well received
and we have since introduced more
products and extendedit uptoage 16
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Following customer feedback, we reduced
co-ordinated displays and the space given
to sub-brands Meanwhile we increased
space for destination areas, such as Coats
and Knitwear, and put these to the front

of the store We reviewed our ranging to
ensure better availability and more choice
Custormers nghtly want a similar experience
of M&S however they shop with us and this
new approach means the shopping journey
N store 1s more aligned to that on M&S comn

Cur drive toimprove availability was as
relevant toM&S com as it was for our stores
and there was a significant improvement
over the year This omnichannel approach
means we can be responsive to how and
where our customers are shopping and
rnake best use of stock to ensure customers
get what they want

We have mproved the shopping experience
across all devices over the year as we made
them easier to use through a senes of small
upgrades and page developments We know
our customers like the reliable service that
shopping on M&S com offers - our post-
purchase net promoter scoresareat an
all-time hugh

Cnline shopping often starts with a specific
itern rather than a specific retailer sowe
made changes to our pages to make them
easier for search engines toread and List
This helps attract more online shoppers

to M&S com - inthe two weeks leading up
to Easter,non-paid revenue from search
engines was up 29%. We are aligning our
channels to give customers consistent and
complementary experiences online and N
store For example, promotionat activity on
M&S com now mirrors what happens inour
stores Our online toolfor booking a store
bra fitting 1s used by over 1,500 customers
aday Shop Your Way remains a crucial nexus
between our physical and online stores
Two-thirds of our online transacticns atsc
touch a store at some point - whether
orderingin store or picking up there Over
half of all Sparks visits are made viamaobile,
making It a crucial sales and communication
channel for us Looking ahead, we will

focus onimproving the speed of our site,
particularly on mobile, and offering a
broader range of delivery cptions

ENGAGING OUR CUSTOMERS

R Amid fierce competition, it i1s vital that our
brand rermains relevant to our customers
Through our marketing activity this yvear we
have taken a different approach toengaging
with customers Itis anapproach bult on
what they have told us, rather than what we
want to tellthem It's designed to show that
we understand therr Ufestyles and what
matters to thermn It'saimed at reinforaing
anemotionalconnectionand at sparking
conversations about M&S and freshnew
thinking about our brand

Qur new marketing approach focuses on
the feeling and emoction people get when
they shop at M&S We first usedit inour
award-winning Mrs Claus Christmmas
campaign, whichbad over 22 5monline

views and resutted in high customer
engagement Where previous ads have
centred on the things we sell, Mrs Claus -
the tale of Santa’s wife as a skilled behing-
the-scenes operative - was our first ever
non-product-led campaign It amedto tap
into people’'s emotional connection with
M&S Through our #lovernrsclaus social
media hashtag and tie-ins with cur Make
Every Moment Special activity in store,
Mrs Claus was a key ingredient that Ufted
our Christmas performance

Onthe back of the campaign's success,

In May this year we introduced our new
brand proposition More than a tagline,
Spend It Wellis a call to action, designed

to inspire and enable our customers to
make every moment special by focusing
onthe expernences, people and things that
really matter The campaignrepresents a
commitment to putting customers at the
heart of everything we do and it is the first
we have created based on deep customer
insight Withits significant focus on
customer experience cnand offline, it aims
to position M&S as an enabler of a ife well
lved Thisisalso the first time we have
united both Food and Clothing & Home
under a singte brand philosophy Spend It
Well will sit across alldigital channels, stores,
marketing communications and Sparks,
giving our customers a clear and consistent
view of M&S

Qur Sparks membership club s prvotal
whenit comes to giving customers what
they want and rewarding their loyalty Nearly
1 6rm members joined this year, takng total
membershipto 5 6m Sparks analytics

have given us access to a wealth of insights
that enable us to be maore relevant to our
customers We aimto createa personal
relationshipwith thern, allowing us totaior
our offers and experniences By deing this
we have shown that we can encourage
people to shop more frequently n different
categoresand via different channels,

and devices, thereby creating sharehaolder
value, We are working on making Sparks
even better Over the next year we will
increase levels of personalisation, make the
scheme easter to use at different customer
touchpoints, and continue to drive shopper
behaviour nways that are relevant tothem

A Since we launched Plan A 2007, t has
sparked some fantastic nnovations {thas
made us challenge the way we do things
and to think differently it has also helped us
to have a positive impact on communities
The new iteration of Plan A comes with a new
ambition toincrease levels of engagement
with our customers by addressing the Issues
we know they really care about We have
identified three new prionities around
which allour Plan Aactivity will be based
Wellbeing, Community and Planet
The launch dovetalled with our Spend It
Well campaign, after all, looking after the
planet and lving Life to the fullare part
of the same philosophy

Read more about our new Plan A
commitments marksandspencercom/plana
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MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC
STRATEGIC REPORT

OUR PERFORMANCE

—INANCIAL REVIEW

We believe our strategy to recover and
grow M&S, alongside our strengthened approach
to capital management, will deliver profitable,
sustainable growth for our shareholders.

HELEN WEIR CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

FIND OUT MORE

See our KPIs on p18-21

Se

Read about our operating performance on p23-25

This year we arereporting on the 52 weeks to 1 Apnl 2017 compared
with last year's 53-week year To provide a more meaningful
comparison with last year, all financial moverments in this section
are reported relative to the 52 weeks to 26 March 2016, unless
otherwise noted

Dunng the year we set out our new strategy to put M&S onamore
sustainable footing and establish the basis for future growth
Although we are confident that these actions are theright ones to
recover and grow M&S, they have not come without significant cost
As aresult,ona 53-week reported basis Croup profit before tax was
down 63 9% to £176 4m (last year £488 8m) and profit before tax and
adjusted termns was £613 8m, down 11 0% {last year £6896m)

OUR OPERATING PERFORMANCE

In Foog, we continued to outperform a challenging grocery market,
with revenue up 4 2% to £5 6bn {last year £5 4bn) Driving growth
through our store cpening programme, we opened 30 new owned
and 38 new franchise Food stores and increased market share by
20bps to 4 5% Food gross margin was down 25bps year-on-year due
to input price pressure as a result of the faltin sterlng, and higher
than anticipated waste

Clothing & Home revenue was down 2 8% at £3 8bn (last year £4 0bn),
as sales were affected by our strategy to reduce ourrelance on
promotions and sale activity However, we are encouraged by the
increase In full-price sales, which were up 2 7%, and market share
stabilisation and we are confident that we are taking the nght action
for the long-term success of cur clothing business Clothing &
Home gross margin increased by 105bps to 56 1% as a result of lower
discounting and buying margin gains as we continue to leverage
our direct sourcing capabilities and scale These factors more than
offset the significant headwind as a result of the decline n value

of sterling, which had a significant impact on our cost of goods

UK operating costs were £3,390m (last year £3,266m), up 3 §%,

with the primary drivers being the costs asscciated with investment
Innew space and IT, as we continue to upgrade our systems and
infrastructure to support future growth

International operating profit before adjusted tems was £64 4m,
up 15 4% (last year £55 8m) Thisimprovement was duetoa
significant reduction inlosses in owned markets, of this, £7m s
aresult of the provision for certain onercus leases taken asan
adjusted itemn following our decision to exit owned stores in ten
countries Profits frorn our franchise markets were shghtly down
due to lower shipments to our franchise partners in the Middle East
inthe first half of the year

e our Strategic Update on p08-11
See how performance links to Remuneration on p56

Croup profit before tax was down to £176 4m (last year £488 8mona
53-week basis) as a result of the sigrificant charges asscciated with
theimplementation of cur revised strategy This included £132 5m
for International store closures and imparrments and £156 Om
retating to the closure of our UK defined benefit pension scheme
and changes to pay and premiums We also continued to ncur
charges inrelation to a provision by M&S Bank for insurance mis-
seluing which this year were £44 Im (last year £50 3m} Of the £4374m
of adjusting iterns, £809m were cashinthe year

Further details are on p28 and in note 5 on p103-104,

Cashgeneration in the business remains streng with free cash flow
before shareholder returns of £585 4m (last year £539 3mona
53-week basis) During the year, we further strengthened our capital
rmanagement disciplines Capitalinvestment was significantly down
as we have completed some of cur larger infrastructure projects
and opened fewer full-lne stores than last year Net debt reduced
by £203 6m during the year to £19bn

Weissued anew £300m bond in December, nadvance of a $500m
bond expiry in December 2017 We remain committed to a strong
balance sheet and maintaining an investment grade credit rating
Qur creditrating s BBB rminus

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND IMPROVING
SHAREHOLDER RETURNS

Following severat years of nvestment, we now have the
infrastructure needed for sustainable growth However, scme

of these investments have not generated the returns we had
hoped for and some have cost more than they should Weare

also operating n a marketplace undergoing significant changes
While we remain committed to investing in the growth of M&S,

we need to do thiswithin a tighter investment framework Under
this approach, we are already placing a greater emphasis cncash
payback when assessing investments to help improve the relablity
of returns We also plan to reduce the average length of our leases,
giving us greater flexibility, and to ensure we have a better mix
between growth and ‘business as usual iInvestments We believe
this approachwill enable us to prioritise key iInvestments while
improving returns to our shareholders

We recognise the importance of regular divdends and we are
committed to delivering sustainable shareholder returns During
the year we returned £377.5m to shareholders, which included

£74 5 the form of a special dividend Notwithstanding the
declne in profits but after considenng the strong cash generation
characteristics of the Group, the Board decided to mantain the
full year dividend at 18 7 (last year 18 7p)
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During the first half, we declared a special dividend of 4 6p per
share However, given the potential cash costs associated with

our strategic changes and uncertain market conditions, the Board
took the prudent decision not to make an additional return of
cashto shareholders under our enhanced shareholder returns
programme In the second half

Despite the fallin profit, we believe we have the nght strategy in
place to recover and grow M&S and this, alongside our strengthened
approach to capital management, will deliver profitable, sustainable
growth for our shareholders

FULL YEAR REVIEW

52 weeks ended

Withun other store costs, new space drove the increase, with
cccupancy cost nflation largely offset by efficlencies and
lower depreciation

Distribution and warehousing costs increased by £44m A significant
proportion of this Increase was driven by increased capacity to
support grewth in our business, with a new Food depotin Enfield
and Clothing & Home warehouse in Bradford The balance was
largely attnbutable to increased food volumes and inflation

Marketing costs declined by £23m This was mostly aresult of a
reductioninactivity and the more effective use of cur marketing
budget, such as our Chnstmas campaign where we increased
customer views while reducing costs, as wellas the annualisation
of the launch of Sparks last year

Vhprl?  26Mar 16 “henge  Centralcostsincreased by £41m This was largely driven by an
ncrease inlTrelated cperating costs inctucing righer depreaiation
Group revenue 106220 10,3910 2.2 from new merchandising systems Agreater proportion of costs
UKrevenue 94417 93248 13 arenowbeing expensedas we transition to Increased use of cloud
International revenue 1,803 1,066 2 107 based software services As expected, around half of the anticipated
Adjusted Group operating ¢ £30m cost savings from cur Head Office restructuring were
profit 690.6 7776 1.2 delivered during the year
Adjusted UK operating profit 6262 7218 -132 BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE, PROFITABLE,
Adjusted International INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS
operating profit 64 4 558 154 e oo
- " 52 weeks en

Adjusted profit before tax 613.8 684.1 -10.3 v v change
Adjustediterns (437 4) (2008) n/a £m £m onlY %
Profit before tax 176.4 483.3 -63.5 Franchise 314.0 3244 -32

ROUP REVENUE Owned 866.3 7418 168
g ou 2o 1% — Retained 686.9 5809 182

rOUP revenues were up up onaconstant currency basis
UK revenues were up 1 3% In total with a ike-for-Uke decrease Ext 1794 1609 N5
International revenues were up 107% {-01% ona constant Revenue 11803  1,066.2 10.7
currency basis) Franchise 819 873 -62
GROSS MARGIN Cwned (175 (315 444
UK o Clothma & Retained 17.2 153 124

gross marginwas othing & Home gross margin was

ahead of expectations, up ¢ 105bps year-on-year Buymg margin Exit - - (34.7) (4638) 259
increased by 100bps despite currency headwinds as we continued Operating Profit 644 55.8 15.4

to deliver benefits from leveraging our direct scurcing capabilities

through retendering orders, and by moving business to lower-duty
locations Reduced discounting benefited margin by c 5bps on

the year with an 110bps mprovement in the second half, as a result
of lower stock into sale and better selithrough rates

Food gross margin declined -25bps year-cn-year, which was more
than expected We generated gains from our ongoing value
ophirmisation prograrmme of 7Cbps However, these were more
than offset by an increase ininput costs of 80bps, following the
depreciation of sterling and higher than expected waste

UK QOPERATING COSTS
52 weeks ended

1 Apr17 26 Mar 16 Change
£m £m' onLY %
Store staffing 1,010.3 974 4 37
Other store costs 1,000.7 9744 27
Distnbution and warehousing 519.6 4754 93
Marketing 162.7 1861 -126
Central costs ) 6971 6558 63
UK Operating Costs 3,3904  3,266.1 3.8

1 Certain pricryear costs have beenreclassified toreflect changesin
UK organisation structure

UK operating costs were up by £124m (3 8%), with hugher
depreciation accounting for £26m

Store staff costs ncreased by £36rm pnimanly driven by new space
with the cost of the annual pay review and investments inimproved
store service largely offset by business efficiencres

During the year, International revenues rose by 107% driven by
currency translation, with constant currency sales down Q1%
Profit before adjusted items increased by 15 4%t0 £64 4m

In cur franchise business, shipments to Asia benefited fromnew

store cpenings and expansion of cur Food business. We saw a good
performance from Europe, where shipments increased, driven by new
Food store openings in France Revenues from the Middle East were
affected by de-stocking and weak retail markets, although the trend
improved inthe second half of the year, with a similar trend n profits

In cur retained owned business, constant currency revenues
ncreased by 2% Our joint venture business in India performed well,
with seven new store openings during the year Sales in the Republic
of Ireland and in Hong Kong were affected by our strategy to
reduce discounting Profit inretained owned markets improved
Lower operating profits in Hong Kong were offset by an improved
performance inthe Czech Republicand India

Internaticnal restructuring costsinclude £7m of lease costs relating
to stores either closed, or inthe process of closing This contributed to
the reduction of losses In exit markets The remaining store closures
willbe largely complete by the end of the first half and we now expect
to reduce the losses inexit markets by between £20and £25minthe
current year Total closure costs related to the International strategy
are expected to be at the lower end of the previously indicated range
at ¢ £150m The cash costs associated are expectedtc be c £135m,
with the vast majority incurred n 201718

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT

Croup adjusted operating profit was £613 8r (last year £684 1m)
UKoperating profit was £626 2m
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NET FINANCE COSTS
52 weeks ended Change
1 Apr17 26 Mar 16 on LY
£&m £m £m
Interest payable {100.2) (99 1) amn
Interest income 6.6 58 [03:)
Net interest payable (93.6) (93.3) {0.3)
Pension net finance income 293 153 140
Unwind of discount on
partnership labibity {12.6) (147) 21
Unwind of discounts on financial
Instruments and provisions 0.1 08) 09
Net finance cost (76.8) {93.5) 16.7

Net finance cost reduced by £16 7m largely due to increased
pension net finance income as a result of a higher UK defined
benefit scheme surplus at the start of the year Netinterest payable
ncreased marginally to £93 6m The interest payable on the new
£300m bond 1ssued in Decerber as we pre-financed an existing
bond expiring In December 2017 was almost fully offset by the
reduction in interest rates year-on-year

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND ADJUSTED ITEMS

Croup profit before tax and adjusted items was £613 8m, down
103% on last year ([down 11 0% ona 53-week basis) The decrease
was prirnarily due to the reductionin Clothing & Home gross profit
and the increase in operating costs in the year

M&S Bank profits were down £3 7m as aresult of the reductionin
interchange fees, and lower interest bearing balances

ADJUSTMENTS TO PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group makes certain adjustments to statutory profit
rmeasures in order to derve alternative performance measures
that provide stakeholders with additional helpful nformation
onthe performance of the business

52 weeks ended

1 Apr 17 26 Mar 16

Adjusted items £m £m
Strategic programmes
- changes tc pay and pensions {156.0) -
- UK organisation {24.0} -
- UK store estate {51.6) (370)
- Internaticnal store closures

and imparrments {132.5) (316)
UK store impairments and onerous
lease charges (48.8) E
M&S Bank charges incurred in relation
to the insurance mis-selling provision {44.1} (503)
UK Logrstics 9.8 92
Legal settlements 9.8 -
Other mpairments - (94 5)
IAS 39 farr value movement of
embedded derivative - (20)

Net gain on acquisition of joint venture
holding Bradford warehouse - 54

Adjustments to operating profit
and profit before tax

(437.4)  (200.8)

During the period, the Sroup announced changes to our pay and
pensions arrangement s within the UK business We closed our UK
defined benefit pension scheme to future acerual effective from

1 Apnl 2017 resulting ina one-off charge of £1270m Inrespect of pay,
we announced an increase N our base level of pay to £8 50 per hour
as well as the removal of a number of prermium payments The Group
has recogniseda charge of £23 6minthe year inrelation to this

The Group anticipates Making transition payrments to employees

inrelation to the closure of the defined benefit scherme, of ¢ £25m
{in aggregate)} over the next three years These amounts willbe
recognised within adiusted items as they are incurred

During the penod, following completion of a detailled review of the
UK organisation, the Group announced proposed changes toits UK
Head Office structure The changes have resulted in anet reduction
of ¢ 590 Head Office roles, with restructuning costs in the year of
£154minclusive of fees The Group also announced an 18-month
programme to centralise its London Head Office funchions into one
bulding The Group has recognised anet charge of £8 6m associated
wnth this rafionalisation

In November, the Group announced a strategic programme in
relation to the UK store estate As part of this programme, dunng
the year ten UK stores were approved for closure resulting in
closure costs of £47 3mrelating to dilapidations, subs-let shortfalls,
accelerated depreciation of fixtures and fittings and imparment
of assets The balance of the charges of £4 3minthe period related
to the ongoing review of assurnphons associated with previously
closed stores We continue to expect total adjusted tems related
to thus programme of ¢ £350m

The Croup has announced its intention to close Its owned stores in
teninternaticnal markets resulting in the recognition of a cost of
£330 5min the period The expected closure costs primarily relate
to redundancy, lease exit and property dilapigations The closure
programmes are cngoing in all markets, with the exception of
China where the final store was closed on 1 April 2017 International
store mpairment testing during the year identified a number of
stares where current and anticipated future performance does not
support the carrying value of the stores with a resulting impairment,
charge of £90m being incurred Offsetting these store imparrments
are credits of £70m relating to the reversal of historic imparments
against five stores inlreland and the release of unutiised provisions
oncompletion of the ext from the Balkans

UK store imparrment testing durmg the year has identified a number

of stores where the current and anticipated future performance

does not support the carrying value of the stores Asaresult,

acharge of £394mhas beenincurred inrespect of theirmparment

of assets associated with these stores Afurther charge of £9 4mhas

beenincurred in respect of onerous lease provisions associated with l
some of these stores !

The Group continues to incur charges inrelation to M&S Bank
insurance mis-selling provision The Croup's income from M&S
Bank has beenreduced as aresult of a further £44 1m of charges
Inthe year

Anet credit of £9 8m has beenrecognised in the year inrelation
to an updated view of the estimated closure costs of legacy
logistics sites associated with the strategic transition to a single
tier distribution network

During the year the Croup has reached various legal settlements
resulting inanet credit of £98m

The cash flowimpact of adjusted items was £809rm n the year

GROUP PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Croup profit before tax was £176 4m, down from £483 3m last year
(£488 8 ona 53 week basis) The decrease was largely duete the
impact of the strategic programmes in the year including the
curtailment costs associated with the closure to future accrual of
the UK defined benefit pension scheme, costs asscaiated with the
closure of cur owned stares in ten Internaticnal markets and the
UK store estate

TAXATION

The effective tax rate on profit before tax and adjusted items was
199% {last year 17 2%) The effective taxrate was 34 4% (Llast year

17 3%) due to the impact of disallowable adjusted iterms The 2017/18
effective taxrate on adjusted profit before tax s expected to be
around 21% as aresult of the Scottish Limited Partnership structure
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In 2017, cur total cash tax contribytion to the UK Exchequer was
£881m (2016 £857m), split between taxes ultimately borne by the
Cormpany of £423m (2016 £419mj(1e corporation tax, customs
duties, employer's NIC, business rates and sundry taxes) and taxes
attributable to the Company’s econormic activity and which are
collected on behalf of the government of £458m (2016 £438m)
(1e PAYE, employees NIC, value added tax, excise duties and
sundry taxes)

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share decreased by 707% to 7 2p (decreased

by 711% ona 53-week basis) largely as aresult of theimpact of the
adjusted itemms in the current year The waighted average number
of shares inissue dunng the perad was 1,623 1m (last year 1,635 9rm}

Basic earnings per share before agjusted itemns decreased by 12 6%
to 30 4p (decreased by 13 1% ona 53-week basis) due to the lower
adjusted profit generated inthe year

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
52 weeks 53 weaks
ended ended
1 Apr1? 2 Aprl6 Change
£m im onlY £m
UK store environment 226 369 {14 3)
New UK stores 75.0 1064 (314)
International 134 264 130)
Supply chain and M&S com 46.1 891 430)
T 110.8 1611 (503)
Property maintenance 90.3 796 107
Proceeds from property
disposals (27.0) {306) 36
Total capital expenditure
exctuding acquisition 331.2 468.9 (137.7)
Joint venture owning
Bradford warehouse - 562 (56 2)
Total capital expenditure 331.2 525.1 (193.9)

UK store environment spend included investment in increasing the
Hexibibity of our in-store layout InWomenswear, new store fascias
and rebranding cur Food halls Spend was down year-on-year due
to completion of a number of IN-store schernes last year, primarily
in Lingene and Kidswear

New UK store spend was down as a result of fewer new fuli-line
stores opening During the year, we opened 30 owned Simply Food,
three full-lne stores and two relocations compared to 25 owned
Simply Food, five full-lune steres and two relocations in the previcus
year Clothing &Home space increased by 0 9%

International spend was sigrificantly lower as a result of the decision
toexit storesin 10 markets Spend in the year was largely focused
on new stores in India and refurbishment projects n Hong Kong

We continue to mvest Inimproving our supply chainand T
nfrastructure although the total spend has reduced as we have
comgpleted some of our larger Infrastructure projects Dunngthe

year,we opened a new Food depot In Enfield as wellas nvesting
inour warehouse in Bradford Withun M&S com the reduction in
capital expenditure reflects the move towards customer focused
enhancements which are expensed and away from larger
infrastructure projects

investment i ITcompnsed of upgrading our in-store wifinet works
and investing in additional handheld devices whichimgprove
efficiency and customer service in-store Inaddition, as we move
towards more cloud based software solutions, a larger proportion
of costs are now being expensed

Maintenance spend has ncreased primarily due to investment in
more energy efficient In-store equipment such as lighting

The proceeds from property disposals mainly relate to the final
instalment of deferred consideration from the sale of the White City
warehouse

CASH FLOW AND NET DEBT
52 weeks 53 weeks
ended ended
1 Apr 17 28pr 16 Change
£m £m onlYfm
Adjusted operating profit 690.6 784.9 {94.3)
Depreciation and amortisation
before adjusted items 589.5 5768 127
Non cash pension and
share charges 110.9 1180 7N
Adjusted iterns cash outflow {80.9) (632) (77)
Working capital {9.1) 132 (223)
Pension funding (135.3) {1184) (169)
Capex and disposals (383.2) (5195) 1363
Acquisition of joint venture - (562) 562
interest and taxation {202.6) (2060) 34

Share transactions 5.5 97 42
Free cash flow pre-

shareholder returns 585.4 539.3 46.1
Dradends pad (377.5) {3017) (758)
Share buy back - (1507) 1507
Free cash flow 2079 86.9 121.0
Opening net debt {2,138.3) (2,223.2) 849

Exchange and other
non-cash movements (4.3} (20) (23)

Closing net debt (1,934.7) {2,138.3} 2036

The reduction in capital and acquisition expenditure was partially
offset by weaker business performance, with adjusted operating
profit down £94 3m Working capital was broadly flat onthe year
with areduction inClothing & Homeinventory offset by a reduction
ncreditors Pension funding was up £16 9m due to an increase

to the UK defined benefit contributions rate following the 2015
triennial valuation Adaiticnally, cash payments associated with
adjusted temms were £177m higher inthe year driven by the
Intermational strategy

The business delivered free cash flow pre-shareholder returns
of £585 4m, an increase of £46 1m onthe prior year

The Strategic Report, including pages 30to 33, was approved
bya duly authonsed Committee of the Board of Directors on
23 May 2017, and signed on its behalf by

HELEN WEIR CHIEF FINANCE OIFICER
23 May 2017

OUR BUSINESS

QOUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



30
MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC
STRATEGIC REPORT

OUR PERFORMANCE

RISK MANAGCEMENT

As with any business, we face risks and uncertainties on a daily basis.
Effective risk management is essential to support the achievement
of our strategic and operational objectives.

APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT

KEY AREAS OF FOCUS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board s accountable for carrying out
arobust assessment of the principal risks
facing the Company, ncluding those
threatening its customers, pecple, values,
reputation, business model, operations,
safety, future performance, solvency or
bguichty On behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee reviews the effectiveness of
the risk management process

Each business area s responsible for
formally identifyingand assessing its

risks half-yearly, measunng them against

a defined set of critena, and considenng
the lkelihood of occurrence and potential
impact to the Croup The Croup Risk
function facilitates a similar exercise with
mermbers of the Operating Committee,
before combining these perspectives to
create a consoldated view In compiling this
complete risk profile, consideration s given
tonisks that are external to cur business,
core to our day-to-day cperations, related
to business change and any other that may
impact achievernent of our future strategy

The principal risks iIdentified by this pracess
farm our Group Risk Profile, whichis agreed
by the Operating Committee ahead of
final review and approval by the Board
Inaddition to this pencdic review, key areas
of risk are subyject to regular oversight and

challenge by the Operating Committee and,

where appropriate, by the Board and Audit
Committee, during the course of the year

The directors assessment of the long-term
wiability of the Company s also reviewed
annually, mindfulof the pnncipal nsks
faced Further detaillcn ourapproach
toassessing long-termviability can be
found on page 31

We continue to challenge and improve the
quality of nsk information generated across
the business, while maintaining a simple
and practical approach Qur ways of
working with the Operating Committee
have evolved during the year More detailed
discussion regarding the nature and extent
of our principal risks has enhanced our
understanding in the context of the
business’s nsk appetite, as well as nforming
our consideration of emerging risk areas

By completing periodic ‘'deep dives on
targeted, connected nsks, we can also better
assess the effectiveness of the mitigating
activities inplace and strengthen our
approach to nsk management

RISK APPETITE

The UKCorporate Governance Code
requires companies to determing their
risk appetite in terms of the nature and
extent of the principal rnisks faced and
those they are willing to take in achieving
strategic objectives Inaddition to
assessing whether residual nsk s at an
acceptable levelin the context of overall
risk appetite, the Board has established
aset of risk appetite statements that
address key risk areas and specific
operations The statements articulate
risk parameters within which the Croup
operates, supported by our policies

and procedures Inaddition to ensunng
that our risk appetite statements remain
relevant and evolve with the business,
we recognise the mportance of fostering
an ervironment where innovation can
thrive Conseguently, there are times
when there may be merit in operating
outside agreed risk parameters,

if appropriate approvals and mitigating
controls are inptace

The details of cur principal nsks and
uncertainties and the key mitigating activities
in place to address them can be found on
pages 32 and 33 We disclose those we
believe are likely to have the greatestimpact
on eour business at this moment N time

and which have consequently been the
subject of debate at recent Board or Audht
Committee meetings The year 2016/17 has
teen one of change and this isreflected in
the year-on-year evolution of the principal
nisks and uncertainties

The Cormpany 1s exposed toa wide range
of nsks inadation to those lsted These are
monitered for any increase inlikelihood
orimpact and to ensure that approprate
mitigations arein place

While our capacity to influence external
risks 1s oftenlimited, we recogruse the
impertance of operatingabusiness medel
that has the potential to flex and adapt

to a changing environment For exarmpile,
the consequences of the UK's decision

to leave the European Unionwill directly
impact our business na variety of ways
While we have already been affected by the i
depreciation of sterling, cther nisks are not
yet fully quantifiable Potential nisks could
nclude trade tariffs, higher taxation and
Umits to the free moverment of people, all
will demand a proactive response as the
implications are better understood We have
created a working group to monitor the
changing nsk profile Economic uncertainty
and socio-political unrest also fall under

this umbrella of external nisk
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RISK INTERDEPENDENCY

We recogrse that there s sigrificant
interdependency between our key risks
Thus diagram, based on an extract from
our current Croup Risk Profile, highlights
how changes to one nsk might impact
those connected toit By understanding

the relationship between our key risks,

we are better placed to ensure we are
managing therm approprately and to
understand cur broader risk exposure

This 1s especially important when assessing
the Company’s long-term viability

Profitable
Growth

/T~

Customer

Technology

Proposition &

Experience

Talent &
Succession

The following is an illustrative
example of a potential scenario:

in order to dnve long-term Profitable
Growth, we need to ensure that we
proactively manage a number of our
prncipat nisks and uncertanties We must
offer and deliver a Customer Proposition
& Experience that 1s cornpetitive and
reliable across all channels, keeping pace
with changing consumer behaviours

and enabling us to leverage growth
opportunities as they anse In addition,
our Brand needs to evolve with consumer
Ufestyles and attitudes, ensuring that it
rescnates with custormers and remains
relevant as they move from one life stage
to the next Tobe able to realise growth
opportunities, we need to identify, keep
pace with and embrace developrnents in
Technology This will enable us to both
rmeet and exceed custemer expectations,
while ensurng that cur business remans
innovative, resibent and flexible All of these
aims are ultimately underpinned by the
strength of our people Through effective
rmanagement of Talent & Succession,

we can ensure our people are best set up
for success to deliver business objectives
as they evolve

OUR APPROACH TO ASSESSING LONG-TERM VIABILITY

The UK Corporate Governance Coderequires
us toissue a ‘viability statement’ declanng
whether we believe the Company 1s abie to
continue to cperate and meet its labilities,
taking nto account Its current position

and principatnisks The overnding amas to
encouragedirectors to focus onthe lenger
term and be more actively involved inrisk
management and internal controls

The Board s required to assess the
Company's viability over a period greater
than 12 months The Increased levels of
uncertainty within the glebal econormc
and political environment and the macro-
economic challenges being expenenced
within the retail sector, mean the Board
continues to believe a three-year period

1s appropriate for business planning,
rmeasunng performance and remunerating
atasenior level Our assessment of viability
therefore continues toalignwith this
three-year outlock

The process adopted to assess the viability
of the Company involves collaborative
input from a number of functions across
the business to model severe but plausible
scenanos In which a number of the Group’s
principalnsks and uncertainties materialise
within the peniod of the three-year plan

We have modelled scenarios which group
together principalnisks where we believe
interdependencies exist between the risks,
N additicn to scenarics where uncennected
risks occur simultaneously The scenario
with the most significant adverse mpact
was reviewed against the current and
projected liguidity position to conclude on
the Company's viability The assessment
also took account of additional potential
rmitigations avalable inthe event of further
downside factors, ncluding areductionin
capital expenditure and reduced returns to
shareholders The Audit Committee reviews
the output of the viability agsessment in
advance of final evaluation by the Board

Inassessing viability, the Board considered
anumber of key factors, Including cur
business moedel see pages 12 and 13, our
strategy see page 9, risk appetite see

page 30andour principal risks and
uncertainties see pages 32 and 33 These
have been reviewed in the context of our
financial ptans, specifically theannuat
budget and three-year plan The directors
alsc satisfied themselves that they have
the evidence necessary to support the
statement in terms of the effectiveness of
the internal control enviranment in place to
mitigaterisk

Inmaking the statement, the directors
have applied the following assumptions
" prepanng the scenarios

- Bonds maturing during the assessment
period will be repaid through our
existing bank facilities

- The actions Included in our planto grow
sales are not fully realised or are offset
by lower than expected market growth

- The actions included incur plans to
mitigate nput cost increases that
we expect are not delivered in full or
the nput cost Increases are greater
than expected

- The UK government’s notification of its
intention to exit the European Union will
have adverse financialimpacts, ncluding
input costinflation from increased tanffs
and a further weakening in sterling, as
well as reduced UK consumer spending

The Board's assessment 1sthat M&S1s a
viable business The viability statement
can be found on page 83

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

Quir Croup Risk Profile evolves as changes in circumstances elevate risk, mitigating activities reduce net risk over time, or as new risks emerge
As aresult of our new strategy, our business has undergone considerable change during the year, affecting our people and cperations This has
significantly influenced the nsks reflected in the Croup Risk Profile, which forms the asis of the prinaipal nisks and uncertanties disclosed below

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
]

RISK DESCRIPTION CURRENT CONTEXT MITICATING ACTIVITIES
CLCTHING & HOME RECOVERY Early signs of improved - Clothing & Home strategy and supporting workstreams
1 Our future performance will be impacted performance are bemng seen In place to drive sales, target market share, control costs

n Clothing & Home following
ongomng efforts to strengthen
product style and quality
Irrespective of this, there s

no room for complacency and
achieving recovery and further
grawth of cur Clothing & Home
business remains a key prionty

if we fail to meet customer expectations.

As we continue to reassert our Clothing & Home
credentials, we are focused on ensuring that
product relevance, pricing and guality meet
customer expectations Meeting our customers
needs inall respects s key to driving improved
performance in an increasingly competitive market

and drive profitability

= Monthly monitonng and challenge of delivery against
strategy and perfermance indicators

- Continued focus on product quality and style, ncluding
adherence to our Clothing Quality Charter

- Ongoing engagement through customer panels and our
Custormer Insight Unit

2 FOOD SAFETY AND INTEGRITY While we set our cwn exacting

A food safety or integrity related incident standards, the external
. s pressures facing the food

occurs or is not effectively managed. Cur brand

ndustry are continually
15 tased on trust and our customers have high avolving Fraudulent s 1

tations of both the quality and integrity of vowing “ VPP

e’(p?C d it r ¢ " that chain behaviour, supplier cost
our food It 1s of paramount importance that we pressures, nnovation dermands
effectively manage safety and integrity, especially

and stringent regulatory
as we continue to grow our global food business FeqQUIrements are JUst some

of the contributors to this nisk

- Dedicated Food Technology tearmn responsible for ensunng
products are safe for consumption through rigorous
controls and processes

- Long-established store, supplier and depot auditing
programme in place

- Visible respense to emerging customer concerns

- Proactive honzon scanning for future issues, ncluding focus
on fraud and adulterat:on

- Crisis management plan in place

practices are being influenced
by a broader range of factors
than ever before, Including
modern slavery and hurman
rights 1t1s essential that our
commuitment to our ethical
standards remains at the
forefront of our behaviours,
especially during a pericd

of significant change

3 CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY Our business values and

Our reputation as a sustainable retailer relies
on our ability to meet our social responsibility
agenda and stakeholder expectations. Our
sustainability credentials have historically been
akey dfferentiator in the retal market As our
peers place greater focus on this and the
requiatory environment continues to develop,
itis essential that we continue to evolve our
ams, mamntan strong ethical standards and
meet stakehgolder expeclations

= Continued comrmutment to and developrment of Plan A
objectives to allow risks to be identified, mitigated
and monitored

- Overarching governance of processes through Plan Aleadership

- Mature supplier ethical auditing programme, including
independent third party auditors, across our Clothing & Home
and Food businesses

->» Policy on supplier selection processes

-» Business-wide human nghts policy and ownership

= Updated Clobat Sourcing Principles to incorporate
requirernents of Modern Slavery Act

= Signatory to United Nations Clobal Compact principies
covering human rights, the environment and ethical behaviour

- Membership of the Ethical Trading Initiative

corporate landscape have
continued to highlight the reat
threat of cyber and physical
attacks The external threat
profite 1s ever changing,
becoming more sophisticated
and more unpredictable

In additicn, regulatory
responsibilities nrelation to
data protection are becoming
increasingly stringent, ncluding
the implementation of the
General Data Protection
Regulation from 2018

4 INFORMATION SECURITY (INCLUDING CYBER) Experences across the

We experience a major information security
breach. Our business, and society, continues
to be subject to external threats to secunty -
including external hackers and viruses, physical
security attacks or sensitive data beng lost or
accessed without authonsation

- Established secunity controls, ncluding policies, procedures
and use of secunty technologies

- Dedicated Head of Data Cevernance

- Data Governance Group inplace

- Dedicated Corporate Secunty team with cngoing focus
onimproving physical securnty ernvironment

- Dedicated Head of Cyber Secunty, leading a team of
cyber secunty experts and analysts, with 24/7 monitering
and defence tocls

- Third party cyber matunty assessment performed

- Ongoing menitoring of developments in cyber security
threats, engaging with third party specialists as apprepnate

-» Control of sensitive data through imited and monitored
access and the roll-cut of systems with enhanced secunty

- Specific team dedicated to managing secunty requirements
for M&S com

of technology In meeting
customer needs, successfully
growing our business and
supporting cur pecple means
this remains an area of change
and focus

5 TECHNOLOGY The ever-increasing Importance

To support future profitable growth, we need
to keep pace and develop our technology
capability. Our business needs to identify, keep pace
with and embrace developments in technology
This will encompass a range of technelogy dermands
driven by the needs of our customers, deptoyment
of tocls that promote effective and flexible working
and maintaining an cverarching IT nfrastructure
that enables resilient business delivery

- Digtal lab in place developing new technology-
enabled solutions

- Proactive simplification of IT infrastructure through clearly
defined technology roadmaps for all business areas

- Structured deployment of Smarter Working principles
and enabling technologies

- Overall review of future IT strategy under way

Risk key
New risk Evolved frorm prior year No materiat change to risk




33

ANNUAL REPORI AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

RISK DESCRIPTION CURRENT CONTEXT MITIGATING ACTIVITIES
CUSTOMER PROPOSITION & EXPERIENCE Our business recognises - Appointed dedicated Head of Customer Experience
6 Our performance and reputation will be the need to deliver a reliable - Ommichannel approach agopted to drive consistent

and competitive customer
proposition across all channels
to keep pace with changing
consumer behawviours, dnve
performance and leverage
growth opportunities

impacted if we fail to deliver a competitive and
reliable customer proposition and experience
across alt channels. Notwithstanding the
growth delrvered and expected to continue in

our M&S corn business, we need to ensure that

we meet expectations however our customers
choose to shop or have ther order delivered

expenences onkne and in store

-> Proactive meonttoring of social media to observe and
respond to trends In customer experience

= Further integration of M&S com functions within core
tearmns to drive consistency across all channels

- Robust business continuity plans, ncident reporting and
rmanagerment procedures in place across all channels

= Ongong review of future strategic opportunities to
meet customer needs

akey pillar of our business
and ensuring that the right
people are inthe nght roles
1s a significant enabler to
leveraging performance

7 TALENT & SUCCESSION Our pecple continue tc be

We need to attract, develop, motivate and
retain the right individuals to achieve our
operational and strategic objectives. Effective
talent management 1s essential to deliver current
and future business requirements We recogrise

- Completion of top tier talent review

= Review of cross-Croup talent management processes
under way

— Third party review completed to help support
and develop skill set of senior leadership group

= Targeted development programmes in place

and growth = Clear lne manager responsibility for succession
the importance of both developing internal talent planring supported by appropriate people forums
and successfully ntegrating external hires - Ongong focus on enhancing recruitment processes
across the business
MARCIN Ongoing sourcing and - Clearly defined margin targets across the business with
8 - . . cost pressures are placing performance monitored and reported to management
Sourcing or cost pressures impact our margin

ncreasing focus on our margin
performance and the need

to further evolve our sourcing

strategies and ways of working
inresponse tothis

performance. While our business continues to
face challenging foreign currency headwinds,
other factors place significant pressure onmargin
performance These include the avalabibity of raw
materals and pricing strategies inthe context of
the overali retail market

—> Comprehensive sourcing plans in place for key
products/suppliers
- Currency strategy to actively manage Foreign exchange
rate fluctuat.ons
= Ongoing monitoring of prong strategy in the context
of the wider retal market
= Strong engagement with buying teams to communicate
fluctuations in raw material prices and foreign exchange rates
= Enhanced Clothing & Home product development system
in place, improving efficency toleverage margin growth

and leverage opportunities,

our brand needs to stay relevant
and appeal to customers as
they move from one stage of
tfe to the next We recognise
the importance of ensunng that
the M&S brand resonates with
custormers of diffenng Lifestyles
and outlooks

9 BRAND To drive future performance

Qur brand needs to evolve with consumer
Lifestyles and attitudes for us to successfully
attract and retain customers, We need to ensure
that we recruit, engage and retain customers
through the ongoing relevance of the M&S brand

- Focus on clearly defined brand purpose to Make Every
Moment Special, connecting with customers through
our Spend It Well campaigns with greater focus on
Lfestyle and outiook

—» Engagement with customers through our Customer
Insight Unit and focus groups, providing rich msights
and quantifiable data

—» Strengthened Customer Insight Urit leadership

-3 Continued investrment in the development of Sparks

UK STORE ESTATE Stores are, and will remain, a

1 0 critical part of our customer focus
alongside a fully integrated

onune offer We recognise the
importance of proactively
managing our UK store estate
to ensure that our space s
relevant to the custorner,
white supporting strong
business performance and

We fail to maintain and develop a UK store
estate that is relevant to future customer
preferences and supports business performance.
As cansumer behaviours continue to evoive,

our physical stere estate planning must align

to our business strategy, prowviding better range
authenty in more convenient locations, while
generating higher space productivity

= Full review of our UK store portfolic during 2016/17

= Multi-year programrme under way to improve our estate
to better meet customers needs

- Strengthened property capabilities, ncluding appointment
of senior external hires

= Cross-business Steering Croup and working groups set up
tomanage and monitor the store estate change programrme

- Property Board approval process and governance
framework in place

- Continued expansion of our Simply Food business alongside

profitable growth improvements to the UK store estate
PROFTABLE GROWTH We must successfully drive - Customer Insight Unit provides honzon scanning of changes
. " . n and diversification
11 To drive profitable growth our business needs mnnovation a versificatl In consumer behaviour

to secure future prefitable

to innovate as well as successfully deliver growth for our business

additional space and strong like-for-like
performance. Tc generate long-term shareholder
value, we need toidentify alternative revenue
strearns and oppertunities to leverage growth,
while also ensuring that we drive the performance
of our existing products and services

- Review of Innovation processes underway

- New operating model implemented to drive efficency and
effective decision-making

- Business restructure completed to help drive our business
objectives and strategic arms

- Ongoing focus on establishing foundations for new paths
to growth

and effort s required to
effectively manage third parties
As our business model evolves,
we need Lo maintan focus on
this area to continue to drive
commercial and cost benefits

To drive value for our business we need to
successfully manage and leverage our third
party relationships and partnerships. Our
business relies on a number of significant third
party relationships To ensure that we continue to
drive value for the business, It 1s essential that we
work collaboratively, clearly define regquirements
and proactively manage our third parties

1 2 THIRD PARTY MANACGEMENT Asignificant level of expertise

- Ongoing Beard-level review of key relationships
and partnerships

- Dedicated personnel managing key contracts

- Defined service level agreements and key performance
indcator standards in place for key contracts

- Defmed contract governance and oversight standards

- Strong engagement with in-house Legat and
Procurement teams

- Periodic, ndependent review of performance

The risks listed do nat campnise alt those associated with Marks & Spencer and Lhe numerical referencing does not denote an order of priority. Additional nisks and uncertainties not
presently known to management or zusrently deemed to beless rraterial may alsohave an adverseeffect onlhe business These less ratenal risksare kept inview n case therr likelihcod
orimpact should show signs of ncreasing Furtherinformationonthe financial risks we face and howthey are managed s providedon pages 11850 123
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CHAIRMAN'S
COVERNANCE OVERVIEW

The importance of considering a company’s responstbilities
to a broad stakeholder group has long been core to the
M&S culture, values and decision making processes.

ROBERT SWANNELL CHAIRMAN

As | highlighted earlier in this report, this has
beena year of considerable change for the
Company With the appointrnent of Steve
Rowe as CEQ, the Boardundertoaka
comprehensive review of allaspects of

the business to ensure clanty arcund our
customers and our brand positioning, our
strategy and business maodel, our pecple,
our store portfolio, our offices and our assets

This review, and the Board debate
throughout the year, resulted in a number
of significant decisions for the business The
Board was acutely aware that these would
affect abroad range of our stakeholders
While we sought to ensure that ocur decisions
were taken in a way that was far and
consistent with our values, we recognised
the importance of balancingthese with the
needto support the leng-term future of the
business The Board recognised that the
consequences of its decisions would lead

to significant adjustrnents to the business
and to cur financial position this year, but

we believe that these were essential to
re-establish the foundations of the business
to deliver sustainable performance and
build an crganisation that is fit and relevant
forthe longer term The Board and Audit
Committee’s debate and associated
Judgements are covered onpages 40-41
and 48-51 of this report

BOARD ACTIVITIES AND
CONSIDERATION OF ALL
STAKEHOLDERS

The tenets of Lord Sieff's words about the
importance of consideringa company’s
responsiolities to a broad stakenolder
group, which [ quoted earlier inthe report
andwhich pre-date by decades the 5172
directors’ duties of the Companies Act 2006,
have long been core to the MA&S culture,
values and decision-making

These were particularly evident in our
deliberations around the introduction of an
MAS tving wage and the ambition Lo delver
fairer pay for our store colleagues ina way
that was true and relevant to M&S This led
us to go beyond the National Living Wage
and establish ourselves as one of the best
employers in the market We had significant

debate around the closure of the long-
standing defined benefit pension scheme,
but recogrnised that this was critical to
ensure a fawrer reward framework for
allour colleagues

We spent a lot of time considenng the
consequences of the closures withinour
nternational businesses to ensure we could
establish a structure and format which
woutd be stronger and more relevant for
our customers and rarkets, and a more
profitable business with foundations for
growth We also reviewed the configuration
of our UK store estate to ensure we could
establish a footprint to meet future
customer needs We debated the necessary
changes and restructuring within our offices
to support our future plans Ineach such
discussion, the Board carefully considered
the impact of its decision on our teams, our
customers, the communities inwhich we
trade, our shareholders, our supply base
and our Plan A aspirahons

EMPLOYEE AND RETAIL
SHAREHOLDER VOICE

Weare pleased to have establshed regular
Board sessions for employee insight The
feedback provided during cur dedicated
Board sessions by the chairs of boththe
Business Involvernent Group ('BIGY), which
represents the interests of all our 85,000
colleagues across the business, and of ocur
Defined Benefit Pansion Scheme, was
Invaluable in ensuring the Board was able
to fully consider the views of these vital
stakeholders through the period of change
We were gratefut for ther candid and open
feedback, which enabled the Board to
appreciate fully the potentialimpact on
those affected

We alse trialled our first Private Shareholder
Panel The objective was to give our

private shareholders additional access
andinformation, as is provided to our major
nstitutional shareholders The candour

and insights provided by these panet
discussions were helpfulin ensuring we
were listening to thisimportant stakeholder
group The success of these trial panels
ledto the formal launch of our Private

Shareholder Panel, which will forman active
part of cur stakeholder engagement
programme Details on thus and our broader
stakehaolder engagement are provided on
pages 44 to 45 This llustrates how we have
considered, istened and engaged with all
these stakeholders

RISK AND CONTROLS

The progress made on our risk debate and
understanding of risk appetite Inprevious
years helped ensure the Board's decision-
making was supported by the right
discussions and considerations The
enhanced level of risk debate and greater
nwvolvernent of the Operating Committee
was also criticalin ensuning that appropriate
monitoring and mitigations were embedded
to support the proposals under discussion

The Board spent time debating the market
environment and the potential impact

of the vote to leave the European Union

It continues to assess the implications of
Brexit for our customers, communities and
the business, andthe wnpact of currency
movements on the business and our
supply base

We also undertook a thorough review

of cur cyber environment to ensure that
we have approprate data and nformation
governance processes and controls,
ecommerce defences, preactive security
and strong inadent management
processes across the business While the
Audit Committee will continue to monitor
business processes and provide assurance
over controls, the Board considers data
governance and cyber to be so significant
that it will review this at least twice a year

TALENT, DEVELOPMENT
AND SUCCESSION

Inaddition to the strategic debate, the
Board and Nomination Committee also
focused on ensuring we had the right talent
inour business to support our plans Senlor
succession discussions have long featured
on the Board agenda, but we took this
substantially further this year to nclude
acomprehensive review of our people




capabilities and specific development
needs against the futurerequirements

of our business The Board reviewed
assessments for over 100 of our senicr
leaders inthe business and discussed their
teadership gualities, strengths, areas for
development, and medium and long-term
succession plans to ensure that we

have the nght skills, career paths and
understanding of our talent to support
our future business growth

As highlighted earlier, following the
appontment of Steve Rowe as CEQ and

the announcement of our plans to build a
simpler and more relevant M&S, | considered
it was the right time to deat with my own
succession and for the business to appoint
anew Chairman So,in December 2016,
linformed the Board that I intended to

retire as Chairman during 2017 after six
years inthe post

lam gratefui to Vindi Banga, our Senior
Independent Directer, for leading such
arigorous process for the Nomination
Committee to appoint my successor We are
delighted that Archie Nerman will succeed
meinSeptember 2017 Overviews of the
recruitment process undertaken by the
Normination Committee and the nduction
programme being undertaken by Archie
are provided on page 32 This programme
15 extremely comprehensrve and will
ensure that he has an extensive INsight
into our business, our colleagues and
stakehoiders prior to takingup his
appointment as Charman

Whenljoined M&S as Charrman imadeit
clear that | regarded effective succession
planning as a vital responsibility for both
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me andthe Board lam delighted that with
Steve and Archie’s appcintments this aspect
has been successfully achieved inarigorous
way | know that succession planning and the
development of talent at M&S willrernamn
very high pnorities of the Board

BCARD OVERSIGHT AND MONITORING

The Audit Committee played a keyrole

In ensuring that there was appropnate
challenge and governance around the
accounting treatment of the decisions
taken inthe year and ensunng robust rsk
management, controls and assurance
processes were In place The Committee
continues to closely moniter the
rmanagement of cur cyber and data
governance processes, healthand safety
and business continuity plans for our

UK and international operations The
Committee’s activities, considerations
andjudgements are set cuton

pages 48to 50

Fairness and pay has featured strongly in
the Board's debate this year To support
leadership and talent within our business,
the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
our rermnuneration framework, measures and
targets This review was particularly topical
giventhe Business, Energy & Industrial
Strategy (BEIS) Green Paper on corporate
governance reform earlier in the year The
Committee held a number of discussions
with shareholders on framework design
during the year It also reviewed and
updated the Remuneration Policy to ensure
it remains bothin line with best practice
andrelevant to our business It will be put
forward for formal shareholder approval

THIS REPORT'S KEY FEATURES

atthe AGMInJuly 2017 The Committee’s
actwities and its considerations on
remuneration, alongwith our Remuneration
Policy, are outlined in detall onpages 54

to 78

In line with the requirements of the
Corporate Covernance Code, the Board
was independently evaluated during the
year We were pleased that, overall the
Board has made significant progress since
the last external review In 2015, especially in
relation to the quality of Board debateand
decision-making, Board papers and process
The findings of the review and the action
plans for the year ahead are set out on
page 42 of this report

We have had to take sorne bold and tough
decisions to ensure M&S 1s set up forthe
future The Board made these changes as
they are thenght and relevant thing to do
From a strong core set of well-established
bmeless values, we have sought to ensure
farness, integnty and rigour with each
decision for all our stakeholders We
recognise that the business has had to
deliver a significant scate of change

this year, but the feedback from cur
stakeholders and the early progress we are
seeing encourages us to continue to be
bold, confident, remain onthe front foot,
and embrace the challenges ahead

ROBERT SWANNELL CHAIRMAN

Over the next few pages we locok at the Board, its
role, performance and oversight As N previous
years, we provide detall on the Board acthaties
and discussions during the year (pages 41 and 42),
theactions ansing from these and the progress
made against them We also provide insight on
director independence, effectiveness and our
Board evaluation, succession planning, and
induction and ongoingdevelopment

Covernance at M&S 15 an important element of
our Board environmernit To support how we do
business and how we serve our stakeholders it
needs to berelevant, authentic and meaningful
in Line with previpus years, we have used the key
themes of the Code toarticulate the Board's
activities during the year

> Leadership and effectiveness— pages 36to 43
and46to4?

= Accountability - pages 3016 33within the
Strategic Report and pages 48 to 52 nthe
Directors' Report

- Cur stakeholders: how we listen and engage
pages 44tc 45

= Remuneration - pages 54 to 78

Information on the governance of our Pension
Scheme s provided on page 53

Therequired governance andregulatory
assurances are prowvided throughout this report
reflecting their relevance to the business We
provide Insight into how governance supports and
protects the M&S business and our stakeholders
inapractical way Where information would
previously have beenlocated withinthe Directors’

Report, and has now been incorporated into
the Strategic Report, alist of page references s
avallable within the ‘Other Disclosures' section
onpage 79

Every year we review and benchrmark our
Governance Framework against best practice
The framework sets cut theroles, accountabilities
and expectations for our directors and our
structures This format has been adopted widely
acrossthe business and canbe viewed at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany.

UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The UK Corporate Governance Code 2016 (the
“Code") s the standard against which we measured
ourselves in 2016/17 Acopy of the Code s availlable
from the Financial Reporting Council's website

We are pleased to confirm that we complied
wtthallof the provisions set out in the Code
for the period under review

Tokeepthis repert interesting and engaging,
we continue to focus onthe key Insights from
the business, however, further detal onhow
we comply with the Code canbe foundinour
Corporate Governance Staternent, available
at marksandspencer.com/thecompany

COVERNANCE SUMMARY

Our compliance with key areas of the Code s
summarised as follows

— Independence Over half of our Board
comprises independent non-executive
drrectors and the composition of all Board
Committees comples with the Code

- Senior Independent Director Our Senior
Independent Directors Vind Banga

— Accountability and election Clear separation
of dubies between Chairman and CEQ roles,
allthe directors are to stand for annual
re-election

—» Evaluation an externally facilitatedperformance
evaluation of the Boardand its Cornmittees
was undertakenduring the year

- Attendance The directors have all
attended anacceptable level of Board
and Commrttee meetings

- Experience The Audit Cormnmittee charman
met the specific requirements withregard
torecent andrelevant financial experience
throughout 2016/17

— Auditor tenure We changed ourauditor in
2014415, following a thorough tender process

~» Non-audit policy This 1s disclosed on cur
website, along with the lmited non-audit
work undertaken during 2016/17

- Auditor appeintment We disclose our external
auditor appointment policy on our website

= Internal Audit Details on the Internal Audit
functionare provided withinthis report

- Performance-related pay A significant part
of performance-related pay 1s delivered
through shares Qur reward framework s
simple, transparent and designed to support
and drive our business strategy

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



MARKS AND SPENCER CGROUP PLC
DIRECTORS' REPORT: GOVERNANCE

LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

OUR BOARD

The Board is responsible for the

stewardship of the Company, overseeing its
conduct and affairs to create sustainable

value for the benefit of its shareholders.

CHAIRMAN EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
N ®
Robert Swannell Steve Rowe Helen Weir Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne
Chairman Chief Executive Chief Finance Officer Executive Director, Customer.
Marketing &M&S com
Appointed: Appointed: Appointed: Appointed:
Charrman inn January 2011, Chief Executwe in Apni 2016 April 2015 July 2013

Non-Executive Director in
October 2010

Skills, competence and expetience:
Robertis achartered accountant
andaBarrister He has extensive
government andregulatory
experience and possesses awealth
of knowledge of many different
busness areas, banking and the
City.acquired over a 33-year career
ininvestrnent banking He has
significant experience as adirector
and chairman across various sectors,
and his leaderstip in the area of
geovernance promotes robust debate
and drives a culture of openness in
the boardroom Robert willretire
from the Board on 1 September 2017

Other roles: Charman of UK
Government Investments, Director
of the Investor Forurm, Trustee of
Teach First, Advisory Board Member
of Sutton Trust and Spencer Stuart

INCOMING CHAIRMAN

Skills, competence arnd experience:
Steve joned M&S5 1 1989 and
progressed through a vanety of roles
within store management biefore
moving to Head Office in 1993 He has
worked n serior roles acress varnous
areas of the business, ncluding
Director of Home, Director of

Retall, and Directar of Retalland
Ecommerce He was appointed

to the Board as Executive Director,
Food in 2012, moving to the rote

of Executive Director, General
Merchandise in July 2015 He was
appointed as CEOon 2 April 2016
During his first year n therole he

has laid solrd foundations for a more
relevant, customer-centric M&S,
including the repositiorning of
Clothing & Home and the continued
growth of Food More nformation
about Steve s workduring the year
<an be found inthe Chief Executive's
Strateqgic Update startingon page 8

Archie Norman
Charman Designate

Proposed appointment date:

1 September 2017 Archie brings
abreadth of experence with an
extensive track recordinretait
andbrands He was instrumentatin
transforming a number of majer
Brish businessesincluding

Kingfisher, Asdaand Energis Archies
anexpenenced charman and board
drector having served as Chairman
of ITV, Lazard,and Hobbycraft and
DCeputy Charrman of Coles Limited

in 2016 hewasapponted by the
Departrment for Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy as its Lead Non-
Executive Board mernber Further
information about Archig’s skills,
experience and sutability for the
role of Chairmancan be found under
‘Succession & Induction’ on page 39

Other roles: Adviserto the Board

of Wesfarmers Limited, Director of
Target Pty Limited, Chairrnan of
Lazard and Hobbycraft, Deputy
Charman of Coles Limited, Lead Non-
Executive Board Member of BEIS

Skills, competence and experience:
Heleris aqualified accountarnt,

with over 25 years experiencein

the finance and retal seCtors She
brings substantial strategic financial
experience and a wealth of significant
retail and consumer experience to
the Board Helen has strong listed
company experence having been
Croup Finance Director, Executive
Cirector and Non-Executive Director
onthe Board of a number of major
companies Helenis aFellow of the
Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants and was awarded aCBE
for services toFinance n 2008

Other roles: Trustee of Marie Curie,
Non-Executrve Director of the
Rugby Football Urion

KEY TO COMMITTEES

Skills, competence and experience:
Patrnick bnings over 25 years of
extensive experience nthe
consumer goods wdustry

His valuable strategic insight 1s
supperted by his experience N
developing and marketing brands
globally and broad krnowledge of
enhancing business performance
and customer experience in
amulti-channel environment

Patrick played akeyrole increating
the new Masterbrand marketing
strategy acrass Food and Clothing &
Home, and continues to lead the
digitaltransformation of M&5 and
the global growth of M&S com
Patrickassumed overall responsibility
for Customer Experience, M&S com
and Plan Ain May 2016

Other roles: Non-Executive Director
of Brown-Forman Inc

FIND OUT MORE

® Audit

@ Norminaton

® Remuneration
Cormmittee Chaw

Full biographical details of each

drrector are avalable on
marksandspencer.comfthecompany

See p43 for Governance
and Board structures

See pa0-41 for
Board activities in 2016/17

See p43 for Board roles
and responsibilities
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

RETIREMENTS IN 2016/17

R @

OO

Vindi Banga
Senior Independent Director

Miranda Curtis
Non-Executive Director

Andy Halford
Non-Executive Director

Laura Wade-Gery
Executive Director, Muiti-channel

Appointed:

Senior Independent Director In
March 2015, Non-Executive Director
In September 2011

Appointed:
February 2012

Appointed:
January 2013

Retired:
12 Septernber 2016

Skills, competence and experience:
Vind has extensive consumer brand
knowledge and gtobal business
experence,acquired over 33 years

in senier roles within the consurner
goods industry His n-depth
knowledge of UK and international
trade and industry provides valuable
nsight into business and enterpnse
across the globe. He has strong
experience as a board member of
other isted cermpaniesand s the
recipent of the Padma Bhushan,

one of India's highest crabian honours

Skills, competence and experience:
Miranda’s substantial experience

of theintermational consumer and
technology sectors, and extensive
knowledge of global industry,
provides a valuable contribution

to the Board Dunngher 20-year
career with Liberty, Miranda led the
company's Investments in digital
distribution and content operations
across continental Europe and
Asia-Pacific, most notably in Japan
Miranda will retire from the Board on
1 February 2018.

Skills, competence and experience:
A chartered accountant, Andy has
astrong finance background and
significant recent and relevant
financial expenence ganed frem CFO
positions nglobal listed companies
His extensive knowledge of the UK
and international consumer market
provides the Board with valuable
strategic nsight Andy 1samermber
of the Business Forum on Tax and
Competitiveness and a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants
n England and Wales

Other roles: Partner at Clayton
Dubilier & Rice, Director of Kedazara
Capital Investrent Managers Ltd,
Kedaara Capitallitd and Kedaara
Holdings Ltd, Nen-Executive Director
of Thomson Reuters and GSK,
Chairman of the Mauser Group and
the CBY's Econamic Growth Board,
member of the Governing Board of
thelndian School of Business

OO

Other roles: Non-Executive Director
of Liberty Global plc,Lead Non-
Executive Director of the Foregn and
Commonwealth Office, Trustee of the
Institute for Government, Deputy
Charr of the Royat Shakespeare
Company, Deputy Char of
Garsington Opera, Chair of African
girls’ education chanty, Carmfed

O®

Other roles: Chief Financal Officer
of Standard Chartered plc.

®®

Laura stepped down from the
Board after five years of service
durng which she was instrumental
in the improvement and
modernisation of our ecommerce
and multi-channel capabilities

GROUP SECRETARY

Alison Brittain
Non-Executwve Director

Richard Solomons
Non-Executive Director

Andrew Fisher
Non-Executive Director

Amanda Mellor
Croup Secretaryand
Head of Corporate Governance

Appointed:
January 2014

Appointed:
April 2015

Appointed:
December 2015

Skills, competence and experience;
Alisonbrings extensive financial
and commercial experence to the
Board, combined with considerable
knowledge of running large-scale
consumer businesses She s Chief
Executive of hospitality group
Whitbread and was Group Director
of Loyds Banking Group's Retail
Dmvisicn untik July 2015 She has held
anumber of senior positions nthe
financial sector, particularly inretail,
and has valuable regulatory insight
Alison has an MBA from Carmbridge
University's Judge Institute

Other roles: Chief Executive of
Whitbread plc, Trustes of the
Prince’s Trust Council

Skills, competence and experience:
Richard brnings strong commercial,
financial, consumer, branding and
global experience tothe Board

His extensive international retailand
consumer experience, plus hisrole
as CEOQ of aglobal business, provide
valuable insight Richard hasheld
anumber of senorroles at IHC and

15 currently Chief Executive Officer,
arolefromwhich he willretireon
1.July 2017 Richard was integralin
shaping and implementing IHG's
asset-lght strategy, which has helped
the business grow significantly since
it was formedin 2003, as wellas
supperting the return of $12 8bn

to shareholders

Other roles: Chief Executive Officer
of IHC (retinng 1 July 217), Governor
of the Aviation, Traveland Tourism
Industry Community of the World
Economic Forum, Member of the
Industry Real Estate Fimancing
Adwiscry Council

Skills, competence and experience;
Andrew has substantial experience
of theinternational consumer and
technology sectors and has led the
successful growth of a number of
technology-focused enterprises
over the past 19 years. He 1s Executive
Chairman of Shazam Entertainment
Limited, having previously served as
Chief Executive Officer since 2005
Prior to that, Andrew was European
Managing Director of Infospace Inc
{now Blucora)and founder and
Managing Director of TOLI com

He was a member of the Advisory
Board tothe Secretary of State for
the Review of the BBC Charter and
was awarded an OBEfor services to
the Digital Economy in 2016

Other roles: Executive Charman
of Shazam Entertainment Lumited,
Non-Executive Director of
MoneySupermarket com Croup plc

Appointed:
July 2009

QUR BUSINESS

QUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OUR BOARD CONTINUED

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLES AND ATTENDANCE AS AT YEAR END
L _____________________________________________]

MAX LINKED TO
CHAIRMAN ATTENDED POSSIBLE INDEPENDENT RESPONSIBILITY IN 2016/17 REMUNERATION
Robert Swannell 9 9 Board governance and performance, shareholder engagement
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Chief Executive Strategy and Group performance
Steve Rowe 9 9
Chief Finance Officer Group Financial Performance, Property,
HelenWeir 9 9 ITand Clothing & Home distribution
Executive Director Customer, Marketing and M&S com
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 9 9
Executive Director Laura was onmaternty leave from September 2015 andwas
Laura Wade-Cery N/A N/A therefore not expectedto attend Board meetings during this tme
She retired from the business in September 2016
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
vindi Banga 9 a Independent non-executive directors assess, challenge and monitor the executive
drectors’ delvery of strategy within the nsk and governance structure agreed by
Alison Brittamn 9 9 the Board As Board Committee members, theyalso review the integnity of the
Company's financial information, recommend appropriate succession plans and
Miranda Curtis 9 9 monitor Board diversity
Andrew Fisher 9 9
Andy Halford 9 9
Richard Solomons 8 9

This table provides details of scheduled meetings held inthe 2016417 finanoal year
1 Richard Solomons was unable to attend the meeting on 20 May due to personal commitmnents which had beer booked prior to the meeting bemngrescheduled for this date

See Board Activities on p40-41

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board held mnine scheduled meetings
during the year, and indivtdual attendance
1s set out above Sufficient time 1s provided
at the start and end of each meeting for
the Chawrman to meet privatety with the
Senior Independent Director and the
non-executive directors to discuss any
matters ansing

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS

The Board reviews the independence of
its non-executive directors as part of its
annual Board Effectiveness Review

The Chatrmanis committed to ensuring
the Board compnses a majority of
independent non-executive directors

who objectively challenge management,

balanced against the need to ensure
continuty on the Board

None of the non-executive directors
has served more than six full years
on the Board

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board considers that allof the
non-executive directors bring strong
independent oversight and continue

to demonstrate independence The Board
recognises the recommended term within
the UK Corporate Governance Code

It1s mindful of the need for suitable
succession, and therefore maintains
aclear record of the time each non-
executive has served the Company

and the skill set that each provides

See details and experience of each director
on p36-37

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
GENDER DIVERSITY 1 April 2017 {as at year end)

SECTOR EXPERIENCE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TENURE

INTERNATIONAL EXPERIENCE
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LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

SUCCESSION &
INDUCTION

CHAIRMAN RECRUITMENT

In December 2016 we announced that,
after six years inthe role, Robert Swannell
intended toretire from the businessin 2017
Robert committed to continue nhis role
untilhis replacement had beenidentfied
and had jcined the business

Followang this announcement we
commenced the process torecruit and
appoint a new Chairman The searchwas
undertaken by the Nomination Committee
{the "Committee™) andled by myselfasthe
Senior Independent Director Steve Rowe
was fully involved in the entire process

The Committee had a number of
discussions to scope out the key skills,
expenence, charactenstics and
reguirernents for therole We theninvited a
selection of recrutment firms to participate
in aselection process focusing on a series
ofkey questions inorder todentify

the approprate executive recruitment
censultants to support our search We
receved very thorough and comprehensive

CHAIRMAN INDUCTION PROCESS

responses from each firm and, following
further discussions, selected JCA Aside
from assisting with recrutment, JCA has
ne other connection to the Company

Civen the public profile of M&S the
Committee didnot consider it necessary
to use openadvertising for this role The
announcement of Robert’s retirement had
been made tothe market in Recember and
interested parties were able to contact
either myself or cther Committee members

Astructured timetable was adopted for
the process and regutar Commuttee
discussions and updates held threughout
Frem a detailed understanding of our
requirements and specification of the role,
JCA put together an extensive range of
potential candidates for the Committee’s
consideration After much debate, this was
narrowed down to a strong short list for
nterview Shortlisted candidates met with
the same members of the Committee to
ensure consistency Steve Rowe also spent
significant time with the finat candidates

Tha Committee members and Steve were
unanimous intherr final selection of the
new Chairman

On 5 May 2017 we were pleasedto
announce the appomtment of Archie
Norman as Non-Executive Chairman with
effect from i September 2017 Archie was
an 1deal match to our requirements for a
strongretail background and significant
board experence He s one of the UK's
mest respected business leaders, with a
proventrack recerd inretailand business
He has been on the board of pubtic
companies on and off since 1986, when

he became finance director of Kingfisher
atthe age of 32 He went ontogain
experience as both a CEC and chairman of
anumber of wellknown listed companies
including Asda and, mere recently, ITV The
Committee believes he s well placed to
support Steve and the team as they deliver
the plan thatis already underway

VINDI BANGA SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STACE 3
Understand the Understand the Meet the
MR&S business M&S environment M&S teams

Stage 1. Company structure and strategy:
including Croup structure, history, strategy,
wision key people, succession ptans, Board
procedures including governance framework
and Code of Ethics and Behaviours, Board
Cormmittees, calendar, minutes, Board
effectiveness reviews and action plans, finances
and performance, operating plans, current
KPIs and targets, operational overwiew of all
business areas keyrelationships including
suppliers and major contracts, Group Risk
Profite and our approach to nisk

SENIOR SUCCESSION

Stage 2. Industry and competitive environment
including customer trends, consumer and
regutatory environment including governance and
allrelevant consumer and industry bodies, CSR
environment and sustanability Sentiment and
reputation: ncluding brand positioning and media
profile, marketing campaigns, brand values, analyst
and irvestor opinion, review of Investor surveys,
share register and voting histary, key stakeholder
relabions including employees, customers,
suppliers, service providers, opinion leaders,an
overview of cur remuneration pelicy and pensions

STAGE 4
Visit the M&S
operations

Stage 3. Archie s programme will be supported by
one-on-one meetings with management from
Clothing & Home, Food, M&S com, International,
Retail, Finance, Property, Plan A, Marketing,
Customer Insight Unit, Hurman Resources,
Communications and Investor Relations, Internal
Audit &Risk, Pensions, the Company Archive and
the Governance Group

Stage 4. He will visit anumber of our stores with
the Retail team as well as our distribution centre
with the Logistics tearm He will alse meet with
key investors and suppliers

The Operating Commuttee recently
undertook afulltalent and succession
review of the top 120 senior roles within
the business, plus the succession pltanning
nptace for theseroles As part of this,

a benchmarking review was undertaken
by Korn Ferry” for altrelevant individuals

This supported cur talent agenda
by providing

- Athorough benchrarking exercise of
our talent versus the external market

- Additicnal feedback and insights for all
senior individuals which, combined with
our perspactives, are leading to robust
development plans for all our leaders

- Acatalyst for the broader M&S talent
agenda, enabling us to adapt and
simplify our talent processes for
the wider crgarisation

This extensive review was discussed by the
Board as part of an ongoing drive to provide
greater clantyand achieve a common
understanding of talent withinthe business,
and to baseline our talent data at a senior
level While it was recognised that there s
still sorme room for improvement before
our talent nformation 1s a true reflection

of our overall talent health, themes are
emerging that enable us to strengthen

our capabilities in the near term

Ongoing and effective talent management
1s key to achieving our strategic and
operational objectives and this is clearly
recognised by the Board, as reflected inthe
Risk Management secticn on page 33

Theres work outstanding to embed sorme
of the identified core talent processes
deeply inallparts of the orgarusation, as
the principles of our new way of reviewing
talent represent a cultural shift for M&S
These changes, although not always easy
to make, are important if we are to create
asustainable, winning crganisaticn

* Korn Ferryis amarket leading company that assists

organisations inattracting, engagqing, developingand
retaimng their people

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

BOARD ACTIVITIES

TOPIC ACTIVITIES/DISCUSSION ACTIONS ARISING PROCRESS
Strategy Discussed strategic — Agree a new three-year plan focused on recovery - Three-year strategic plan agreed
priorities across and growth in Clothing & Home and growth in Food - Detaled mplementation plans establshed and
Food and Clothing - Focus on simptfying organisaticnal structure robust processes in place tomanage and monitor
& Home. and processes ther delivery
- Deliver significantly greater focus on customers —? Key nsks and opportunities identified
and drive improvements in cur brand posiion
Agreed the strategic > Assess the optimisation of the Clothing & Home - Agreed expedited plan for reconfiguration of Clothing
plan for the UK network, based on practical and deliverable actions & Horme space to be achieved over the next five years
store estate. —2 Deliverimproved sales and profitatulity through > Agreed necessary actions and costs associated
enhancing the quality of our UK estate with debwery of the proposed strategy
- Continue to drive Food store roll-out programme - Roll-out of ¢ 250 new Simply Food stores by 2019/20
Reviewed the - Review performance and ownership structure of = Decision taken to exit loss-making, wholly-owned
Company's all International operations retail businesses in specific regions, following
International = Retain our position as an nternational retailer and completion of a thorough consultation process
operations and reaffirm our clear commitment to continued growth with colleagues inthe affected markets
set strategy for in nternatronal markets - Agreedthe sale of three stores and head office in
the future. -2 Develop strateqgy to deliver a sustanable international Rormania ta anexisting franchise partner
business built on a portfolio of profitable markets -> Agreed restructure of current franchise model
to INcrease competitiveness in our chosen markets
Discussed the Groups — Assessthe medum-termcapital and funding - Discussed the balance sheet strategy, capital
capital structure structure nlight of the three-year plan efficiency andleverage position of the Group
and financial - Review the Company's cash flow pastion, dividend -» Continued strong cash generation and ailigent
strategy, including cover and enhanced shareholder returns policy in managemeant of costs
capital investments, the context of the wider market and cur agreed —> Maintained astrong balance sheet, nvestment
shareholder capital allocation priorities grade credit rating anda progressive dividend
returns and the - Continue nvesting inthe business for growth, policy broadly twice covered by earnings
dividend policy. underpinned by strong nvestment disciplines = Full year ordinary dividend of 18 7p, plus an addilional
speaal dividend of 4 6p paid in July 2016
= Shareholder returns praogramme put on hold
durngthe year
Reviewed our - Challenge and develop our current technological -» Conducted a fullreview of the skills, capabiities,
technological capabilities to enable further business growth systerns and supplier landscapes needed
capabilities and - Deliver solutions that bulld on the strategic to deliver the strategy over the next few years
debated future nvestments intechnology already made, with - Substantial progress made through initiatives
requirements greater focus on user experience, simplification focusing on simplfication, cost reductionand
and areas for and use of more cost-effectve technologies the future aperating modet
development. = Discussed potential ngks and mitigating actions
Discussed the —» Consider the broader future of, and anticipated -3 Allmajor bullding projects now complete
logistics strategy long-term changes to, logistics and distribution - Proportion of product handled through single Lier
in Clothing & Home. and how these might fit wath the M&S business logistics network increased
model of the future - Discussed the key ntigtives included nthe three-year
-» Agree plan for the development of the logistics plan, ncluding operating model, systems upgrades
network and nfrastructure over the next three years and asset utilisation
> [dentify opportunities to maximise the potential -» Robust chaltenge and discussion around the logistics
of the Cornpany's distnbution centres, improving network review, ncluding planning processes and the
service and productivity key risks and assumptions made
Values Discussed continued = 107 total Plan A 2020 commitrment s - 64 achieved, 6 not achieved
progress and > Review progress made in 2016/17 and set prionties - 25cnplan, 11 behwnd plan
evolution of Plan A. for 2017/18 - 1 commitment cancelled
- Strategic prionties for 2007/18 dentified
Identified = Ensure the Company has the cptimal organisational = Undertock areview of processes, activities, structures
opportunities structuren place to support our business strategy and costs
to improve our and drive growth -» Progress made inmplementation of Smarter Working
organisational culture workstream to optimise use of office space
and ways of working.
Shareholder Encouraged strong - Actively support engagement opportunities - Strengthened links between the business and its
engagement retallinvestors through the launch of our
engagement i, investors Shareholder Panel
and other -» Largest shareholders nvited to annuat Governance
stakeholders. Event hosted by the Chairman

- Reviewed independent report, from Makinson Cowell,
COVering Major INVestors' views on our management
and performance

Ensured shareholder
feedback was reviewed
and considered in
advance of the AGM.

- Specificissues raised by shareholders to be addressed
inthe Charman's AGM statement

- Key topics raised by shareholders te be communicated
together with anupdate on the Company's progress
nthese arcas
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See Board Effectiveness on pa2

TOPIC ACTIVITIES/DISCUSSION ACTIONS ARISING PROGRESS
Governance Discussed the - Review the Company's internal policies, procedures —» Internal systerms and processes updatedinine
. evolving regulatory and controls nrespect of market abuse, market with new regquirements.
& risk environment and manipulation and insider dealing prior to -3 Training on the new Market Abuse Regulation
the internal implementation of the Market Abuse Regulation conducted at Board level and for employees across
governance processes -> Assess controls over internat fimancialreporting therelevant business urits
underpinning processes to improve information flows -» ldentified and implemented enhancements to controls
programmes - Review key projects on completion and evaluate and processes relating to nternal financial reporting
and initiatives. the end-to-end delivery process - Undertook comprehensive post-implementation
reviews of key projects
Reviewed progress = Conduct an externally facilitated Board evaluation —» Discussed the outcome of the Board evaluation
against the 2018/17 - Obtain and evaluate director feedback on the conducted by an externat faciitator, Fion Hague
Board Action Plan. processes, effectiveness and werking of the of Independent Board Evaluation.
Board and its cormmittees - Agreed 201718 Action Planwith clear process for
angoing monitoning over the course of the year
Half yearly review —» Assess the effectiveness of the Grouprisk process - Agreeda robust set of Group-level nsks and mitigating
of Group Risk Profile, —> Reviewcompleteness and ordering of the Group activibies, which are reguiarly monitored
covering core internal Risk Profile, ncluding keyrsk moverments, and - Debated key changes in risk severity and the relevant
and external risks, consider appropriate mitigating activities contnbuting factors, redefining asapprepriate
risks driven by - Ongoing robust debate around risk tolerance - Discussed the potentiat business impact of Brexat and
business change and andrisk appetite the possible actions to mitigate the associated risks
areas of emerging risk.
Reviewed the - Review and assess the strength of the Company s = Undertook acomprehensive, externally facilitated
Company's progress cyber security capabilities and potentialrisks in assessrment of the Company's cyber secunty risks
on data governance Light of the perpetually changing nature of = Key areas of riskidentified and future priorities agreed
and cyber security. potentialthreats - Updated programme for drving responsible use
of data throughout the business
Customer Reviewed progress — Review customer perceptions of Sparks against = Workunderway to ensure the customer insights
of Sparks programme {oyalty schemes offered by peers gathered through Sparks are used teinform
and discussed future > Assess overall performance of the scheme and future business decisions that generate growth
development. the extent to which « drives customer behaviour - Plansin place to further develeop and mprove
- Determine the overall vison for the future of the the programme
programme, including growth prospects and
potential future applications
Discussed brand and = Fvaluate nsights from customer research and assess -3 Key thermes emerging from customer and employee
customer proposition. recornmendations in respect of our brand posthioning research discussed
= Continue to refine our customer understanding -» Agreed actions to improve customer experience,
with emphasis on our brand purpose of Making Every
Moment Special
Leadership Discussed succession, - Review theBoard's composition, diversity and - Women comprised 30% of our Board as at close
talent development succession plans ofthe 2016/17 financial year
& employees .4 diversity across = Facibitate the smooth succession of the Charman - Robust succession process for the Chairman

management.

- Deler effective and sustanable management
of talert pipelines to ensure the nght talentisin
the right place at the nght time

- Continue to support and encourage the professional
devetoprnent of Board members and senior
rmanagement to provide them with the skills they
need both today and for the future

completed

- Undertook a comprehensive review of talent and
SUCCESSION amMong senior management during the
vear, with clear development plans produced

- Progress made in adapting and simplifying processes
for managing our talent pipelines

- Ongoing development initratives include the
Korn Ferry Leadership Development Review,and
Development Centres for high potential talent

Discussed employee

— Promote stronger engagement between the

— Receved a detalled update from the National Business

engagement. Board and colleagues across the business Involvement Group (BIG), the Company’s ernployee
= Evaluate the results of the annual Your Say survey representative body, onits activities during the year
from colleagues across the business and identify and discussed itsrolein providing an independent
areas forimprovement calleague voice
- Discussed colleague sentiment across the business,
including key areas of concern and the employee
perspective of M&S's future opportunities andrisks
~>» Regular engagenent with our people across
the business
Discussed employee - Implement the agreedarrangernents for pay and - Decision taken to cease future accrualin the Company's

reward and pensions.

pensions across the business following the full
review inbated durng the previous financial year
and conclusion of the consultation penad

definedbenefit pension scheme, following a pericd of

consultation with National BIG an behalf of ernployees
= Determined the Company's future approach to pay

with emphasis on fairness, consistency and

sustainability, following a period of consultation

with National BIC

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SBOARD

FFFECTIVENESS

Tis s a pericd of crucial
znd profound change for the
business and it 1s heartening

to see how commutted the
Board 1o to effecting change

ROBERT SWANNELL, CHAIRMAN

BOARD EVALUATION

The assessment of the Board was
conducted accerding to the guidance in
the UK Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code") andwas faciitated by Ffion Hague of
Independent Board Evaluation Neither Frion
Hague or Independent Board Evaluation has
any ather connectionwiththe Company

STAGE

Acomprehensive bnef was givente
Independent Board Evaluation by the
Chairman and Croup Secretary in December
2016 The assessment team observed

the main Board and committee meetings

N Decemper, January and February

Accass to Board papers was provided
electronically prior to the meetings via
asecure portal

InJanuary and February, detailled interviews
were conducted with each Board member
All participants were Interviewed according
to aclear agendg, tallored for M&S The
tearm also metwith the Croup Secretary,
HR Director, Director of Group Finance,
Head of Internal Audit & Risk, Director

of Retail, audit partners from Deloitte,
PwC (remuneration consultant) and
Makinson Cowell independent investor
relations consultants)

STAGE 2

The report was compiled by the
assessment team based oninformaticn
and views supplied by those interviewed
Allrecommendations were based on best
practice as describedinthe Codeand
cther corporate governance guidelines

STAGE 3

Draft conclusions were discussed with the
Chatrman and subsequently with the whole
Board at its meeting in March, wath Ffion
Hague present The conclusion of that
discussion was recorded in the minutes of
the meeting Following the Board meeting,
Ffion Hague gave feedback onthe Chairman
to the Senior Independent Director (Vindi
Banga),and to the committee chairmen on
the performance of each committee In
addition, the Charrmanreceved a separate
repart with feedback on indvidual directors

STAGES OF THE BOARD EVALUATION

STAGE ¥ STAGE 2 STAGE3
D
BRIEFING & ISSX:J:SION
o COMMITTEE
OBSERVATION
> RESULTS CHAIRS 1
COLLATED,
REPORTED & ACTION
EVALUATED PLAN
ONE-TO-ONE AGREED
INTERVIEWS .
WITH BOARD DISCUSSION

Note: The: above activities were undertaken by Ffion Hague of Independent Board Evaluation

*Ffion Hague also attended the Board discussion

BOARD REVIEW INSICHTS 2016/17

The brecad message from the directors
was that Board dynamics and the flow of
information to the Board has improved
significantly The Boardrated itself as
satisfactoryinits performance onissues
of Board focus, nsk management, Board
culture, the relationshup with serncr
management, meeting schedules and the
Board support function Areas for further
progress included consistency of papers
and ranagement Information, succession
planning and pecple development As a
result, these areas feature inthe Board
Action Plan for the year ahead Whenthe
review was undertaken, Steve Rowe had
been the CEO for a penod of nine months
The business had been through significant
change inthat period and st was clear

frorm the review that the opennessin
communication was a very positive
development The directors felt that the
Beard agenda covered the most important
topics However,they felt a review of the
management information provided to

the Board would improve the pace of

the decision-making process The culture

of the Boardis seen as positive and
supportive Board members described
it as well-balanced, respectful, open,
challenging and committed However, it
agreedthat a greater diversity of culture,
gender and experience might enhance
the Board's composition

COMMITTEES

Board committees were alsoreviewed

and were considered highly regarded
interms of effectiveness and decision
making Senior managers felt significantly
challenged by the Audit Committee and
commented that the Audit Committee
Chairmanis very engaged on the key issues

The Remuneration Committee was seen as
effective and considered Creater visioility
around remunerations welcomed

CHAIRMAN

The Chairmanis much appreciated by staff,
who feel he truly embodies the Company’s
brand through his employee recogrition
work and his many store visits

BOARD ACTION PLAN
|

THE BOARD ACTION PLAN FOR
2017/18 WILL ALSO INCLUDE:

- Continue tracking cf KPIs andg
management informationand their
alignment with long-term strategy

- Continue tracking of post-decisicn
reviews of major capitalinvestrment
and strategic changes

- Continue to drive the people agenda
by creating specific KPIs for people
and dversity

- Increase the levelof Informal contact

between the Board and senior
individuals and the Board and the
broader business beyond Head Office

- Review the Board education

programme to ensure the nduction of
new Board members s tallored to their
individual skills and expenence
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LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

RESPONSIBILITIES, OVERSIGHT
& INDEPENDENCE

ROLE OF THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES

The Board s responsible for the stewardship
of the Company, overseeing its conduct and
affairs to create sustainable value for the
benefit of its stakeholders In performing this
task, the Board recognises that to promote
success over the long termit must fulfilits
wider duty to care for the interests of
employees, customersand the communities
inwhich the Company operates,and whose
support Is reguired to create sustanable value

The Board discharges some of its
responsibilities directly and others through
Its Board committees and through
rmanagement The terms of reference

of the Board and its committees are
includedin our Governance Framework

The Board agrees, and has collective
responsibility for, the strategy of the
Company For M&S, strategy means the
development of specific actions aimed at
prormoting the long-term sustainable
growth of the Company by meeting the
needs of our target custemer groups,
across all our product categories and
channets The articulation of our strategy
will nclude agreement on how our physical
and intellectual property and the skitls of
our people should be used, developed

MONITORING AND OVERSIGHT
|

Protecting the business from operational,
financialand reputaticnal riskis an essential
part of the Board's role Both the directors
and senior management fecus onnot just
the short but alse the lenger term and
continue to be more actively nvolved in
risk managerment and internal controls,
animportant part of stewardshipand

key to ensuring the long-term viability

of the business

The CGroup Risk Profile and risk appetite are
owned by the Board Therr compilationis
facilitated by Group Risk, using business area
risk registers and one-cn-one Interviews
with Board members and business urit
directors Oversight and independence are
provided in the process through the Audit
Cormmittee, which ensures that thernisks the
Board nclude in the Croup Risk Profile continue
toreflect the business’s strategic objectives
An internal Audit planis then mapped to
the Croup Risk Profile, demonstrating where
assurance s provided over mibgatingactivibies

and enhanced to create competitive
advantage for the Company

The Board delegates the execution of the
Company's strategy and the day-to-day
managerment and operation of the
Company's business to the Operating
Committee The Beardis responsible for
overseeng, guiding and holding to
account management incarrying out
these responsibilities

The Board 1s responsible for ensunng that
appropriate values, ethics and behaviours
for the conduct of the Company are agreed
ang that appropnate procedures and training
are in place to ensure that these are observed
throughout the Company

The Board has discussed and agreed the
key values of Inspiration, Inncvation,
integrity and InTouch and these underpin
the reguired values, ethics and behaviours

Clear terms of reference outline the full
schedule of matters reservedfor the Board’s
decision and that of its key committees

The Boardis responsible for

- Ensuring leadership through effective
cversight and review Supported by its
prnncipat committees - Audit, Remuneration,

and Nomination - the Board sets the
strategic direction and aims to deliver
sustainable shareholder value over
the longer term

- Qverseeing the mplementation of
appropriate risk assessment systems
and processes to identify, manage
and mitigate the principal nisks of the
Company's business Much of this work
is delegated to the Audit Committee,

- Effective succession planning at Board
teveland for assessing the processes in
place to ensure that there is appropriate
succession planning among senior
management. Much of this work is
delegated to the Normination Committee.

Inaddition to the other matters referredto
inits Covernance Framework, the Board s
responsible for specific matters relating
to strategy, finance, risk management,
internal control and audit, legal, reputation
and public company management
These,along with the individual roles of
the Board members, are covered by the
Schedule of Matters Reservedtothe
Board in the Marks and Spencer Croup plc
governance framework, and can be found
at marksandspencer.com/thecompany

BOARD COLLABORATION
]

The Group Board and committee structure is provided below and the reports from the
chairs of the principal committees can be found on the pages 46,48 and 54 Following the
appontment of Steve Rowe as CFO, the business's operaticnal processes were reviewead
and a new framework implemented, with the Operating Committee responsible for
moritenng, managing and providing executive Input te suppert strategic and operational
decisions to create strong executive alignment en business prionties and actions
Membership of this committee can be found on page 11 or onour corporate website

Althcugh the executive directors sit as part of the Operating Committee to debate

and understand opinion from key leaders from the business areas, they are ultimately
responsible for all for decisions on strategy and all non-property investments through
the Investment Committee, and capital expenditure for the Group's UK and International
property portfolio in ing with the Group's strategic goals and business priorities through

the Property Committee

The supporting committees provide oversight and regular updates to the Operating
Committee and annual assurance updates to either the Audit Committee or Croup Board
Allcommittees have clear terms of reference and approval thresholds set and approved

by the CGroup Board
L GROUP BOARD J
r T { Ll
INVESTMENT OPERATING PROPERTY PRINCIPAL COMMITTEES
COMMITTEE —  COMMITTEE —  COMMITTEE Audit
Remuneration
Nomination
SUPPORTING COMMITTEES

Fire, Health & Safety Business Continuity Plan A

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

COVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS:
HOW WE LISTEN & ENCAGE

Our rich network of stakeholder relationships upholds the values on which
M&S was founded. These remain vital to building a sustainable business.

Webcasts We have been
providing Live webcasts of
our ACHMs and prelirmnary
andintenmannouncements
for over tenyears
Annual Report and
Accounts We go beyond
our obligations to provide
anolistic and engaging
view of the business

Annual General Meeting
{ACM) Our 2016 ACM was
wellattended and all our

Ongoing engagement
Members of our senior
management and nvestor
Relations tearns held 406
meetings with 245 aifferent

institutions dunng 2016 largestinvestors

Annual Governance Event
The Chairmanhosts this
annual day of dialogue
anddebate between
directorsandthe Company s

Annual perception study
Each year the Board receives
an ndependent report from
Makinson Cowellinto aur

Major Investors views on aur
managernent and performance

Business Involvement

Group (BIG) Engagement with
our employees s facilitated
through BIC, our netwark

of elected employee

proposedresclutions

were passed with votes
infavour ranging from
90 53% 15 90 9%%

Institutional
investors

SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholder Panel
Regular discussions
betweenthe diectors
and groups of private
shareholders

representatives fromeach

Director breakfasts stare and business area

Discussions between directors
and groups of ermployees from
alllevels within the business

Listening groupsineacly 2017
our colleagues shared ther

wviews onarange of customer
focused questions

Your Say survey Qur
March 2017 employee survey
showed that engagement
was up by 3%

. Quarterly Skype updates
Private Performance Overview Our quarterly CEQ/CFO
shareholders Our annual business trading updates are

overview designed and broadcast viaSkypetoour

written specifically for storemanagemernt teams

the private shareholder
Monthly CEO updates
We haventroduceda monthly
CFQupdate toc 50,000
employeeswia socalmedia

SHAREHOLDERS EMPLOYEES

“The main purpose of building
up a great business should

not be merely to make money.

A company has its responsibilities,
not only to shareholders but
also to the staff, the customers
and the whole community in
whichit trades. Unless it gives
satisfaction, and even happiness
to all concerned, it will failin

its aims in the tong term”

LORD S1EFF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN OF M&S, 1964

We are always looking for ways to develop
our engagenent with shareholders This year
we introduced our regular Shareholder
Panel, where a small group of private
shareholders is invited to participate in
face-to-face discussions with members

of the Beard and senicr management

For our large institutionalinvestors and
nvestor advisory firms, we continue to hold
cur Annual Governance Event Our 2016
event was hosted by the Charmanand
attended by the Senior Independent
Director, the committee chairmen, Group
Secretary, and a senior representative

from our Plan A team

The Board's engagement with the Company's
85,000 employees is facilitated through
our Business Involvement Group (BIG),
anetwork of 3,500 elected employee
representatives from across all parts of the
business Local BIC teams regularly feed
backtaNational BIG, whose chairmanin
turnrepresents the collective employee
voice through regular meetings with the
Chairman and CEQ, plus attendance

at our Board However,employee
engagement extends far beyond BIG one
exampie from the year was a collaborative
exercise where we asked our store
colleagues what we atl needed to do



Marketing We created our
2016 Chnistras With Love

campaign in direct response
to feedback frarn thousands
of customers
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Spark Something Good Business community

Over the last two years, engagement\We help shape

4,000 employee and our business envircnment by

customer volunteers have respondingto government

helpedover 240 community andindustry censultations
Marks & $tart Training, projectsacross 12 cihies and contributing to industry
work placements and Global Community discussions andevents

employment have been
provided to thousands of
disadvantaged people

A PLAN A
Sparks Card 56m Our pioneering sccial
CUStaMers now receive and environmental
tailored offers plus sustanabnlity programme
thechance toengage continues tG underpin the way
withaPlan Acharity we do business at M&S

partner Over F2mhas
beenraised to date

Crunch Costs In 2016 we
askedatl our employees how
we could drive down costs

ang nefficencies We usedthe

Programrme We continue
to improve the Lives of over
40000 peopleacross our
globat supply chan

Consumer Barometer
Each month we listen
to ¢ 70,000 customers
to createa snapshot of
consumer sentiment

Exhibitions and events
Qur Marks inTime exiutition

b mer Insight Unit (CIU) and pregramme of events

r ClU gathers feedback
gl:ogghiurveyg reviews and brought M&S's haritage
focus groups tolearnwhat tolife for 38,000 people
custemaers want from M&S during 2016/17
Schools programme
Quraward-winning
programme has reached

12,000 pupils since 2012,
hawvingrecently broadened
its reach through

M&S COMPANY wideocoriferencing
ARCHIVE

Ourarchive safeguards M&S's Partnership with University
hantageand shares it with the (\ of Leeds Now inits fifth year,
our strategic partnership

thraugh exhibnbions and
publicthrough exhubiby delivers collaborative

£20m saved toadd over 3000 aventsaswellasontne research projects and unikque
colleagues to our stores student work opportumities

Customer Research Reminiscence work

Panet Our dedicated We provide support to

panelofc.231,000 pecple withdermentiaand
Making Every Moment custamers gves us their carersthrough drop-in
Special We held an extensive valuableinput on sessions and the newly
programme of in-store products in devetopment launched Memory Café
events tofind out frormour
employees how we could
make every moment special
for our customers

CUSTOMERS COMMUNITY

differently to Make Every Moment Special  Our Customer Insight Unit constantly 2017 marks the tenth anniversary of
for our customers Through 75 regicnal gathers feedback from our customers to Plan A, our socialand environmental
leadership eventsand 1,500 eventsinvolving  understand what they want from M&S Key sustainability programme Central to
altour storeemployees, we found new insights are shared with the directors and Plan Aus our goal of creating a positive
ways to help empower our people to put are critical to inferming strategy During impact in soclety and improving pecple’s
customers atthe heart of the business the year, custormer feedback resulted ina lives, be they employees, customers,
{more about this on page 8) Engagement nurnber of store improverments including workers in our supply chain, charity
canalso start inthe community Through addtional staff on shop floors We also partners or local communities around the
Marks & Start we offered work placements engage with our customers to create world Find cut more at marksandspencer.
to over 2900 disadvantaged people in marketing campaigns that are relevant to com/plana This year also marks the fifth
2016/17 Over 65% of those whocompleted the them, such as Christrmas With Lowve in 2016 anniversary of the M&S Company Archive,
programme went onto find work eitherwith  and the creation of Spend It Well For more whaese educational and socielactivities
M&S or cther employers. For further details oncustormer nsight and engagement, see have ennched the lives of thousands of
about how we engage with our employees, ‘Market & Customer Insights' on pages 6-7 local people Visit the Archive's website at
see ' Employee Involvernent’ onpages 81-82  and 'Engaging Our Customers onpage 25 marksintime.marksandspencer.com
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NOMINATION
COMMITTEE REPORT

We are introducing new initiatives to broaden and develop
the strong talent that exists within the business.

ROBERT SWANNELL CHAIRMAN

INTRODUCTION

During the year the focus of the Nomination
Committee (the ‘Committee”) was onthe
search foranew Chairman to succaed me
and the succession of non-executives and
senior Indrviduals within the business

As outlined on page 39, the Charman
searchwas led by Vindi Banga and | did

not participate n the process

In September, following her maternity leave,

Laura Wade-Cery, Executive Director, Mutty-
channel left the business Her responsibilities
were allocated to the other executive
directors, and the business now operates
with a smaller executive Board Laura was
instrurmentalin Modernising our ecommerce

and multi-channel capabilities, and we wish
her the very best for the future

The Committee maintains a well-defined
specification for each appointment, with

a clear understanding of the attributes

and values required to help the effective
functioning of the whole Board [t considlers
the combination of skills and experience
required to fulfil the Board's purpose As
Charrman of the Committee, {take an active
role In overseeng the progress made
towards Improving diversity and women's
representation on both the Operating
Comrmittee and among its direct reports

The business has a framework with clearly
identified ndividuals capable of covering
key management roles onanintenm or

permanent basis These individuals receive
the necessary coaching to ensure they have
the required skills to provide any critical
support when needed. Development for
directors and tugh performing indmiduals
below Board level s an essential area of
focus Coaching and mentoring is provided
to develop and enhance specific skill sets,
and the Committee believes the penefits
of this approach are critical for developing
our awn talent for the future

The Committee continues to take a more
active interest intalent management, N
particular ensuring that inhatives are
Inplace to develop the talent pipeline
and to promote diversity in Board and
executive appointments

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
]

Committee review

The Commuttee’s performance was
externally evaluated during the year
by Ffion Hague

The Committee was considered to be
effective and remains independent
Areas of focus dentified for the year
ahead are provided below

Nomination Committee activity
Dunng the year, the Committee held a
significant number of unscheduled
meetings to support the search and
appointment of the new Chairman In
addition, it continued to support the
development of the executive directors
and participated in several employee-
focused intiatives, giving increased
access to the organisation

Looking ahead

An area of focus for the Cormmittee over
the coming year will be the link between
diversity, strategy and developing the
business More consideration will be given
to the nature, varety and frequency of
interaction between the Board and
aspiring candidates at all levels

The Committee will play an active part
N the induction process for our new
Chairman, Archie Norman, who joins
the business in Septemiber 2017

MEMBER ATTENDANCE MEMBER NUMBER CF MAXIMUM % OF MEETINGS
SINCE MEETINGS POSSIBLE ATTENDED
ATTENDED MEETINGS
Robert Swannell 40ct 2010 5 5 100%
Vindi Banga 3Sept 201 5 S 100%
Alison Brittain ) Jan 2014 5 5 100%
Miranda Curtis' 3Fet 2012 4 5 80%
Andrew Fisher 1 Dec 2015 5 5 100%
Andy Halford 1 Jan 2013 5 5 100%
Richard Solomons 13 Apr2015 5 5 100%

1 Miranda Curtis was unable to attend the meeting on 14 March 2017 due to external business comemitments

ACTION PLAN 2017/18

- Continue to review succession plans for the Board and key roles across the business

- Cantinue to review future talent pipeline

> Review development initiatives for directors
- Creater Input when tailoring the induction of new Board members to their ndividuat

skills and expenence

> Conbnue to identify opportunities for broader business engagement beyend

Head Office



BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Since the launch of the Board Diversity
Policy in 2012, the Board has made progress
In broadening the diversity of the Board
and senior management The policy
continues to drive the benefits of a diverse
Board and workforce across the business
The ambitions and objectives set out in
the policy remain relevant targets against
which to measure our progress

For further information on employee

diversity, including gender, ethnicity

and age, see p24 of our Plan A Report
marksandspencer.com/plana2017.

BOARD DIVERSITY: PROGRESS UPDATE

Maintain a level of at least 30% female
directors on the Board over the short
to medium term.

Ashighlighted earlier inthe report, one
change to the Board was made dunng the
year to 1 Apnl 2017, with the resignation of
Laura Wade-Cery Despite the reduced size
of the Board, the percentage of women
on the Board remans ontarget at 30%
atthe time of publication The charts on
page 38 provide aclearer picture of our
Board diversity

The Board remains commutted to maintaining
at least a 30% fermale representation on the
Board, while ensuring that diversity inits
broadest sense remains a central feature
However, the Nomination Committee wilt
continue to recommend appointments

tc the Board based on ment, measured
against objective crntera and the skills and
experence the ndmidual offers

The Board s also committed to strengthening
the pipeline of senior female executives
within the business and has taken steps to
ensure that there are nc barriers to women
succeeding at the highest levels within M&S

Assist the development of a pipeline of
high-calibre candidates by encouraging
a broad range of senior individuals within
the business to take on additional roles
to gain valuable board experience.
During the year, the Board continued to focus
on strengthening the pipeline of executive
talent in the Company It remains committed
to buitding on existing programmes while
introducing new inrhiatives te broaden and
develop the strong tatent which exists
across the business

Key initiatives include

> Acomprehensive talent review presented
tothe Beardannually, mapping successional
candidates and opportunities across all
senior roles within the business

- Athorough approachtotalent
development through initiatives including
the Korn Ferry Leadership Development
Review,and Developrnent Centres for
high potential tatent

- The Leadership Development Service has
beenn place for four years and continues
toidentify and partner key semor talent
across the business, broadening their
skill sets and experience to preparethem
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for future cpportunities This has been
supported through greater boardroom
exposure, non-executive and Trustee
roles outside of M&S, involvernent In
senior pipeline programmes and
particpation inmentoring schemes

- Access tointernational business
schooltraining

- Senier management mentorng and
coaching schemes and non-executive
director sponsoredlunches and breakfasts

Consider candidates for appointment

as non-executive directors from a wider
pool, including those with experience
outside traditionat listed boards.
Although no new appointments were made
during the year, the Nomination Committee
continued to discuss the successional needs
of the Board in respect of its non-executive
directors Lists of potential candidates are
compiled with assistance from executive
searchagenciesand compnse candidates
from arange of different ndustries and
backgrounds Those subsegquently identified
forinterview are measured against criteria
set at the start of the search process The
Chairmanalso meets informally with a
range of people Introduced by third parties
or through direct approaches Althoughwe
donot currently openly advertise our non-
executive director posiions, we appreciate
the benefit of this apprcach and willkeep
this under review

Ensure long lists of potential non-executive
directors include 50% female candidates.
The Board remains committed to ensuring
that high-performing women fromwithin the
business and from a vanety of backgrounds,
who have the requisite skills, are given greater
exposure to the nomination committees of
FTSE 100 companies Alllong bists for potential
future non-executive director appointments
witll include at least 50% fermale candidates

Only engage executive search firms who
have signed up to the Voluntary Code
of Conduct for Executive Search Firms
on gender diversity and best practice.
The Board continues to support the ten
principles of the Voluntary Code

of Conduct for Executive Search Firms on
gender diversity and best practice and s
committed to only engaging executive
search firms whe are signatones to this
code Dunng the year, we worked closely
with Egon Zehnder and JCA and mantained
our focus on the targets and ambitions
around fermale representation onthe
Board The Board confirms that naither
EgonZehnder nor JCAhas any other
connaction with the Company

Report annually against these objectives
and other initiatives taking place within
the Company which promote gender

and other forms of diversity.

The Board has made strong progress against
the key policy objectives during the year,
asreported above Inaddiion, the business
has continued to promote diversity through
arange of key nitatives

-» The annual Board evaluation process
Inciudes an assessment of the Board's
diversity Including gender, helping to
chjectively consider its composition
and effectiveness

- Five employee-led diversity networks that
focus onmaking M&S an inclusive place
to work for wornen and men (Gender
Equality Network), minority ethmic groups
(BAME at M&S), leshian, gay, bisexual
and transgender people (LCBT+ at M&S),
parents (Parents Net), and people
with disabilties and health conditions
(The Buddy Network) These deliver
large-scale awareness-raising events
promoting inclusion and equality,
as wellasmentoring, coaching,
roundtable discussions with senior
leaders and regular communication
across the business

- Continued involvernent in the government-
backed 30% Club,an organisation
cornmitted to increasing female
representation on UK boards,

- Continued iInvolverment running Business
nthe Community (BITC) mentonng
circles which help us to promote and
develop BAME (Black, Asian and minoriy
ethnic) talent pipelines

- Active mvolvement inkey campaigns
including LGBT+ Pride celetrations,
International Wornen's Day, Black History
Month, National Inclusion Week, and World
Disabiuty Day, raising awareness and our
profile as aninclusive employer

- A number of programmes to help people
N our communities, ncluding Marks & Start
and Marks & Start Logistics, are successfully
helping young people, the homeless, lone
parents and those with disabilities to find
workin our stores and distribution centres.

Report annually on the outcome of the
Board evaluation, the compaosition and
structure of the Board as well as any issues
and challenges the Board is facing when
considering the diverse make-up of

the Company.

We cantinue to regard the Board evaluation
process as animportant means of monitoring
our progress Full details of the 2016/17
Board evaluationandthe Action Plan are on
page 42 Werermain committedto getting
the nght balance of nternal versus external
hires and work towards understanding and
managing the challenges we face, such as:

- International management experience
reflective of the customers and
communities we serve

- Any challenges women face inreaching
regionalmanagerment positions and
above within the business

OUR BUSINESS

CQUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ACCOUNTABILITY

AUDIT COMMIT TEE

REPORT

The Committee has played a key role in ensuring
appropriate challenge and governance around
accounting treatment, risk management and control

and assurance process.

ANDY HALFORD CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

INTRODUCTION

As Charrmanof the Audit Committee

(the "Committee™), lam pleased to present
the Committee’s report for the year ended
1 Apnt 2017

Through this report laim to share some

of the Committee’s discussions from the
boardroom, offering Nsight intc Its essential
rolein protecting the interests of our
shareholders through ensuring the Integrity
of the Company's published financial
nformation and the effectiveness of the
Internal Audit process Our report will
provide an overview of the significant Issues

the Cormnmittee has assessed durnngthe year
and willoffer the Committee’s view of the
Annual Report as awhole, ncluding the
rmethodology behindits assessment of the
narrative reporting as an accurate reflection
of the financial staternents

The report also shares some of the
executive updates that were presented to
the Committee by different areas of the
business during the year These updates are
essentialin telingus how different risks are
rmanaged and mitigated throughout the
business, and assists the Committeen

understanding the progress bengmade
towards the strategic plan They also
provide the Committee members with
anopportunity to share therr own extensive
experience with the presenters, utilising
therr independent perspective to add

value through robust challenge, discussion
and debate

The report will also update you on our
assessment of the effectiveness of our
statutory auditor, Deloitte, and explain
our policy relating to any non-audit work
it was engaged to complete and the fees
it received for doing so

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
R

The expertise of the Committee members
15 considered as part of the annual review
of the Committee’s effectiveness The
Board 1s satisfied that the Committee
possesses relevant sectoral compeétence
and appropriate levels of Independence,
and that s members offer a depth of
financial and commercial experience
across various ndustries 1t s further
satisfied that Andy Halford possesses
recent and relevant financial experience
and the reguisite competence In
accounting

Audit Committee activities during 2016/17

- Maintained focus on the audit, assurance
and risk processes within the business,
as well as oversight of financialand other
regulatory requirerments

- Reviewed the Group's systemns of internal
controland risk management, and any
changes inaccounting policies and
Impact onits financal staterments

- Provided oversight of particular business
nsks, ncluding those relating to ethucal
sourcing and animal welfare

- Provided increased oversight of the risks
and controls pertaining to cybeér security

- Monitored the financial reporting
process, the statutory audit of the
Croup's financial staterments and the
independence of the statutory auditor

- Discussed and reviewed adjusted iterns
that may impact business performance

- Reviewed the mitigating controls over
the Group's principal risks and assessed
the level of assurance provided

- Continuedto support assurance
mapping across the Group, with
particutar focus on strategic prionties

-3 Continued to monitor and respond Lo
the changing regulatory environment,
particularly nrespect of mplementation
of the EU Audit Regulation and Directive

Members of senior management are
invited to attend Committee meetings
as and when their specialist technical
knowledge 1s required The Committee

also meets privately, without management
present, before each meeting Additionally,
separate private sessions attended by the
lead audit partner from Deloitte and the
Head of Internal Audit & Risk are held after
each meeting As Committee Charr, | also
regularly meet on a one-to-one basis with
the Chief Finance Officer, Director of Group
Finance, Head of internal Audlit & Risk and
other members of serior management
|also meet with the lead audit partner
nadvance of Committee meetings
Scheduling meetings in this way enables
me to betterunderstand any key 1issues
andareas of concern, and allows sufficent
time to facilitate meaningful discussicn
during the subsequent meeting

MEMBER ATTENDANCE  MEMBER NUMBER OF MAXIMUM % OF MEETINGS
SINCE MEETINGS POSSIBLE ATTENDED
ATTENDED MEETINGS
Andy Halford 1Jan 2013 5 5 100%
Alison Brittain 11 Mar 2014 5 5 100%
Miranda Curtis' 4Mar 2015 a 5 80%
Andrew Fisher 3Feb 2016 5 5 100%

1 Mranda Curbs wasunable to attend the meeting on 23 January 2017 due to illness
Note Detaled information onthe expenence, skills and qualfications of alldrectors s avarlable on pages 36and 37
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EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

INDEPENDENT REVIEW AND
COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN

The Committee’s performance was
reviewed externally this year by Ffion
Hague Feedback was positive, particularly
relating to the open debate encouraged

during meetings It 1s regarded as tharough

and effective, and prowvides the Board with
a hugh level of assurance that audit matters
are dealt with appropriately Areas inwhich
it was felt improvements could be
achieved were discussed by the
Committee for inclusion in its 2017/18
action plan

The Cornmittee recerves detalled updates
from one or more business areas at each
meeting These updatesare plannedona
roling 12-month basis Additional matters
dentified by Internat Audit as requining the
Committee’s attention are ncluded in

the agendas of subsequent meetings An

overview of some of the updates presented

during 2016/171s provided below

MANAGEMENT CF INTERNAL
CONTROL FAILURES

The Audit Committee receives updates on
internal control matters at each meeting
This regular monitoring of theinternal
control framework allows timely
wdentification of Issues and format tracking
of rermedationplans Instances wherethe
effectiveness of nternatcontrols was
censidered insufficient were discussed
during the year, either by the Audit
Cormmittes or the full Board These

have included controls over market
updates, third party oversight and IT asset
management As part of the annual review
of Internal control, the Audit Committee
againconsiderad these matters, ensurning
that the agreed actions were baing
implemented to support aprogramme

of maintaining and improving internal
control Following its review, the
Committee recommended to the Board
that, although the matters identified were
important, they had beenaddressed at
the time of Its review, with suitable controls
now Inplace

FIRE, HEALTH AND SAFETY (FHS)

-» Updated on performance across all
aspects of trading safely and legalty
and the progress made ndriving
comptiance standards

- Discussed the safety of sales floor
equipment, fittings and installations,
including progress made and the
key actions put in place

- Updated on continuing improvernents
to International governanceand
compliance processes inrespect of FHS,

The Comrmittee made good progress on
the 2016/17 action plan by reviewing
controls over and assessing the levels
of assurance provided inrespect of the
Croup's principal nsks, supporting risk
assurance mapping across the Croup,
Increasing Its oversight of cyber securty
risks and monitoring requlatory change

The action plan for 2017118

- Review the effectiveness of Internal
Audit inline with the Chartered institute
of Internal Audit requirements and
monitor any key findngs

AUDIT COMMITTEE UPDATES

including the reports of the third party
facilitated store inspection plan

- Notedthe reductions inreported acaidents

in UK-owned stores as aresult of work
undertaken with our Pnimary Authority
Partner, Birrmingham City Council

ETHICAL SOURCING AND
MODERN SLAVERY

- Updated on the controls inplace to
ensure an uncompramising approach
to rmaintaining M&S's ethical standards
Inanincreasingly competitive
international sourcing envircnment

- Discussed how risks are mitigated through

supplier selection, appraisal criteria

and regional mprovement programmes
supported by a stnct Internal Audit

and monitoring approach

- Updated on the approach to suppler
inspections and the different processes
adepted n Feed and Clothing & Home,
noting the regular ethical audits
undertaken by an accredited third
party onall factones used by M&S

- Updated onthe ways in which the
business preactively supports the
humanrnghts of colleagues across all
business aoperations, ncluding
compliance with the Modern Slavery
Act andthe steps takento prevent
rmodern slavery throughout the
business and its supply chain

GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE

- Updated onthe revisions to the auditor
engagerent policy, implemented
following the introduction of the
EU Audit Regulation and Directive,

- Discussed and reviewed the Board's
approach inundertaking its assessment
of the long-termwiability of the business

- Updated on the annual circulation of
the M&S Code of Ethics and Behaviours,
including ongoing monitoring of
compliance, and noting plans forafull
review of the Code during 2017/18

- Continue te aversee the Company-wide
risk and assurance mapping

= Continue to monitor oversight of data
governance and information secunty
risk ahead of the implementation of
the General Data Protection Regulation
InMay 2018

- Oversee the refinement of the internal
control environment

BUSINESS CONTINUITY

- Updated on the continued strengthening

of crisis management and business
recovery capability across all retail and
distnbution cperations

- Discussed national preparedness inthe
context of the UK's current threat level,
cnisis simulation exercises undertaken
In collaboration with industry peers,
and the development of new training
tools for Duty Managers aimed at
raising levels of preparedness

- Updated on preparedness andthe
crisis management processes in place
internaticnally, region-specific threat
assessments and cnisis simulations, and
procedures relating to business travel
to areas deemed tobe high risk

- Updated on the disaster recovery plans
for the distnbution centre at Castle
Donington, mprovermnents in resilience
capability and key milestones achieved

- Discussed the prionties for 2017/18,
including supply chan resiience In
internaticnal logistics, Internationat
retalland scurcing, as well as global
terrornismand cyber security

FOOQOD SAFETY AND INTEGRITY

- Updated on the governance and control
processesinrespect of food safety, the
assessment of operational nisks inkey
areas and the regular reviews of the
risk model conducted inresponse to
internal and externalissues

- Discussed food safety and the processes

in place for resolution of complaints

- Updated on the internal and external
Influences onrisk mitigation strategy,
covering supply base, raw material
sourcing, product targeting and
regulatory developments

- Discussed the food safety and integrity
risk profile and the greater focus placed

onsupply base withinthe audit prograrmme

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES

The Audit Committee has assessed
whether suitable accounting policies
have been adopted and whether
management has made appropriate
judgements and estimates.

Throughout the year, the Finance tearn has
worked closely with Delcitte to ensure that
the businessis transparent and provides
the requiredlevel of disclosure regarding
significant 1ssues considered by the
Commuttee in relatior to the financial
statements, as well as how these issues
were addressed, while being mindful of
matters that may be business-sensitive

This section outlines the main areas of
Jjudgermnent that have been considered by
the Committee to ensure that appropriate
ngour has beenapplied Allaccounting
polices can be found nnote 1 to the
financial staterments Where further
information s provided in the notes to

the financial statements, we have included
the note reference

Each of the areas of judgement to the right
has been dentified as an area of focus

and therefore the Committee has also
received detaled reporting from Deloitte

PRESENTATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Committee gave considerationto the
presentation of the financial staternents
and in particular the use of alternative
perforrnance measures and the presentation
of adjusted items inaccordance with the
Croup accounting policy This policy states
that adjustments are only made toreported
profit before tax where incorne and charges
are significant in value and/or nature

The Committee receved detalled reports
frommanagernent outlining the
Judgernents applied inrelation tothe
disclosure of adjusted iterms Inthe current
year, management has ncluded inthis
category the reductionin M&S Bank ncome
forthe impact of the M&S Bank provision

for financial product mis-selling, significant
charges ansing inrelation to changes to pay
and pensions, net costs associated with the
implementation of strategic programmesin
relaben to UK organisation, UK logistics, UK
store estate and the closure of International
owned businesses, mpairrments of the
carrying vatue of UK and international stores
(including associated cnercus leases) and
legal settlerments This was anarea of focus
for the Committee inthe current year due to

the number and value of these items
(£437 4m charge) and the recent guidelines
onthe use of alternative performance
measures issued by the Furopean Securities
and Markets Authority

In addition, the prior year was a 53-week
statutory reporting period so consideration
had been givento the balance of 52-week
and 53-week metncs for the pror year
reported throughout the Annual Report
The 52-week reasures have been quoted
whererelevant to ensure meaningfiul
comparnson withthis year's 52-week period
Following detailed review and active
discussion with ranagement, the
Committee has concluded that the
presentation of the financial statements
1sappropriate

See note 5 on p103

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL, BRANDS,
TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Committee has considered the
assessments made nrelation tothe
mpairment of goodwill, brands, tangible
and intangible fixed assets, including land
and bulldings, store assets and software
assets The Committee receved detalled

FAIR, BALANCED AND UNDERSTANDABLE

Al the request of the Beard, the Committee
has considered whether, n its opinicn,

the 2017 Annual Report and Financial
Statements are fair, balanced and
understandable,and whether they provide
the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Group’s position and
performance, business modeland strategy

The structure of the report continues

to focus strongly on the key strategic
messages in the Strategic Report, It was
therefore important for the Cormmittee

to ensure that this emphasis did not dilute
the overalltransparency inthe cisclosures
made throughout the repoart, which we
know our stakeholders find useful, and that
the messages presented by the business
are both clear and reflective of the
Company as a whole

Abroad outline of the structure of the
Annual Report was given to the Committee
early in the planmning process, along with 2
simitarly broad indication of its content

The Committee recerved a full draft of

the report two weeks prior to the meeting
atwhich it would be requested to provide
its final opinion Feedback was provided by
the Committee In advance of that meeting,
highlighting the areas it was felt would
benefit from further clarity, The draft
report was thenamended toincorporate
this feedback prior to being tabled at the
May Audit Committee meeting for final
comment and approval

The Committee was provided with a list of
the key messages included in the Annual
Report, mghlughting which were positive
and which were reflective of the challenges
frorn the year A supporting document was
also provided, specificatly addressing the
following listed points, ighlighting where
these could be evidenced within the report

When forming its opimien, the Committee
reflected on the information it had recerved
and its discussions throughout the year

in particular, the Committee considered

1S THE REPORT FAIR?

- Isthe whole story presented and has
any sensitive materal been omitted
that should have been included?

> Isthereportingonthe business
performance In the narrative reporting
consistent with those used for the
financial reporting in the financiat
statements?

> Arethe key messages in the narrative
reflected nthe financial reporting?

- Are the KPls disclosed at an appropnate
level based on the financial reporting?

IS THE REPORT BALANCED?

> lstherea good level of consistency
between the narrative reportingin
the front and the financial reporting in
the back of the report, and does the
messaging presented within each
remain consistent when one 1s read
independently of the other?

- Is the Annual Report properly
adocument for shareholders?

-> Are the statutory and adjusted
rmeasures explained clearly with
approprate prominence?

- Arethe key judgements referred to nthe
narrative reporting and the significant
1ssues reported n this Audit Cormmittee
Report consistent with the disclosures
of key estimation uncertammties and
critical judgements set out In the
financial statements?

- How do the significant issues identified
compare with the rnisks that Delaitte
plans toinclude Inits report?

IS THE REPORT UNDERSTANDABLE?

> isthere a clear and understandable
framework to the report?

- Are the important messages highlighted
appropriately throughout the document?

- Is the layout clear with good linkage
throughout ina manner that reflects
the whole story?

CONCLUSION

Following its review, the Committee
was of the opinion that the 2017 Annual
Report and Financial Statements are
representative of the year and present
a fair, balanced and understandable
overview, providing the necessary
information for shareholders to assess
the Croup’s position, performance,
business model and strategy.
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES CONTINUED

reports from management outlining the
treatment of impairments, valuation
methodology, the basis for key assumptions
(discount rate and long-term growth rate)
and the key drivers of the cash flow forecasts
The Committee has challenged rmanagement
and 1s satisfied that these are appropriate
The Committee has also understood the
sensitivity analysis used by manzagement
inits review of iImpairments Inaddition,

the business plans detalling management’s
expectations of future performance of

the businesses are Board approved The
Committee is satisfied that appropniate
impairrent of tangible and intangible
assets has beenrecognised

See notes 5, 14 & 15 on p103-104 & 114-116

INVENTORY VALUATION AND
PROVISIONING

Inventory provisions include cbsolete
stock, net realisable value below costand
stockloss provisions The Committee has
examined management papers cutlining the
Judgements made regarding prowisioning

for Inventory batances and Is satisfied that
asufficiently robust process was followed
to confirm quantities of inventory and that
net realisable value of inventory exceeds

its cost at yearend.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Cormmittee has reviewed the actuarial
assumptions such as discount rate, inflation
rate, expected return of scheme assets and
rnortality which determine the pension cost
and the UK defined benefit scheme valuation,
and has concludedthat they are appropriate
The assurmptions have been disclosed in the
financial statements

See note 11 on p108-1M1
REVENUE RECOGNITION IN

RELATION TO REFUNDS, GIFT CARDS
AND LOYALTY SCHEMES

Reveriue accruals for sales returns and deferred
income Inrelation to loyalty scheme
redemptions and gift card and credit voucher
redemptions are estimated based on historical
returns and redemptions The Cormmittee
has considered the basis of these accruals,
along with analysis of histancal returns and
redermnption rates and has agreed with the
judgements reached by management

SUPPLIER INCOME

This continues to be monitored closely by
rnanagement androbust controls arenplace
to ensure approprate recognition inthe

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

correct period The Committee s satisflied
with management’s conclusion that there
15 mirumal nsk of material misstatement
Enhanced disclosure has beenmadeagain
inthe current year through publication of
the accounting policy and disclosing the
effects of suppler income on certain
balance sheet accounts

CLOSURE COSTS FOR INTERNATIONAL
OPERATIONS (NEW DISCLOSURE)

The Committee has considered the
assessments made inrelation to the estimation
of closure costs and associated provisions
for the exit from certain Internaticnal owned
markets The Cormmittee received detailed
reports from management outlining the
accounting treatment of the costs, the

basis for the key assumptions used in the
estimation of the costs (most notably
inrelation to property exit costs and
redundancy)andthe assessment of

assets to be mpaired The Commmittee has
chatlengedmanagement and s satisfied

that these areappropriate The Committee
1s satisfied that appropnate costs and
assocated provisions have been

recognised

See notes 1, 5, 15 and 22 on p96, 103, 115
and 124

TENURE

Deloitte was appointed by shareholders
as the Group’s statutory auditor in 2014
following a formal tender process. The
lead audit partner, lan Waller, has held
the position for three years. The external
audit contract will be put out to tender
at least every ten years.

The Committee recommends that Deloitte
be reappointed as the Company’s statutory
auditor for the 2017/18 financial year We
believe the ndependenceand objectmity of
the external auditor and the effectiveness
of the audit process are safeguarded and
remain strong The Company has complied
with the Statutory Audit Services Order for
the financial year under review.

EFFECTIVENESS

The effectiveness of our external auditor
15 assessed inaccordance with aprocess
agreed by the Audit Committee, whichis
divided inte ten structured components
setting out the key areas of the audit
process forthe Committee to consider

This frameworkaalso recognises the
contribution of management mbeing fully
engaged with, and thereby enhanaing the
effectiveness of, the external audit process
it enables the Audit Commuttee to form
aview of management's role in an effective
audit process by considening whether

It believes ina culture of ‘nght first time;,
produces high quality papers, ensures
robust internal systems and controls are
maintained, respectsand values the

Independent audit process and examines
any audit adjustments proposed by the
external auditor with appropriate ngour

This framework provides a robust process
for monitonng auditor effectiveness and
can be measured against the findings of
future external auditor effectiveness
surveys The approach to the assessment
is tallored to enable senior management to
answer detailed guestions on the Company-
wide audit process, and provide the

Audit Committee with sufficient detail to
establish an informed view on the overall
efficiency, ntegnty and effectiveness

of the external audit

Questionnaires were tailored to the
following target groups:

1. Chief Finance Officer and Director

of Group Finance: Afullquestionnaire
was comgleted, covering allareas of the
audit process, while taking account of the
questionnaires completed by the Directors
of Finance for Food and Clothing & Home
and Head of Finance, International.

2. Directors of Finance: Food, Clothing

& Home and Head of Finance,
International: Shorter questionnaire,
focusing on the audit teamn, planning,
challenge and interaction with the business

3, Audit Committee: A high-level set of
questions with specific focus an the
planning, execution, value, communication
and challenge of the audit and audit partner
The Committee had access to copies cf the

completed managerment questionnaires
(sections 1 znd 2 above} to assist withits
own considerations.

WHAT WAS THE QUTCOME?

Feedback frorn each of the target groups
was positive overall, particularly nrespect
of the technicalinsight and challenge
provided by the audit team, its level of
interaction with the business, its strong
understanding of M&S’s culture and values;
and the valuzble guidance provided for the
Company’s strategic initiatives. It was felt
that areas identified during the 2015/16
review had improved dunng the year,
specifically the cornmunication between
the business and Deloitte during the audit
process, however, It was felf that further
improvements could still be achieved

Areas for development identified in this
year's review were encouraging a maore
Jeined-up approach during the audit and
ensuring the timely provision of accurate
inforrmation by M&S to the auditor
Addinionally, it was felt that further work by
both M&S and Deloitte would improve the
efficiency of the overseas audit process

QUR BUSINESS

QUR PERFORMANCE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

EXTERNAL AUDITOR CONTINUED

NON-AUDIT FEES

A robust auditor engagement poticy is

in place and adhered to. it is reviewed
annually and was updated during the year
to account for the tighter restrictions

on work permitted to be undertaken

by the statutory auditor introduced by
the Financial Reporting Council's (FRC}
Revised Ethical $tandard 2016. The policy
is disclosed on marksandspencer.com/
thecompany. The business 1s commuitted

to maintaining nan-audit fees at alow level
The non-audit fees to audit fees ratio for

the financial year ended 1 April 2017 was
0161, compared with the previous year’s
ratiw of 0171 During the year, the Company
was notified that Deloitte had acquired crisis
mzanagement specialists Regester Larkin
(RL), which the Company has engaged,

prior to acquisition, to develop crisis

management exercises The fees forRL
ware £32k Since the bulk of the fees were
Incurred prior to RUs acquisiion by Deloitte,
it was decided tc complete the project as
planned and that alternative providers
would be reviewed for future engagements
The majonity of the £0 3m innon-audit fees
paidintotal te Deloitte during 2016/17 were
incurred for assurance services it provided
dunng the year These compnsed feesin
respect of the Half Year review, turnover
certificates, the annual Furo Medium Term
Note (EMTN} programime renewal, reviews
of quarterly trading statements, crisis
management reviews and overseas
engagements It s normal practice for such
assurance services to be provided by the
Company's statutory auditor N additional
recurnng cr one-off non-audit services
were provided during the year

The Committee is satisfied that the
Company was compliant during the year
with both the updated UK Corporate
Covernance Code and the FRC's Ethical
and Auditing Standards inrespect of the
scope and maximum permitted level of
fees incurred for non-audit services
provided by Deloitte Where non-audit
work 1s performed by Deloitte, both the
Company and Deloitte ensure adherence
to robust processes to prevent the
objectraty and independence of the
auditor from being compremised

AlLnon-audit work performed by Deloitte
was put tothe Audit Committee for
consideration and approval, regardless
of size Further details on non-audit
services provided by Deloitte can be
found in note 4 on page 102

ASSURANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
]

The Board assumes ultimate responsibility
for the effective management of nskacross
the Group, determining its risk appetite as
well as ensuring that each business area
implements appropriate internal controls
The Croup’s nsk management systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate
the nisk of fallure to actueve busness
objectives, and can only provide reasonabie
and not absolute assurance against material
musstaterment or loss

See p32-33 of the Strategic Report for
more information on our material risks

See p30 for further information on our
risk management processes
The key features of the Group’s mternal
controland risk management systems
that ensure the accuracy and reliability of
financial reporting include clearly defined
lines of accountability and delegation
of authority, policies and procedures that
cover financial planring and reporting,
prepanng consolidated accounts, capital
expenditure, project governance and
information secunty, and the Group's
Code of Ethics and Behaviours

The Board has delegated responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's
systemns of mtermal control to the Audit
Committee This covers all matenal controls
including financial, operationaland
complance controls and nsk managerment
systemns The Committee s supported by
anumber of sources of nternal assurance
fromwithin the Group in order to complete
these reviews,in particular

1. Internal Audit The Croup’s primary source
of internal assurance remains delivery of the
Internal Audt Plan, whichis structuredto align
with the Group's strategic priorties and key
nisks and 15 developed by Internal Audit wath
input frommanagement Recommendations
from Internat Audit are communicatedto the
relevant business area for implementation

of appropniate corrective measures, with
results reported to the Committee

2. Business presentations Focusing primarily
on the key nsks identified n the Group Risk
Profile, management continues to provide
updates to the Committee on how these
are managed in ndradual business areas
These are complemented by independent
reviews conducted by Internal Audit

3. Other control agencies Responsible

for maintaining control aver criticalareas

of nisk, the processes and controls of these
agencies are tested by Internal Audit & Risk
durngrelevant audits Anoverview of these
agencies and the manner in which they
provide assurance to the Committee 1s
incicated in the table below

The Croup was comphliant throughout the
year with the provisions of the UK Corporate

Covernance Code relating tointernal
controls and the FRC's revised Cuidance on
Audit Commuttees and Guidange on Risk
Management, Internal Control and Related
Financial and Business Reporting No
sigruficant fallings or weaknesses were
identified dunng the Committee's review
inrespect of the yearended 1 Apnl 2017
and up te the date of this Annual Report

Where the Committee identified areas
requInng improvement, processes are in
place to ensure that the necessary action
1s taken and that progress s monitored

Further detads of these processes can

be found within our detailed Corporate
Covernance Staternent which 1s available to
view in the Corporate Governance secticn
of marksandspencer.com/thecompany

ANDY HALFORD AUDIT COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN

INTERNAL ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK
|

Saurce of iInformation

Freguency/mature of reporting

Committees - Fire Health & Safety Committee Direct reporting lines
PlanA Committee* to the Committee, with
>Pla : annual updates fr‘om
-» Business Continuity Commitiee | the relevant executive
Business Papers produced on the Formal updates
areas following subjects presented to the
~» Informatien Security Committee annually
= Whistleblowing & Fraud
= Bribery AUDIT
- Code of Ethics and Behaviours COMMITTEE
- GSCOR (Grocery Supplier
Code of Practice)
Other Imternal Audit testing Updates provided
control (as appropriate) inrelation to to the Committee
agencies as requested

- Food Safety &integnty
- Ethical Audits
—> Trading Safely & Legally

or appropriate

* Note also reports directly to the Board
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PENSIONS

COVERNANCE

The Croup operates a defined benefit
pensicn scheme, the Marks & Spencer

UK Pension Scheme, (the "Scherme”) for
employees with an appointment date prior
to 1 Apnl 2002 The Scherme clesed to future
accrual from 1 April 2017 Employees are
now eligible to join and are auto-enrolled
as required by legislation into a defined
contribution pension scheme, Your M&S
Pension Saving Plan, whichis part of a
mastertrust arrangement managed by
Legal & Ceneral

The results of the triennialactuanal
valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2015
revealed a surplus of £204m cn a technical
provisions basis This represented a heatthy
improvernent from a defict of £290m as at
31 March 2012 as aresult of agreed recovery
plan contrizutions frem the Company and
cutperformance of return-seeking assets
over the period The Scheme has also been
hedged against interest rate and inflation
risks and has thus beeninsulated from

the effect of fallngrealnterest rates
Scheme funding is closely and frequently
monitored and Scheme investment risks
are diversified

The Scheme, the assets of which are held
under trust separately fromthose of the
Croup, 1s managed by the Board of the
PensionTrust (Trustee Board”) The Trustee
Board comprnises four Company-nominated
directors, ncluding the Chairman, Graham
Qakley, three member-nominated directors
and two independent directors Alldirectors
are appointed for a five-year terrm and may
stand for addibional terms

The Trustee Board operates anumber of
committees ncluding Management and
Covernance, Investment, and Audit to which
responsibilities are delegated The Trustee
Board 1s supportad by an executive team
which manages the governance and
operation of the Scheme

The Trustee Board has a business plan
aganst which progress 1s measured
penodically ina similar approachtothe
Group Board There s alsoanannual
Trustee Board Effectiveneass Review and
both the Trustee Beard and the Investment
Committee hold annual strategy days which
help drive the long-term agenda and the
business plan priorities Each Trustee Board
director has anindividual traiming plan,
whichs based onthe Pension Regulator’s
Trustee Knowledge and Understanding
requirements and tallored to address any
skillgaps and specific committeeroles
Amajonty of the Trustee Board members
hold the Pensions Management institute
Award in Trusteeship

Alladvisers and suppliers are appointed
through a rigorous tender process, and
inrespect of nvestrment manager
appointments are made with advice from
the Scheme's appeinted Investment adviser
They are monitored via quarterly reports
and pernodic meetings and thereis alsc a
rotling programme of both informal and
formaladviser reviews

In addition to six-monthly reports from

EY as covenant adviser, the Trustee Board
alsoreceves presentations from the Chief
Finance Officer after the Croup's Half Year
and Year Endresuits

The Schemes a signatory tothe UN
Principles for Responsible Investment

and the Financial Reporting Council’s

UK Stewardship Code It has partnered
with a specialist engagement service,
Hermes Equity Ownershiup Serwvices (EOS),
to exercise Its global equity voting rights in
accordance with a detailed Trustee Board
policy, which addresses arange of
governance, social and envircnmental
issues The engagement of EOS enhances
the Trustee Board's stewardship and
governance oversight of nvestee
companies by engaging with companies
ona global basis The results of these voting
and engagement activities are published
quarterly onthe Scheme’s website

OUR BUSINESS

CUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REMUNERATION

OVERVIEW

Our remuneration framework is aligned with
the strategic direction of M&S and the interests
of our shareholders, with a clear focus on customer,

simplicity and teamwork.

VINDI BANGA CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

On pehalf of the Board, lam pleased to
present our 2017 Remuneration Report

The Committee has sought to further
improve our disclosures once agamn this
year to provide not only theregulatory
information we are reguired to disclose while
balancing against commercial sensitnvities,
but also the context surrounding pay
arrangements Additional context has been
provided where we believe thiswillhelpto
present a complete picture of the structure
and scale of the remuneration framework,
Its alignment with the business strategy and
the rest of the workforce, as well as the
payrments made as aresult of business
performance for this year

As hughlighted last year, and inline with
regulations, we are now seeking shareholder
support and approval for our Remuneration
Policy at the 2017 ACM This year's summary
‘Remuneration at & Glance ighlights not
only the key elements of the payments
made to directors this year, but also gives an
outline of the proposed amendments to the
Remuneration Policy which will govern pay
arrangements inthe next three years

As required, thus report s split nto two
further distinct secticns, the first coverng
our updated Remuneration Policy, and the
second covernng remunerationin action for
the 2016/17 and 2017/18 financial years In
accordance with regulations, shareholders
will be requested to vote separately on
these reports at our AGMn July 2017, with
this Remuneration Overview and the Annual
Report on Remuneration being subject to
anadvisory vote

REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK
CONSIDERATIONS

The Board 1s committed to ensuring that
our remuneration framework supports our
strategy, and provides a balance between
motivating and chatlenging our senior
leaders to deliver our business pricrities,
as set out by our CEQ, and strong
performance while also driving the long-
term sustainable success of M&S Asa
result, a significant part of performance
related reward 1s delivered through shares
This ensures that our leaders have

meaningful long-terrninvestmentin
our business, and that therr interestsare
closely aligned with our shareholders

The Committee spent a considerable
amount of tirme this year Liaising with
rmany of our shareholders and sharing
awide vanety of views cn remuneration
generally, including the framewaork,
structures, measures and targets It
explored a number of options taking into
account the various perspectives and
views and considering these against the
current framework, the current economic
and rarket envircnrment, the business
strategy and progress aganst the goals
set out last year

As we explainedin the Annual Report

last year, we delayed granting the 2016
Performance Share Plan (PSP) awards until
December 2016 to ensure the targets set
were appropriately aligned to the strategic
review being undertaken by the new team
following Steve Rowe's appointment

as CEQ As the focus of the business plan
announcedin Novernber 2016 remains
unchanged and the tearm has had less
than one year to start to mplerment

much of this, the Committee considered
that the structure of the current
remuneraticn framework continues

to support this strategy

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
REMUNERATION POLICY

Taking all of the above into account, the
Cormnmittee has therefore decided to
maintain the principles of the framework
first introduced in 2010 and approved

by shareholders in 2014, but to make
some minor amendments to ncentive
arrangements to ensure sharper and
more relevant alignment between senjor
remuneration, the strategic direction

of the Cormpany,and the interests of

our shareholders

The PSP willcontinue to be the primary
long-termincentive plan for executives

We are maintaining the overallconstruct of
the plan, with the typical award bemg 250%
of salary However, we will be intreducing a
two-year holding period post vesting for all

long-term incentive awards made from
2017, to ensure greater alignment of our
leaders remuneration with long-term
stakeholder interests

Furthermore, we will be reducing the cash
supplement in teuw of pension contributions
for new executive director appointments
The new threshold will be reduced from 30%
(for the CEO) and 25% (for all other directors)
to amaximum of 20% for all future executive
directors, including the CEO Contractual
arrangements for current executive
directors will remain unchangedat 25% This
removes any policy differential between the
CEQand other executivedirectors

KEY ELEMENTS OF 2017/18
REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS

The Annual Bonus Scheme wili continue to
be based oncorporate financial targets
{currently 70%) and indwidual objectives
{currently 30%) The maximum opportunity
wiklrernain 200% of salary The financial
measure will continue to be Group PBT
before adjusted tems {Croup PBT) The
indivdual measures on page 69 highlight
the mportance of collective and customer
focused measures to support the one
team behavicurs which have the customer
at the heart of the business, In ine with
thebusiness strategy

The PSP willbe mamntaned but will also
now nclude a two-year holding penod
post vesting as previously outlined TSRwill
be introduced as akey measure toboth
reinforce alignment of executive interests
with sharehotders, aswellasbengarelative
measure of value creation TSRwill replace
cash flow as a measure, and the financial
measures of EPSand ROCE willbe retained
as measures of profitable and efficient
business performance

Each of the three measures will have equal
weightage, thus TSR will count for a third,
ROCE will count for a third and up from
the tustorical 20%, EPS will count for a third,
less than the histerical 50%

As inthe past, the Committee will have
cversight inte the quality of how the
cutcornes of ERPS and ROCE are delivered
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IN THIS SECTION

'
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE p56-57

STRATECIC ALIGNMENT OF PAY p56
REMUNERATION POLICY p58-65

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION p6&6-77

Executive directors’
remuneration policy p58

Recruitment policy p62
Termination policy p63

MNonh-executive directors’
remuneration policy p64

and willexercise discretion as necessary
While the Committee believes that
mtreducing TSR at this stage provides an
important measure of the success of the
new strategy for the executive team, the
Commuttee also believes that certan
strategic and non-financial measures may
become more significant to M&S to warrant
consideration for PSP measurementsin
future years

Civenthe continued challenging econarnic
and market environment, consumer
concerns over Brexit, and ongoing currency
and inflationary headwinds, the Committee
has set the 201718 targets at what it
betieves wouldrepresent stretching
business performance For EPS and ROCE,
targets have been increased from those
set for the 2016 PSP award, which were
rebased against the new financial plan
These increased targets reflect the plans
for the business to returntc growthin the
next three years TSR performance will be
measured against a bespoke group of
comparator cormpanies, broadly similar

to that adopted by other companies in

our sector In accordance with standard
market practice, targets for threshold

and maximum vesting will be set at median
and upper guartile performance of the
Croup respectively

REMUNERATION FOR 2016/17

As referenced earlier nthe Annual Report,
since his appointment as Chief Executive,
Steve Rowe has set out clear and decisive
plans to accelerate the pace of change

to return the business to growth Ahuge
amount of work has already begunto
implement and deliver this strategy,
including the investment in Clothing &
Home pricing and the reshaping of both
the UK store estate and the International
business, While these plans have laid the
groundwork to M&S's long-termrecovery,
the necessary Investment has meant that
profits delivered this year are lower than
last year, although above consensus
expectations However, this was not
unexpected and our financial plan for

the yearreflected this

The Remuneration Committee s satisfied
that Incentive payments for the executive
directors reflect both the overall financial
performance of the business and the hard
work undertaken by the teamto achieve this

Total single figure remuneration p66
Salary and benefits p67
Annual Bonus Scheme p&8-69

in the challenging environment Total
payments are around 35% of the maximum
receivable, of both fixed and variable pay
together, if all stretch targets had been
achieved This clearly demonstrates the
philosophy of the executive directors’

pay arrangements in action, including

the ngour of target setting, maximum
payrments will only be payable for
excepbonal performance

As can been seen on page 56, thereisa

clear and demonstrable ink between
business strategy and payments for 2016/17
performance to the executive directors

The key business priorities are referenced on
pages 8-11 of thisreport Executive director
targets were aligned with these priorities
and achieverment against the key financial
priorities are shown on pages 18-21

ANNUAL BONUS QUTTURN

As highlighted earlier, the year has been one
of censiderable change for M&S When
approving payments, the Committee
considerad the cverall performance of

the business and of the executive directors
against this, as well as against therr individual
targets Details of the bonus payments to
2ach of the executive directors are outlined
onpage 68 Bonus payments ranged from
37% 1o 42% of maximum cpportunity, Bonus
payments made todirectors reflected the
large proportion of collective measures for
the year, in support of focusing onteamwork
and simplicity withinthe pay arrangements

PSP VESTING

The PSP awards granted in 2014 were
measured for the three-year penodup to

1 Apnl 2017 against EPS, ROCE and Revenue
targets As the threshold targets were not
achieved, all awards held by executive
directors will Lapse

SALARY REVIEW

The Committee discussed the annuat salary
review for all executive directors Inline with
the budget salary increases for the rest of
the organisation, the Committee approved
a 2%increase for allexecutive directors
However, as clearly disclosed inlast year's
repart the executive directors have, for the
second year In succession, chosen to not
accept thisincrease Salanes for the
executive directors will therefore remain

Performance Share Plan p70-71
Directors’ share interests p72-73
Non-executive directors’ remuneration p76

Remuneration Committee p77-78

at those levels set in July 2015, apart from
Steve Rowe, whose salary changed on his
appointment to CEQ N Apnl 2016

BOARD CHANGES

InSepternber 2016, we announced that
Laura Wade-Gery would not be returning

to the business following her maternity
leave Laura's remuneration terms, disclosed
at the fime, were InLine with the key
provisions for contract termination as per
the shareholder approved Remuneration
Policy Inaddition, details inrelation to
outstanding remuneration for Marc Bolland
following his departure are also provided on
page 75

STAKEHOLDER ENCAGEMENT

We are grateful to shareholders, shareholder
representative bodies, regulatory bodies
and remuneration advisers for their
engagement, feedback, challenge and
view on remunerat:on matters over the
past year The Company has beenactively
invalved onthe subyect of executive
remuneraticn and stakeholder
engagement,and earbier this year
responded to the UK Government’s Green
Paper on Corperate Covernance Reform

Stakeholder engagement, Including input
from M&S's Business Involvement Croups
are key to ensuring we continue to drive the
transparency arcund our decisions relating
to executive pay, provide clanty and quality
of our performance targets and associated
disclosures, and ensure the relevance of our
long-term executive pay Incentives and
their aignment to the performance of the
business We are grateful for this ongeing
dialogue Together with the rest of the
Boeard, ltook forward to hearing your views
onour remuneration arrangements and
will be avallable to answer any questions
you may have at the ACM

VINDI BANGA
CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTFE

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REMUNERATION
Al A GLANCE

This overview summarises our Remuneration Policy in action and
shows the alignment between our remuneration framework, the
Company’s performance and payments to directors for 2016/17.

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT OF REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK WITH KPIs

See KPIs on p18-21

2016/2017 PERFORMANCE
|

e L o L ®
GRQUP PBT BEFORE GROUP RETURN ON CAPITAL ADJUSTED EARNINGS FREE CASH FLOW (PRE
ADJUSTED ITEMS REVENUE EMPLOYED PER SHARE SHAREHOLDER RETURNS)
£613.8m £10.6bn 13.7% 30.4p £585.4m
Group PBT was above the Performance under all Average 3-year ROCE EPS growthwas -1 9% Free cash flow performance
target set forbonus revenue metnecs was performance of 145% over the three years for the year had no drrect
payments tobegin below the thresheld (ncluding 13 7%for 2016/17)  endingin 2016/17 (based Impact on payments for
For executive drectors, required for payment was below the threshold onthe outturn of 304p 201617 but willimpact PSP
195% of bonus opportunity  under the 2014 PSP award, reguired for this element for this year), which was payments for the next two
was payable as aresult resulting inthis etement of the 2014 PSP award below the 5% growth financial years, measured on
of this Group PBT ofthe award lapsing tovest required for vesting acumulative 3-year basis
performance underthe 2014 PSPaward  The 2016/17 outturnis more

than 1/3 of the annualised
target under therespective
outstandingawards
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SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION 2016/17

The graph opposite summanses the total
payments made to executive directorsin
respect of the 2016/17 financial year These
figures llustrate those detailed in the single
figure table set out later nthisreport

Fixed pay comprises salary, benefits and
pension benefits Further information on
payments made under the Annual Bonus
Schemeis ilustrated below, with further
detalls provided on page 68

Performance Share Plan awards did not
meet the threshold performance required
for vesting this year and, as such, awards
will lapse in full on their vesting date

Bonus payments made in respect of
performance for the year were between
37% and 42% of maximum bonus
opportunity This resulted in payments
ranging fram ¢ £459,000to ¢ £600,000,
with half of all payments being deferred
into shares for three years, subject to
rmalus provisions being met

Further detail on the performance
measures and targets and the extent
te which they were achieved are shown
on page 68 of this report

See Single figure remuneration on p66

See Annual Bonus Scheme below and p68

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME 2016/17

See Annual Bonus Scheme an p68

See PSP on p71

SUMMARY OF POLICY AND PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

|
Shareholders approved the Remuneration The Committee reviewed the senior business strategy Changes proposedtothe
Policy at the AGM N 2014 As such, the remuneration framework during the year policy are minimal as the Commuttee felt
Company Is required to seek approval for to ensure that it remains fit for purpose, the previously approved frarmework remains
the new policy at the ACMtobeheld on provickng an appropriate framework to broadly approprate For transparency, the
11 July 2017 Pages 58 to 65 provide the fulfil M&S's reward philosephy whichis,in table below sets cut an overview of the key

full details of the proposed policy

turn, designed to support and drive the

areas of the policy

Base salary

Benefits

MAIN FEATURES OF CURRENT POLICY

Pension benefits

Annual Borus Schetne

Performance Share Plan

Non-executive directors
{including Chairman)

- Increases awarded
arencrmally in line
with those elsewhere
inthe business
Adjustmentsin
excess of this may
be made where the

-» Benefits provided at
arate commensurate
with the market and
currently include
acarorcash
allowance,adriver,
and life assurance

— Directors may
participate inM&S’s
defined contripution
arrangement onthe
sametermsas cther
ermployees, or receive
acash supplement

- Maximum opportunity
of 200% of salary

- 50% of totat bonus
deferred into shares
for three years

- Measured against

-2 Maximum award
of 30C% of salary.

- Performance
measuredaganst
financial targets over
athree-year period

- Fees reviewed
annually

- Comprise basic fee

plus additional fee for

extraresponsibility of
Board or committee
chairman or Senior

Committee deems plus other benefits inlieu of pension Adjusted Greup PBT | = Clawback and malus ind N
ttappropriate providedtoall contributions Cash {currently 70% of provisicns apply ndependent NED
employees, ncluding alternative maximum award)and ndidual - inaddition, the
ermployes discount 1s.currently 25% of objectives Chairman may be
salary for other entiledto the use
executivedirectors | = Clawbackandmalus of a car and driver
{30% for CEQ) provisions apply
POLICY CHANGE
> Salanes wilibe - Mochange -» For current executive | > Nochange = Atwo-year holding - Feeswillbe
compared aganst directors, the pericdpost compared against
appropriately-sized maximum cash vesting willbe appropriately-
listed companies allowance will be ntroduced sized companies
which may be outside limited to 25% of which may be outside

of the FTSE 25-75
detailedinthe
previous policy

salary forall
{ncluding the CEQ)

= Forfuture
appointments, the
cash amount payable
will be capped at 20%
of salaryforall

= Performance
conditions may
include quantifiable
nen-financial/
SII’B[GQ\C measures,
with financial
mMeasures Comprising
at least 50% of awards

ofthe FTSE 25-75
detaled inthe
previous palicy

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REMUNERATION POLICY

FIGURE 1: EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE (TO BE APPROVED ON 11 JULY)

Thisreport sets out the Company’'s policy
onremuneration forexecutive and
non-executive directors, to be approved
by shareholders at the ACM on 11 July 2017,
from which date the policy willapply The
polcy remains largely unchanged from
that approved by shareholdersin 2014,
for transparency, where amendments
have beenmade these are highlghted
Once approved, this policy may operate
for uptothreayears

As previousty, the Committee has bultina
degree of flexibiity to ensure the practical
applcation of the policy over this penod
Where such discretion is reserved, the extent
towhichit may be applied s described

The Company’s policy remans to attract,
refan and rmotivate tsleaders and ensure
they are focused ondeliverng business
priorities withina framework designed to
prormote the long-term success of M&S,
aligned with shareholder interests

Further information regarding the
mplermentation of the previous remuneration
policy 1s set out onpages 66to 77

KEY CHANGES TO THE POLICY
|

-> Base salares willbe
compared aganst major
retailers and
approprately-sized
listed companies which
rmay be cutside of those
ranked FTSE 25-75
Previously, the peer
group comprised FTSE
25-75 ranked companies
This change reflects
M&5S's FTSE ranking

Base salary

- Maximum cash
payments will be irmited
to 25% for all current
executive directors and
to 20% for all future
executive directors This
reduction better reflects
pension arrangermnents
in the wider workforce

Pension
benefits

-2 Tofurther support
sharehaolder abgnment,a
two-year holding period
post vesting will apply to
any awards granted te
executive directorsafter
the 2017 ACM

-» Performance conditions
may now Include
quantifiable non-financial
or strategic measures
Previously, performance
conditions were limited to
financial measures only
This change will ensure
strategicabgnment of
the PSP

Performance
Share Plan

Base salary Benefits
ELEMENT
PURPOSE Toattract, retain and motivate To provide market-competitive benefits
AND LINK TO righ calibre executives needed which drive employee engagement
STRATECY to deliver our strategy and drive and cornrmtment in our pusiness
business performance
OPERATION —» Payable ncash - Directors are eligible to recerve
~ Reviewed annually by the 3?:;:'&: Il':;[:gt‘: ourpolicies
Committee considering a number el v lowance
of factors,including _ Adnver and '
- Salary ncreasesawarded to other I '
employees inthe wider workforce e assurance
which are typically reviewed = Where appropriate, our Clobal/
annually ona sirmilar basis, and Domestic Mobility Policy may apply
- Comparabie salaresin This may include, but not be Limited
3ppropriate comparator groups to, travel relocatiorand tax
- Salariesreflect theexperience, equalisation allowances
responsibility and contribution of the - Drectors are offered a number of
individual androle within the Group other banefits inline with atlother
CHANCE FOR 2017 employees, such as employee
- Appropriate comparator groups discount and salary sacrfice
may include major retailers and schemes such as Cycle2Work
similarly-sized listed companies —» Directors may particpate in a Save
which may be ranked outside of As You Earn Scheme and a Share
the FTSE 25-75. Incentive Plan and any other
all-employee share schemes onthe
same terms as other employees
MAXIMUM = While there 15 ne set maximum, =3 While there s ne set maximum, any
OPPCRTUNITY any increases arenormally i Lne benefits will be provided at arate
with those in the wider workforce commensurate with the market
= Individual agjustments in excess = Maximum participationn
of this may be made outside of this all-employee share schemes s
cycie atthediscretion of the in lne with local statutary lirnits
Committee, where appropriate
Such arcumstances can include
- Wherethercle scopahas changed,
— Where comparable salares inthe
external market have changed, or
- Toapply salary progression for
newly appointed directors
PERFORMANCE N/A N/A
CONDITIONS
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Annual Bonus Scheme including
Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP)

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

Toattract andretan high calibre
executives through a commitment to
responsible, secure retirement funding
nLne with our Company values

To drive annual profitability, strategic change and
individual performance inline with the business plan

Torecognrise and reward individual contributions to
the way we do business
Thedeferralinto shares provides alignment with sharehoiders’

long-term interests following the successful delivery
of short-term targets

Measured aganst the key financial drivers
of the business plan to deliver sustanable
value creation

To encourage long-term shareholding to
retain directors, and provide greater alignment
with sharehotders’ interests

= Current directors may participate
I the Your M&S Pens:on Saving
Plan (@ defined contribution
arrangernent) or an altermative
pensior saving vehicle that the
Company may offer.on the same
terms as atlother employees or
recerve acash supplement inlieu
of pension contributions INto
thisscheme

~» Directors are eligible to participate in this
non-contractual, discretionary scheme

- Payrments are made subject to the satisfaction
of predeterminedtargets set at the start of the
year, as approved by the Committee

-> Not less than 50% of any borus earned s paid in deferred
shares under the DSBPR with the remainder payable incash

—» Deferred shares vest aftera period of three years subject to
continued service, but no further performance conditions

— Clawback and malus rules apply to cast and DSBP
awards respectively, see explanatory notes (page 60}
for more nformation

- Good leaver and change of control provisions apply
tothe deferred shares (see explanatory notes)

- The value of any dwvidends during the deferred penod
will be payable (see explanatory notes)

- The Committee retains the nght toexercise discretion,
bothupwards and downwards, to ensure that the level
of award payable s appropriate and fair n the context of
the director's indwdual performance and the Company's
overallperformance Where exercised, therationale for
this discretion willbe fully disclosed to shareholders in
the subsequent Annual Report

= The Company's principallong-term incentive
scheme, approved by shareholders n 2016

- Directorsare eligible toparticipate in this
non-contractual, discretionary plan

-> Directors may receve an annual award
whichvests after three years subject to
predetermined performance conditions

-> Clawbackand malus rules apply to awards
{see explanatory notes)

- Good leaver and change of control provisions
apply (see explanatery notes)

- The value of any dividends during the vesting
period willbe payable (see explanatory notes)

CHANGE FOR 2017

—» Awards granted after 11 July 2017 will be
subject to a further two-year holding period
after the vesting date. Directors may sell
sufficient shares to satisfy the tax Liability
on exercise but must retain the net number
of shares until the end of this two-year period.

- Amaximum cash payrment of 25% of
salary for current éxecutive directors

- Amaximum employer contribution
of 12% of salary where the employee
contributes 6% of salary

CHANGE FOR 2017

- The cash alternative provided to
current executive directors wilt
be limited to 25% of salary for all
directors. For directors appainted
to the Board after 11 July 2017,
the cash alternative will be up to
a maximum of 20% of salary for
all directors.

-2 Amaximum annual potential of up to 200% of salary

-> The rmaximum value of shares {at grant) which
can be made under an award te an indivdualin
respect of afinancial year 15 300% of salary

MN/A

- Quantifiable one-year performance measures and
targets are set by the Committee around financial
and individual objectves inked with the sustanable
delivery of the business plan

- Financial perfarmance measures comprise at least
50% of awards and may Include, but not be imited
to Croup PBT after adjusted tems

= Typically, no payment for individual objectives can
beearned unlessa‘threshold’ level of Group PBT after
adjusted itemns has been achieved This threshotd level
1s set by the Committee taking into account the previous
year's performance and the busiess operating plan
for the current year

- For threshold performance, up to 40% (currently 30%)
of maumum bonus potential may be payable for the
achieverment of ndwvidual objectives

-» Performance 1s measured over a three-year
perod against abalanced scorecard of
appropriate measures as determined by the
Committee eachyear This currently includes
EPSand ROCE chosen as those measures which
supportanddnve top-line and bottom-lne
performance i ine with business strategy,
aswellas Total Shareholder Return (TSR)

—» The threshold level of vesting s 20% of
the maximum

-3 For performance between threshold and
maximum,awards vest on a straight-line basis

CHANGE FOR 2017

- Awards may be measured against
appropriate financial, non-financial and/or
strategic measures. Financial measures
comprise at least 50% of awards.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY CONTINUED
L ..__________________________________________________________________________ ]

FIGURE 2: POLICY TABLE

Executive directars may be inreceipt of awards under share plans outside of the current remuneration framework detailed on pages 58
and 59, these may have been awarded upon recruitment or pror te their appointment as an executive director While awards under these
plans do not form part of a forward-looking policy, for transparency, details of the plans are set out n the table below

PURPOSE AND MAXIMUM PERFQRMANCE
ELEMENT LINK TO STRATEGY OPERATION QOPPORTUNITY CONDITIONS
Restricted Toenable therecruitment - Restnctedawards may be granted -2 Whilethereis no - The Committee may
estricte of key drectors who are for the recrutment of directors maximuen set inthe choose toapply no
Share Plan necessary tothe delivery > Award ¢ sfter arestricted o which rules, the Comrittee  formal performance
(RSP} of business strateqy "':L ls:vgs d aer dab ets r\tc © pl'f”g - whic consders the scale conditiors save for
g?weaamgth{::' earsu s typically between and structure continued service
Y of awards onan
= Malus provisions, good leaver and change of individual basis
cantrol provisions apply (see pages 60and 63}
- The value of any dividends during
therestricted period will be payable
(seeexplanatory notes below)
Ex Ve Measured against thekey  — Approved by shareholders and HMRC in 2015, - Awardsarecapped  —> Awards vest subect
ecut . drivers of our business the Commuttee may choose to award share at 250% of salary n to at least three-year
Share Option planto deliver sustainable options to directors If approprate respect of any predetermmed
Sch SOS, alue tion F f
eme ‘E ) value creat -> Malus provisions, good leaver and change of t:;ggi:;‘:‘:r of Ssgg[rgggce
Toencourage long-term control prowvisions apply (see pages 60and 63) Bt o recrum)r‘;\ent
snarehaldingtoretain - Options are normally exercised batween the third circumstances awards

directors, and provide
greater algnment with
shareholders interests

and tenth anniversaries cof grant, subject to the
achieverment of any performance conditions
sel by the Cormmittee

may be granted up
toahigher lirmit of
400% of salary

EXPLANATORY NOTES

The Committee reserves thenght to
make any remuneration payments
notwithstanding that they are notintine
with the Policy set out above, where the
terms of the payment were agreed at

a time when the relevant ndividual was
not a director of the Company and, inthe
opmion of the Cormmittee, the payment
was NN consideraton of the nthvidual
becoming a director of the Company

For these purposes, payments include the
Committee satisfying awards of variable
remuneration and, inrelation te an award
over shares, the terms of the paymentare
agreed at the tirme the award s granted

Awards granted under the PSP LSBR.and
RSP can be rmade in the form of conditional
share awards, forfeitable shares, options

or nghts with the same economic effect
inaddihon, awards may be settied incash
Awards may incorpoerate the nght to receve
(in cash and shares) the value of dnidends,
including any dividend tax credit where
applicable, between grant and vesting on
the shares that vest This amount may be
calculated ona cumulative basis, assuming
the reinvestrment of dividends into shares

Inthe event of a vanabon of the Company's
share capttal or a demerger, special dvidend
or other event which in the Commuttee’s
opinion may affect the price of shares, the
Committee may alter the terms of awards
and the number of shares subject to them
The terms of awards may be amended In
accordance withthe relevant plan rules
fwhichwere approved by shareholders

on 7 July 2015)

Any performance condittons applicable
to PSP and ESOS awards may be amended
by the Committee if an event occurs
which causes it to consider that the
performance condition would not achieve
its crigmnal purpose and the amended
performance condition s, inthe opinion
of the Committee, no less difficult to
sabisfy but for the event in question

CLAWBACK AND MALUS

M&S1s committed to ensuringits
remuneration arrangements motivate
partiopants to strive far exceptional
performance while also protecting
shareholder value from the Company
taking unnecessary risks As such, clawback
and malus provisions apply te the executive
directors incentive arrangements All share
awards granted from 2013 onwards are
subject to malus provisions These provisions

allow the Cormrmittee, nits absolute
discretion, to determine at any time prior
to the vesting of an award toreduce the
number of shares, cancel anaward or
impose further conditions onan awardin
circumstances for which the Committee
considers suchaction to be appropnate
Such circumstances may include, but not
be brmited £0, a matenial rmisstaternent of
the Company’s audited results

Inaddition, clawback provisions were
introduced in 2015 and apply to cash
payments made under the Annual Bonus
Scheme Awards made under any of the
Company's other executive share schemes
{including the Performance Share Plan) in
2015 and onwards will simularly be subject to
clawback provisicns These provisions
enable the Committee, in its absolute
discretion, toreclaim awards paid to
indivicduals for up to three years after the
respective vesting or payrment date (or up
to two years in the case of PSP awards)
where specified events occur The specified
events include gross misconduct or where
amaterial misstatement of the Cornpany’s
financial statements has occurred
Clawback may be effected, among other
means, by reguiring the transfer of shares,
payment of cash or reduction of awards.
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EXPLANATORY NOTES CONTINUED

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS AND
TARGET SETTING

REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK FOR
THE REST OF THE ORCANISATION

The Committee reviews annually the
measures, waightings and targets for the
incentive arrangements for the executive
directors Indoing so,the Committee
considers a number of factars which assist
informing a view These include, but are not
limited to, the strategic prionties for M&S
over the short-tolong-term, shareholder
feedback, the nsk profile of the business
andthe macro-econemic climate

The Annual Bonus Scheme s measured
aganst a balance of profitability and

the delivery of key strategic areas of
importance for the business The
profitability measure used s Group PBT
before adjusted items as this s used
internally toreport and assess business
performance by the Board and Operating
Committee Refertothe glossary onpages
133 to 134 for the definition of Group PBT
before adjusted items, and to Note 1 of the
financial statements for a description of
adjusted iterns

The PSP s assessed against a balance of
measures identified as those most relevant
te driving both sustainable top-lne and
bottom-line business performance, as

wetl as providing value for shareholders
Thisisreflected inthe EPSand ROCE
rmeasures which focus ona balance of
profitability, cost controland the efficient
use of capital nvestment

For 2017/18, relative TSR will be introduced
to ensure focus on the value delivered to
sharehotders This s measured againsta
bespoke group of retail companies which
are beleved to provide a balanced portfolio
of those most likely to be alternative
investrment cheices for M&S shareholders

Targets are set against the respective annual
and long-term operating plans taking into
account analysts forecasts, M&S's strategic
plans, prior year performance, estimated
vasting levels and the affordability of pay
arrangernents Targets are set to provide

a sustainable balance of nskand reward

to ensure that, while being motivationat

for participants, maximum payments are
only made for exceptional performance

M&S’s phitosophy is to provide a fairand
consistent approach to pay Remuneration
is determined by leveland 1s broadly aligned
with those of the executive directors

Base salanes are reviewed annually and
reflect the locallabour market

AllUK employees are eligible to participate
in the Your M&S Pension Saving Plan cn

the same terms as the executive directors
Inaddition, all UK employees are provided
with Life iInsurance and employee discount,
and may choose to participate inthe
Company's all-employee share schemes
and salary sacrfice arrangements

Allemployeesare elgible tobe considered
to participate in anannual bonus scheme
which for the majonty willbe a cash-based
payment partially determined by Group
PBT performance For M&S's most senior
executives, part of the bonus 1s deferred
into shares for three years

Around the top 120 of M&S's sentor
executives may beinvited to participate
inthe PSP, measured against the same
performance conditions as executive
directors Award levels granted are
determinedto be aligned with market
practice and reflect an indvidual’s level
of senionity as well as their performance
and potential within the business

CONSIDERATION OF WIDER
WORKFORCE PAY

The Cornmittee monitors and reviews the
effectiveness of the senior remuneration
pelicy and has regard to tsimpact and
compatibility with remuneration policies
N the wider workforce

The Committee s previded throughout

the year withinformation detailling pay in
the wider workforce which gives additionat
context for the Committee to make
informed decisions The HR Director advises
the Committee of the approach which will
be adopted with the forthcoming UK pay
review and the Committee then considers
the executive directors' pay in line with
these arrangements

The HR Director consults onallexecutive
director bonus cbjectives and advises the
Cornmittee onhow, and the extent towhich,
these may be cascaded throughout the
Company Inapproving the budget for the
annual bonus, the Committee reviews all
bonus costs for the Company against the
operating plan The Committee also reviews
and approves any PSP awards madeto
executive directors and directors below

the Board prior to their grant

The Committee also receves updates ona
vanety of employee engagement initiatives
which form part of our normalemployee
engagement practices Employees were not
consulted onthe development of the policy
The annual Your Say’ employee survey

asks employees about the fairness and
reasonableness of employee pay and
benefits Any comments made through

this survey or through our network of
elected employee representatives via

our Business Invotvernent Groups are
considered The Head of Performance &
Reward annually provides these employee
representatives with an explanation of the
Company's reward principles and director
pay arrangements durng the year,and s
avallable to answer guestions at this time

CONSIDERATION OF
SHAREHOLDER VIEWS

The Committee I1s committed toan
open and transparent dialogue withits
sharehglders onthe 1ssue of executive
rermuneration Where appropriate,

the Committee will actively engage
with shareholders and shareholder
representative bodies, seeking views
which may be considered when making
any decisions about changes to the
directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Committee seeks the views of the
largest shareholders individually and
others through shareholder representative
bodies when considerning making any
significant changes to the Remuneration
Policy, this may be done annually oronan
ad hoc basis, dependent upon the issue
The Committee annually engages na
process of investor consultation, which

15 typically inwritten format, but may
bethroughface-to-face meetings etc,

if considered useful The Committee
Chairrnan 1s available to answer guestions
at the ACM and the answers to specific
guestions are posted on our website

As part of our socially responsible reporting
strategy, anannual shareholder meetingis
normally hetd and the consideration of
views on a variety of topics, including
executive pay, s takenintoaccount
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RECRUITMENT POLICY
L ]
The table below sets out the Company’s Inaddition, the Committee in excepticnal The rationale for any such component
policy on the recruitment of new executive circunstances has discretion toinclude any  would be appropriately disclosed
directors Similar consideraticns may atso other remuneration component or award For example, forinternal promotional
apply where a director 1s promaoted within whichit feels 1s appropriate, considernng appointments to the Board, the Committee
the Board the specific arcumstances of the would honour any pre-existing contractual

individual, subject tothe lmit on remunerationarrangements, these
variable remuneration set out below arrangements may be outside of the

policy detailed onpages 58 to 65

FIGURE 3: RECRUITMENT POLICY

ELEMENT RECRUMMENT POLICY
Salar - The Committee will take into consideration a number of factors, ncluding the current pay for other executive directaors,
alary external market forces, skills and current levet of pay at the previous employer, in deterrmining the pay on recrutment
- Fornew appointments to the Board, the Committee may set the rate of pay at thetower end of therate for other drectors
and/or other comparable rotes within the market with the intention of applying staged increases
Benefits - The Committee will offer a package whichis setin Line with our policy to appropriately reflect the circumstances of the indvidual
Pension = Maximum contribution i line with our policy for future executive directors (up to 20% of salary)
benefits
Annual -> ELgible to take partin the Annual Bonus Scheme with a maximum bonus of 200% of salary in ine with our policy for
Bonus executivedirectors
Scheme
PSP - Anaward of up to 300% of salary in line wath our policy for executivedirectors
Buy-out - Where anindividual forferts outstanding vanable pay oppertunities or contractual nghts at a previous employer as aresult of
y appointrment, the Committee may offer compensatory payments or buy-cut awards, dependent on the indvidual circumstances
awards of recrutment, deterrmined on a case-by-case basis
- The Committeen its )udgernent normally ntends that any such paymentsare rmade ona like-for-tike basis and considers issues
such as the plan type, tirne honizons and valuation of the forfeited awards The Committee’s ntention would be to ensure that
the expectedvalue awarded willbe no greater than the expected value forfeited by the ndividual
- Where appropriate, the Committee may chonse to apply performance conditions to any of these awards
SERVICE CONTRACTS

It 1s the Company's policy that all executive directors have rolling service contracts that can be terminated by the Company giving
12 months' notice and the employee gving sxmonths' notice The directors’ service contracts are avalable for shareholder inspection
at the Company’s registered office



TERMINATION POLICY

The Company may terminate the contract
of any executive director surmmarily in
accordance with the terms of their service
agreement, on payment in lieu of notice of
asum egual to salary, benefits and pension
as pertheir contractualnotice entitlement
(see page 75)

The Company can make a seres of phased
payments which are paid iInmonthly
instalments, subject to mitigation This
mechanism allows for the amcount of any
phased payments to be reduced by the
income from any alternative position
secured by the former directer dunng

the phased payments penod

Service agreements may be terminated
without notice and without any payments

i certain circumstances, suchas gross
misconduct The Company may require the
individual to work during their notice period,
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TERMINATION POLICY

or may choose to place the individual on
gardenleave Suchadecisionwould be
made to ensure the protection of the
Company's and sharehoclders interests
where the individual has had access to
commercially sensttive mformation

The table below sets out key provisions
for directors leaving the Company under
therr service contracts and the incentive
plan rules

The Company’s policy towards exit payments
allows for a vanety of arcumstances
whereby a director may leave the business
In some cases, where deemed suitable, the
Committee reserves the nght to determine
exit payments, where the director leaves by
mutualagreement In allcarcumstances,
the Committee does not intend to reward
failure’ and will make decisions based onthe
indvidual circumstances The Committee’s
objective1s that any such agreements are

FIGURE 4: KEY PROVISIONS UPON CONTRACT TERMINATION

determined on an individual basis and are
nthe best nterests of the Company and
shareholders at that time, and reflect the
director's contractual and other legal nghts

CORPORATE EVENTS

Inthe event of 2 change of controlor
winding-up of the Company, unvested share
awards will normally vest on the date that
the Board notifies participants of suchan
event The number of shares which may

vest under awards in these arcumstances
will be subject to any relevant performance
conditicns and, In the case of PSP awards,
unless the Committee determines
otherwise, time pro-rating

Inthe event of a demerger, special dividend
or other event which, nthe opinion of the
Committee affects the price of shares,

the Committee may allow some or all of
anaward to vest

ELEMENT TERMINATION POLICY
Salary, benefits - Payment willbe made up to the termination date in line with relevant contractuainotice penods
and pension
benefits
Annual - There s ne contractual entitlement to payments under the Annwal Bonus Scheme Should a director be under notice or not nactive
U service at either the relevant year end or on the date of payment, there willbe no entitlernent te any banus payment, either in cash
Bonus or shares The Cornmittee may use its discretion as described below to make a bonus award, which s normally pro-rated for time
Scheme worked during the relevant financial year and based on perfermance assessed at the end of the bonus penod
Lo term — Where adirector ceases to be an officer or employee of the Group before the end of the relevant vesting perod, the treatment
. ng- ,e of cutstanding awards s determined in accordance with the plan rules
incentive
awards - In some crcumstances, where a directer leaves due to retirement, imury, ill-health, death or the sale of the director’s employing

company or business cut of the Group, or any other reason at the discretion of the Committee and inaccordance with the plan rules,
DSEBP awards normally vest in full on cessation, PSP and ESOS awards which have been held for atleast 12 months normally vest
when the level of performance has been assessed and agreed at the end of the three-year performance period The Committee
may determine these awards vest upon cessation as permutted inthe plan rutes Ineither circurnstance, any relevant performance
conditions would still spply to the PSP and ESOS awards and, unless the Committee determines otherwise, would be time pro-rated
and subject to the two-year holding period post vesting

Repatriation

- Where a directer has been recruited either to the Company or the Board from overseas, the Company may pay for repatriation

Legal
expenses and
outplacement

- The Comparty may reimburse for reasonable legal fees in the event adrector leaves by mutual consent It may also pay for
professionat cutplacement services inthese circumstances
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY
|

The table below sets out our policy for the operation of non-executive directors fees and benefits at the Company

Chairman's Non-executive Additional Benefits

fees director basic fee fees
ELEMENT
PURPOSE To provide a far fee at a level To provide a far basic fee To provide compensation To facilitate the execution
AND LINK TO that attracts and retains at a rate that attracts and to non-executive directors of responsibilities and duties
STRATECY ahigh-callbre Chairman retains high-calibre taking on additional Beard required by the role

non-executive directers responsibilities

OPERATION - Total fee comprised of

the non-executive director
basic fee and the addit:onal
fee forundertaking therole

—> Padin equal monthly
instalment s, may be made
n cashand/or shares

—» Fees are determined by the
Remuneration Cormrmittee

- Feesreflect the ime
coemmitment, demands and
respansibility of the role

- Reviewed annually. taking
INto account market
prachice n appropriate
COomMparator groups,
eg majorretailers,
appropnately-sized lListed
companes, etc

CHANGE FOR 2017

— Appropriate comparator
groups may include major
retailers and similarly-
sized listed companies
which may be ranked
outside of the FTSE 25-75.

FICURE 6: RECRUITMENT POLICY

- Feesare padin equal
monthly instalments
and may be made in cash
and/or shares

- Fees are determined by
the Chairran and
executive drectors

- The fee levelrecogrises the
scope of therole and time
commitment required

—> Reviewed annually taking
intoaccount market
practice in appropriate
comparator groups
(eg majorretailers,
appropriately-sized
Usted cornparies, etc)

- The maxirnurn aggregate
non-executve director
basic fees, including the
Chairman,1s E750,000pa,
as set out nthe Company s
Articles of Association

CHANGE FOR 2017

-» Appropriate comparator
groups may include major
retailers and similarly-
sized listed companies
which may be ranked
outside of the FTSE 25-75.

- Additional fees are pag
for extra responsibiities
undertaken by
non-gxecutive directors
for therole of Board
Chairman,a comrmittee
chairman or the Senior
Independent Director role

> Inaddition to the annual
fee the Chairran may be
entitledtothe useof acar
and driver

= Inline with other
employees, the Chairman
and non-executive
directors receive employee
product discount No other
benefits are provided

= The Charmanand
non-executrve directors
donot participaten
pension or performance-
related schemes

The table below sets out the recruitment policy for non-executive directors

ELEMENT RECRUITMENT POLICY
F = The Cormm ttee takes into account a number of factors when deterrmining an appropriate fee leve! for the Chairman The CEQ
ees and executive directors determine appropriate fee levels for the non-executive directors This consideration includes the bime
commitment and responsibility of the individual role and market practice N appropriate cormparator groups
. -3 The Company may offer benefits to the Chairman and non-executive directors as detailed in the non-executive diractor policy
Benefits
table above
AGREEMENTS FOR SERVICE

Allnon-executive directors, ncluding the Chairman, have an agreement for service for aninitial three-year term, these are available for
shareholder inspactionat the Company’s registered office The Chairman has an agreement for service which requires six months' notice
by erither party Non-executive directors’ service agreements may be terminated by either party giving three months notice in lne with
the UK Corporate Governance Code, all non-executive directors are subject to annual re-election by shareholders at our AGM.

KEY CHANGES TO THE POLICY

= Fees willbe compared against major retailers and
similarly-sized listed companies which ray be
ranked outside of the FTSE 25-75 detatted nthe

Fees

previous polbicy



FIGURE 7: SUMMARY OF REMUNERATION POLICY {TO BE APPROVED ON 11 JULY 2017)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY
]

See KPIs on p18-21

The diagrarm below illustrates the balance of pay and time period of each element of the proposed remuneration policy for executive
cirectors which, If approved, will take effect after the 2017 ACM The Committee believes this mixture of short- and long-term incentives

fixed te perfarmance-related pay1s appropriate for M&S's strategy and rnisk profile

[ Year 1 | Year 2 | Year 3

' Year 4

Year5

Total pay

T
Fixed Base salary

pay Benefits

Pension benefits

Annual Up to 100% salary Up to 100% salary

Bonus 1-year performance 3-year deferrat period

Scheme Clawback provisions No further performance conditions
apply Malus provisions apply
| | |

PSP Awarded typically 250% salary

3-year performance

Malus provisions apply

1
2-year holding period post vesting

No further performance conditions

Clawback provisions apply

APPLICATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY
.}
The charts below provide anillustration of what could be recaved by each of the executive directorsin 2017/18 These charts are itlustrative
as the actual value which will ultimately be receved will depend on business performance in the year 2017/18 (for the cash elerment of the
Annual Bonus Scheme) and in the three-year period to 2019/20 (for the PSP), as wellas share price performance to the date of the vesting of
the share element of the Annual Bonus Scheme and PSP awards in 2020

FIGURE 8: REMUNERATION ILLUSTRATIONS

DIRECTORS

KEY

BASIS OF CALCULATICNS

Fixed remuneration

Includes all elements of fixed remuneration

- Basesalary {effective 1 July 2017, as shownin the table on page 67),

— Pension benefits (using the cash supplement policy on pages 58 to 59%and

- Benefits (using the value for 2016/17 included in the single higure table on page 66

Annual Bonus Scheme {ABS}

Represents the potential value of the annual bonus for 2017/18 Half of any bonus
would be deferred into shares for three years and this s ncluded n the value shown
No share price growth is assumed

PSP

PSP represents the potential value of the PSP to be awarded in 2017, which would
vest in 2020 subject to the performance against the targets disclosed on page 71
Awardswould then be held for a further two years Na share price growth s assurned

Fixed Fixed remuneration only
Novestingunder the ABS and PSP

Target includes the following assumptions
for the vesting of the ncentive
components of the package

-ABS 50% of maximurm, and

= PSP 20% of maximum

Maximum Includes the following assumpticns
for the vesting of the iIncentive
components of the package

-ABS 100% of maximum, and
- PSP 100% of maxirmum
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee annually
reviews the senior remuneration framework
and considers whether the existing incentive

arrangements remain appropnately

challenging in the context of the business
strategy, current external guidelines and
arange of internal factorsincluding the pay
arrangements and policies throughout the
rest of the organisation Inits discussions,
the Rermuneration Committee airns to

FIGURE 9: REMUNERATION STRUCTURE 2016/17

ensure that not only s the framework
strategically aligned to the delivery of
business prionties, but also that payments
made during the year fairly reflect the
performance of the business As llustrated
onpage 56,a significant proporticn of the
performance measures used in the incentive
schemes are integrated with M&S's business
objectives and key perforrmance indicators
detalled on pages 18ta 21

The diagram below Ilustrates the extent
to which each executive director achieved
the maximum opportunity under the
Company's Incentive schernes as a result
of short- and long-term performance to
the end of the reported financial year

and summarises the main elements of
the senior remuneration framework
Further details of payments made durnng
the year are set cut inthe single figure

table below (Figure 10)

See KPis on p18-21

. + + = Jotal pay
Fixed pay Annual bonus PSP for 2016/17
200% salary maximurm 250% salary awarded
Base salary bonus opportunity in 2014115
(with 50% deferral)
Measured aganst EPS, Total
Benefits M o ROCE and Revenue targets
bal easu;% agalgéfira g Achievemnent was below payments
2 sncde o l ro;:p an threshold against these range between
Pension benefits individual perrormance measures 35% and 37%
of maximum
tential
Payments made are between po
No salary increase 37% - 42% of maximum 0% of award vested
bonus opportunity
For more information see p68 For more information see p71
FIGURE 10: TOTAL SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION {audited)
Salary Benefits Total Total PSP Pension Total
bonus wvested benefits
Drector Yeor £000 £000 £600 £000 £000 £000
Steve Rowe 2016/17 809 32 599 0 202 1,642
2015/16 549 34 230 56 137 1,006
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 2006/17 546 22 459 0 137 1,164
2015/16 541 38 366 40 135 1,120
Laura Wade-Gery 201617 35 8 0 0 63 106
(to 12 Septernber 2016) 2015116 383 18 207 59 14] 808
Helen Weir 200617 590 19 496 0 148 1,253
2015/16 590 208 620 8] 148 1,566

Laura Wade-Cery left the Board on 12 September 2016 and, as such, the payments above relate to those made until that date
Further details of Laura's leaving arrangements are detailed cn page 75 of this report

As disclosed inthe 2015 report, for Helen Werr, benefits for 2015/16 also Included £188,500, the differential value in contractual pension she

forfeited to joinM&S This was pard in

12 monthly instalments

Note that the value of awards vesting in 2015/16 has beenrestated to reflect the actual value of dvidend equivalent s and share price

at the time of vesting




The fotlowing sections detall
additional disclosures regarding
each of the components set out
N the previous single figure table
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SALARY (audited)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION CCNTINUED
.

When reviewing salary levels, the
Committes takes inte account a number
of internaland external factors, ncluding
Company performance durnng the year,
externalmarket data and the salary
review principles applied to the rest

of the organisation, tcensure a
consistent approach

Asreportedintast year's report, all
exacutve directors were awarded a

salary increase of 2% for July 2016 but,

in support of the propesed new pay
arrangements being made elsewhere in
the UK organisation, they chose to decline
this increase Further, they also indicated
that should anincrease be awarded for
July 2017, they would be similarly minded
to decline that ncrease

FIGURE 11: SALARIES

The Comittee noted this intention but
for completeness, discussed the executive
directors annual salary review during the
year All executive directors were eligible to
be considered for a review and after taking
into account several factors including the
averageincreasestobeawardedtothe
wider UK workforce, the Committee
approved a 2% pay increase

Allexecutive directors have again this year
dechined ther respective pay increases
Ther next annuat review wilt be effective
inJuly 2018

The table below details the executive
directors salanesasat 1 April 2017
and salanes whichwill take effect
from 1 July 2017

Armualsaary  Annualsalary

asof asof Change

1ApriLzolz 1duly 2017 nsalary

£000 OO0 *ncrease

Steve Rowe 210 810 o]

Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 546 546 0

Helen Weir 590 590 0
BENEFITS {audited) PENSION BENEFITS {audited)

Each executrve directorreceives acaror
cashallowance andis offered the benefit
of a driver The Company also provides
each director with life assurance Executive
directors receive employee product
discount and are eligible to participate

in salary sacrifice schemes such as
Cycle2Work in Line with all other employees

FIGURE 12: PENSION BENEFITS

Executive directors currently alireceve
a 25% cash payment in lieu of participation
inan M&S pension scheme

Steve Rowe s a deferred member of the
Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme
Letails of the pensicn accrued dunng the
year ended 1 April 2017 are shown below

Accrued Increase Transfer

pension Additional inaccrued value of

entitlement value Increase value total

Norrmal asat onearly inaccraed {net of accrued

retirement yearend retirernent value inflation) pension

age £O00 EO00 £000 £000 EODQ

Steve Rowe 60 148 8] 2 0 4,301

The accrued pension entitlerment i1s the deferred pension amount that Steve Rowe would
recerveat age 60 f he left the Company on 1 Apnl 2017 All transfer values have been
calculated on the basis of actuariat adwvice in accordance with the current Transfer Value
Regulations The transfer value of the accrued entitlement represents the value of the
assets that the pensicn scherne would transfer to another pension provider ontransferring
the scheme’s Lability in respect of adirector's pension benefits It does not represent sums
payable to adirector and therefore cannot be added meaningfully to annualremuneration
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ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME 2016/17
(audited)

Annual performance for 2016/17 was
measured against Croup PET (70% of
awards) and individual performance (30% of
awards} Group PBT 1s used inthe bonus as
the Group considers this to be animportant
measure of Croup performance and

is consistent with how the business
performance s assessed internally by

the Board and Operating Committee

Individual performance was measurad
aganst both collective carporate
performance and performance aligned
withthe ndmidual’s specific areas of
responsibility Indridual perfarmance
rmeasures for the year were aligned with the
key strategic business prionties identified at
the start of the year Figure 13 provides an
overview of the key achieverments against
each executive director’s accountabilities
over the penod

Croup PBT outturn for the year was £613 8m
whichwas above the targets set to trigger
payments under both the corporate and
indvidual elements of the Scheme

As shown in Figure 14 below, this meant
that executie dwectors were awarded
279% of maximum opportunity under the
corporate element of the Scheme and on
average ¢ 70% of maximum for indwdual
performance

The Committee reviewed achieverment

1o ensure that total payments were
appropriate In the context of several factors
These included M&S's overall financial
performance, the outturn of Individual
objectives, the levelof bonus payable
elsewhere Inthe business, and success
towards Plan A targets and M&S values
which underpinned the entire Scheme
again duning the year

See Plan A Report for more detail

The Cornmittee was satisfied that each
diector continued toensure that the
delivery of Plan A commitments and the
behavioural ways of working supported
the delivery of the business prionities

Asg such, the Committee determined that
no adjustrments were required against the
underpinand that the final payments
calculated were apprepriate

FIGURE 13: KEY ACHIEVEMENTS OF INDIVIDUAL OBJECTIVES 2016/17

The Committee ensures that targets set
are the relevant drivers of required annual.
performance Conseguently, someofthe
2016/17 targets are too cornmercially
sensitive to disclose as they are not
disclosed elsewhere inthe repaort

M&S remains committed to transparent
reporting within the context of operating
na highly competitive market The
Committee will continue to assess the
commerciat sensitivity of targets wath the
aim of disclosing wherever possible, while
ensuring that any measures set are those
rmost appropriate to grow the business

Figure 14 below sets cut the Group PBT
targets comprnising 70% of awards and
illustrates the extent to which each director
achieved ther three indradual objectives
Total payments shown below directly
correspond to the figure includedinthe
single figure table onpage 66

Director Collective customer (10%) Collective strategc (10%) Localfinancial {10%)
Steve Performance impacted by reductronin
Rowe Action taken this year to promoticnal and markdown activity leading to
simplify the business ncluded below target UK LFL Clothing & Home revenue
Shftgg:e;nsatésvf:gt;\?gtover the successful organisation growthof -34% As aresult, no payment was
year impr transformationandrestructure  Made against this element
promoter Scare (NPS), which of Head Office Role reductions
Patrick was the measure for this Continued improverments in oniine sales

Bousquet-Chavanne

element of bonus, Nncreased

were made and there was no

four points for Food and for
Clothing & Horne remained
level, althoughimproved
amongst frequent customers
andmn larger stores This led
to apayment against this
measure of 75%

Helen
Weir

overallimpact cn engagement
scores for this population
Employee engagement within
the totalbusiness increased

to 81% Asaresult ofthis
performance, ncluding above
target restructure cost savings,
maximum payment was made
under this measure (10%)

conversionand successful marketing
campaigns to help drive store footfall
Target payment made as aresult of

performance against these measures

Continued to develop and strengthen a cost
controlculture Necessary investmentina
number of key business areas led to costs
increasing by 3 8%, broadly in line with plan
Target payment was achieved

FIGURE 14: ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME 2016/17

CORPORATE GROUP PBT (70%) INDIVIDUAL (30%) TOTAL PAYMENT
Target/oerformance Perfarmance Achievement

Director Min £593m Max £685m % salary £000
Steve 27.9% of max bohus 58 3% of max bonus 74.0% £599
Rowe

£613 8m
Patrick 27.9% of max bonus 75.0% of max bohus 84.0% £459
Bousguet-Chavanne

£6138m
Heien 27 9% of max bohus 75 0% of max bonus 84.0% £496
Weir

£6138m

Performance assessment key

Below Threshold Threshold = Target Target » Stretch

Above Stretch



DEFERRED SHARE BONUS PLAN
(audited)
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ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME CONTINUED
-

FIGURE 15: DSBP AWARDS MADE IN 2015/16

Currently 50% of any bonus payment

1s compulsoniy deferred into nil-cost
optionsfconditional shares These awards
vest after three years subject te continued
employment as well as malus provisions
The table opposite provides details of share
awards made during the year inrespect

of bonus payments made n 2015/16
Theface value of each award reflects hatf
of the vatue shown for 2015/16 bonus
payments in the single figure table

Asreported at the time, Laura Wade-Gery's
award vestedin fullon the date she left
the Company

ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME FOR 201718

Facevalue of

award' Endof

Basis of award £000 deferral period

Steve Rowe 50% of bonus £115 22/06/2019
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 50% of bonus £183  22/06/2019
Laura Wade-Gery 50% of bonus £104 30/08/2016
Helen Weir 50% of bonus £310 22/06/2019

1 Theface value of awards s calculated as the number of nil-cost optionsfconditional shares awarded multipledby the
average mid-rmarket share priceon the five dealing days prior to the date of grant For this year, the share price was
calculated as £3 558, being the average share price between 15 June 2016 and 21 June 2016

During the year, the Committee reviewed
the 2017/18 Scheme, considenng the drive
to continue the new strategic way forward
for M&S to grow the business It determined
that the structure of the 2016/17 Scherme
remaned appropnate and only rminer
amendments werenecessary to ensure
alignment with the delivery of the business
pricrities The 2017/18 Scherne s designed
to continue to focus on putting the
customer at the heart of the business

and driving the profitable growth of M&S
while supporting the one team strategy,

as has been described to stakeholders

Performance willagambe partially
measured against collective caorporate
performance as wellas performance in

the individual’s specific business area As in
prewvious years, indndual performance will
continue to be measuredindependently of
Creup PBT performance However, to

rmantain the important principle that below
adefined level of financial performance no
bonus will be earned, no indvidual element
can be earned unless a threshold'level of
Group PBT has been achreved

As shown below, 70% of awards willonce
again be measured against Group PBT
under the corporate element The remaning
30% of the bonus will be measured against
indivdual objectives and willbe a mixture of
collective objectives and measures bespoke
to each director The individual element of
the Scheme will comprise three equally
weighted chjectves identified as those key
priorities reguired to support the gelivery of
the strategy These will focus on LFL sales
growthimprovement, delivering financial
efficiencies, enhancing our customer
experience and satisfacticn and building on
the benefits of the custemer loyalty Sparks
programme and our Plan A nitiatives

FIGURE 16: ANNUAL BONUS SCHEME TARGETS 2017/18

The bonus performance targets for 2017/18
are deemed by the Board to be too
commercially sensitive to disclose at

this time but, where possibie, willbe
disclosedinnext year's report

The Committee will continue to judge
overall perforrmance against our ecclogical,
ethicaland behavioural achievements to
ensure consistency with M&S's values and
behaviours Success towards Plan A targets
and the M&S values, which allemployees
ncluding executive directors are required
to uphold, will underpin the entire Scheme
The Cormmittee, Inits absolute discretion,
rmay use Its judgement to adjust overall
final payments accordingly Whereany
adjustrments are made, these will be fully
disclosed innext year's report

CORPORATE TARGETS INDIVIDUAL OBJECTIVES
GROUP PBT Customer Financial Strategic
Director % bonus % bonus % baonus %bonus  Measure
Steve 70% 10% 10% 10% Custormner satisfaction
Rowe TotalUKLFL sales
Strength of leadership succession
Patrick 70% 10% 10% 10% Customer satisfaction
Bousquet-Chavanne Sparks
Plan A
Helen 70% 10% 10% 10% Customer satisfaction
Weir UK store estate
Cost efficiencies
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PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP)

The Committee believes that long-term
share awards reward executives for the
delivery of long-term business goals and
50 makes annual awards under the PSP to
incentivise executive directors and M&S's
most senior Mmanagers

PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2016/17 (audited)

Aswas cthsclosed last year, PSP awards made
for 2016/17 were granted in December 2016
shortly after the announcement of the
Interim results This was toensure that

the measures and targets were algned

to the long-term strategic business plan
developed by Steve Rowe and his leadership
team Aswe commuricated to shareholders
dunng this pernod of review, the strategy to
create a simpler, meore sustainable business,
with the customer at its heart, and operating
as one team willrequire several actions

These actions will lead to reduced profits in
the short term but will deliver a stronger,
mere sustainable busness in the longer
term These:include an nvestrment N pricing
in the Clothing &Home business toensure
market competitivenass, reshaping the

UK store estate and restructuring the
Internaticnalbusiness The revised financial
plan also tock account of the significant
currency mpact which has arisen since the
EU Referendum, which will adversely impact
prefits Inapproving targets, the Committee
also considered the consensus forecasts for
the three financial years over which the Plan
would operate

As shown inFigure 17 below, performance
for these awards 1s measured against EPS,
ROCE and cumulative free cash flow

Each performance condition s measured
independently over the three-year perod

FIGURE 17: PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS FOR PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2016/17

The balance of measures has been
designed to drive the profitable, efficient
growth of M&S while also focusing on
providing returns to shareholders

The Cornmittee believes that the targets
set forthe 2016/17 PSP award are very
stretching inthe current environment and
achievernent of these levels of performance
IN 2018/19 would drive substantial value for
shareholders The changes made are felt
necessary to provide suffroent realignment
with the new strategic financial plan to
ensure the PSP supports and drives the
desired business performance Consistent
with previous years, for achievement of
threshold performance, 20% of the relevant
portion of the award wilk vest Increasing

0 100% on a straight-line basis between
the achievernent of threshold and
maximum performance

Average ROCE Curnulative free

Adjusted EPS (2016/17 - 2018/19) cash flow

in 2018/19 (%) (2016417 - 2018/19)'+

216017 Awrard 50% of award 20%of award 30% of award
Threshold performance 289p 130% £1,350m
Maximum performance 358p 16 0% £1,650m

I EBachmeasure isdefinedinthe glossary on pages 133and 134

2 Predividends and shareholder returns

Figure 18 below summarnses the award made to each of the executive directors in December 2016 The maximum award permitted under
the Plan s 300% of salary although the Committee typically makes awards of 250% of salary to executive directors For 2016/17 awards of
225% of salary were awarded to all executive directors In approving this award level, the Committee noted that award levels for executives
have typically been 250% of salary Upon discussion, the Committee decided that, in recognition of the rebased financial planand
asscclated PSP perforrmance measures, lower awards were appropnate for thius particular grant onty

Inline with the Remuneration Policy, awards to executive directors will vest on 5 December 2019, three years after the date of grant, tothe
extent that the performance conditions are met

FIGURE 18: PSP AWARDS MADE IN 2016/17

Facevalue Endof

aof awarg performance

Basis of award 1000 pernod

Steve Rowe 225% of salary £1823 05/12/2019
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 225% of salary £1,229 05/12/2019
Helen Weir 225% of salary £1328 05/12/2019

When calculating the face value of awards to be granted, the number of nil-cost options/conditional shares awarded i1s multiplied by the
average mid-market share pnce on the five dealing days prior to the date of grant For this year, the share price was calculated as £3 28,
being the average share price hetween 28 November 2016 and 2 December 2016
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PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP) CONTINUED
I
FIGURE 19: PSP AWARDS VESTING IN 2016/17 (audited)

For directors inreceipt of PSP awards granted in 2014, the awards will vest in June 2017 based on three-year performance over the period to
1 April 2017 Performance has been assessed and tt has been determined that the award will Lapse i full.

Details of performance against the specific targets set are shown in the table below The total vesting values shown in Figure 20 directty
correspond to the figure ncluded in the single figure table onpage 66

2016/17 Revenue (£)

Annualised
adjustedEPS Average
growth ROCE
(%) (%) UK! Multi-charnnel International*
2014/15 Award 50% of award 20% of award 10% of award 10% of award 10% of award Total vesting
Threshold performance 50% 150% £8500m £1,100m £1,400m
Maximum performance 120% 16 5% £9,600m £1,300m £1,800m
Actual performance achieved -19% 14 5% £8,530m £957m £1,134m
Percentage of maximum achieved 0 0 0 0 0 0.0%
1 Exciuding multi-channel
2 Net of VAT/gross of returns
3 Excluding multi-channei/including Republic of Ireland
FIGURE 20: VESTING VALUE OF AWARDS VESTING IN 2016/17
Ongrant At theend of performance perod
Number of % of Numper of Number of Total vesting
shares granted salary granted shares vesting shares lapsing value
Steve Rowe 300,343 250% Q 300,343 £0
Patrick Bousguet-Chavanne 300,343 250% o] 300,343 £0
LauraWade-Cery 315,789 250% 0 315,789 £0
Helen Weir - - - - £0

PSP AWARDS TO BE MADE IN 2017/18

During the year, the Committee reviewed
the long-term incentive framework at
M&S, assessing the extent to which it
remained appropriate

As part of these discussions, the Comnmittee
deliberated on a number of possible
structures including those ocutlined inthe
Investment Associatiorys Executive
Remuneration Working Croup report. After
extensive considerabion it was decided that
the current structural arrangerments remain
those most appropriate to support the
delivery of the necessary development

and performance in M&S That said, the
Committee determined that during this
penod, the business must continue to
ensure afocus onreturns to shareholders
As such, relative Total Shareholder Return
(TSR) will for this year form one-third of PSP

awards, although the Committee believes
that,in future years, other strategic or
non-financial measures may be more
approprate andwill consider this for
future grants

Relative TSR will be measured against a
bespoke group of 15 companies taken from
the FTSE 350 Generaland Food & Drug
Retalersindices and are believed to be
appropriately aligned to M&S's business
operations to reflect the value of
shareholder iInvestment in M&S gver the
performance period (see Figure 22 for
details of these companies)

Theremainder of the award will be
measured equally against EPS and ROCE
The balance of measures has been designed
tc ensure an appropriate focus cn all three
performance metrics

FIGURE 21: PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS FOR PSP AWARDS TO BE MADE IN 2017/18

As noted cnthe previcus page, recognising
last year s rebased financial planand
associated PSP performance targets, the
Remuneration Committee reduced the
2016/2017 awards to 225% of salary from

the typical level of 250% However, the
Committeeis mindful of the needto
strongly incentivise the CEO and
rmanagement team to delver the agreed
strategy Inlight of this,and giventhat EPS
targets arereturning to a growth trajectory,
the Committee has determined that awards
1N 2017 should revert to the previous normal
level of 250% of salary

Performance will be measured as shown in
Figure 21 below, with 20% of awards vesting
for threshold performance and 100% for
maximum [nline with the new policy,
awards will vest three years after the date

of grant, and must then be held fora further
two years

Average ROCE
Adjusted EPS (201718 -2019/20)
N 2019/20 (%) Relative TSR
2017/18 Award /3 of award 1/3 of award 1/3 of award
Threshold performance 317p 130% Medhan
Maximum performance 387p 170% Upper quartile
FIGURE 22: TSR COMPARATOR GROUP 2017/18 AWARD
J Sainsbury B&MFEuropean Kingfisher
Wrn Morrisons Debenhams N Brown Croup
Tescoe Dixons Carphone Next
Qcado Group Dunelm Group Sports Direct International
ASOS JD Sports Fashion WHSmMith
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION
L |
FIGURE 23: DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS (audited)

The table below sets out the totat number of shares held at 1 Apnl 2017 or date of retirement from the Board by each executive director
serving on the Board during the year Shares owned outrnight include those held by connected persens

There have been no changesn the current directers’ interests in shares or options granted by the Company and its subsicharies between the
end of the financial year and 23 May 2017 No director had an interest n any of the Company's subsidianies at the statutory end of the year

Unvested

With Without

performance performance

canditions conditions
Shares owned Performance Deferred Share Vested but
outright Share Plan BorusPlan  unexercisedshares
Steve Rowe 253,408 116,809 91,932 6]
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 123,008 930,790 71,661 0
Laura Wade-Gery (at 12 September 2016) 172955 340,460 49096 125,836
Helen Weir 50,000 681,252 87057 Q

FIGURE 24: SHAREHOLDING REQUIREMENTS (audited)

All executive directors are required to hold shares equivalent in value toa mimimum percentage of therr salary within a five-year period from
therr appaintment date For the CEQ, thisrequirement 1s 250% of salary and for other executive directors the requirement 1s 150% of salary
Sirmilar guidelines of 100% of salary alsc apply to directors below board level

The chart below shows the extent to which each executive director has met their target shareholding as at 1 April 2017 For Steve Rowe,
his 250% shareholding requirement 1s measured from the date he was apponted CEQ

For the purpeses of the requirements, the net number of unvested share awards not subject to performance condibions s ncluded and s
reflected inthe chart below The Committee s satisfied that the current level of shareholding requirement provides an appropriate level of
nvestment in M&S for each director The Committee will continue to keep this issue under review and willamend accordingly if necessary

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES

ALL-EMPLCYEE SHARE SCHEMES

(audited) DILUTION OF SHARE CAPITAL BY EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS

Executive directors may participate inboth Awards granted under the Company's under these schemes and ther impact on
ShareSave, the Company’s Save AsYou Earn  Save As YouEarn Schemeand the ditution imits The Company’s usage of
Scheme, and ShareBuy, the Company's Executive Share Option Scheme are shares compared to the dilution limit s set
Share Incentive Plan, on the same basis as met by the issue of new shares when by The Investment Associationinrespect of
all other eligible employees Further details the options are exercised all share plans (10% in any roling ten-year
of the schemes are set out innecte 13 to the penod) and executive share plans (5% inany

Allother share plans are currently met by
rmarket purchase shares The Company
maonitors the number of sharesissued

financial staternents onpages 112 and 113 roling ten-year pencd) as at 1 Aprl 2017

was as foliows

FIGURE 25: ALL SHARE PLANS FIGURE 26: EXECUTIVE SHARE PLANS
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION CONTINUED
L
FIGURE 27: EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY’S SHARE SCHEMES (audited)

Maximum
recenable at
Maxirmium Awarded Exercised Lapsed 1 Apnil 2017
recelvable at during during during {or date of
ZApnL 2016 the year the year the year retirement)
Steve Rowe
Performance Share Plan 861512 555,640 14416 285927 1,116,809
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 110013 32,376 50,457 0 91932
SAYE 2,222 3,461 0 0 5683
Totat 973,747 591,477 64,873 285,927 1,214,424
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne
Performance Share Plan 772669 374,542 10,388 206,033 930,790
Deferred Share Benus Plan 46,448 51,408 26,195 0 71,661
SAYE 2,222 o] 0 0 2,222
Total 821,339 425,950 36,583 206,033 1,004,673
Laura Wade-Gery
Performance Share Plan 97582 0] 0 542 412 375,170
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 111,064 29,158 0 Q 140,222
Total 1,028,646 29,158 4] 542,412 515,392
Helen Weir
Performance Share Plan 276527 404725 [¢) 0 681,252
Deferred Share Bonus Plan &) 87057 C 0 87057
SAYE 2,083 3,461 o] 2,083 3,461
Total 278,610 495,243 ] 2,083 771,770

The aggregate gains of directors ansing in the year from the exercise of awards granted under the PSP and DSBP totalled £303,435
The market price of the shares at the end of the financial year was 3370p, the highest and lowest share price during the financial year
were 446 1pand 285 2p respectively

Laura Wade-Cery retired from the Board on 12 Septermber 2016 and teft the Company on 30 September 2016 Detalls of her leaving
arrangements are set out onpage 75 Her outstanding Performance Share Plan awards were pro-rated for time held on leaving
For transparency, these lapses are shownin the 'lapsed dunng the year' column

Figure 28 shows the bime horizens for each of the executive director's cutstanding discretionary share awards (1e those granted under the
Performance Share Plan, the Deferred Share Bonus Plan and, if it had been applicable, the Restricted Share Plan) As detalled earlier in this
report, the 2014 PSP awards included within the totals shownin Figure 27 will lapse in full on their respective vesting dates This has been
reflected below in the 2017/18 column to provide an accurate and transparent overview of directors interests in discretionary share awards

FIGURE 28: VESTING SCHEDULE OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' OUTSTANDING DISCRETIONARY SHARE AWARDS

Maximurn recenvable at Maximurm recenable in
1 Aprit2017
(alldrscretionary schemes) 2718 2018/19 2019/20
Steve Rowe 1,208,741 (300,343) 320,382 588,016
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 1,002,451 (300,343) 276,158 425950
Helen Werr 768,309 0 276,527 491,782
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION CONTINUED
. _______________________________________|
FIGURE 29: PERFORMANCE AND CEQ REMUNERATION COMPARISON

This graph llustrates the Company’s performance against the FTSE 100 over the past eight years The FTSE 100 has been chosenas the
appropriate comparator as M&S 1s a constituent of this Index The calculation of TSRis In accordance with the relevant remuneration
regulations The table below the TSR chart sets out the remuneration data for directors undertaking the role of CEO during each of the

last eight financial years

CEO'
CEO single figure of Steve Rowe - - - - - - - 1642
remuneration (E0CO) Marc Bolland - 5998 3324 2142 1568 2,095 2015 _
Stuart Rose 4,294 269 - - - - - _
Annualbonuspayment  Steve Rowe - - - - - - - 3698%
(% of maximum) Marc Bolland - 4580%  3400%  4250% C00%  3055% 3190% _
Stuart Rose S700% 5740% - - - - - _
PSP vesting Steve Rowe - - - - - - - 000%
(% of maximurm) Marc Bolland - - 3196% D00% 760% 470% 4 80% _
Stuart Rose 000% O 00% - - - - - -

I Marc Bolland was appanted CEQ on 1 May 2010 His single frgure for 2310711 ncludes recrutment awards made to him at that time to compensate him forincentive awards forfeited on
cassation from his previous employer Stuart Rose undertook therale of CEO fram 21 May 2004 to 30 Apri 2010

FIGURE 30: PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN CEQ'S REMUNERATION

The table opposite sets out the change
inthe CEQ's remuneration (e salary,
taxable benefits and annual bonus)
compared with the change in our UK-based
employees This group has been chosenas
the majority of our warkforce 1s UK-based
The CEO comparisonis Steve Rowe (for
2016/17)to Marc Bolland (for 2015/16)

The percentage changes for UK employees
15 a consequence of organisabional
transformation, Including reduction in
senior management roles and the business
investrent in store staffing levels

% chrange 2015/16- 2016/17

Base salary Benefits Annualbenus
CEO -169 -14 -36
UK employees (average per FTE) -1 -120 87

FIGURE 31: RELATIVE IMPORTANCE QF SPEND ON PAY

The table opposite illustrates the
Company’s expenditure on pay in
comparison to profits before taxand
distribubions to shareholders by way of
dividend payments and share buyback

Total employee pay is the total pay for

all Group employees Group profit before
tax and adjusted iterns has been usedas a
companson as thisis the key financial metric
which the Board considers when assessing
Company performance

7015/16 201617
£m £m % change

Totalemployee pay 14867 1,552.6 44
Totalreturns to shareholders! 4517 3775 -164
Profit before tax and adjusted iterns 6841 613.8 -103

1 Totalreturns to shareholders for 2015/16 includes distribution to shareholders via share buyback For 2016/17,this figure s
nclusive of specialdividend
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION CONTINUED
.

FIGURE 32: SERVICE AGREEMENTS

In line wath our policy, directors have rolung
contracts which may be terminated by the
Company giving 12 months notice or the
director giving six months nectice

Dateof

appontrment Notice periad/unexpired term
Steve Rowe 02/04/2016 12 months/6 months
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne 10/07/2013 12 months/6 months
Helen Weir 01/04/2015 12 months/6 months

EXECUTIVE CHANGES TO THE BOARD DURING 2016/17

DIRECTORS APPOINTED TO THE BOARD
There were no directors appointed to the
Board during the year

PAYMENTS FOR THE LOSS OF OFFICE
{audited)

Laura Wade-Gery stepped down fromthe
Board on 12 Septemiber 2016 and left M&S
on 30 September 2016 Remuneration terms
on leaving were inLIne with the approved
Remuneration Policy As was reported at
the time, Laura receved monthly payments
of eight months' salary and benefits, which
were subject tomitigation Her unvested
nil-cost opticns granted under the
Deferred Share Bonus Plan vested infull
ontermination Unvested nil-cost options

FIGURE 33: EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

awarded under the PSP were time pro-rated
and will vest, subject to performance
conditions onawait and see basis at the
normal vesting date

Asreported earberin this report, PSP awards
made n 2014 willtapse in fultin June 2017
Laura has one further unvested PSP award,
granted in 2015 This will vest next year, to
the extent that performance conditions
have been made and will be reported as
appropriate nnext year's report

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS
{audited)

Marc Bolland retired from the Board on
2 April 2016 In ine with hus contractual
arrangements, Marc received salary,

benefits and pension benefits until the

end of hus notice pericd on 7 January 2017
Per the approved Remuneration Policy,

any unvested nil-cost options awarded to
Marc Bolland under the Deferred Share
Bonus Planvested in full on leaving and may
be exercised n accordance with the Plan
rules He had two outstanding PSP awards
onleaving, granted in June 2014 and July
2015 which were pro-rated for time held
Asreported on page 71 of this report, the
2014 award will lapse in fullin June 2017 as
performance conditions have not been met
Performance for the 2015 award and any
subsequent shares which will vest will be
disclosed innext years report

The Company recognises that executive
directors may be invited to become
non-executive cirectors of other companies
and that these appointments can broaden
ther knowledge and experience te the
benefit of the Company The policy s for

the iIndvidual director to retain any fee

The table opposite sets out the details for
these fees earned for the period 3 April 2016
to 1 ApriL 2017

Fees for Laura Wade-Cery's appointment
at Brnitish Land Company are reported until
12 September 2016, the date she left the
M&S Board

Fees for Helen Werr's appointment at
SABMiller are to 7 October 2016, the date
at which the company was acquired by
Anheuser-Busch inBev

Fee

Dwractor Company 000
Patrick Bousquet-Chavanne Brown-Forman $283
Laura Wade-Gery (to 12 September 2016) 8nitish Land Company £30
SABMiller £61
Helen Weir Rugby Foctball Union £31

OUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION
. ___________________________________________________|
FIGURE 34: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ TOTAL SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION (audited)

Non-executive directors receive fees

reﬂechng thetime commitrment, Basic fees Additional fees Benefits Totat
demands andresponsibilities of the Oirector Year £o0o £o00 £oco £000
fo*zzh‘iﬁab@ OPPOS'tte deéa'lﬁ tthe f$95 Robert Swannell  2016/17 70 380 21 an
paid to the non-executive directors for
2016/17 and 2015/16 2015/16 70 380 20 470
Vindi Banga 201617 70 30 [ 100
Inrecognition and support of the propcased
new pay arrangements which were made - —— 201516 70 30 0 100
in the UK orgarisation during the year, the Alison Brittain 2016/17 70 0 G 70
Chairman and the non-executive directors 2015/16 70 0 0 70
declined to accept any increase intheir fees Miranda Curtis 201617 70 o 0 70
2015/16 70 8] O 70
Andrew Fisher 2016417 70 4] 0 70
2015/16 23 0 o 23
Andy Halford 2016/17 70 15 0 85
2015/16 70 15 o] 85
Richard Solomons  2016/17 70 0 0 70
2015/16 68 8] 0 68
FIGURE 35: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS (audited)
The non-executive directors are not The table opposite details the shareholding Durector Number of shares netd
permitted to participate inany of the of the non-executive directors who Robert Swannell 169,298
Company’s Incentive arrangements served on the Board during the year as at Vindi Banga 93.700
Allnon-executive directers are reguired 1 Apnl 2017 {or upon their date of retinng Ali Brittai
to buld and maintain a shareholding of from the Board) ncluding those held by 'son "tta"_‘ 5096
at least 2,000 shares In the Company connected persons Miranda Curtis 5,500
?gttr;:g tB\gc;rrgonths of thewr appontment There have beenno changes in the current Andrew Fisher 3536
non-executive directors nterestsin shares Andy Halford 21,000
inthe Company and its subsidiaries Richard Solomons 5,000

betweenthe end of the financial year
and 23 May 2017

FIGURE 36: NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' AGREEMENTS FOR SERVICE

Non-executive directors have an agreement
for service for an initial three-year term
which canbe terminated by either party
giving three months’ notice (six months’

for the Chairman)

The table opposite sets out these terms
for all current members of the Board

Director Date of appointment Notswce period/unexpiredterm
Robert Swannell 23/08/2010 B months/3 months
Vindi Banga 01/09/20N 3 months/3 menths
Alison Brittain 01/01/2014 3months/3 menths
Miranda Curtis 01/02/2012 3 months/3 months
Andrew Fisher 01/12/2015 3 months/3 months
Andy Halford 01/01/2013 3 months/3 months
Richard Solomons 13/04/2015 3 months/3 months

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS CHANGES TO THE BOARD DURING 2016/17

DIRECTORS APPOINTED TO THE BOARD
There were no changes to the Board during
the year

DIRECTORS RETIRING FROM THE BOARD
Nodirectors retired from the Board during
the year

CHANGES TO THE BOARD DURING 2017/18
Rebert Swannell willretire from the

Board on 1 September 2017 Therewillbe

no payrments for loss of office payable

to Robert

Miranda Curtis willretire from the Board on
1 February 2018 There wil. be no payments
for loss of office payable to Miranda

Archie Norman will join the Board as
Charmancn 1 September 2017, upon
Robert Swannell's retirement from the
business in tine with the policy set out on
page 64, Archie will receive the standard
non-executive director fee plus an
additicnal fee as the Board Chairman
Archie’s total annual fee will be £600,000




REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REMIT

The role of the Remuneration Committee
1s tomake recommendations regarding
the senior reruneration strategy and
framework to the Board to ensure

the executive directors and senior
management are approprately rewarded
for therr contribution tothe Company's
performance, taking nto account the
financial and commercial positicn of

the Company

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

- Setting a strategy that ensures the
most talented leaders arerecrutted,
retained and motivated to deliver results

- Reviewing the effectiveness of the senior
remuneration framework with regard to
its impact

- Consicering the appropriateness of
the senigr remuneration framework
when reviewed against arrangements
throughout the rest of the organisation

-> Determining the terms of employment
and remuneration for executive
directors and senicr managers,
including recruitrment and termination
arrangements.

- Approving the design, targets and
payments for allannual incentive
schemes that include executive
directors and senior managers.

- Agreeing the design, targets and annual
awards made for all share incentive plans
requiring shareholder approval

- Assessing the appropriateness
and subsequent achieverment of
performance targets relating to
any share incentive plan

Irtine withits remit, the Committee
considered a number of key matters
during the year
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

REMUNERATICN COMMITTEE AGENDA
FOR 2016/17

RECULAR ITEMS

Pay arrangements

= Annual review of all executive directors’
and senior managers base salanes and
benefits inine with Company policies
and approval of any salary increase

- Review of and agreement to,
remuneration packages for new
SENIOr Managers

Annual Bonus Scheme (ABS)
- Review of achievernent of ABS
Croup PBT against targets

- Review of achievement of executive
directers indmdual objectives for
201617

- Review of the structural design,
rmeasures and approach to targets
forthe 2017/18 ABS

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

- Review and approval of all awards made
under the PSP, taking into account the
total value of all awards made under
this plan

-» Half vear and year end review of all
plan performance aganst targets

= Approvalof the vesting level of the
2014/15 PSP awards

= Approval of the measures and targets
for the 2016/17 and 2017/18 PSP awards

- Consideration of the approachtobe
taken for the 2017/18 PSP awards

- Clear articulation of the Committee’s
reasoning and consideration for
vesting and payment levels to
executive directors

- Consideration and debate of the senior
remuneration framework in the context
of external guidance and views on
long-term incentives for the future

FIGURE 37. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The following ndependent non-executive directors were members

of the Committee during 2016/17

MEMBER MAXIMUM NUMBER OF % OF

SINCE POSSIBLE MEETINGS MEETINGS
MEMEBER MEETINGS ATTENDED ATTENDED
Vindi Banga 1 September 2011 8 8 100
{Chairman)
Robert Swannell 1 March 2015 8 8 100
Miranda Curtis 1 February 2012 8 8 100
Richard Solomons 21 July 2015 8 8 100

Governance and external market

- Approval of the Directors' Remuneration
Report for 2016/17 and review of the
AGM voting outcome for the 2015/16
Report

- Review of Commmittee performance
N 201617

- Review of Committee Terms of
Reference

- Significant consideration of institutional
investors' current guidelines on
executive compensation

- Consideration of external market
developments and best practice
N remuneration

- Assessment of the external
envircnment surrouncing the
Company's current remuneration
arrangements

- Consideration of remuneration
arrangerments for the wider workforce

Note: The full Terms of Reference
for the Committee can be found

on the Company's website at
marksandspencercom/thecompany.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ACTION
PLAN 2017/18

- Ensure the continued strategic
alignment of the directors’ incentive
arrangements

- Debate and agree the appropriateneass
of the senior remuneration framework
N the context of the rest of the
crganisation and external governance

- Ensure aformal annual review of the
wider workforce reward framework

- Review the effectiveness and
transparency of remuneration reporting

OUR BUSINESS

QUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE CONTINUED
. _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________]

COMMITTEE ADVISERS

In carrying out its responsibilities, the
Committee s independently advised by
external advisers The Committee was
advised by PwC dunng the year PwCis
afounding member of the Remuneration
Consultants Group and voluntanly operates
under the code of conduct inrelaticn to
axecutive remuneration consuloing inthe
UK The code of conduct can be found at
remunerationconsultantsgroup.com,

The Commuttee has not explicitly
considered the ndependence of the advice
it receives, although it regutarly reflects

on the quality and objectivity of this advice
The Commuttee is satisfied that any conflucts
are appropriately managed

PwC was appointed by the Committee as
its ndependent advisers in 2014 following
arigerous and competitive tender process
PwC provides independent commentary
on matters under consideration by the
Committee and updates on legislative
requirements, best practice and market
practice PwC's fees are typcally charged on
an hourly basis with costs for work agreed
inadvance During the year, PwC charged
£116,200 for Remuneration Committee
matters Thisis based onanagreed fee for
business as usual support with additicnal
work charged at hourly rates PwC has
provided tax, consultancy and risk
consulting services to the Croup inthe
financial year

The Cormnmittee alsc seeks internal
support from the CEQ, Croup Secretary,
HR Director and Head of Performance &
Reward as necessary Allmay attendthe
Committee meetings by mvitation but are
not present for any discussions that relate
directiy to theirr ownremuneration

The Committee also reviews externalsurvey
and bespoke benchmarking data including
that publshed by New Bridge Street (the
trading name of Aon Hewitt Limited),

KPMG, PwC and Willis Towers Watson

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Committee s committed to ensuring
that executive pay remains competitive,
appropriate and farin the context of the
external market, Company performance
and the pay arrangements of the wider
workforce In collaboration waththe

Head of Performance & Reward, the
Committee gives employees, through
employee representatives, the cpportunity
toraise questions or concerns regarding the
remuneration of the executive directors
During the year, employee representatives
were given the opportunity to discuss in
detall the directors’ pay arrangements
Details of the directors’ pay arrangements
were discussed in the context of the

reward framework for the rest of the
organisation and external factors,

no concerns were raised

FIGURE 38: VOTING QUTCOMES FOR 2015/16 REMUNERATION REPORT

SHAREHOLDER CONSULTATION

The Commutteels committedtoca
continuous, open and transparent
dialogue with shareholders on the issue of
executive remuneration The Committee
was represented at the Company's annual
Governance Event, held in June 2016, at
which major institutional investors and
representative bodies were provided with
the opportunity to review and debate
remuneration with the Committee
Chairman, vindi Banga

SHAREHOLDER SUPPORT FOR
THE 2015/16 DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION REPORT

At the Annuat General Meeting on

12 July 2016, 98 02% of shareholders
voted infavour of approving the Directors’
Remuneration Report for 2015/16 The
Committee believes this illustrates the
strong level of shareholder support for
the senior remuneration framework

The tabie below shows full details of the
voting cutcomes for the 2015/16 Directors’
Remuneration Report

votes for % Votes for

Votes against % Votes against Votes withheld

Remuneration Report

986,080,026 98 02

19,885,063 198 1,979,099

FIGURE 39: VOTING QUTCOMES FOR REMUNERATION POLICY (for 2013/14 when the policy was approved)

Votes for % Votes for

Voltesaganst % votesagainst Votes withheld

Remuneration Policy

1,012,469,256 98 27

17,840,854 173 9,040,797

APPROVED BY THE BOARD

VINDI BANGA CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNFRATION COMMITTEE

London, 23 May 2017

This Remuneration Policy and these remunaration report s have been prepared in accordance with the relevant provision of the Companies Act 2006 and on the basis prescribedinthe
Large and Medurn-sized Cornpanes and Groups (Account s and RepeortsH{Amendrment ) Regulations 2013 ('the Regulations’) Where required, data has been audited by Delaitte

andthis is ndicated appropriately
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OTHER

DISCLOSURES

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Marks and Spencer Croup plc (the
‘Cormpany”)1s the holding company of the
Marks & Spencer Greup of companies (the
*Croup”) With our nch hertage, M&S1s one
of the most recognisable brands in the UK
retait sector andis regularly voted as one
of its most trusted Our business 1s driven
by adesire to inspire and innovate, toact
with mtegnty and to stay in touch with our
customers, shareholders and employees
alike These are our corporate values and
they underpineverything we do Theyare
what make the M&S difference across the
55 territones inwhich we operate

The Directors’ Report {(whichis alsothe
Management Report for the purpose of
Disclosure and Transparency Rute (DTR)

41 8R) for the year ended 1 April 2017,
comprises pages 34toc 83andpages 135to
136 of this report, fogether with the sections
of the Annual Report incorporated by
reference. As permitted by legislation,
some of the matters required to be included
in the Directors’ Report have instead been
included I the Strateqic Report on pages 2
10 33, as the Board considers them to be of
strategic importance Specifically, these are

- Future business developments
(throughout the Strategic Report).

- Research and development on p12-17.
- Risk management on p30-33.

- Details of branches operated by
the Company on p23-24.

Information relating to financizl nstruments
canbefoundonpages 118to 123

Forinformation on our approach to social,
environmentaland ethical matters, please
refer to our Plan A Report, available online
at marksandspencer.com/plana2017

Other nformation to be disclosed in the
Directors Reportis given inthis section

Boththe Strategic Report and the Directors
Report have been drawn up and presented
inaccordance with and in relliance upon
applicable English company law, and the
liabilities of the directors in connection

with those reports shall be subject tothe
limitations and restrictions provided by
such law

INFORMATION TO BE
DISCLOSED UNDER LR 9.8.4R

Page

ListingRule Detail reference
984R{(13(2}

(5-14) (A) (B} Not applicable N/A

984R(4) 56-65

Long-term and

incentive schemes 59-71

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The membership of the Board and
biographical details of the directors

are given on pages 35and 37 and are
incorporated inte this report by reference
Changes to the directors dunng the year
and up to the date of this report are set out
below Details of directors beneficialand
non-beneficialinterests inthe shares of the
Company are shownonpages 73and 76
Options granted to directors under the
Save As You Earn {SAYE) and Executive
Share Cption Schemes are shown on

page 73 Further information regarding
employee share opticn schemes is given
innote 13 to the financial statements

Fffactive date of
appointment/

Name Role retirement
Laura Executive Retired
Wade- Director, 12 September
Gery Multi-channel 2016
Retiring
Robert 1 September
Swannell Chairran 2017
Retiring
Miranda Non-Executive 1 February
Curtis Director 2018
Proposed Appointment
Effective
Archie 1 September
Norman Charman 207

The appointrnent and replacement of
directorsis governed by the Company’s
Articles of Assaciation (the "Articles”), the UK
Corporate Covernance Code {the "Code’),
the Companies Act 2006 andrelated
legislation The Articles may be amended by
aspecalresolution of the shareholders
Subject to the Articles, the Compantes Act
2006 and any directicns given by special
resolution, the business of the Company
witl be managed by the Board who may
exercise all the powers of the Company

The Company may, by ordinary resclution,
declare dividends not exceeding the
amount recommended by the Board
Subject to the Comparies Act 2006, the

Board may pay intenim dividends and
atso any fixed rate dividend, whenever the
financial position of the Company, in the
opinion of the Board, justifies its payment

The directors may from time to time
appoint one or more directors The Board
may appoint any personto be a director
{sclong as the total number of directors
does not exceed the lmit prescribedin
the Articles) Under the Articles, any such
director shall hold office only untiLthe
next ACM and shall then be eligible for
election The current Articles also reguire
that at each AGM at least one-third of the
current directors should retire as directors
oy rotation, alLthose directors who have
beeninoffice at the time of the two previcus
ACMs and who did not retire at erither of
themmust retire In addition, a directer may
at any ACM retire from office and stand for
re-electicn However, inine with the Code
and the Company's current practice, the
proposed new Articles will require all
directors to stand for annual election
{seeresoiution 24) All current directors will
stand forre-election at the 2017 ACM

DIRECTORS' CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Company has procedures in place for
managing conflicts of interest Should a
director become aware that they, orany
of therr connected parties, have aninterest
Inan existing or proposed transaction
with Marks & Spencer, they should notify
the Board in writing or at the next Board
meeting Internal controls areinplace to
ensure that any related party transactions
involving directors, or their connected
parties, are conducted onanarm’slength
basis Directors have a continuing duty to
update any changes to these conflicts

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The Company maintains directors’ and
officers liability iInsurance which gives
appropriate cover for legal action brought
against its directors The Company has alsc
granted indemnities to each of its directors
and the Croup Secretary to the extent
permitted by law, Qualifying third party
indermnnity provisions (as defined by Section
234 of the Companies Act 2006) were in
force during the year ended 1 April 2017
and remainin force inrelation to certain
losses and liabilties which the directors

{or Group Secretary) may incur to third
parties inthe course of acting as directors
or Group Secretary or employees of the
Company or of any associated company.

OUR BUSINESS
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Qualifying pension scherne mdemnity
provisions (as defined by Section 235 of the
Companies Act 2006) were In force during
the course of the financial year ended 1 April
2017 for the benefit of the Trustees of the
Marks & Spencer Pension Scherne, both
nthe UK and the Republic of Ireland

PROFIT AND DIVIDENDS

The profit for the financial year, after
taxation amounts to £115 7m (last year
£404 4m) The directors have declared
dividends as follows

Ordinary shares

Special dividend

of 4.6p per share

Paid 15 July 2016

Paid interim dividend
of 6.8p per share

{Last vear 6 8D per share)
Proposed final dividend
of 11.9p per share

(Last year 119p per share}

£75m

£1103m

£1933m

Total dividend of
18.7p per share for 2016/17

(Last year 18 7p per share) £3036m

Supject to shareholder approval at this
year's ACM, the final ordinary dividend

will be paid on 14 July 2017 to sharehclders
whose names were on the Register of
Members at the close of business on

2 June 2017

SHARE CAPITAL

The Companys1ssued ordinary share
capitalasat 1 April 2017 comprised a single
class of crdinary share Fach share carries
the nght to one vote at general meetings
of the Company

During the period, 1,763,039 ordinary shares
inthe Company were issued under the
terms of the dnited Kimgdom Employees’
Save As You £arn Share Option Scheme

at prices between 258p and 432p

Details of movernentsinthe Company’s
1ssued share capital can be found on page
125 innote 24 to the financial statements

RESTRICTIONS ON
TRANSFER OF SECURITIES

There are no specific restrictions onthe
transfer of securities in the Company, which
15 governed by Its Articles of Asscciabon
and prevailng legisiation The Company

15 not aware of any agreements between
holders of secuntes that may result m
restrictions on the transfer of secunties

or that may result n restrictions on

voting nghts

VARIATION OF RIGHTS

Subject to applicable statutes, rights
attached to any class of share may be varied
with the written censent of the holders of at
least three-guarters Inrominal value of the
1ssued shares of that class, or by a special
resolution passed at a separate general
meehing of the shareholders
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RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS ATTACHING
TOQ SHARES

Subject to the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006, any resolution passed by the
Company under the Companies Act 2006
and other sharehclders rights, shares may
beissued with such rights andrestrictions
as the Companry may by ordinary resclution
decade, or (If there is no such resolution

ar so faras It does not make specific
provisiorn)as the Board (zs definedin

the Articles) may decide Subject tothe
Articles, the Companies Act 2006 and
other shareholders nghts, urissued

shares are at the disposal of the Board

POWERS FOR THE COMPANY ISSUING
OR BUYING BACK ITS OWN SHARES

The Company was authorised by
shareholders at the 2016 ACM to purchase
inthe market up to 10% of the Company’s
1issued share capial, as permitted under

the Company's Articles No shares were
bought back under this authorty durnng the
year ended 1 April 2017

This standard authonty s renewable
annually, the directors will seek torenew
this authority at the 2017 ACM It s the
Company’s present intention to cancel
any shares it buys back, rather than hold
thernin treasury

Thedirecters were granted authonty at the
2016 ACM to allot relevant secunities up

to anominalamount of £135,313,863 This
authonty will apply untit the conclusion

of the 2017 ACM At this year's AGM,
shareholders will be asked to grant an
authority to allot relevant securities

(1) up toa nominalamount of £135,394136
and () comprising equity secunties up to
anaminal amount of £270,788,271 (after
deducting from such bmit any relevant
securities allotted under (), In connection
with an offer of a nghts issue {the Section
551 amount}, such Section 551 armount to
apply until the conclusion of the ACM tobe
heldin 2018 or, f earlier,on 1 Qctober 2018

Aspecialresolution will also be proposed
torenew the directors’ powers tomake

non pre-emptive 1ssues for cashin
connection withnghtsissues and otherwse
up to a nominal amount of £20,309,120
Aspecial resolution will also be proposed
torenewthe directors authonity to
repurchase the Company's crdinary shares
inthe market The autherity will be Urmited
to a maximum of 162 millon ordinary shares
and sets the minimur and maximum prices
whichwill be paid

DEADLINES FOR EXERCISING
VOTING RIGHTS

Votes are exercisable at a general meeting
of the Company inrespect of which the
business being voted uponis being heard
Votes may be exercised in person, by proxy,
or,inrelation to corporate members, by
corporaterepresentatives The Artictes
provide a deadline for subrmission of proxy
forms of not less than 48 hours before the
time appaointed for the holding of the
meeting or adiourned meeting However,
when calculating the 48-hcur period,

the directors can, and have, decided not

to take account of any part of a day that is
not a working day

INTERESTS IN VOTING RIGHTS
L____________________________________________________ ]

Infarrnation provided to the Company
pursuant to the Financiat Conduct
Authority's (FCA) Disclosure and
Transparency Rules (CTRs)1s published
on a Regulatery Information Serviceand
on the Company's website Asat 1 April
2017 the fellowing information has been
receved, in accordance with DTR 5, from
holders of notifiable interests nthe
Company’s issued share capital

The information provided below was
correct at the date of notification, however,
the date receved may not have been
within the current financial year It should
be noted that these holdings are likely

te have changed since the Company was
notified However, notification of any
change is not required until the next
notifiable threshold s crossed

Qrdinary % of capital
Notifiabte interests shares disciosed  Nature of holding as per disclosure
Blackrock, Inc 90,664,081 558 Indrrect Interest (4 85%),
Securities lending {0 65%) &
CFD (0 06%)
Arnenprise Financial, Inc 82,524 463 5079 Indrect Interest (5054%),
andIts group Direct (0025%)
The Wellcome Trust 47.464,282 301 Direct Interest

Subsequent to year end, Majedie Asset Management Limited notified the Company in
accordance with DTRS of anindirect holding of 81,569,767 ordinary shares, representing

5 02% of the Company's 1Issued share capital



SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS -
CHANGE OF CONTROL

There are a number of agreements to which
the Company s party that take effect, alter
or terminate upon a change of cantrolof the
Company following a takeover bid Details
of the significant agreements of this kind
are as follows

= The £400m Medium Term Notes 1ssued
by the Company on 30 Novermber 2009,
the £300m Medim Term Notes 1ssued
by the Company on 6 December 2011,
the £400m Medium Term Notes issued by
the Cornpany on 12 December 2012 and
the £300m Medium Term Notes issued by
the Company on 8 December 2016 to
various nstitutions (MTN)and under the
Croup's £3bneura Medium Term Note
(EMTN) programme contain
an opticn such that, upona change of
controlevent, combined witha credit
ratings downgrade to below sub-
investrment level, any holder of
an MTN may require the Company to
prepay the principal amount of that MTN

- The $500m US Notes issued by the
Cormpany to vancus institutions on
& December 2007 under Secbion 144a
of the US Securities Act contain an option
suchthat, upon a change of control
event, combined witha creditratings
downgrade to below sub-investment
level, any holder of such a US Note may
require the Company to prepay the
principal amount of that US Note

= The $300m US Notes issued by the
Company to vanous insbitutions on
6 December 2007 under Section 144a
of the US Securities Act contain anoption
suchthat, upon a change of control
event, combined with a credit ratings
downgrade tc below sub-investrment
level, any holder of such a US Note may
require the Company to prepay the
principalamount of that US Note

- Theamended andrestated £1 1on
Credit Agreement dated 16 March 2016
(onginally dated 29 September 2011)
between the Company and vanous
banks contans a provision such that,
upon a change of controlevent, untess
new terms are agreed within 60 days,
the facility under this agreementwill
be cancelled with all outstanding
amounts bacomingimmediatety
payable with interest

- The amended and restated Relationship
Agreement dated 6 October 2014
{onginally dated 9 November 2004 as
amended on 1 March 2005), between
HSBC and the Company and relating to
M&S Bank, contains certain provisions
which address a change of control of the
Company Upon a change of control the
existing nghts and obligations of the
parties inrespect of M&S Bank continue
and HSBC gains certain bmited additional
nghts in respect of existing customers
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of the new controller of the Company
Where a thurd party arrangement 1s in
place for the supply of financial services
products to existing custorners of the
new controller,the Company 1s required
to procure the termination of such
arrangement as soon as reasonably
practicable (while not being required

to doanything that would breach

any contract in place inrespect of

such arrangement;}

Where athird party arrangement 1s so
terminated, or does not exist, HSBC gains
certain exclusvityrightsin respect of the
sale of financial services products to the
existing customers of the new controller
Where the Company undertakesa
re-branding exercise with the new controller
following a change of control (which
includes using any M&S brand inrespect
of the new controller's business or vice
versa), HSBC gains certain terrmnation
rights (exercisable atits election)in
respect of the Relationship Agreement

The Company does not have agreements
with any director or employee that would
provide compensation forloss of office

or employment resulting from a takeover
except that prowvisions of the Company's
share schemes and plans may cause
options and awards granted toemployees
under such schemes and plans to vest
onatakeover

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT

We remain committed to employee
involvernent throughout the business
Employees are kept well informed of

the perfoermance and strategy of the
Croup through personal briefings, regular
meetings, emails and broadcasts by the
Chief Executive and members of the Board
These take place at key ponts inthe year to
all Head Office, distnbution centre and store
management employees Inaddition, store
colleagues can also hear business briefings
by telephone and there are quarterly CEQ/
CFOtrading updates broadcast by Skype
to our store management teams These
communicaticns are supplemented by
various employee publications ncluding
M&S World magazing, Plan Aupdates and
DVD presentations

QurMaking Every Moment Special
employee engagement programme was
launched last summer with twoe hours of
training tc empower store colleagues to
put customers at the heart of the business
and to make decisions based on customers’
specific needs The programme engaged
with 70,000 employees through 75 regional
leadership events and 1,500 store events,
taking ideas from colleagues from across
the business and has had tremendous
results

More than 3,500 emplovees fromacross
every store, distribution centre and Head
Office location are elected to our Business

Involvernent Groups (BIC) to represent
colleagues intwo-way communication and
consultation with the Company These
representatives have continuedtoplaya
key role nanumber of business changes
this year The National BIG Chair meets with
the Croup Chairman and CEO regutarly,as
well as providing updates to and attending
Board meetings annually Inaddition,
directors and senior management regularly
attend the National BIG meetings They also
visit stores and discuss matters of interest
and concern to both employees and the
business through meetings with local BIC
representatives, listening groups and
informal discussions

The 22nd meeting of the European Works
Council (EWC) (established 1in 1995) will
take place nNovember 2017 The EWC
provides anadditional forum for nforming,
consulting and involving employee
representatives fromthe countries inthe
European Economic Area The EWC has the
opportunity to be addressed by the Chief
Executive, International Director and other
senmor members of the Company cnissues
that affect the European business

Share schemes are along-established and
successful part of colleagues totat reward
packages, encouraging and supporting
ermnployee share ownership The Company
operates both anall employee Save As

You Earn Scherme and Share Incentive Plan
Approximately 25000 employees currently
participate in ShareSave, the Company's
Save As You Earn Scheme Full details of all
schemes are given on pages 112 and 113

There are websites for both pension
schemes - the defined contnbution
Scheme (Your M&S Pension Saving Plan)
and the defined benefit scheme (the M&S
Pension Scherne) - which are fully accessible
to employees and former employees

who have retained benefits iIneither
scherme Employees are updated as

needed with any pertment information

on their pension savings

In April 2016, the business launched a
campaignwhich engaged allemployees

In putting forward their ideas for how

M&S could drive down costs and reduce
inefficiency The Crunch Costs campaign
received an overwhelmingresponse with
celleagues submitting 1,300 1deas from
stores and offices Sofar, theimplermented
ideas have generated savings of £20m,
which has enabled the business to add

over 3,000 colleagues to cur stores By
recognisingand celebrating employee ideas
and contributicns, the Company has driven
high levels of engagement and motivation
from employees The most recent results of
the Your Say employee survey show that the
employee engagement score hasincreased
by three percentage points on the previous
year,and currently sits at 81%
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Over 1,500 employees toock partin
Wellbeing Geals, a new initiative launched
toInspire people to take a more holistic
look at their overall wellbeing and follow
simple steps eachweek to ymprove what
matters to therm, whether from a physical,
mental, socal or financial perspective The
business has also taken steps to connect
the two important agendas of Diversity
and Incluston with Wellbeing n a bold
fwo-week campaign mviting people to

Be Yourself at work This was supported
by hosted events and colleague videos
on what It means to be yourself at work
and how inclusmity at work positively
impactswellbbeing

The Company continued to promotets
free service provided by a confidential
team of mental wellbeng specialists,
LiveWellWorkWell, by distrnibuting wallet
cards with detalls of the service across all
stores and business areas The Company
alsoinvested in supporting the Buddy
Network, a peer-to-peer support group,
to provide colleagues with a way

to share experiences and support each
otherin managing physical or mental
health conditions alongside work

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Croup 1s committed to anactive equal
opportunities policy from recrutment and

selection, through traimng and development,

performance reviews and promotion
toretirement The Cornpany's polcyIs
to promote anenvironment freefrom

discririnaticn, harassment and victimisation,

where everyone will receive equal treatment
regardless of gender, colour, ethric or
national ongin, disability, age, marital or
civilpartner status, sexual onentation or
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OTHER DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

religion All decisions relating to employment
practices willbe objective, free from bias and
based sclely uponwork critenaandindivicual
ment The Cornpany s responsive to the
needs of Its employees, customers and the
community at large M&S s an crganisation
which uses everyone's talents and abilities
andwhere diversity is valued

M&S was one of the first major companies
to remove the default retirement agein
2001 and has continued to see an increase
In employees wanting to work past the state
retirement age Our oldest employee s
S0vyears old and joined the business at

age 80

InApnl 2017, the Company once again
featuredin The Times Top 50 Employers
for Wornen, highlighting how equal
opportunities are available for allat M&S

Employee-led diversity networks give a voice
to under-represented groups, provide peer-
{o-peer support and help toinfluence the
Company to becormne more mclusive These
networks cover gender, ethrucity, cisability,
parents and sexual orientation/gender
dentity Each network has support from

a senior sponsor Throughout the year
employees have been involved In celebrating
International Women's Day, Pride, Black
History Month and the International Day

of Persons with Disabilities

EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITIES

The Company 1s clear inits policy that
pecple with disabilities should have full
and fair consideration for all vacancies

M&S has continued to demonstrateits
commitrmeant to Interviewing those people
with disabilities who fulfil the mimimum
criteria, and endeavouring to retain

TOTAL GLOBAL M&S GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 2016/17

employees In the workforce if they become
disabled during employment ME&S will
actively retranand adjust employees’
environments where possible to allow

thern to maximise their potential and will
continue to work with external crganisations
to provide workplace cpportunities through
our innovative Marks & Start scheme and

by warking closely with Jobcentre Plus

The Marks & Start scheme was introduced
into the distnbution centre at Castle
Dorningtonin 2012/13, working with Remploy
to support people with disabilities and
health conditions into work

GROCERIES SUPPLY CODE
OF PRACTICE

The Groceries (Supply Chain Practices)
Market Investigation Order 2009 {(the Order)
and The Croceries Supply Code of Practice
(CSCOP) Impose obligations on M&S
relating to relationships withits suppliers of
groceries Under the Order and GSCOP M&S
1s required to submit anannual compliance
report to the Audit Committee for approval
andthento the Competition and Markets
Authonty and Grocenes Code Adjudicator

M&S submitted its repert, covering the
penod from 3 Apnil 2016 ta 1 Apri 2017,

to the Audit Committee on 18 May 2017
Inaccordance with the Order,a summary
of that compliance report 1s set out below

M&S believes that it has complied in full
with CSCOP and the Order during the
relevant pericd No formal disputes have
ansen during the reporting penod Two
allegations regarding potential breaches
of CSCOP were raised by suppliers during
therelevant period Nertheris being
pursued and both are considered closed
by M&S

The disclosures required by law and additional nformation relating to the Croup's greenhouse gas emissions are included in the table below
For full details of calculations and performance against our 2006/07 voluntary baseline, see the 2017 Plan A Report

2016/17 2013/14 %

000 tonnes 000 tonnes change

Direct emissions (scope 1) 185 168 +10
Indirect emissicns from energy {scope 2) 293 340 -14
Total statutory emissions (scope 1 and 2) 478 508 -6
Transport, energy T&D, waste and travel emissions (scope 3) 43 59 -19
Total gross/location-based emissions 526 567 -7
Carbon intensity measure (per 1,000 sq ft of salesfloor} 26 30 -13
Green tanffs and bio-methane procured 305 302 +1
Remaining market-based emissions 221 265 -17
Carbon offsets 221 265 -17
Total net operational emissions 0 2] Level

Emissions are from operationally controlled activities in accordance with WRIAWBCSD GHC Reporting Protocols (Revised edition) and
2014 Scope 2 Guidance using 2015 DEFRA/DECC conversion factors 2013/141s the mandatory baseline year As these ermissions account
for less than 10% of M&S's total carbon footprint, we also engage with supplers and customers to address the most significant sources




POLITICAL DONATIONS

The Company did not make any political.
donations or ncur any poltical expenditure
during the year ended 1 April 2017 M&S has
a policy of not making donations to political
organisations or independent etection
candidates or incurring pelitical expenditure
anywhere inthe world as defined inthe
Political Parties, Elections and Referendums
Act 2000

GOING CONCERN

Inadopting the going concearn basis for
preparing the financial staternents, the
directors have considered the business
activities as set out onpages 2to 25 as
wellas the Group's principal risks and
uncertainties as set out on pages 32 and 33
Based onthe Croup's cash flow forecasts
and projections, the Board 1s satisfied that
the Croup will be able to operate within
the level of its facilities for the foreseeable
future For this reason the Board considers
it appropnate for the Group to adopt

the going concern basis in preparing its
financial statements

See note 20 to the Financial Statements
for more information on our Facilities

LONG-TERM VIABILITY STATEMENT

The directors have assessed the prospects
of the Company over a three-year penod
to 28 March 2020 This has takeninto
account the business model, strategic
aims, risk appetite, and principal risks and
uncertainties, atong with the Company’s
current financial position Based onthis
assessment, the directors have areasonable
expectation that the Company will be

able to continue N operation and meet

its Liabilibies as they fall due over the
three-year perniod under review

See our approach to assessing long-term
viability on p31

AUDITOR

Resolutions to reappoint Deloitte LLP as
auditor of the Company and to authorise
the Audit Cornmittee to deterrmine its
remuneration will be proposed at the
2017 ACM

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The ACM of Marks and Spencer Group plc
will be held at Wernbley Stadium, Wembley,
Londenon 11 July 2017 at 11lam The

Nctice of Meeting 1s given, together with
explanatory notes, in the Performance
Overview booklet which accompanies

this report

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board s of the view that the Annual
Report should be truly representative of
the yvear and provide shareholders with the
information necessary to assess the Croup’s
position, performance, business modeland
strategy This cannot be achieved by merely
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reviewng the final docurment at the end

of the preparation process The Board
ensured that its requirements were clearly
commuricated from the cutset to each of
the departments involved in the production
of the Annual Report

The Board has advised that the narrative
reports should contain the key information
needed by investors and other users of the
report and should avoid being promotional
Innature Furthermore, the narrative reports
in the front and the accounting information
In the back of the report should be
consistent and the teams involved In its
production work closely together to achieve
this For an independent opinion, the Beard
alsorequestedthe Audit Committee review
the Annual Report and provide feedback
The Committee's opinion on whether the
report s farr, balanced and understandable
1s on page 50

The directors are also responsible for
preparing the Annual Report, the
Remuneraticn Report and Policy and the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regutations Company
law requires the directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial year
Under that law, the directors have prepared
the Croup and Cormpany financial
statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the EU Under company law, the
directors must not approve the financial
statements uniess they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and the Company and
of the profit or loss of the Group and the
Company for that peried In preparing these
financial staterments, the directors are
required to

= Select sutable accounting policies
andthenapply them consistently

- Make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable
and prudent

-> State whether applicable IFRSs
{as adopted by the EU) have been
followed, subject to any matenat
departures disclosed and explained
nthefinancial statements

> Prepare the financial statements on
agoing concern basis unless itis
nappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in businass

The directors are responsible for keeping
adeguate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose,

at any time and with reascnable accuracy,
the financial position of the Cormpany and
the Group andtoenable them to ensure
that the financial statements and the
Rernuneration Report comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Croup financial staterments, Article 4 of the
1AS Regutation They are also responsible for

safeguarding the assets of the Group and
the Cornpany and hence for taking
reascnakle steps for the preventionand
detection of fraud and other rregularities
The directors are responsible for the
mantenance and integrity of the
Company's website Legislationin the

UK governing the preparation anc
dissernination of financial staternents may
differ from legislationin other junsdictions

Each of the current directors, whose names
andfunctionsare listed onpages 36 and 37
of the Annual Report, confirms that, to the
best of therr knowledge

- The Group financial staterments, prepared
inaccordance withthe applicable set of
accounting standards, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss of the Company
and the undertakings included inthe
consolidation taken as a whole

- The Management Report ncludes
afarr review of the development
and performance of the business
and the positicn of the Company and the
undertakings included in the
consobidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principalnsks
and uncertainties that they face

- The Annual Report, taken as awhole,
1s fair, balanced and understandable,
and provides the necessary information
for shareholders to assess the Croup's
position, performance, business model
and strategy

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
TO AUDITORS

Each of the persons who are Directors at the
time when this Directors’ Report 1s approved
confirms that, so far as he/she s aware, there
18 norelevant audit information of which the
Cormpany’s auditors are unaware and that
he/she has taken all the steps that

he/she ought to have taken as a directar to
make himselff herself aware of any relevant
audit informaticn and to establish that

the Company’s auditors are aware of

that information

The Directors’ Report was approved by a
duly authorised committee of the Board
of Directors on 23 May 2017 and signed
on its behalf by

AMANDA MELLOR GROUPSECRETARY
Lendon, 23 May 2017
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR'S REPORT

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC

IN QUR OPINION:

the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of the Group’s and
of the parent Company's affairs as at

1 April 2017 and of the Group's profit
for the 52 weeks then ended;

the Group financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union;

the parent Company financial statements
have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by

the European Union and as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006; and

the financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the Group
financiat statements, Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation,

The financial statements compnse
- the Consolidated Income Statement,

- the Consolidated Staternent of
Comprehensive Income,

-» the Consolidated and Company
Statements of Financial Position,

-» the Consolidated and Company
Statements of Changes in Equity,

-» the Consolidated and Company
Staternents of Cash Flows,

- the reconciiation of net cash flow
to movement in net debt note, and the
related notes 1to 28 and C1 to Cb

The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in the preparation of the
financial statements is applicable law and
IFRS as adepted by the Buropean Union
and, as regards the parent company
financial statements, as applied In
accordance with the provisions of

the Companies Act 2006

SUMMARY OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

KEY RISKS

MATERIALITY

The key risks that we dentified in the
current year were

- Accounting for exit costs of certan
of the wholly owned international
businesses

- Presentation of adjusted performance
measures of the financial statements

= Impairment of UK store assets
= UK Clothing & Home inventory provision
- Retirement benefits

= Manual adjustments to reported
revenue

= Accounting for supplier rebates

The description of nisks below should be
read Iin conjunction with the sigrificant
1ssues considered by the Audit Committee
discussed on pages 50 and 51 These
matters were addressed in the context

of our audit of the financial statements

as a whole, and in forming cur opinicn
thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters

Within this report, any new risks are

dentifiedwith | any nsks which are

the same as the prior year identified with
and any nsks which have increased

compared with the pror year are identified

with

We determined materiality for the Group
to be £24 5 million (2016 £30 million),
based cn a calculahion of 5% of profit
before tax adjusted for certain adjusted
iterns due to the nature and sigrficance
of these adjusted items

SCOPING

We performed a full scope audit on six
components of the business representing
97% of the Croup's revenue, 89% of the
CGroup's profit before tax and 85% of the
Croup's net assets

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN OUR
APPRQACH

Our audit approach s consistent with
the previcus year, with the exception of

- We have included an additicnal risk
N respect of the accounting for the exit
costs of certain of the wholly owned
international businesses, given the
significance of the charge incurred
during the year and the level of
estimation uncertanty, and

- Speaific audit procedures were performed
on certain significant balances for China
and analytical review procedures were
completed for Creece, nthe previous
year these components were subject
to full audits

SEPARATE OPINION IN RELATION TO IFRS AS ISSUED BY THE IASB

As explained in note 1 to the financial statements, in addition to complying with its legal
obligation to apply IFRS as adopted by the European Unicn, the Group has also applied
IFRS as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

In our cpimon the Group financial staternents comptly with IFRS as 1ssued by the IASE |
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GOING CONCERN AND THE DIRECTORS’ ASSESSMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL RISKS
THAT WOULD THREATEN THE SOLVENCY OR LIQUIDITY OF THE GROUP

As required by the Listing Rutes we have
reviewed the directors’ statement regarding
the appropriateness of the going concern
basis of accounting contamed within

nota 1 to the financial statements and the
directors’ staterment on the lenger-term
viability of the Croup contained wathin the
“Cther disclosures” section on page 31

We have nothing matenal to add or draw
attention to inrelation to

= the directors’ confirmation on page 30
that they have carned out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing
the Croup, ncluding those that would
threaten its business model, future
nerformance, solvency or iguidity,

-> the disclosures on pages 32-33 that

descrbe those risks and explain how
they are being managed or mitigated,

- the directors' statement innote 1 to the

financial statements about whether they
considered it appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in
prepanng thern and theridentification of
any matenal uncertainties to the group’s
ability to continue to do so over a period
of at least twelve months from the date
of approval of the financial statements,

- the directors explanation on page 31 as
to how they have assessed the prospects

of the Group, over what pericd they
have done so and why they consider

that period to be appropriate, and theirr
statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the group
witl be able to continue In operation
and meet its babilities as they fall due
aver the penod of their assessment,
including any related disclosures
drawing attention to any necessary
qualfications or assumptions

We agreed with the directors adopticn
of the going concern basis of accounting
and we did not identify any such matenal
uncertaintics However, because not all
future events or conditions can be
predicted, this statement s not a
guarantee as to the group’s ability to
continue as a going concern

OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT
]

RISK

ACCOUNTING FOR THE EXIT COSTS OF CERTAIN OF THE
WHOLLY OWNED INTERNATIONAL BUSINESSES

RISK DESCRIPTION

1

As set out on page 10 of the Strategic
Report, management announced their
proposal to close 53 stores across 10
international markets over the period
from November 2016 to Cctober 2017
The Group has recogrised a cost of
£131 million in the year n respect of
exit costs, which s reported as an
adjusted iterm in the Croup's alternative
performance measures

When calculating the exit costs, management has estimated future settlerment and
exit costs where these are not yet known The costs recognised in the penod primarily

relate to

- Property exit costs: estimation
uncertainty arises IN management’s
assessment of Likely exit costs where
these may differ frorn the contracted
future obligahons under lease
agreements

- Staff restructuring costs:in certan
territores, estimation uncertainty
arises in the application of local staff
restructuring and redundancy laws
where there are a range of possible
outcomes dependent on factors
outside the group’s control

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE RISK

Further detall of these estimates are
included in the sources of estimation
uncertainty disclosure in note 1

Civen the magnitude of the exit costs
and the level of estimation uncertainty,
we have directed a significant level of
our senior audit resource to assessing
the valuation of the costs recorded
during the year

We have evaluated the assumptions applied in calculating the charge for the year and, where possible, agreed inputs to the cost

calculations to supporting factusl evidence

Our audit effort was focussed on the two key sources of estimation uncertainty described above

- Property exit costs: we obtaned an
understanding of management’s
assumptions In derving estimated exit
costs for a sample of properties that
are being closed, assessing these in
the context of the possible maximum
abligations under the vanous lease
arrangements Thus included meeting
with internal property experts,
reviewing lease agreements and
any correspondence with landlords,
consulting with our own property
experts in certain local markets, and
reviewing the actual settlements for
stores where the exit negotiations
had concluded

-» Staff restructuring costs: we evaluated
the calculations for redundancy
payments, agreeing the methodology
applied to local laws and regulabions for
all significant countnes We tested the
accuracy of the underlying data in these
calculations on a sample basis Where
a range of possible outcomes exists, we
performed a sensitivity analysis on the
key inputs to the valuation model and
consulted with our local experts inthose
countries to validate key assumptions

Key observations

The outcome of future exit negotiations
and cther future events gives rise to

a source of estmation uncertainty

We consider the restructunng charge
recorded In the year to have been
appropriately calculated We have
reviewed the disclosure in note 1 and
consider It to be appropriate

OUR BUSINESS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT CONTINUED

OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT CONTINUED

RISK

PRESENTATION OF ADJUSTED
PERFORMANCE METRICS

RISK DESCRIPTION

The presentation of ncome and costs
withun adjusted measures (to derive
‘adjusted profit before tax’} under IFRS 1s
Judgernental, with IFRS only requiring the
separate presentation of material iterns
Judgement 1s exercised by management
In determining the classification of iterns
as adjusted

In the Croup’s reported results, sigruficant
adjustments have been made to statutory
profit before tax of £176 millon to derive
adjusted profit before tax of £614 milllon
Explanations of each adjustrment are

set out i notes 1 and 5 to the financial
statements, and are summarised in the
graphic to the right

In calculating the reported adjusted measures, there are two risks which may result
in the adjusted profit measure being misstated and therefore not being rebable to

users of the financial statements

- items may be included in the adjustments inappropriately, distorting the reported

adjusted earmings, and

- items may be ormitted from the adjustments which are significant In nature and/or

quantum tec the reported adjusted earnings

HOW THE SCOPE OF CUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE RISK

We evaluated the appropriateness of the
nclusion of iterns, both indmidually and
N aggregate, within adjusted items,
ncluding assessing the consistency of
tems included year on year and ensuring
adherence to IFRS requirements and
latest Financial Reporting Council (FRCY)
guidance We also agreed these items

to suppoerting evidence

RISK

We assessed all items, either highlighted
by management or identified through the
course of our audit, which were regarded
as significant N nature and/or quantum,
but included within adjusted profit to
ensure that these are not materal either
ndividualty or inaggregate For all
adjustments recorded in calculating
profits before adjusted items, we

discussed the appropriateness of the
itermn with the Audit Cormmittee and any
disclosure considerations

Key observations

We are satisfied that the tems excluded
from profit before adiusted items and the
related disclosure of these items in the
financial statements are appropriate

IMPAIRMENT OF UK STORE ASSETS

RISK DESCRIPTION

3

On 8 November 2016, the Croup
announced that a full review of the UK store
estate was to be performed As a result, we
consider the nisk of imparment of UK store
assets has Increased due to the impact of
decisions resuiting from the store review

In addmon, continuing economic
uncertainty, depreciation of sterling,
Increases In business rates, the ntroduction
of the National Living Wage and the cost of
the Apprenticeship Levy impact the trading
performance of the UK store estate

As described in the Accounting Policies
nnote 1 and nnote 15 to the Pnancial
Staternents, the Croup held £4,838 rrulion
(2076 £5,027 mitlion} of property, plant and
equiprment at 1 Apnl 2017 Included withn
this value are assets which relate to UK
Stores and In light of the UK store portfolio
review and trading performance in certain
stores, there 1s a risk that the assets held
In, and asscciated wath, each store are not
recoverable Managernent has performed

a fullimparment assessment for all stores,
other than those within their shelter pericd
(see below), to deterrmine if the carrying
value of these UK assets s supported

This assessment has included, where
appropriate, the Croup's ongoing strateqic
review of the UK store estate, as described
onpage 10 of the Strategic Report As

a result, a total charge of £101 million

has been recorded in respect of
impairments and closure provisions

When a review for impairment is
conducted, the recoverable amount

1s determined based on value in use
calculations which rely on the directors’
assumptions and estimates of future
trading performance

The key assumptions applied by the
directors in the iImpairment reviews are,

- forecast periods in the context of
strategic decisions made to exit
alocation,

-3 future revenue growth,
- discount rates,
- gross margin, and

-» store costs, including the impact
of the National Living Wage

The directors censider that each retail
store constitutes its own cash generating
unit (CCUY), with the excepton of the
outlet stores which are used to clear old
season Clothing & Home inventones at a
discount The outlet stores are considered
to represent one CCU In aggregate and
strategic stores are evaluated as part of

a country-wide impairment review

The group’s accounting policy sets out

a relevant shelter penod for new stores
to be taken into account when assessing
incicators of iImparment during initial
years of trading to enable the store to
establish itself in the market
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OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT CONTINUED

RISK

IMPAIRMENT OF UK STORE ASSETS
CONTINUED

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE RISK

3

We considered the appropriateness of the
methodology applied by the directors in
calculating the iImpairment charges, and
the judgements applied In determining
the CCUs of the business In addition, we
assessed the design and implementation
of controls in respect of the imparment
review process, and considered the
adequacy of disclosures made in the
financial statements

RISK

We assessed the impairment maodels and calculations by

- checking the mechanical accuracy of
the impairment models,

- assessing the discount rates applied to
the impairment reviews with support
from our internal valuations specialist,
and comparing the rates to our internal
benchmark data,

- comparing forecast growth rates to
economic data, and

- evaluating the information included in
the impairment models through cur
knowledge of the business gained
through reviewing trading plans,
strategic inifiztives, minutes of property
board and investment cormmittee
meetings, and meeting with regional
store managers and senior trading
rmanagers from key product categories
and cur retall industry knowledge

We assessed the appropriateness of the
shelter period for each store opened within
that bme frame, and compared the onginal
investment case for the store against its
current trading performance Where stores
were trading significantly below the
original case, we considered the evidence
avallable to support future IMproverments
in performance, specifically by assessing
the trading plans and actions being taken
on an indvidual store basis

Key observations

We assessed the level of impairrment
recorded nrespect of the UK business
and are sabisfied that the judgements
applied by management and the level
of mpairments recorded in the year
are approprate

UK CLOTHING & HOME INVENTORY
PROVISION

RISK DESCRIPTION

4

AL 1 April 2017, the Croup held UK Clothing
& Home inventories of £541 million

(2016 £583 million) As descnibed in the
Accounting Policies in note 1 tothe
Financial Statements, inventones are
carred at the lower of cost and net
realisable value As a result, the directors

apply judgement in determining the
appropriate provisions for obsolete stock
based upon a detaited analysis of old
seascn Inventory, net realsable value
below cost based upon plans for nventory
to go inte sale and stock loss based upon
the run rate from recent iInventory counts

HOW THE SCOPE OF QUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE RISK

We consider the assessment of Inventory
provisions within UK Clathing & Home to
require the most judgerment based on
the level of inventory held and recent
trading performance

We obtaned assurance over the
appropriateness of management’s
assumptions applied in calculating the
value of the inventory provisions by

- checking the effectiveness of key
inventory controls operating across
the UK business, including those at 12
distribution centres and 13 retail stores,

- attending inventory counts at 12
distribution centres and 13 retail stores,

- checking for a sample of indmvidual
products that invoiced costs have been
correctly recorded and that the
allocation of directly attributable costs
has been correctly calculated,

- comparing the net realisable value,
obtained through a detailed review of
sales subsequent to the year-end using
audit analytics, to the cost price of
inventories to check for completeness
of the associated provision,

- performing audit analytics on stock
holding and movement data to identify
product lings with ndicators of low
stock turn or significant levels of aged
stock, and

= meeting with buyers to validate the
assurnptions applied by management
compared to the current purchasing
strategy and ranging plans

We evaluated consumer trends identified
through benchmarking and external
market data to challenge the assumptions
underlying sales forecasts by category to
assess the completeness of prowvisions for
obsolescence

Key observations

The results of our testing were satisfactory
and we concur that the level of UK
Inventory provisions 1s appropnate
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT CONTINUED

QUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT CONTINUED

RISK

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

RISK DESCRIPTION

5

As described in the Accounting Policies
innote 1 and in note 11 to the Financial
Staternents the Group has a defined

benefit pension plan forits UK employees,

which is closed to new entrants,and a
funded defined benefit pension scheme
N the Republic of Ireland, where no new
benefits have accrued since 31 October
2013, therefore the key risk relates to the
UK scheme onty

At Y Apnl 2017, the Group recorded a

net retirement benefit asset of £702
million (2016 £833 million), being the

net of scheme assets of £10,135 mitlion
(2016 £8,515 million), scheme Liabilities of

£9,433 million (2016 £7682 million} and
unfunded retirement benefits of £9
million (2016 £9 million) The Group

net retirement benefit asset has shown
significant volatility, as the valuation is
sensitive to changes in key assumptions
such as the discount rate, inflation

and mortality estimates Inaddition,
curtailment charges have been
recognised In relation to the closure

of the defined benefit pension scheme,
which occurred during the year, to
future accruat

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE RISK

The setting of these assumptionsis
comptiex and an area of significant
Judgement, changes in any of these
assumptions can lead to a material
movement in the net surplus The
increasef(decrease) in scheme surplus
caused by a change in each of the key
assumptions is set out below

2017 2016
£m £m

A decrease in the discount

rate of 0 25% 0 (90)
Adecrease in the Inflation

rate of 025% {20} 20
A decrease in the average lfe

expectancy of one year 370 300

We evaluated the directors’ assessment of
the assumpticns made in the valuation of
the scheme liabitties, and evaluated the
information contained within the actuarial
valuaticn repoerts for each scherme We
assessed the design and Implementation
of controls in respect of the pension
scheme valuation process

We tested the membership census data
used in the valuation of the schemes
and, with support frorm our own actuanal

RISK

specialists, we considered the process
applied by the Group's actuaries, the scope
of the valuation performed and the key
assumptions applied and evaluated ther
expertise We benchmarked and performed
a sensitivity analysis on the key variables

in the valuaton model, ncluding

= nflation rates,
- mortality rates, and

- discount rates

We assessed the accounting treatment
applied to the scheme’s closure to
future accrual and the resulting
curtailment charge

Key observations

We are satished that all assumptions
appled inrespect of the valuation

of the scheme assets and liabilities are
appropriate

MANUAL ADJUSTMENTS TO REPORTED REVENUE

RISK DESCRIPTION

As described in the Accounting Polictes in
note 1 1o the Financial Statements, the
group's revenue recognition policies
require the directors to make a number of
adjustrments and estimates in determining
the reported revenue for the period

The most significant adjustments are

- gift cards, vouchers and loyalty schemes
- the directors apply an expected
redemption rate to the total value of gift
cards, vouchers and loyalty points in
1ssue based cn historic trends

= returns - customers are entitled to
return mest products up to 35 days
after purchase, giving rise to a nsk that
sales recognised during the period wll
be reversed in the next financial period

HCW THE SCOPE OF QUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE RISK

The directors apply judgement in
determining the provision required for
returns based on actual sales data and
recent product return rates Returns
from online sales are commonly at

a higher level than traditonal store
retailing, resulting in this jJudgement
becoming more significant in
determining the level of provision
required

We considered each revenue-impacting
rmanual adjustment indvidually, and
assessed the appropriateness of the
assumptions and judgements applied

to each We assessed the designand
implementation of controls in respect of
these revenue judgerments, n addition to
testing the effectiveness of key revenue
controls operating acress the UK business

For the key assumptions used in the gift
card and voucher, and loyalty scheme
provisions, we assessed the histonc rates
of redemption and compared these to the
directors’ judgements

We assessed the appropriateness
of the methodology and inputs usedn
calculating the returns provision

Key observations

We are satisfied that the key assumptions
applied in calculating the returns, gift
card, voucher and loyalty scheme
provisions are approprate
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OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT CONTINUED

RISK

ACCOUNTING FOR SUPPLIER REBATES

RISK DESCRIPTION

As descrbed in the Accounting Policies
Innote 1 and note 17 to the Financial
Statements, the Croup recognises a
reductionin cost of sales as aresult of
amounts receivable from suppliers,
primarily comprising contributions in
relation to promotions in the Food
business, strategic volume moves and

some annual volurne-based rebates

The majerity of these contributions tend
to be srmall inunit value but high in volume
and span relatively short perods of time,
although these can be across the financial
year end There are a small number of
larger arrangements, which relate to
multi-year periods

HOW THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT RESPONDED TO THE RISK

Judgement 1s required in determining

the penod over which the reduction in cost
of sales should be recognised, requinng
both a detalled understanding of the
contractual arrangements themselves

as well as complete and accurate source
data tc apply the arrangements to

We tested that amounts recognised were
accurate and recorded in the correct
penod based on the contractual
performance obligations by agreeing a
sample tc indvidual supplier agreements
We also conducted interviews with a
range of buyers and trading managers

In addition, we circulansed a sample of

15 suppliers to test whether the
arrangements recorded were complete

We performed revenue and margin
analysis to understand detalled trends
by product category in order to identify
apparent anomalies which may ndicate
potential rebate iIncome errors Such
anomalies were INnvestigated to assess
whether they were indicative of a mis-
applcation of contractual terrms or
other calculation errors

We also tested a sample of rebates
recognised pre and post-year end to test
the completeness and accuracy of
accrued supplier income at 1 Apnil 2017

QUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY

Key observations

The results of our testing were satisfactory
We consider the disclosure given around
supplier rebates to provide an accurate
understanding of the types of rebate
ncorme recerved and the Impact on

the statement of financial postion as

at 1 Apri 2017

We determined materiality for the
group to be £24.5 million.

We reported all audit differences in
excess of £1m.

\We define materiaiity as the magnitude of
misstatement in the financial staterments
that makes it prebable that the econemic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeabie
person would be changed or influenced
We use materiality both in planning the
scope of our audit work and in evaluating
the results of our work

We determined matenality for the Croup
to be £24 5 million 2016 £30 millon), based
on a calculation of 5% of profit before tax
adjusted for certain adjusted items due to
the nature and significance of these items

The adjusted profit used in cur determination
of materiality was £479 millon, which1s
£301 million higher than statutory profit
before tax of £176 milulon The items we
excluded from our determination are bsted
below, and explained further innote 5

to the financial staterments

- Changes to pay and pensions -
£156 million

- Internaticnal store closures and
imparments — £131 rrullion

- Strategic programmes - UK organisation
and logistics — £14 miluen

The matenality applied by the component
auditors (see below) ranged from

£25 milbon to £22 5 million (2016 £2 million
to £27 million), depending on the scale of
the component’s operations and our
assessment of nsks specaific to each
location

MATERIALITY

We agreed with the Audit Committee that
we would report to the Committee all audit
differences in excess of £1 milion (2016

£1 miibion) as well as differences below that
threshold that, In our view, warranted reporting
on gualitative grounds We also report to
the Audit Committee on disclosure matters
that we identified when assessing the overall
presentation of the financial staterments

OUR BUSINESS

‘OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE
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AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT
L ___________________________________________________________________|

We performed a full scope audit on six
components representing 97% of the
Group’s revenue, 89% of the Group’s
profit before tax and 85% of the Group’s
net assets.

We continue to adopt a rotational
approach to visiting the significant
locations of the Group’s activities.

Our Croup audit was scoped by obtaining
an understanding of the Croup and its
environment, including Croup-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of
rmaterial misstatement at the group level
A sumrmary of the Croup's retail operations
15 set out below (including the UK business)

Number of countnes 2017 2016
Wholly owned retail businesses 12 17
Retail joint ventures 2 2
Retall franchise operations* 3 a3
Website only territories 7 7
Teoral 52 59

* mctudes two countries where wholly owned businesses
also operate

Based on our assessment we focused our
Croup audit scope primarily on the audit
work at six wholly owned locations United
Kingdom, Republic of Ireland, Czech
Republic, France, China and Hang Kong, and
the joint venture in India All of these were
subject to a full audit, wath the exception of
China where specific audit procedures were
performed on certan significant balances
In the prior year, Creece was subject to a
full audit, however s subject to analytical
review procedures in the current year
following changes to the Croup’s

nternational strategy Analytical review
procedures were completed for the current
year for those {ocations not subject to full
audit procedures

These components were selected to
provide an appropniate basis for undertaking
audit work to address the risks of material
misstatement identified above All other
wholly owned and joint venture businesses
were subject to analytical review procedures
Whilst we audit the revenues received by
the Group from franchise operations, which
account for 3% (2016, 3%} of the Group’s revenue,
we do not audit the underlying franchise
operations as part of our Group audit

At the parent entity level we also tested
the consolidation process and carried out
analytical procedures to confirm our
conclusion that there were no significant
risks of material misstaternent of the
aggregated financial information of the
remaining components not subject to

a full audit

Profit
Before Net
Revenue Tax  Assets
Fullaudit 97% 89% 85%
Specific audt
procedures 2% 7% 8%
Analytical pracedures 1% 4% 7%

The most significant compenent of the
Croup 15 1ts retail business i the Urited
Kingdom, which accounts for 89% (2016
90%) of the Group's reported revenue of
£10,622 million, and generates operating
profit of £253 millon (2016 £627 million)
which s offset by operating losses from the
international segment resulting in a Croup
operating profit of £253 millon (2016 £584
milien) The Group audit team performs
the audit of the UK business withcut the
nvolvement of a component team During
the course of our audit, the Croup audit
tearn, conducted 12 distnbution centre and
13 retail store visits in the UK to understand
the current trading performance and, at
certan locations, performed tests of
internal controls and validated levels

of nventory held

We operate a programme of planned visits
te significant locations so that a senior
member of the CGroup audit team visits
each of the components subject to a full
audit or specific audit procedures at least
onge every two years, and the most
significant of thern at least once a year

In addition to our pragramme of planned
visits, we send detailled mstructions to our
component audit teams, nclude therm in
our teamn briefings, discuss their rnsk
assessment, attend closing meetings,
and review their audit working papers

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
e —

In our opinien, based on the work
undertaken in the course of the audit

-» the part of the Directors’ Rermuneration
Report to be audited has been properly
prepared in accordance with the
Compares Act 20086,

- the nformation given in the Strategic
Report and the Directors’ Report for the
financial year for which the financial
staternents are prepared s consistent
with the financial staterments, and

—> the Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report have been prepared in accordance
with applicable legalrequirements

- Inthe light of the knowledge and
understanding of the group and the
company and their envircnment
obtaned inthe course of the audit,
we have not identified any matenal
rmisstatements in the Strategic Report
or the Directors’ Report
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MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
|

ADEQUACY OF EXPLANATIONS
RECEIVED AND ACCOUNTING RECORDS

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are
required to report to you if, In cur opinion

- we have not receved all the nformabon and
explanations we require for our audit, or

- adequate accounting records have not
been kept by the parent Company, or
returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited
by us, or

- the parent Company financial statements
are not In agreement with the accounting
records and returns

We have nothing to report in respect
of these matters.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also
required to report If in our opinion certain
disclosures of directors’ remuneration have
not been rmade or the part of the Directors
Rernuneration Report to be audited 1s not in
agreement with the accounting records and
returns We have nothing to report arising
from these matters.

INDEPENDENCE
[

We are required to comply with the Financial
Reporting Councail’s Ethical Standards

for Auditors and we confirm that we are
independent of the Group and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with those standards We also
confirm we have not provided any of the
prohibited non-audit services referred to
N those standards.

1AN WALLER (SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR)

FORAND ON BEHALF OF DELOITTELLP
CHARTERFD ACCOUNTANTS AND STATUTORY AUDITOR
LONDON, UNITED KINCDOM

73May 2017

CORPCRATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Under the Listing Rules we are also required
to review part of the Corporate Covernance
Staterment relating tc the company's
compliance with certan provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code We have
nothing to report ansing from our review

OUR DUTY TO READ OTHER
INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

Under International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland), we are required to report
to you if, in our opimion, Information in the
Annual Repartis

- maternially inconsistent with the
information in the audited financial
staterments, or

- apparently materially incorrect based
on, or materally inconsistent with, our
knowledge of the Croup acquired in
the course of perforrming our audit; or

- otherwise misleading

In particular, we are required to consider
whetherwe have identified any nconsistencies
between our knowledge acquired during
the audit and the directers’ statement

that they consider the Annual Report is fair,
balanced and understandable and whether
the Annual Report appropriately discloses
those matters that we cormmunicated

to the Audit Committee which we consider
should have been disclosed We confirm
that we have not identified any such
inconsistencies or misteading statements.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES
OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

As explained more fully in the Directors’
Responsibilities Statement, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for baing satisfied
that they give a true and far view Our
responsibibity 15 to audit and express an
cpiron on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and
international Standards on Auditing

(UK and Ireland) We also comply with
International Standard on Quality Control 1
(UK and Ireland) CGur audit methodology
and tools am to ensure that our quality
control procedures are effective,
understood and applied Our quality
controls and systemns include our dedicated
professional standards review team and
independent partner reviews

This report 1s made solely to the Company's
members, as a body, In accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006 Cur audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to
state to therm in anauditor's report and for
no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by taw, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
|

An audit involves abtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial
staternents sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are
free from materal misstaterent, whether
caused by fraud or error This mcludes an
assessment of

- whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the Group's and the Compary's
arcumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed,

- the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the
directors, and

- the overall presentation of the financial
staterments

In addition, we read all the financial and
non-financial information in the Annual
Report to identify matenal Inconsistencies
with the audited financial statements and
to identify any Information that 1s apparently
materially incorrect based on, or materially
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired
by us In the course of performing the audit
If we become aware of any apparent
material misstaterments or nconsistencias
we consider the implications for cur report

OUR BUSINESS
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

92

52 weeks ended 1 April 2017

53weeks ended 2 April 2016

Before Before
adjusted tems Adjusted items Total adjusteditems Adsted items Total
hotes £m £m im En Fm Ern
Revenue 2,3 10,622.0 - 10,622.0 10,555 4 - 10,5554
Operating profit 2,35 690.6 {437.4) 253.2 7849 (2008) 5841
Finance income s} 36.2 - 36.2 21 - 21
Finarice costs 6 {113.0) - {113.0) (16 4d) - (116 4)
Profit before tax 4.5 613.8 {437.4) 176.4 6896 (200 8) 4888
Incorne tax expense 7 (122.4) 61.7 {60.7) 18 8) 344 (844)
Profit for the year 491.4 (375.7) nsz7 5708 (166 4) 4044
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 492.8 (375.7) 1171 5733 (166 4) 4069
Non-controlling interests {1.4) - (1.4) (25) - (25)
491.4 (375.7) 115.7 5708 (166 4) 404 4
Basic earnings per share 8 30.4p 7.2p 350p 249p
Diluted earnings per share 8 30.2p 1.2p 349p 24 8p

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
|

52 weeks ended

53 weeks enced

1 April 2007 ZApril 2016
Notes £m Em
Profit for the year 115.7 404 4
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of retirement benefit schemes 11 (68.9) 3462
Tax charge/{credit) onitems that will not be reclassified 25.3 (45 6)
(43.6) 3006
ltems that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences 31.0 73
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges
- far value movements recogrused in other comprehensive income 56.1 (301)
- reclassined and reported in profit or loss {72.4) {221
—amount recognised ininventories {20.1) 59
Tax credit on cash flow hedges and net investment hedges 41 65
(1.3) (32 5)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year, net of tax {44.9) 2681
Total comprehensive income for the year 70.8 6725
Attributable to:
Chwners of the parent 72.2 6750
Non-controlling interests (1.4) (25)
70.8 6725
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at Asat
1 April 2017 2Apnl2016
Notes £m fm
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 14 709.0 8028
Property, plant and equipment 15 4,837.8 50271
Investment property 15.5 155
Investment injoint ventures 7.0 59
Other financial assets 16 3.0 30
Retirement benefit asset 1 706.0 8510
Trade and other receivables 17 234. 2347
Denvative financial instruments 21 56.8 740
Deferred tax assets 23 - -
6,569.2 70150
Current assets
Inventories 7585 7999
Other financial assets 16 14.5 191
Trade and other recevables 17 318.6 3211
Derivative financial nstruments 21 163.1 721
Current tax assets - 16
Cashandcash equivalents 18 468.6 2476
1,723.3 14614
Total assets 8,292.5 84764
Liabitities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 1,553.8 16177
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scherme 12 71.9 719
Borrowings and cther financial labilities 20 518.0 2975
Derivative financiglinstruments 21 10.5 285
Provisions 22 147.2 140
Current tax labilities 66.6 752
2,368.0 21048
Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefit deficit N 13.2 269
Trade and other payables 19 328.5 3530
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme 12 3246 3838
Borrowings and other financiat liabilities 20 1,711.7 1,7747
Dervative financial Instruments 21 0.8 02
Provisions 22 113.5 520
Deferred tax liabilities 23 281.8 3376
2,774} 259282
Total liabilities 5,142.1 50330
Net assets 31504 34434
Equity
Issued share capital 24 406.2 405 8
Share premiurm account 416.4 4113
Capitalredemptionreserve 2,210.5 22105
Hedging reserve 17.3 323
Cther reserve (6,542.2) 6,542 2)
Retained earnings 6,648.1 69275
Total shareholders’ equity 3,156.3 34452
Non-controlling interests in equity (5.9) (18)
Total equity 3,1504 3,4434

The financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised for 1ssue on 23 May 2017 The financial staterments alsc comprise the

notes on pages 96 to 127

Steve Rowe Chief Executive Officer
Helen Weir Chief Finance Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ordinary Share Captal Foreign Non-
share premium redemnption Hedging Other exchange Retaned centrolling
capital account reserve  reserve reserve’  reserve’  earnings Total interest Total
£m £m £m £m £m Em Em £m £Em £Em
As at 29 March 2015 A20 3924 22026 643 (65422) (126) 66831 3,1996 {08) 31988
Profit/{loss) for the year - - - - - - 4069 4069 (25) 4044
Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Foreign currency translation - - - 05) - 78 - 73 - 73
Rermneasurements of retrement benefit schemes - - - - - - 3462 3462 - 3462
Tax charge onitems that will not be reclassified - - - - - (456) (456) - {456)
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges
- farr value movement recognised in other
comprehensive Income - - - {218 - - 83 (301 - (301)
-reclassified and reported in profit or loss? - - - (220 - - - 221 - (2270)
—amount recogrised in nventones - - - 59 - - - 59 - 59
Tax on cash flow hedges and net
Investment hedges - - - 65 - - - 65 - 65
Other comprehensive Income/f{expense) - - - (320) - 78 2923 2681 - 2681
Total comprehensive Income/{expense) - - - (320) - 78 6992 6750 (25) 6725
Transactions with owners
Drvidends - - - - - - 3BO17y 3017 - (3017
Transactions with non-controlling sharehalders - - - - - - - - 15 15
Shares issued on exercise of ermnployee
share options 17 189 - - - - - 206 - 206
Purchase of own shares held by employee trusts - - - - - - 109 (109 - 109)
Shares purchasedin buy back (79) ~ 79 - - - (1507) (1507) - (507
Credtt for share-based payments - - - - - - 172 172 - 172
Deferred tax onshare schemes - - - - - - (39 (39 - (39)
As at 2 April 2016 4058 4113 22105 323 (65422) (48) 69323 34452 (18) 34434
As at 3 April 2016 4058 4113 22105 323 (6542.2) (4.8)6932.3 3,445.2 {1.8)3,443.4
Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - - ELLEA n7u (1.4} 115.7
Other comprehensive (expense)income
Foreign currency translation - - - (43) - 353 - 31.0 - 31.0
Remeasurements of retirement benefit schemes - - - - - - (68.9) (68.9) - (68.9)
Tax credit on items that will not be reclassified - - - - - - 253 25.3 - 253
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges
- fair value movement reccgnised in other
comprehensive Incorme - - - 777 - - (21.8) 56.1 -~ 56.1
—reclassified and reportedin profit or loss? - - - (724) - — - (72.4) - (72.49)
—amount recognised ininventones - - - (200) - - - (200) - {200)
Tax on cash flow hedges and net
nvestment hedges - - - 4.1 - - - 4.1 - 4.1
Other comprehensive Income/{expense) - - - {150} - 353 (65.2) (44.9) - {44.9)
Total comprebensive ncomefexpense) - - - (15.0) - 353 519 722 (1.4 708
Transactions with owners
Dividends - - - - - - (377.5) (377.5) - (377.5)
Transactions with non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 2.7) (2.7}
Shares 1ssued on exercise of employee
share options 04 5.1 - - - - - 5.5 - 5.5
Purchase of own shares held by employee trusts - - - - — - - - - —
Credit for share-based payments - - - - - - 13,5 13.5 - 13.5
Deferred tax on share schemes - — - - - - {26) (2.6) - {2.6)
As at 1 April 2017 406.2 4164 22105 173 (6,542.2) 305 6,617.6 3,156.3 (5.9) 3,150.4

1 The Otherreserve was onginally createdas part of the capitalrestructunng that took place in 2002 It represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares 1ssued prior
to the capital reduction by the Campany (being the carrying value of theinvestment in Marks and Spencer plc)and the share capital, share premium and capital redempuion reserve

of Marks and Spencer plc at the date of the transaction

2 Amounts reclassified and reportedin profit or loss includes the revaluation of the cross currency swap: offsetting the revatuation of the US dollar hedged bonds within finance cost s

w

Inthe prior year financial statementss, the foreign exchange reserve was presented within Retaned earnings
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

52 weeks ended A3 weeks ended
1 April 2017 2Apnl 2016
Notes £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 26 1,165.7 13113
Income tax paid (98.0) (993)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,067.7 1,2120
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds on property disposals 270 306
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (309.1) (3633)
Purchase of ntangible assets {1011} (186 8)
Reduction/fpurchase) of current financizl assets 4.6 72)
Interest recerved 6.6 68
Acquisttion of subsidiary - {56 2)
Net cash used in investing activities {(372.0) (576 1)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid' (111.2) (1135)
Cash (outflow)/inflow from borrowings (32.7) 31
Repayrnent of syndicated loan notes (215.3) {199)
Issuance of mediumn-term notes 3000 -
Decrease in obligations under finance leases {2.0) 24)
Payment of liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scherne (57.9) (560)
Equity drvidends paid (372.5) (3017)
Shares issued on exercise of ermployee share options 55 206
Purchase of own shares by employee trust - (109)
Share buy back - (1507)
Net cash used in financing activities {491.1) (6314)
Net cash inflow from activities 204.6 a5
Effects of exchange rate changes 5.6 37
Opening net cash 196.0 1878
Closing net cash 27 406.2 1960
1 Includesinterest onthe partnershipliability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme
52 weeks ended 53 weeks ended
1 April 2017 2Apnl2016
Notes £m £m
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Opening net debt (2,138.3) (2,223 2)
Net cash inflow from activities 204.6 45
{Decrease)/increasein current financial assets {4.6) 72
Decrease in debt finanang 79 7572
Exchange and other non-cash movements {4.3) (20}
Movement in net debt 203.6 849
Closing net debt 27 (1,934.7) (21383)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L |

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information

The current financial statements are prepared for the 52-week
period ended 1 April 2017, whereas the prior financial period was the
53 weeks ended ? Apnl 2016

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Internatienal Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS
Interpretations Comsmittee (IFRS IC) nterpretations, as adopted by
the European Urmion, and with those parts of the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS

In adopting the going concern basis for preparing the financial
staterments, the directors have considered the business activities
as set out on pages 1 to 33 including the Group's principat risks and
uncertamties as set out on pages 30 to 33 Based onthe Croup’s
cash flow forecasts and projections, the Board s satisfied that the
Croup willbe able to operate within the level of its bank facilities
for the foreseeable future Forthis reason, the Croug continues te
adopt the going concern basis in preparingits financial staterments

The Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership has takenan
exemptionunder paragraph 7 of the Partnership (Accounts)
Regulations 2008 for the requirement to prepare and deliver
financial statements inaccordance with the Companies Act

New accounting standards adopted by the Group

There have beenno significant changes to accounting under IFRS
which have affected the Group's results for the current financial
year The only changes to the IFRS, IFRS IC interpretations and
armendments that are effective for the first time inthus financial year,
and are applicable for the Croup, are the Annual Improvernents to
IFRSs 2012-2014 cycle These have not had a raterialsmpact on

the Group

New accounting standards in issue but not yet effective
The following IFRS have beenissued but are not yet effective

- IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments’ replaces all phases of the financial
instrurments project and IAS 39 ‘Financiat Instruments
Recogrition and Measurement’ The standard is effective from
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and introduces

- new requirements forthe classification and reasurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities,

—anew maodel for recognising provisions based on expected
credit losses, and

—simplfied hedge accounting by aligning hedge accounting
more closely with an entities sk management methodology

Work s under way to assess the necessary changes to existing

IT systems that will be required to aid the Group's Implementation
of the standard The adopbion of IFRS 915 unlikely tohave a
materal impact on the conselidated results of the Group Any
potentialimpact of IFRS 9 will be quantified in the Annual Report
and Financial Statements for the year ending 31 March 2018

- IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers'rs effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 The standard
establishes a principles based approach for revenue recegnition
and s based on the concept of recognising revenue for
ohligations only when they are satisfied and the control of
goods or services Is transferred It applies to all contracts with
customers, except those inthe scope of other standards
It replaces the separate models for goods, services and
construction contracts under the current accounting standards
The Croup has completed an assessment on the impact of IFRS 15
and it is expected adophon willnet have a matenalimpact onany
of the Group's revenue streams

> IFRS 16 Leases was ssued on 13 January 2016 and s effective for
periods beginning onor after 1 January 2019 Early adoption s
perrmitted If IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Custorners’
has also been applied {FRS 161s not yet endorsed by the EU

The standard represents a significant change in the accounting
and reporting of leases for lessees as it provides a single lessee
accounting medel As suchitrequires lessees torecognise assets
and labiibies for all leases uniess the underlying asset has a low
value or the lease termis 12 months or less The standard may
also regurre the capitalisation of alease element of contracts
held by the Croup which under the existing accounting standard
would not be considerad a lease Accounting reguirements for
legsors are substanhally unchanged from 1AS 17

The Group has established a working group to assess the impact
of the new standard Work performed includes assessing the
accounting impacts of the change, the process of collecting

the required data from across the business and the necessary
changes to systems and processes From work performed to
date, it 1s expected implementation of the new standard will have
a significant iImpact on the conscudated results of the Group
Onadoption, lease agreements will give rnse to both anght

of use asset and a lease liability for future lease payables
Depreciation of the nght of use asset will be recogrised in

the ncome statement onastraight-Uine basis, with interest
recognised on the lease Labilty This will result na change

to the profile of the net charge taken to the income statement
over the Uife of the lease These charges will replace the lease
costs currently charged to the income staterment

The CGroug continues to assess the fullimpact of IFRS 16, however,
the impact will greatly depend onthe facts and circumstances

at the bime of adoption and upon transihion choices adopted

It 1s therefore not yet practicable to provide a reliable estimate

of the financial impact on the Croup's consolidated results

Alternative Performance Measures

Inreparting financial information, the Croup presents alternative
performance measures, "APMs”, which are not defined or specified
under the requirements of IFRS

The Croup believes that these APMs, which are not considered to be
a substitute for or supenor to IFRS measures, provide stakeholders
with additional helpfulinformation on the performance of the
business The APMs are consistent with how the business
performance s planned and reported within the internal
management reporting to the Board and Cperating Cormmittee
Some of these measures are also used for the purpose of setting
remuneration targets

The key APMs that the Group uses Include Uke-for-lke sales, gross
margin, profit before tax and adjusted iterns, adjusted earnings
per share, net debt, free cash flow, and return on capitalemployed
Each of these APMs, and others used by the Group, are set out in
the Glossary on pages 133 and 134 including explarnations of how
they are calculated and how they canbe reconciled to a statutory
measure where relevant

The Group reports some financial measures, primarily international
sales, on botha reported and constant currency basis The constant
currency basis, whichis an APM, retranslates the previous year
revenues at the average actual periodic exchange rates usedin

the current hnancial year This measure 1s presented as a means of
eliminating the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the year-
on-year reportedresults

The Group makes certain adjustments to the statutory profit
measures in order to derve many of these APMs The Croup’s policy
15 to exclude iterns that are considered to be significant in both
nature and/or quantum and where treatment as an adjusted item
provides stakeholders with additional usefulinformation to assess
the year-on-year trading performance of the Croup On this basis,
the following items were included within adjusted items for the
52-week period ended 1 Apnl 2017

= Significant pension charges anising as aresult of changes to the
defined benefit scheme’s rules and practices
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

= Significant restructurnng costs and other associated costs ansing
from significant strategy changes that are not considered by the
Croup to be part of the normal cperating costs of the business

->Net gains andlosses on the disposal of properties or
impairments of properties where acommitment to close
nas been demoenstrated

- Imparrment charges and provisions that are considered to be
sigrificant in nature and/or value to the trading performance
of the business

- Adjustments to income frorm M&S Bank due to a provision
recogrused by M&S Bank for the cost of providing redress to
customers inrespect of possible mis-selling of M&S Bank
financial products

= Vanous legal settlements that are significant in value to the
results of the Group or to a segment

Refer to note 5 for a summary of the adjusteditems

Asurmmary of the Company’s and the Croup's accounting policies
15 given below

Accounting convention

The financial statements are drawn up cn the historical cost basis

of accounting, as modified by fmancial assets and financial labdities
(including dernvative instruments)at fair value through profitand loss

Basis of consolidation

The Croup financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of Marks and Spencer Group plc and all its subsidiaries
rmade up to the period end date Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidianies to bring the
accounting policies used in line with those used by the Group

Subsidiaries

Subsidiary undertakings are allentities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Croup has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies This power 1s generally accompanied by the
Group having a shareholding of more than one half of the voting
rights Subsidhiary undertakings acquired during the year are
recorded using the acguisttion method of accounting and ther
results are incluced from the date of acquisition

The separable net assets, ncluding property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets, of the newly acquired subsidiary undertakings
are incorporated nto the consolidated financial statements onthe
basis of the fair value as at the effective date of control

Intercempany transachions, balances and unreaused gains on
transactions between Croup companies are eliminated

Revenue

Revenue comprises sales of goods to customers outside the Croup
less an approprate deduction for actualand expectedreturns,
discounts and loyalty scheme vouchers,and s stated net of value
added tax and other sales taxes Revenueis recognised when goods
are delivered to our franchise partners or the customer and the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have beentransferred

to the buyer

Supplier income

InLne with industry practice, the Group enters into agreements
wath suppliers to share the costs and benefits of promotional
activity and volume growth The Group receives income fromits
suppliers based on speafic agreements in place This suppler
income receved Is recognised as a deduction fromcost of sales
based onthe entitlemnent that has been earned up tothe balance
sheet date for eachrelevant supplier agreement Marketing
contributions, equipment hire and cther non-judgemental
fixed rate supplier charges are not Included in the Group's
defiribion of supplier ncome

The types of supplier ncome recognised by the Croupand the
associated recognition policies are

A _Promotional contribution Includes supplier contributions
to promotional giveaways and pre-agreed contributions te annual
‘spendand save’ activity

Income is recognised as a deduction to cost of sales over the
relevant promoticnal perod

Income is calculated and invoiced at the end of the promotionat
period based onactual sales or according to fixed contribution
arrangerments Contributions earned but not iInvoiced are accrued
atthe end of therelevant penod

B. Volume-based rebates Includes annual growth incentives,
seasonal contributions and contributions to share economies of
scale resulting from moving product supply

Annual growth incentives are calculated and invoiced at the end

of the financial year, once earned, based on fixed percentage
growth targets agreed for each suppler at the beginning of the year
They are recogrised as areduction in cost of sales nthe year to
which theyrelate Other volurme-based rebates are agreed with the
supplier and spread over therelevant seascn/contract penod to
which they relate Contributions earned but not invoiced are
accrued at the end of the relevant pencd

Uncollected supplier ncome at the balance sheet date s classified
wittun the financial statements as follows

A. Trade and other payables The majority of Income due from
suppliers s netted against amounts owed to that supplier as
the Croup has thenight to offset these balances As such, the
outstanding supplier ncome within trade and other payables at
yearend s immatenal

B. Trade and other receivables Supplier ncome that has been
earned but not Invoiced at the balance sheet date 1s recognised in
trade and other receivables and primarily relates to volume-based
rebates that run up to the penod end

In order to provide users of the accounts with greater understanding
inthis area, additional balance sheet disclosure 1s provided innote 17
to the financial statements

Dividends

Final dividends are recorded in the financial staterments inthe
period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders
Interim dividends are recorded in the period inwhich they are
approved and paid

Pensions
Funded pension plans are in place for the Group’s UKemployees
and some employees overseas

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between the
fair value of the assets and the present value of the defined benefit
obligation is recognised as an asset or labiuty in the staternent of
financial position The defined benefit obligation 1s actuanially
calculated using the projected urit credit method

The service cost of providing retirement benefits to employees
during the year, together with the cost of any curtailment, 1s charged
to operating profit nthe year

The net interest cost on the net retirerment benefit asset/Uzbility 1s
calculated by applying the discount rate, measured at the beginning
of the year, to the net defined benefit asset/liability and s iIncluded
as asingle net amount Infinance iIncome

Rerneasurements, being actuanal gains and losses, together with
the difference between actuatinvestment returns and the return
implied by the net interest cost, are recognised immediately inthe
statement of comprehensive Income

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
are charged as an expense gnanaccruals basis
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUJED

Intangible assets

A. Goodwill Coodwill anising on consolidation represents the
excess of the consideration pad and the amount of any non-
controlling nterest in the acquiree over the farr value of the
dentibable assets and liabilhies (ncluding ntangible assets) of
the acquired entity at the date of the acquisition Goodwillis
recegnised as an asset and assessed for impairment annually or
as tniggering events occur Any imparrmentin value s recognised
withun the ncome statement

B. Brands Acquired brand values are held on the staternent of
financiat position intially at cost Definife Ufe ntangibles are
armortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
Indefinite life ntangibles are tested for iImparment annually or as
triggening events occur Any impairment in value 1s recogrised
within the income staternent

C. Software intangibles Where computer softwareis notan
ntegral part of a related tem of corputer hardware, the software
is treated as anintangible asset Capitalised software costs include
externaldirect costs of goods and services, as wellas nternal
payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated
with the project

Capitalised software development costs areamortised ona
straight-line basis over their expected economic ives, normally
between three and ten years Computer software under
development s held at cost less any recognised impairment loss
Any impawrment i value 1s recogrused within the (ncome staterment

Property, plant and equipment

The Croup’s policy s to state property, plant and equipment at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any recogrised imparment Loss
Property s not revalued for accounting purposes Assetsin the
course of construction are held at cost less any recognised
Impairment loss Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs

Depreciationis provided to write off the cost of tangible non-
current assets {iIncluding investment properties), less estimated
residual values onastraight Line basis as follows

= Freehold land - not depreciated

- Freehold and leasehold buldings with a remaining lease term
over 50 years — depreciated to their residual value over their
estimated remaining econormic lives

- Leasehold buildings with a remaining lease termof less than
50 years - depreciated over the remaining pernod of the lease

- Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 3 to 25 years according to
the estimated economic Ufe of the asset

Residual values and useful economic Lives are reviewed annually
Deoreciation 1s charged onall additions to, or disposals of,
depreciating assets inthe year of purchase or disposal

Any impatrment in value is recogrised within the income staterment

Leasing

Where assets are financed by leasing agreements and therisks and
rewards are substantially transferred to the Group (finance leases)
the assets are treated as If they had been purchased outnght, and
the corresponding Liability to the leasing cecmpany s ncluded as an
obligationunder finance leases Depreciabion onleased assetss
charged to the income statement on the same basis as owned
assets, unless the term of the lease 1s shorter Leasing payrments are
treated as consisting of capital and interest elements and the
Interest 1s charged to the Income staternent

All other leases are operating leases and the costs inrespect of
operating leases are charged on a straight-lne basis over the
lease term The value of any lease incentive receved to take on
an operating lease (For example, arent-free period}is recognised
as deferred income and s released over the life of the lease

Leasehold prepayments

Payments made to acquire leasehold land and builldings are
included inprepayments at cost and are amortised over the Life
of the lease

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes short-term depacsits with banks
and other financial instritutions, with an inbial maturity of three
months or less and credit card payments recerved within 48 hours

Inventories

Inventories are valued on a weighted average cost basis and carned
at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost ncludes all direct
expenditureand other attributable costs incurred in bringing
nventones to ther present location and condition Allinventories
are firished goods Certain purchases of Inventories may be subject
tc cash flow hedges for foreign exchange nsk The Group applies a
basis adjustment for those purchases inaway that the costis intially
established by reference to the hedged exchange rate and not the
spot rate at the day of purchase

Provisions

Provisicns are recogrised when the Group has a present cbligation
as aresult of a past event,and it 1s probabite that the Group will be
required to settle that oblgation Provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at
the end of the reporting penod, and are discounted to present value
where the effect 1s matenat

Share-based payments

The Group issues equit y-settled share-based payrments to certain
employees Afair value for the equity-settied share awards 1s
measured at the date of grant The Croup measures the fair value
of each award using the Black-Scholes maodel where appropriate

The fair value of each award i1s recognised as an expense over the
vesting pernod on a straight-line basis, after allowing for anestimate
of the share awards that wilt eventually vest The levelof vestingis
reviewed at eachreporting peried and the charge s adjusted to
reflect actualand estimated levels of vesting

Foreign currencies

The results of overseas subsidianes are translated at the weighted
average of monthly exchange rates for revenue and profits

The staternents of financial position of overseas subsidianes are
transtated at year end exchange rates The resulting exchange
differences are booked into reserves and reported n the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Transactions denorminated in foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transacticn Foreign currency
monetary assets and labilities held at the end of the reporting
penod are translated at the closing balance sheet rate The resulting
exchange ganor loss 1s recognised withinthe income statement,
except when deferred in other comprehensive iIncome as gualifying
cash flow hedges and qualifying net Investment hedges

Taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax Taxis recognised in
the mcome staterment, except to the extent it relates toitems
recognised in other comprehensive iIncorme or directly inequity,in
which case therelated taxis recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly In equity

Provision 1s made for uncertain tax positions when it s considered
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds toatax
authonty The provision is calculated using the single best esbimate
where that outcomeis more likely than not and a weighted average
probability inother circumstances The position is reviewed onan
ongoing basis, to ensure appropriate provision s made for each
known tax nsk
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Deferred tax s accounted for using a ternporary difference
approach,and s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabibities in the statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax bases used inthe computation of taxable profit
Deferred taxis caiculated based on the expected manner

of rezlisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, applying tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting penod

Deferred tax labilities are generally recogrised for all taxable
temporary differences Deferred tax labilities are recogrised for
taxable ternporary differences ansing on investrments in
subsidianies, associates and joint ventures, except where the reversal
of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Croup and it is
probable that the difference will not reverse inthe foreseeable future

Deferred tax babilities are not recognised on temporary differences
that arise from goodwll which s not deductible for tax purposes

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it 1s probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised The carryingamaount of
deferred tax assets s reviewed at the end of each reporting perod
and reduced to the extent that itis no longer probable that
sufficient taxabte profits will be availabie to allow all or part of

the asset to be recaovered

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised in respect of
temporary differences that anse oninitialrecognition of assets
and labiities acquired other than in a business combination

Financial instruments

Financial assets and Labilities are recognised in the Croup's
staternent of financial position when the Croup becomes aparty
to the contractual provisions of the imstrument

A.Trade and other receivables Trade receivables are recorded
initially at fair value and subseguently measured at amortised cost
Subsequently, this results in therr recognition at nominal value less
any allowance forany doubtful debts

B. Other financial assets Other financial assets consist of
rvestments in debt and equity securities and short-term
investments and are classified as either ‘available-for-sale’ or ‘fair
vaiue through profit and loss’ Avallabte-for-sale financial assets are
initially measured at far value, Including transachion costs directly
attrnibutable to the acquisition of the financial asset Financial assets
held at fair value through profitand loss are inibially recognised at
fair value and transaction costs are expensed

Where secunties are designated as ‘fair value through profit and
loss, gains and losses anising from changes in fair value are ncluded
inthencome staterment for the penod For‘avallable-for-sale’
investrments, gains or losses ansing from changes infair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, until the secunty

1s disposed of or s determined to be impaired, at which time

the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive ncome is included intheincome statement for
the period. Equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price inan active market and whose far value cannot be rebably
measured by other means are held at cost

C. Classification of financial Uabilities and equity Financial
liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the
substance of the contractualarrangements entered into Anequity
instrument s any contract that evidences aresidualinterest nthe
assets of the Group after deducting all of its Labilities

D. Bank borrowings Interest-beanng bankloans and overdrafts are
initially recorded at fair value, which equals the proceeds recerved,
net of direct issue costs They are subseguently held at amortised
cost Finance charges, including prermiums payable on settlernent

or redemption and direct 1ssue costs, are accounted for using an
effective Interest rate method and are added ta the carrying
amount of the iInstrument to the extent that they are not settied
in the periodinwhich they arise

E. Loan notes Long-termn loans are initially measured at fair value
net of direct1ssue costs and are subseguently held at amortised
cost unless the loan s designated ina hedge relationship, nwhich
case hedge accounting treatment willapply

F. Trade payables Trade payables are recorded initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost Generally this
results in their recogrition at their nominal value

G. Equity instruments Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the consideration received, net of direct Issue costs

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group primarily uses interest rate swaps, Cross-currency swaps
and forward foreign currency contracts to manage its exposures
to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates These
Instruments are nitially recogrised at far value on the trade date
and are subsequently remeasured at therr fair value at the end of
the reporting period The method of recognising theresulting gain
orloss 1s dependent on whether the dervative 1s designated as
ahedging instrument and the nature of the tem being hedged

The Group designates certan hedging derivatives as either

- Ahedge of alighly probable forecast transaction or changein
the cash flows of arecogrised asset or Lability (@ cash flow hedge)

-» Ahedge of the exposure to change in the fair value of
arecognised asset or liability {a far value hedge)

- Ahedge of the exposure on the translation of net Investments
in foreign entities (a net investment hedge)

At the inception of a hedging relationship, the hedging instrurment
and the hedged tem are documented, along with the nsk
rmanagement objectives and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions and prospective effectiveness testingis
performed During the Life of the hedging relaticnship, prospective
and retrospective effectiveness testing is performedto ensure
theinstrurment rermains an effective hedge of the transaction
Changes in the fair value of dervative financial instruments that
donet qualify for hedge accounting are recognised inthe income
staternent as they arise

A. Cash flow hedges Changes in the farr value of derivative
financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges
of future cash flows are recognised in other comprehensive income
inthe hedgingreserve and any ineffective portion s recegnised
immediately Inthe income statement If the firm commitment or
forecast transaction thatis the subject of a cash flow hedgeresutts
inthe recognition of a non-financial asset or Uability, then, at the
time the asset or liability 1s recognised, the associated gains or
losses on the denvative that had previously beenrecegnised in
comprehensive Income are includedin the initlal measurement

of the asset or bability

For hedges that do not resultin the recognition of an asset ora
liability, amounts deferred in other comprehensive Income are
recognised in the Income statement inthe same perod N which
the hedged iterns affect net profit or loss

B. Fair value hedges Changes in the fair value of a denvative
instrument designated in a fair value bedge, or, for non-derivatives
the foreign currency component of carrying value, are recognised
N the iIncome statement The hedged temiis adjusted for

changes infair value attributable to the risk being hedged

with the corresponding entry in the ncome statement,
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C. Net investment hedges Changes in the fair value of denvative
or non-dervative financialinstruments that are designatedand
effective as hedges of net investments are recognised in other
comprehensive Income in the hedging reserve and any ineffective
portionis recognised immediately in the income statement

Changes in the farr value of denvative financial instruments that
do not qualfy for hedge accounting are recognised in the income
statement as they arse

D. Discontinuance of hedge accounting Hedge accounting s
discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or s scld,
terminated, or exercised, the hedge relationship ne longer
qualfies for hedge accounting, the forecast transactionis nc
longer expected to occur or the Croup de-designates the
hedge relabionship

When a cash flow hedge s discontinued, any cumulative gan or loss
on the hedging instrument recogrised in other comprehensive
Income is retained in equity untit the forecast transaction occurs
Subsequent changes mn the fair value of the hedging instruments
when the forecast transaction 1s no longer highty probable but is
stillexpected to cccur, are recognised in the iIncome statement

If a hedged transaction 1s ne longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gamn or loss recognised n comprehensive Incomes
transferred to the income staterment for the perod

When a fair vatue hedge 1s discontinued, the fair value adjustment
to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged
risk1s amortised to the income statement from that date

When a net investment hedge s discontinued, the subsegquent
changes In farr vatue of a derivative (or foreign exchange gains/
losses onrecegnised financial labilities) are recognised N the
ncorme statement The gain or loss onthe hedging instrument
recognised in other comprehensive ncome s reclassified to the
income statement only on disposal of the net investment

The Group does not use derivatives to hedge ncome staternent
translabion exposures

Embedded derivatives

Derwatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not carned at far value, with unrealised
gains or losses reported inthe income statement Embedded
denvatives are carried In the statement of financial position at fair
value from the inception of the host contract

Changes in far value are recognised within the income statement
dunng the period in which they anse

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation
uncertainty

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the Croup to make estimates and judgements that affect the
applcation of policies and reparted amounts

Critrical judgements represent key decisions made by management
in the applicabon of the Croup accounting policies Where a
significant risk of matenally different outcomes exists due to
management assurmptions or scurces of estimationuncertainty,
this willrepresent a cnitrcal accounting estimate Estimates and
Judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, ncluding expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances
Actualresults may differ from these estimates

The estimates and judgements which have a sigruficant nisk of
causing a matenat adjustment to the carryingamount of assets
and liabitities are ciscussed below

Critical accounting judgements

Adjusted items The directors believe that the adjusted profit

and earnings per share measures provide addionat useful
informaticn for shareholders onthe performance of the business

These measures are consistent with how business performance
15 measured nternatly by the Board and Operating Committee
The adjusted profit before tax measure 15 not a recognised

profit measure under IFRS and may not be directly comparable
with adiisted profit measures used by other companies The
classification of adjusted iterns requires significant management
Judgement after considering the nature and intentions of
atransaction

Nate 5 provides further details on current year adjusted iterns and
ther adherence to Croup policy

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment Depreciation s provided to write down the cost of
property, plant and equipment to therr estimated residual values
over ther estimated useful lives, as set out above The selection
of the residual values and useful lves gives rise to estimaticn
uncertainty The Group s undertaking a strategic mult-year
programme in relation to the UK store estate which will result
infuture store closures The tirming of these closures and the
identification of the spetifiic stores that will be impacted are not
yet known, giving rise to additional estimation uncertainty when
assessing the residual values and usefullives as at 1 Apnl 2017
The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
by management annually See note 15 for further details

Impairment of property, ptant and equipment Property, plant
and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or changes
N circumstances (ndicate that the carrying amount may not

be recoverable When areview for irmpairment 1s conducted,

the recoverable amount 1s determined based onvaluein use
calcutations This method requires the Croup to determine the
apprepnate pernod over which to assess future cash flows and
discount rate assurnptions See notes 14 and 15 for further details
on the Croup's assumptions and associated sensitivities

Post-retirement benefits The determination of the pension cost
and defined benefit cbligation of the Croup's defined benefit
pension schemes depends on the selection of certain assurnptions
which include the discount rate, Inflation rate, salary growth,
mortality and expecled return on scheme assets Differences
ansing fromactual experiences or future changes in assumptions
willbe reflected in subsequent periods The farr value of unquoted
nvestrments withen total plan assets s determmed using far value
estimates provided by the manager of the nvestment or fund
See note 11 for further details on the impact of changesin the key
assumptions and estimates and note 12 for cntical judgements
associated with the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme interest
inthe Marks and Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership

Revenue recognition Accruals for sales returns, deferred Income
inrelation toloyalty scherme redemptions and gift card and credit
voucher redempticns are estimated on the basis of histoncal
returns and redernptions These are recorded sc as to be allocated
against revenue inthe same penod as that m which the oniginal
revenue s recorded These balances are reviewed regularly and
updated ta reflect management’s latest best estimates However,
actual returns and redemptions could vary from those estimates

International closure costs During the year the Croup announced
its strategy for the International business resulting in the planned
exit frorn owned stores Inten international markets The Group wall
ncur significant closure costs associated with the exits which gives
rise to estimation uncertanty at 1 Apnl 2017, mest notably inrespect
of the expected costs to exit leases and the expected redundancy
costs See note 5 for further details

Inventory provisioning Inventory provisions are recognised where
the net realisable value from the sale of Inventory s estimated to be
lower thanits carrying value, requiring estimation of the expected
future sale price The estimation includes judgement ona number
of factors mcluding historic sales patterns, expected sales profiles,
potential obsolescence and shrinkage



101
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
.

2 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reporting on components of the Croup that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to allocate rescurces to the segments and to assess their performance

The chief operating decision maker has beenidentified as the Operating Committee The Operating Committee reviews the Croup's internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources across each cperating segment The operating segments are UK and
International which are reportedin a manner consistent wath the internal reporting te the Operating Committee

The UK segment consists of the UK retail business and UK franchise operations The International segment consists of Marks & Spencer
owned businesses In Eurcpe and Asia, together with international franchise operations

The Operating Committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of operating profit This
measurerment basis excludes the effects of adjusted items from the operating segments The Operating Committee also monitors
revenue within the segments and gross prefit within the UK segment To increase transparency, the Croup has decided to include an
adaditionat voluntary disclosure analysing revenue within the reportable segments by sub-category and gross profit within the UK
segment by sub-category

The following 1s an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by reportable segment

52 weeks ended 1 April 2017 53 weeks ended 2 Apri 2016
Logistics Adjusted Logistics. Adjusted
Management adjustment’ items’ Statutory  Management adjustment’ itemns’ Statutory
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Clothing & Home revenue 3,792.7 - - 3,792.7 3,9613 - - 39613
Food revenue 5,649.0 - - 5,649.0 55095 - - 55095
UK revenue 9,441.7 - - 9,441.7 94708 - - 94708
Franchise 314.0 - - 314.0 3297 - - 3297
Owned 866.3 - - 866.3 7549 - - 7549
Internationalrevenue 1,180.3 ~ -~ 1,180.3 1,0846 - - 10846
Group revenue 10,622.0 - - 10,622.0 10,5554 - - 10,555 4
Clothing & Home gross profit 2,128.7 21807
Food gross profit 1,837.7 1,806 2
UK gross profit 3,966.4 (360.5) - 3,605.9 39869 (3009) - 3,6860
UK operating costs (3,390.4) 360.5 (254.5) (3,284.4) (3.3200) 3009 (491) (3,068 3)
M&S Bank 50.2 - {44.1) 6.1 599 - (503} 96
UK operating profit 626.2 - (298.6) 327.6 7267 - (99 4) 6273
international operating profit 64.4 - {138.8) (74.4) 582 - (101 4) 432)
Group operating profit 690.6 - (437.4) 253.2 7849 - (200 8} 5841
Finance inccme 36.2 - - 36.2 211 - - 21
Finance costs (113.0) - - (113.0) Mme4) - - {116 4)
Profit before tax 613.8 - (437.4) 176.4 6896 - (2008) 488 8

1 Management gross profit forthe UK segrment excludes certain expenses rasultinginan adjustment between cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses of £360 5m
(lastyear £3009m) Updates to the methodology have been made in the current year tonclude depreciatbion of therelevant Distribution Centres within gross margin This 15 to ensure
consistent treatment with the underlying warehousing costs The pnor year comparatives have not beenrestated

7 Management profit excludes the adjusted iterns (income or charges) made to reported profit before tax that are signficant in value and/or nature (see note 5) Please referto the Glossary
on pages 133 and 134 for the definition of these items

Other segmental information

2017 2016
UK  International Total UK international Total
£m £m Em £m £m £m

Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible

assets (excluding goodwill) 3741 12.2 386.3 6249 200 6449

DCepreciationand amertisation 549.1 29.1 578.2 5319 309 562 8

Impairment and asset write-offs 727 31.2 103.9 608 988 1596

Total assets 7,97.3 375.2 8,292.5 80623 4141 84764

Non-current assets 6,324.4 244.8 6,569.2 67519 2631 70150
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3 EXPENSE ANALYSIS

2007 2016
Total Total
£m £m
Revenue 10,622.0 10,5554
Cost of sales (6,534.2) (6A4270)
Graoss profit 4,087.8 41284
Selling and administrative expenses (3,460.4) 3:M29)
Other operating income 63,2 694
Operating profit before adjusted items 690.6 7849
Adjusted items (see note 5) {437.4) (2008)
Operating profit 253.2 5841
The sellng and administrative expenses are further analysed below
207 2016
Totat Total
Em £m
Employee costs' 1,491.4 14357
Qccupancy Costs 757.2 7232
Repairs, renewals and mamntenance of property 95.1 995
Cepreciabion, armcruisaton and assel imparrments and wnte-offs before agustediterns 589.5 5768
Other costs 527.2 5777
Selling and administrative expenses 3,460.4 34129

1 Theresanadditional £61 Zm{last year £51 0m) of employee costs recorded withun cost of sales These costs are included within the aggregate remuneration disclosures note 104

4 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
The following items have beenincluded in arnving at profit before taxation

2017 2016
£m Em

Net foreign exchange {gains)/losses {0.2) 59
Cost of Inventories recognised as an expense 5,776.1 57786
Write-down of iInventories to net realisable value 2349 2397
Depreciation of property, plant, and eqguiprnent
- owned assets 4103 4127
- under finance leases 0.5 14
Amortisation of mtangible assets 167.4 1487
Profit on property disposals - Q6
Impairments and write-offs of assets 103.9 1596
Operating lease rentals payable
—property 350.1 3377
- fixtures, fittings and equipment 4.3 35

included inadministrative expenses is the auditor's remuneration, including expenses for audit and non-audit services, pavable to
the Cormpany’s auditor Deloitte LLP and its associates as follows

2017 2006

£m £m

Annual audit of the Company and the consoldated financial staterments 09 07
Audit of subsidiary companies 0.7 07
Audit-related assurance services 0.3 02
Total audit and audit-related assurance services fees 1.9 16
Other services - 01

Total other services - ol
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5 ADJUSTED ITEMS

The totaladjusteditems reported for the 52-week period ended 1 April 2017 15 a net charge of £4374m The adjustments made to reported

profit before tax to arnve at adjusted profitare

2017 2016

Notes £m £m
Strategic programmes
- changes to pay and pensions 22 (156.0}
- UK crganisation 15,22 {24.0) -
- UK store estate 15,22 {51.6) {370)
- International store closures and impairments 15,22 (132.5) 316)
UK store imparments and onerous lease charges 15,22 (48.8) -
M&S Bank charges incurred inretation 1o the insurance mis-selling provision {44.1) (503)
UKlogistics 15,22 9.8 92
Legal settlements 9.8 -
Qther mparrments' - (945)
IAS 38 farr value movement of embedded derivative - Z0)
Net gain on acguisition of joint venture holding Bradford warehouse - 54
Adjustments to profit before tax (437.4) {200 8)

1 Othermparrments inthe prior year ncluded the imparrment of Czech and Hungary goodwill (£19 1) the M&S Mode brand (£32 4mj), an enterprise management systemused by the
Internationat business of (£18 3m)and mpairment costs of (£23 7m) related to the Clothing & Home buyingand merchand.sing systems

Changes to pay and pensions (£156.0m)

Cn 25 May 2016, the Group announced proposals for a farer, simpler and more consistent approach to pay and prermia as wellas proposals
to close the UK defined benefit (DB} pension scheme to future accrual effective from 1 Apnl 2017 The consultation with employees on these
changes completed on 2 September 2016

The closure of the UK DB pension scheme to future accrual has resulted ina curtallment charge of £1270m As all remaining active members
of the scheme have transitioned to deferred status, all future pensionable ncreases will be in bne with inflation (CPl) as opposed to the lower
1% salary cap applied to active members Other costs of £5 4m directly associated with the closure, primarily in retation to third party
advisory costs, have also beenincurred

The Group considers the curtailment cost and directly associated costs to be anadjusted item on the basis that they relate to a significant
costimpacting the Group results

Following the completion of the consultation in respect of pay and premia, the Group has cormmitted to transition payments of £23 6m
in respect of the removal of premia The fullamount of £23 6mhas been recognised as a lability at 1 April 2017 as the criteria for recognition
under IAS 37 have been met at this date

The Group anticipates making further transition payments to impacted employees inrelation to the closure of the UK DB schermne, expected
to bec £25mintotal over the next three years These amounts will be recognised within adjusted items in future years as incurred

The prermia buyout costs are considered to be an adjusted itern as they represent costs that are significant invalue to the results of
the Group

Strategic programmes - UK organisation (£24.0m)

During the year, the Group announced the resuits of a wide-ranging strategic review across a number of areas of the business including
customer, brand, UK organisation, UK store estate and International. The completion of this review has resulted in the Group incurring
anumber of significant charges

On 5 Septernber 2016, following completion of a detailed review of the UK organisation, the Croup announced changes to the UK Head Office
structure The changes have resulted in 2 net reduction of ¢ 590 Head Cffice roles achieved through a combination of fewer contractors,
natural attribon and redundancies and resulted n costs of £15 4minclusive of fees

On 2 March 2017, as part of the ongeing strategic programrme, the Croup announced an 18-month prograrmme to centralise its London
Head Office functions into one bullging The Group has recognised a net charge of £8 6massociated wath this rationalisation, iInclusive of
the impairment and write-off of assets upon exit of vacated buildings, an expected net sub-let shortfalland the costs of relocation

These costs are considered to be an adjusted item as they are significant in value and relate to a strategic initiative As aresult, they arenot
considered to be normal operating costs of the business

Strategic programmes — UK store estate (£51.6m)

The Croup has revised its previously announced strategic prograrmme inrelation to the UK store estate As part of this programme, ten UK
stores were approved for closure inthe penod, resulting In closure costs of £47 3mrelating to dilapidations, sub-let shortfalls, accelerated
depreciation of fixtures and fithings and impairment cf assets The balance of the charges of £4 3min the penod relate to the ongoing review
of assumptions associated with previously clesed stores

Whilst costs associated with the closure and re-configuration of the UK store estate will recur across financial years, the Croup considers
that they should be treated as an adjusted item given they are part of a strategic programme and are significant in value to the results of
the Group
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5 ADJUSTED ITEMS CONTINUED
Strategic programmes - International store closures and impairments (£132.5m}

The Croup has announced its intention to close its owned stores in ten international markets, resultingin the recognition of a cost of £1305m
inthe perod The expected closure costs primarily relate to redundancy, lease exit and property dilapidations The closure programmes

are ongong inall markets, with the excepton of Ching, where the final store was closed on 1 Apnt 2017 The costs are considered tobe an
adjusted itemas they are part of a strategic programme and are significant m both vatue and nature to the results of the Group

International store imparment testing during the year identified a number of stores where current and anticipated future performance
does not support the carrying value of the stores, with a resulting impairment charge of £90m being incurred, which s considered
signmificant in value te the results of the International segrment Refer to note 15 for further details of these imparrments

Offsetting these store impairments are credits of £70mrelating to the reversal of histonc impairments against five stores and the release of
unuhlised provisions on completion of the exit from the Balkans Thisimparrment reversal and release are considered to be adjustedtems,
consistent with treatrment In previous pernods when the ongimal charges were recognised as adjusted iterns

UK store impairments and onerous lease charges (£48.8m)

The UK storeimparment testing dunng the year hasidentified 2 number of stores where the current and antcipated future performance
does not support the carrying value of the stores As aresult, a charge of £394m has beenincurred inrespect of the impairment of assets
associated with these stores A future charge of £9 4m has been incurred in respect of onerous lease provisions associated with some of
these stores Refer tonote 15 for further detaits of these mpairments

The charges associated with the impairment of stores and assocciated onercus leases have been classified as an adjusted item on the basis
of the sigmificant value of the charge nthe year to the results of the Croup

MA&S Bank charges incurred in relation to the insurance mis-selling provision (£44.1m)

The Croup has aneconomic interest in M&S Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary f HSBC, by way of a Relationship Agreement that entitles the
Croup to a 50% share of the profits of M&S Bank after approprate deductions The Croup does not share inany losses of M&S Bank and 15 not
obliged to refund any profit share recerved from HSBC, although future income may be impacted by sigrificant deductions

Since the year ended 31 December 2010, M&S Bank has recegnised inits audited financial statement s an estimated lability for redress to
custorners inrespect of possible mis-selling of financial products The Group's ncome from M&S Bank has been reduced by the deduction
of our share of the estimated lability in both the current and prior years The deduction inthe periodis £441m

The Group considers this cost to be an adjusted tem, despite its recurrning nature, as the charges are significant in nature and value ineach
perad to the results of the Group

UK logistics (£9.8m credit)

Anet credit of £9 8m has beenrecognised inthe year relating to an updated view of the estimated closure costs of legacy logistics sites
associated with the transition to a single tier distribution network This credit largely anses following a decision to retain twoe logistics
warehouses within the network which had previously been identified for closure This net credit 1s considered to be anadjusted item,
consistent with treatment in previous penods whenthe onginal charges were recognised as an adjusted item

Legal settlements (£9.8m credit)
During the year, the Group has reached various legal settlements resulting in a net credit to the ncome staternent of £9 8m No further
detailis provided in respect of these legal settlements due to the requirement to comply with confidentiality clauses within the agreements

The settlements are considered to be adjusted items as they are significant in value to the results of the CGroup or to the segment

6 FINANCE INCOME/COSTS

2017 2006

£m £

Bank and other interest receivable 6.6 58
Unwind of discount on financial instruments 0.3 -
Pension net finance income (see note 11) 293 153

Finance income 36.2 211
Interest on bank borrowings {2.8) (36)
Interest payable on syndicated bank facility {4.3) (55)
interest payable cn medium-term notes (81.2) (899}
Interest payable cn finance leases (1.9) {19)
Unwind of discount on fimancialinstruments - (o))
Unwind of discount on provisions (0.2) 04
Unwinding of discount on partnership bability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme (see note 12) (12.6) (147}
Finance costs {113.0) (116 4}

Net finance costs (76.8) (95.3)
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7 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

A. Taxation charge

207 2006
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the year at 20% {last year 20%)
—current year 933 1116
- adjustments in respect of prior years {17.4) (56)
UK current tax 809 1060
QOverseas current taxation
—current year 8.9 124
—adjustments inrespect of pnor years 73 ©5
Total current taxation 97.1 1179
Deferredtax
-ongination and reversal of temporary differences (48.3) (28 3)
—adjustments (N respect of prior years 11.5 26
—-changes in taxrate 04 (78)
Total deferred tax (see note 23} (36.4) (335)
Total income tax expense 60.7 844
B. Taxation reconciliation
The effective tax rate was 34 4% (Last year 17 3%) and is reconciled below
2m7 2016
£m £
Profit before tax 176.4 4888
Notional taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 20% (last year 20%) 353 978
Depreciation and cther amounts inrelation to fixed assets that do not qualify for tax relief 4.7 23
Other income and expenses that are not taxable or allowable for tax purposes {0.7) (96)
Retranslation of deferred tax balances due to the change in statutory UK tax rates (3.9) (78)
Overseas profits taxed at rates different to those of the UK {2.3) (43)
Overseas tax losses where there s no relief anticipated in the foreseeable future 0.5 37
Adjustments to the current and deferred tax charges in respect of prior periods 14 (35)
Adjusteditems
-depreciation and other armountsin relation to fixed assets that do not qualify for tax relief - 26
— UK store impairments and strategic programmes — UK store estate where no tax relief s available 7.7 -
- International store closures and imparments where no tax relief 1s available 260 153
-strategic programmes - UK crganisation and logistics ncome and expenses that are not taxable
or allowable for tax purposes {1.7) -
- profits and losses on property disposals - {15)
—acquisition of Lima {(Bradford) S arl - (54
- retranslation of deferred tax balances due to the change in statutory UK tax rates 4.3 -
- overseas profits taxed at rates different to those of the UK (10.6) (52)
Total income tax expense 60.7 844

After excluding adjusted items, the adjusted effective tax rate was 199% {last year 17 2%)

On 15 September 2016, the Finance Billreceved Royal Assent to enact the previously announced reductions in the rate of corporation tax
to 19%from 1 Apnl 2017 and 17% from 1 Apnl 2020 The Croup has remeasured its UK deferred tax assets and labilities at the end of the
reporting penod at the rates of 19% and 17% based on an expectation of when those balances are expected to unwind Thus has resulted in
the recogrition of a deferred tex charge of £04m in the income statermnent and the recognition of a deferred tax credit of £11 0min other

comprehensive income
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7 INCOME TAX EXPENSE CONTINUED
B. Taxation reconciliation continued

2017 2016
£m Em
Profit before taxation 176.4 488 8
Netional taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 20% (last year 20%) 35.3 978
Disallowable accounting depreciation and other similar iterns 90.2 854
Deductible capital allowances {67.2) (715)
Allowable deductions for employee share schemes 1.0 (34)
Allowable deducthions for employee pension schemes {1.7) (134)
Overseas profits taxed at rates different to those of the UK (2.3} 43)
Owverseas taxlosses where there s noimmediate relief 0.5 37
Other income and expenses that are not taxable or allowable a8 76
Adjustediterns
- UK store impairments and strategic programmes - UK store estate where no tax relief 1s avallable 173 210
—International store closures and impairments where no tax relief 1s availatle 27.3 -
~strategic programmes - UK orgamisation and logistics income and expenses that are not taxable
or allowable for tax purposes {1.8) -
- pay and pensions where tax relief 1s duein the future 25.4 -
- profits and losses on property disposals - {05)
— UK property and investment deductions where no tax relief 1s avalable - 75
- Lima (Bradford) S arlacguisition accounting - {54)
- embedded derivative - 47
- overseas profits taxed at rates different to those of the UK {10.6) (52
Current year cuirent tax charge 107.2 1240
Represented by:
UK current year current tax 98.3 mas
QOverseas current year current tax 8.9 124
107.2 1240
UK adjustrments in respect of prior years {17.4) (56)
Qverseas adjustments in respect of prnor years 73 (05)

Total current taxation {note 7A) 97.1 1179
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8 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share s based on earnings after tax and the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue
during the year

The adjusted earnings per share figures have also been calculated based on earnings befere adjusted items that are significant in nature
and/cr value (see note 5) These have been presented to provide shareholders with an additional measure of the Croup's year-on-year
performance

For diluted earnings per share, the waighted average number of ordinary shares inissue 1s adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares The Group has four types of dilutive petential ordinary shares being those share cptions granted to employees
where the exercise price 1s less than the average market price of the Company's ordinary shares during the year, unvested shares

granted under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan, unvested shares granted under the Restricted Share Plan, and unvested shares within

the Performance Share Plan that have met the relevant performance conditions at the end of the reporting peried

Details of the adjusted earmings per share are set out below

207 e
£m £m
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company n7 4069
Add/(less) (net of tax)
Strategic programmes
- changes to pay and pensions 128.6 -
- UK organisabion 203 -
- UK store estate 46.5 305
—Internationat store closures and impalrments 120.8 252
UK store impairments and onerous lease charges 1.3 -
M&S Bank charges incurred in relation to the insurance mis-selling provision 35.3 402
UK logstics {9.2) (73)
Legal settlements (7.9) -
Qther Imparrments - 859
IAS 39 fair value movement of embedded derivative - 16
Net gan on acquisition of joint venture holding Bradford warehouse - 97
Profit before adjusted items attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 4928 5733
Milbon Millicn
Weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue 1,623.1 16359
Potentially ditutive share options under the Croup's share option schemes 8.0 6.3
Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares 1,631.1 16422
Pence Pence
Basic earnings per share 7.2 249
Diluted earnings per share 72 248
Adjusted basic earnings per share 304 350
Adjusted diluted earnings per share 30.2 349
9 DIVIDENDS
207 2016 2017 2016
per share per share £m Em
Dividends on equity ordinary shares
Paid final dwvidend 11.9p 16p 1927 190 8
Specialdividend 4.6p - 74.5 -
Paid interim dividend 6.8p 68p 110.3 1109
23.3p 184p 3775 3017

The directors have proposed a final dividend inrespect of the year ended 1 Apnl 2017 of 11 9p per share (last year 119p),amounting toa
dividend of £193 3m(last year £192 7m} This payment 1s subject to approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (ACM), tobe

held on 11 July 2017

A dividend reinvestment plan {DRIF) 1s available to sharehoiders who would prefer to invest their dividends in the shares of the Company
The shares will go ex-dividend on 1 June 2017 For those shareholders electing to receve the DRIP, the last date for receipt of a new election

15 23 June 2017
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10 EMPLCYEES

A. Aggregate remuneration
The aggregate remuneration and associated costs of Croup employees (including the Operating Committee) were

2017 2016

Total Total

£m £m

Wages and salaries 1,333.8 1,278 8
Socialsecurity costs 89.7 806
Pensioncosts 100.3 1020
Share-based payments (see note 13) 10.6 160
Employee welfare and cther personnel costs 471 467
Capitalised staffing costs (28.9) (374)
Total aggregate remuneration’ 1,552.6 14867

1 Excludes amounts recognised withinadjusted itemns {see note 5) such as the transition payments the Group has committed to in respect of removal of premia ardredundancy casts
associated with the UK andInternational strategic programmes

Detals of key managernent compensation are giveninnote 28

B. Average monthly number of employees

2017 2016
UK stores
—management and supervisory categories 5,617 5,696
—other 66,385 63,733
UK head office
- management and supervisory categores 3,172 3,91
-other 862 881
UK operations
- management and supervisory categories 191 257
—other 1,267 1,127
Overseas 7,445 B.063
Total average number of employees 84,939 82948

If the number of hours worked was converted on the basis of a normal working week, the equivalent average number of full-ime employees
would have been 59764 {last year 58,895)

11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group provides pension arrangements for the benefit of its UKemployees through the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme
(a defined benefit (DB) arrangement) and Your M&S Pension Saving Plan (a defined contribution {DC) arrangement)

The UK DB pension scherne operated on a final salary basis and i1s governed by a Trustee board which 1s independent of the Croup

On closure of the UK DB pension scheme, all remaning active members moved to deferred status which resulted in a curtailment charge
of £1270m There will be no future service charge relating to the scheme and no future monthly employer contributions for current service
At year end the UK DB pension scherme had no active members (last year 11,176), 62,655 deferred members (last year 53,589) and 51,198
pensioners (last year 51,047}

The most recent actuaral valuation of the Marks and Spencer UK Pension Scherme was carrnied out as at 31 March 2015 and showed a funding
surplus of £204m During the year the Croup paid the final contribution of £28m, as agreed at the 2012 actuarial valuation, inrespect of
benefits already accrued by members Inaddition, the UK DB pension scheme will continue to receive income frorm the Scottish Limited
Partnership See Note 12 for further details

The DC planis a pensicn plan under which the Croup pays contributions to an independently administered fund Such contributions are
based upon a fixed percentage of employees’ pay The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions to the
fund once the contnbutions have been paid Members'benefits are determined by the amount of contnbutions paid by the Croup andthe
member, together with the Investment returns earned on the contnbutions arsing from the performance of each individual’'s nvestments
and how eachmember chooses to receive their retiremnent benefits As aresult, actuanal risk {that benefits will be lower than expected)
and investment nisk (that assets invested inwili not perform n line with expectations) fall on the employee At the year end, the defined
contribution arrangement had some 53,661 active members (last year 40,712)and some 12,866 deferred members {last year 8,823)

The Croup also aperates a small funded DB pension scheme inthe Republic of Ireland Thus scheme closed to future accrualon
31 October 2013 Other retirement benefits also include a UK post-retirement healthcare scheme and unfunded retirement benefits

The totat Group retirement benefit cost was £198 4m (last year £86 7m) Of this, £148 Om (last year £41 0m) relates to the UK DB pensicn
scheme including curtalment charges, £45 Tm (tast year £40 3m) to the UK DC planand £5 3m {last year £5 4m) to other retirernent
benefit schemes
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11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS CONTINUED

By funding its DB pension schemes, the Group 1s exposed to the nsk that the cost of meeting its obligations s ugher than anticipated
This could occur for severalreasons, for example

= Investment returns on the schemes' assets may be lower than anticipated, especially if falts in asset values are not matched by similar
falls in the value of the schernes’labilities

- The level of price inflaticn may be higher than that assumed, resutting in higher payments from the schemes

= Scheme members may bve longer than assumed, for example due to advances in healthcare Members may also exercise (or not exercise)
optioens inaway that lead to Increases in the schemes Labilities, for example through early retirement or commutation of pension
forcash

- Legislative changes could also lead to an increase inthe schemes labilities

Inaddition, the Group 1s exposed to additional nsks through its obligation to the UK DB pensicn scheme viaits nterest in the Scottish
Limited Partnership (see note 12) In particular, under the legal terms of the Partnership, a default by the Croup onthe rental payments
to the Partnership or a future change in legislation could tngger earlier or higher payments ta the pension scheme, or anincrease in the
collateral to be provided by the CGroup

A. Pensions and other post-retirement liabilities

2007 2018
£m £m
Total market value of assets 10,135.1 856153
Present value of scheme Liabilities {9,433.3) (7682 3)
Net funded pension plan asset 701.8 8330
Unfunded retirement benefits {1.0) (09)
Post-retirement healthcare (8.0} (80)
Net retirement benefit surplus 692.8 8241
Anatysed in the statement of financial position as
Retirement benefit asset 706.0 8510
Retirement benefit deficit {(13.2) (269)
Net retirement benefit surplus 692.8 8241

in the event of a plan wind-up, the pension scheme rules provide M&S with an unconditional night to a refund of surplus assets assurming
the full settlement of plan labilities In the ordinary course of business, the Trustees have no rights to wind up or change the benefits due
to members of the scheme As a result, any net surplus inthe UK DB pension scheme s recognised in full

B. Financial assumptions

The financial assumpticns for the UK DB pension scheme and the maost recent actuanal valuations of the other post-retirement schemes
have been updated by Independent gualified actuares to take account of the requirements of IAS 19 Employee Benefits in order to assess
the Labilsties of the schemes and are as foliows

2017 2016

% %
Rate of Increase in salaries N/A 10
Rate of Increase in pensions in payment for service 2.0-3.2 19-30
Discount rate 255 340
inflationrate 3.20 295
Long-term healthcare cost Increases 7.20 695

1 Rateof ncrease in salaries is no longer applicable as the UK DB pension scheme s closed to future accrual
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11 RETIREMENT BENEFITS CONTINUED
C. Demographic assumptions
The UK demographic assumptions are inlne with those adopted for the tast Formal actuarial valuation of the scheme performed as at
31 March 2015 The UK post-retirement mortality assumptions are based onan analysis of the pensioner mortality trends under the
scheme for the pernod to March 2015 The specific mortality rates used are based on the VITA lite tables The Life expectancies underlying
the valuation are as follows

2017 2016

Current pensicners @t age 65) -males 23.2 231
—female 24.7 246

Future pensioners — currently Inactive status (at age 65)  —males N/A! 236
—fernale NN 262

Future pensioners - currently in deferred status (at age 65) -males 24.7 241
-female 271 264

1 Nofuture pensioners currently in an active status Allemployees inthe UK DB pension scheme are indeferred status due to thedecision to close the scheme to future accrual from
1 AP 2017

D. Sensitivity analysis
The table below summmanses the estimated iImpact of changes in the prinaipal actuanal assumptions on the UK DB pension scheme surplus

o7 016

£m £m

Decrease in scheme surplus caused by a decrease inthe discount rate of 0 25% (70.0) (900)
Decrease in scheme surplus caused by a decrease nthe inflation rate of 0 25% (20.0) 200
Increase in scheme surplus caused by a decrease nthe average Ufe expectancy of one year 370.0 3000

The sensitivity analysis above is based on a change in one assurmption while holding all others constant Therefore interdependencies
between the assumptions have not been taken into account within the analysis

E. Analysis of assets

Thenvestrment strategy of the UK DB pension scherne s dniven by its baoiity profile, ncludingits nflabon-linked pension benefits

In addition toits interestin the Scottish Limited Partnership (see note 12), the scheme invests in different types of bonds (Including
corporate bonds and gilts) and derivative nstrument s (Including inflation, interest rate, cross-currency and total return swaps) in order
to align movernents in the value of its assets with movements in its babilties ansing from changes in market conditions Broadly, the
scheme has hedging that covers 92% of interest rate movements and 90% of Inflation movements, as measured on the Trustees’ funding
assumptions which use a discount rate dernved from gilt yields

The farr value of the total plan assets at the end of the reporting penod for each category s as follows

2017 2016
£m £m
Debt investrments
- government bonds net of repurchase agreements' 5,219.7 41657
- corporate bonds 9019 105872
- asset-backed securities and structured debt 5479 4590
Scottish Limited Partnership interest (see note 12) 21 4695
Equity iInvestments - quoted 1,504.0 10475
Equity investments - unguoted 3151 2367
Property 509.3 4207
Dervatives
—interest andinflationrate swap contracts (28.9) (1015)
- foreign exchange contracts and other derivatives 204.2 1420
Hedge and remnsurance funds 3220 179
Cash and cash equivalents 158.3 1905
Other 69.5 1091
10,135.1 85153

1 Repurchaseagreements were £1,3339m (last year £1,3330m)

All pensicn assets have quoted prices in an active market with the exception of £1,444 9m (tast year £1,219 'm) of unquoted assets The fair
values of the above equity and debt investments are based on publicly avalable market prices whereveravallable Ungucted investments,
hedge funds and reinsurance funds are stated at farr value estimates provided by the manager of the investment or fund Property ncludes
both queoted and unquoted investments The fairvalue of the Scottish Limited Partnership interest 1s based on the expected cash flows and
benchmark asset-backed credit spreads It 1s the policy of the scheme to hedge a proportion of Interest rate and inflation risk The scheme
reduces Its foreign currency exposure using forward foreign exchange contracts

At year end, the UK schermes (UK DB pension scheme and post-retirement healthcare) incirectty held 193,506 (last year 169,509} ordinary
shares inthe Company through its investment in UK Equity Index Funds
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F. Analysis of amounts charged against profits
Amounts recognised incomprehensive income inrespect of retirerment benefit plans are as follows

2017 2016
£m £m
Current service cost 96.5 980
Administration costs 3.2 30
Past service costs — curtalment charge 128.0 10
Net interest ncome (29.3) (153)
Total 198.4 867
Remeasurement onthe net defined benefit surplus
—actual return on scheme assets excluding amounts included innet interest ncome (1,543.8) 1563
—actuanial gain - experience (1.5) (164 8)
- actuanalloss - demographic assumptions - 1008
—actuanal (gain)/loss - financial assumptions 1,614.2 (4385)
Components of defined benefit cost recognised in other comprehensive income 68.9 (346 2)
G. Scheme assets
Changes in the fair value of the scherne assets are as follows
27 2016
£m £m
Fair value of scheme assets at start of year 8,515.3 8,5965
Interest iIncorme based on discount rate 2849 2624
Actualreturn on scheme assets excluding amounts included in net interest ncome' 1,543.8 (156 3)
Employer contributions 137.0 1184
Benefits pad (347.7) [€112]
Administration costs {3.0) (30)
Exchange movernent 4.8 90
Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 10,135.1 85153
1 Theactualreturnonscherne assets wasa gan of £1,828 7m (last year gain of £106 1m)
H. Pensions and other post-retirement liabilities
Changes inthe present value of retirement benefit obligations are as follows
2007 2016
£m Em
Present value of obligation at start of year 7,691.2 81475
Current service cost 96.5 980
Administrabion costs 0.2 -
Curtalment charge 128.0 10
Interest cost 255.6 2471
Benefits paid {347.7) BN7)
Actuanal gain - experience {1.5) (164 8)
Actuarnalloss — demographic assumpbions - 1008
Actuanal loss/(gain) - financial assumptions 1,614.2 (438 5)
Exchange movement 5.8 s
Present value of obtigation at end of year 9,442.3 769172
Analysed as:
Present value of pension scheme Liabilities 94333 76823
Unfunded pensionplans 1.0 09
Post-retirement healthcare 8.0 80
Present value of obligation at end of year 9,442.3 76912

The average duration of the defined benefit obligationat 1 Aprl 201715 19 years (last year 18 years)
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12 MARKS AND SPENCER SCOTTISH LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Marks and Spencer plc s a general partner and the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Schemeis a imited partner of the Marks and Spencer
Scottish Limited Partnership (the Partnership) Under the partnership agreement, the Umited partners have no involverment inthe
management of the business and shall not take any part i the control of the partnership The general partner i1s responsible for the
management and control of the partnership and as such, the Partnership s consolidated into the results of the Croup

The Partnership hoids £1 6on {tast year £16bn) of properties which have been leased back to Marks and Spencer plc at market rates The
Croup retains control over these properties, including the flexibibity to substitute alternative properties nto the Partnershic The first mited
partnership interest {held by the Marks and Spencer UK Pension Scheme), entitles the Pension Scheme to receive an annual distribution of
£719muntil 2022 from the Partnership The second partnership interest (also held by the Marks and Spencer UK Pension Scheme), entitles
the Pension Scheme torecerve a further £36 4rn annually from 2017 until 2031

The partnership Uability in relation to the first nterest of £396 5m (last year £455 7rm)is valued at the net present value of the future
expected distributions from the Partnership During the year to 1 April 2017 aninterest charge of £12 6m (last year £14 7m) was recognised
N the Income statement representing the unwind of the discount Included in this obligation

The first imited partnership interest of the Pension Scheme 1s included within the UK DB Pension Scheme assets, valuedat £412 1m

(Last year £469 5m) Itis also included as a Liability on the Group's statement of financial position as it 1s a transferable inancial instrument
The second partnership interest s not a transferable financial instrument and therefore 1s not included as a plan asset inaccordance
with IAS 19 The associated labilty 1s elminated onconsclidation

13 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

This year acharge of £10 6m was recognised for share-based payments {last year charge of £16 0m) Of the total share-based payments
charge, £109m {last year £9 5m) relates to the Save As You Earn Scheme and a credit of £3 6m (last yvear charge of £1 1m}relates tothe
Perfarmance Share Plan The recnawwng charge of £3 3m (last year £5 4m)is spread gver the gther share plans Anadditonalcharge of £13m
was recogrised inrelation to the Annual Bonus Scherme for 2016/17 under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan Further details of the operation
of the Group share plans are provided in the Remuneration Report onpages 66 to 78

A. Save As You Earn Scheme

The SAYE Scheme was last approved by shareholders i 2007 and shareholder approvalis being sought at the 2017 AGM Lo renew tha
scherme for a further ten years Under the terms of the scheme, the Board rmay offer options te purchase ordinary shares in the Company
once N each financial year to those employees who enter into an Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (HMRC) approved SAYE savings
contract The Company has chosen to cap the maximum monthly saving amaount at £250 whichis below the £500 per menth allowed
under HMRC approved schermes The price at which options may be offered)is 80% of the average rmid-market price for three consecutive
dealing days preceding the offer date The options may normally be exercised during the six-month period after the completion of the
SAYE contract

2017 2016

Number of Weighted average Numberof  Weightedaverage

options exeToise prite GPUONS exerCise phte

Qutstanding at beginning of the year 30,154,547 393.3p 29,530,523 3576p
Cranted 28,166,455 260.0p 10,437,215 4320p
Exercised (1,763,039) 312.8p (6,645922) 302 6p
Farfeited (12,881,484) 391.8p (2,967,697) 3825p
Expired {382,385) 355.2p (199572} 3172p
Qutstanding at end of year 43,294,094 310.6p 30,154,547 3933p
Exercisable at end of year 4928971 403.5p 1936860 3153p

For SAYE share options exercised dunng the period, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 387 4p (last year 443 9p)
The fair values of the options granted duning the year have been calculated using the Black-Scholes model assurming the nputs shown below

2007 2007 200 2006
3-year plan 2016  3-year plan 2015

3.year plan modified' modified' 3-yearplan

Crant date Nov 16 Nov 16 Nov 16 Nov 15
Share price at grant date 335p 335p 335p 520p
Exercise price 260p 432p 369p 432p
Optientlife in years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Risk-free rate 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 09%
Expected volatility 28.5% 28.5% 28.5% 234%
Expected dividend yield 56% 5.6% 5.6% 37%
Fair value of option 66p 19p 30p 96p
Incrernental far value of aption N/A 47p 36p -

1 Inthecurrent year there has beena modification to the 2017 scheme relating to employees cancelung awards from previous years i subsitubion for awards granted under the 2017
scheme The fair value of the modified awards will be amcrtised based on the wcremental faif value The incrementalfar value s the difference petween the fair value of the 2017 options,
being 66p, andthe fair value of repriced previous awards, calculated using 2017 award assumptions, keeping the initial exercise price consistent The farr value of the modified options,
belng 19p for 2016 moedified options and 30p for 2015 modified options,1s already recogrised in operating profit
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13 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
Volatiuty has been estimated by taking the histonc volatiity in the Company's share price over a three-year period

The resutting fair value is expensed over the service penod of three years on the assurnption that 10% (last year 10%) of cptions will lapse
over the service period as employees leave the Group

Qutstanding options granted under the UK Employees SAYE Scheme are as follows

Weighted average remainmg

Number of options contractuallife {years)

Options granted znz 2016 207 2016 Qpticnprice
January 2013 - 1,917,252 - 02 312p
January 2004 4,854,749 5,918,608 0.2 12 405p
January 2015 6,280,741 12,334,645 1.2 22 369p
January 2016 4,676,198 9,984,042 2.2 32 432p
January 2017 27,482,406 - 32 - 260p

43,294,094 30,154,547 2.5 23 Np

B. Performance Share Plan*

The Performance Share Plan s the primary long-term incentive plan for approximately 120 of the most serior managers within the Croup
It was first approved by shareholders at the 2005 ACM and again at the 2015 AGM Under the plan, annual awards, based on a percentage of
satary, may be offered The extent to which an award vests 1s measured over a three-year period against financial targets which for 2016/17
included Adjusted Earnings Per Share, Return on Capital Employed and free cash flow The value of any dividends earned on the vested
shares durning the three years willalse be paid on vesting Further details are set out in the Remuneration Report onpages 66 to 78

Awards under this plan have been made in each year since 2005

During the year, 7569499 shares (last year 5,850,134} were awarded under the plan The weighted average far value of the shares awarded
was 328 Op (last year 533 2p) Asat 1 April 2017, there were 14,816,764 shares (last year 15,749,605) outstanding under the plan

C. Deferred Share Bonus Plan*

The Deferred Share Bonus Plan was introducedin 2005/06 as part of the Annual Bonus Scheme for approximately 500 of the most senior
managers within the Group As part of the Scherme, the managers are required to defer a proportion of any bonus paid into shares which
will be held for three years There are no further performance conditions on these shares, other than continued employment within the
Croupand the value of any dividends earned on the vested shares dunng the deferred period will also be paid on vesting

Duning the year, 1,563,439 shares (last year 1,044,961) have been awarded under the plan inrelation to the annual bonus The fair value of
the shares awarded was 355 8p (last year 548 3p) As at 1 April 2017, there were 3,033,709 shares (last year 2,586,096) outstanding under
the plan

D. Restricted Share Plan*

The Restricted Share Pian was establshed in 2000 as part of the reward strategy for retention and recruitment of senior managers who are
vital to the success of the business The plan operates for senior rmanagers below executive director level Awards vest at the end of the
restricted period (typically between one and three years) subject to the participant stillbeing in the employment of the Company onthe
relevant vesting date The value of any dwvidends earned on the vested shares during the restricted period will also be paid on vesting

Dunng the year, 321,229 shares (last year 221,681) have been awarded under the plan The weighted average fair value of the shares awarded
was 326 6p (last year 454 4p) Asat 1 Apnl 2017, there were 888,027 shares (last year 1,285,666) outstanding under the plan

E. Republic of Ireland Save As You Earn Scheme

Sharesave, the Company’s SAYE Scheme was introduced n 2009 to all ernployeesin the Republic of Ireland for a ten-year penod, after
approval by shareholders at the 2009 AGM The scherne (s subject to Insh Revenue rules which bmit the maximum monthly saving to

€600 per month The Company chose in 2009 to set a monthly savings cap of €320 par month to align the maximum savings amount to
that allowed within the UK scheme The price at which options may be offered 1s 80% of the average mid-market price for three consecutive
dealing days preceding the offer date The options may normally be exercised durning the six-month penod after the completion of the
SAYE contract

Dunng the year, 324,768 options {last year 160,113) were granted, at a fair value of 66 3p (last year 95 &6p) As at 1 April 2017, there were
521,837 options (last year 312,826) outstanding under the scheme

F. Marks and Spencer Employee Benefit Trust

The Marks and Spencer Employee Benefit Trust (the Trust) holds 2,173,101 (last year 4087,837) shares with abook value of £10 7m (last year
£206m)and amarket value of £7 3m (Last vear £16 6m) These shares were acquired by the Trust in the market and are shown as a reduction
inretained earnings in the consolidated staterment of financial position Awards are granted to employees at the discretion of Marks and
Spencer plc and the Trust agrees to satisfy the awards in accordance with the wishes of Marks and Spencer plc under senior executive share
plans described above Dividends are waived onall of these shares

G. ShareBuy
ShareBuy, the Company’s Share Incentive Plan enables the participants to buy shares directly from their gross salary This scheme does not
attract an IFRS 2 charge

* Nilcost options Forthe purposes of calcutating the number of shares awarded, the share price usedis the average of the mid-market price for the five consecutve dealing days
preceding the grant date

QUR BUSINESS

CUR PERFGRMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



14
MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
L ________________________________________________ |

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer software

Computer under
Goodwil| Brands software develcpment Total
£rn Em £m £mn £m
At 28 March 2015
Cost or valuation 1297 125 1.0877 866 14165
Accumulated amortisation and mpairrments (34 4) (55 8) (4669 12 (558 3)
Net book value 953 567 6208 8L 4 8582
Year ended 2 April 2016
Opening net book value 953 567 6208 854 8582
Additions 62 - 929 939 1930
Transfers - - 92 (91 2) -
Assetimpalirments (191) (325) {221} - (737)
Asset write-offs - - (119) (14 5) {264)
Amortisation charge - 53 (143 4) - {1487)
Exchange difference 03 02} 02 01 04
Closing net book value 827 187 6277 737 8028
At 2 Aprit 2016
Cost or valuation 1362 123 1,2720 894 16099
Accumulated amortisation, impairrments and write-offs (535) (936) {644 3) (157) (8071)
Net book value 827 187 6277 737 8028
Year ended 1 April 2017
Opening net book value 82.7 18.7 6277 73.7 802.8
Additions - - 0.3 100.8 101.1
Transfers - - 95.8 {102.6) {11.8)
Asset impairments - - 6.1 {5.1) 1.0
Asset write-offs - - (9.6) {2.9) (12.5)
Amertisation charge - (5.3) (162.1) - (167.4)
Other' (5.5) - - - {5.5}
Exchange difference 1.2 - 0.2 {0.1) 1.3
Closing net book value 78.4 13.4 558.4 58.8 709.0
At 1 April 2017
Cost or valuation 137.4 112.3 1,368.3 82.5 1,700.5
Accumulated amortisation, impairments and write-offs (59.0) (98.9) (809.9) {23.7) (991.5)
Net book value 78.4 13.4 558.4 58.8 709.0
Goodwill relates to the following
per una India UK Total goodwill
£m £m Em £m
Net book value at 2 April 2016 69.5 7.0 6.2 82.7
Exchange difference - 1.2 - 1.2
Qther' - - (5.5} (5.5)
Net book vatue at 1 April 2017 69.5 8.2 07 784

1 Other adjustments relate to the adiustment of provision values for business combinations related to the acquisition of Lima (Bradford) S ar Lin the prior year
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Impairment testing

GCoodwillis not amortised but tested annually forimpairment with the recoverable amcunt being determined from value nuse calculations
Coodwillhas been allocated fer impairment testing purposes to groups of cash-generating units (COUs) which include the combined retail
and wholesale businesses for eachlocation

The costs inrelation to the per una branc are £80 Om (net book value £13 4m) The per una brand s a definite Ufe Intangible asset amortised
ona straight-line basis over a pericd of 15 years and 1s only assessed for imparrment where such indicators exist

The value in use calculations are based on the Group's latest budget and forecast cash flows, covenng a three-year penod, which have
regard to histonic performance and knowledge of the current market, together with the Croup's views on the future achievable growth
and the mpact of committed cash flows The cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintam the store network, but
exclude any growth capital initiatives not committed Cash flows beyond this three-year penod are extrapelated using a flat long-term
growthrate for the UKand with reference to forecast CDP growth for india These growth rates do not exceed the long-term growthrates
for the Group’s retail businesses in these terntories

White management believes the assumptions used are realistic, it 1s possible that a further impairment could be identified for per una,
Bradford or india if any of the above key assumphions were changed significantly A sensitivity analysis has been performed oneach of
these key assumptions with other vanables held constant Management has concluded that there are no reasonably possible changes
inany key assumptions that would cause the carrying amount of goodwill or brands to exceed the value nuse

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Assetsinthe

Fixtures, fittings course of
| andand bulldings and equipment construction Total
£m £m £n frm

At 28 March 2015
Cost 285651 70664 1333 10,054 8
Accumulated depreciation, imparments and write-offs {3398) {46723) re) (5.0237)
Net book value 25153 23941 1217 50311
Year ended 2 April 2016
Qpening net book value 25153 2,394 1217 50311
Additions 1152 2046 1383 4581
Transfers 17 1868 {188 5) —
Disposals 50 [(e]5)] - (56)
Asset impairments (304) (24 3) (19) (56 6)
Asset write-offs - (29) - 29)
Depreciabon charge (13 3) {400 8) - {4141)
Exchange difference 14 59 {02) 171
Closing net book value 2,5949 2,3628 694 50271
At 2 April 2016
Cost 29816 74763 829 105408
Accumulated depreciation, impairments and write-offs {(3867) (51135) (135) (55137}
Net book vatue 25949 23628 694 50271
Year ended 1 April 2017
Opening net book value 2,594.9 2,362.8 69.4 5,027.1
Additicns - 76.2 209.0 285.2
Transfers 174 189.6 {196.2) 10.8
Disposals {0.6) (1.0) - {1.6)
Assetimpairments {11.6) (68.6) {1.9) (82.1)
Asset write-offs (6.0) (1.8) (2.5) (10.3)
Depreciation charge {16.3) (394.5) - {410.8)
Exchange difference 10.0 9.2 0.3 19.5
Closing net book value 2,587.8 2,171.9 78.1 4,837.8
At 1 April 2017
Cost 3,008.4 7,750.3 96.0 10,854.7
Accumulated depreciation, impairments and write-offs {420.6) {5,578.4) (17.9) (6,016.9)
Net book value 2,587.8 2,179 78.1 4,837.8

The net book value above includes land and buildings of £42 1m (last year £42 Br)and equiprent of nil {last year £0 2m) where the Croupis
alessee under a finance lease

Additions to property, plant and equipment durning the year amounting to £ril (last year £ril) were financed by finance leases
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
For imparment testing purposes, the Group has determined that each store 1s a separate CCU with the exception of outlet stores which are
considered together as one CCU Each CCU is tested for mparrment at the balance sheet date f any ndicators of impairment have been
identified The recoverable value of each CCU s determined to be the tugher of value i use and farr vailue less costs to sell

The value inuse of each CGU is calculated based on the Croup's latest budget and forecast cash flows, covering a three-year period, which
have regard to histonc performance and knowledge of the current market, together with the Group's views on the future achievable growth
andthempact of committedinitiatives The cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintain the store network, but
exclude any growth capital inctiatives not comimetted Cash flows beyond thus three-year penod are extrapclated using a flat long-term
growth rate for UK stores and with reference to forecast CDP growth for other territories These growth rates do not exceed the long-term
growth rate forthe Croup's retail businesses in these terntones

The key assurmptions in the value in use calculations are the growth rates of sales and gross profit margins, changes i the operating cost
base, long-term growth rates and the risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Croup's weighted
average cost of capital, taking into account the cost of capital and borrowings, to which specific market-related premium adjustments are
made for each territory The pre-tax discount rates range from 7% to 21% {last year 7% to 24%)

Where appropriate, farr value less cost to sellis determined with regard to the expected rent and yield for each property and reflect the
specific characteristics relevant to each property and the location inwhich it is based The fairvalues have been determined with the
assistance of ndependent, professional valuers

Dunngthe year the Group has recogmsed anet impairment charge of £43 4rm {grossimpairment charge of £475m offset by animpairment
reversal of £4 1m)as a result of store :mparrment testing The gross impairrment charge relates primarily to stores in the UK and Hong Kong,
with the reversal of impairment relating to stores inlreland due largely to the movement in the Sterling to Euro currency rate These
imparments, ncluding the reversal, have beenrecognised within adjusted items (see Note 5)

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the impairment tests for its UK store portfolio using various reasonably possible
scenarios Anincrease of one percentage point in the past-tax discount rate would have resulted in an increase to the impairment charge
of £6 5m Neither a 2% reduction in year one sales growth nor a 20bps reduction in totat UK margin would result in a significant increase to
the mpairment charge

Inaddition the Group has recognised addibonal impairment charges of £27 3m asscoiated with stores approved for closure during the year,
£131m associated with the exit from owned stores in ten international markets and £5 7m associated with the rationalisation of UK Head
Offices Offsetting these charges were iImparrment reversals of £74m following anupdated view of the logistics strategy These net charges
have beenrecognised wathin adjusted items (see Note 5)

16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2017 2016
£m £m
Non-current
Unbsted investrments 3.0 30
Current
Short-term investments' 14.5 191

1 includes B3 3m{tast year £3 Brm) of money rarket deposit held oy Marks and Spencer pio in anescrow account

Non-current unlisted investments are carnied as avallable-for-sale assets Other financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in
their value taken to theincome staternent

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2007 2016
£m Frm
Non-current
Other recevables 15.1 129
Prepayments and accruedincome 219.0 2218
234 2347
Current
Trade recevables 1.0 1165
Less provision forimpairment of recevables {17} {07)
Trade receivables - net 109.3 1158
Other receivables 28.5 504
Prepayments and accrued income 180.8 1549
318.6 3211

Trade and other receivables that were past due but not impaired amounted te £20.8m{last vear £196m) and are mainly sterbing
denominated The directors consider that the carrying amourt of trade and other recevables approximates therr fair value Includedin
prepayments and accrued income s £31 5m(last year £19.4m) of accrued supplier ncome relating to rebates which have been earned but
not yet invoiced Supplierincome that has been inveiced but not yet settled against future trade creditor balances s included within trade
creditors where there s anght to offset The remaining amount) s immatenal
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cashand cash eguivalents are £468 6m (last year £247 6m) The carrying amount of these assets approximates therr farr value

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits 1s 0 21% {last year 0 51%) These deposits have an average maturity of eight days
(Last year 48 days)

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

m7 206
£m fm
Current
Trade and other payables 967.5 1,0219
Social security and other taxes 55.0 498
Accruals and deferred income 531.3 5460
1,553.8 16177
Non-current
QOther payabies , accruals and deferredincome 328.5 3530
20 BORROWINGS AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
2017 2016
£m £m
Current
Bank loans and overdrafts' 70.3 2071
Finance lease liabilities 0.4 04
6 250% USEE00m medium-term notes 20174 3281 -
Interest accrued on medium-term notes® 46.4 -
Revaluation of medurn-term notes® 72.8 -
518.0 2975
Non-current
Bank loans - 02
6 250% US$500m medium-term notes 20173 - 3279
£125% £400m mediim-term notes 20192 400.2 3993
6125% £ 300m medium-term notes 20217 297.8 2973
300% £300m rmediurmn-term notes 2023 296.3 -
4750% £400m medium-term notes 202525 3971 3968
7125% US$300m medium-term notes 2037384 191.9 1918
Interest accrued on medurn-term notes® - 422
Revaluation of medium-term notes® 80.1 710
Finance lease Labilities 48.3 48 2
1L,711.7 17747
Total 22297 20722

Bank loans and overdrafts include a £50m (last year £50rm) loan from the Hedge End Park Limited joint venture

These notes are 1ssued under Marks and Spencer plc s £3bn European medium-termnate programme and atl pay interest annually

interest on these bonds s payable serm-annually

US$500m and USE300m medium-term notes exposure swapped to sterling (fixed-to- fixed cross-currency nterest rate swaps)

The Croup occasionally enters intointerest swaps 1o manage inlerest rate exposure At year end, £425m {last year £425rm) was swapped from fixedto floating rate

The prior year comparatives have been splt to showthe interest aceruedon medurn-terrm notes and revatuation of medium-term notes on iIndviduat lne iterms to be nlinewith the
format of the current year note disclosure

PR ETO N

Finance leases

The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as shown in the table on the following page Itis the Croup's policy to lease
certan properties and equipment under finance (eases The weaighted average lease term for equipment 1s three years (last year four years}
and 95 years (last year 96 years) for property Interest rates are fixed at the contract rate All leases are onafixed repayment basis and no
arrangements have been entered into for contingent payments The Croup's cbligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors'
charges over the leased assets
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Treasury policy

The CGroup operates a centralised treasury function to manage the Group's funding requirements and financial risks in ne with the Board
approved treasury policies and procedures, and thewr delegatec authorities

The Group's financialinstruments, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources and vanous itemns, such as trade
receivables and trade payables that arise directly frem its operations The main purpose of these financial instruments s to finance the
Croup's operations

The Croup treasury function alsc enters into derwative transactions, principally interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and forward
currency contracts The purgose of these transactions 1s to manage the interest rate and foreign currency nsks ansing from the Group's
operations and financing

It remains the Group's policy not to hold or issue financial nstruments for trading purposes, except where financial constraints necessitate the
lguidation of any cutstanding investments The treasury function 1s managed as a cost centre and does not engage in speculative trading

Financial risk management
The principal financial neks faced by the Group are bguidity and funding, counterparty, foreign currency and interest rate rigks The policies
and strategies for managing these nisks are summarnised on the following pages

{a) Liquidity and funding risk
The risk that the Group could be unable to settle or meet ts obligations at a reascnable price as they fall due

- The Group's funding strategy ensures a rmix of funding sources offering sufficient headroom, matunty and flexitality and cost
effectiveness to match the requirements of the Group

- Marks and Spencer plc 1s financed by a combination of retained profits, bank borrowings, medium-term notes and committed
syndicated bank faciliues

- Operating subsidianes are financed by a combination of retained profits, bank borrowings and intercormpany loans

At the year end, the Group had a committed syndicated bank revolving credit facility of £1 1bn set to mature on 15 April 2027 Duringthe
current financigl year, the Croup extended the facilty by one year This faciity contains only one financial covenant, being the ratio of
earnings before Interest, tax, deprecation, amortisation and rents payable, to interest plus rents payable The covenant 1s measured semi-
annually The Group aitso has a number of undrawn uncormmitted facilities available to it At the year end, these amounted to £150m {last
year £100m), all of which are due to be reviewed within a year At the balance sheet date, a sterling equivalent of £nil (last year £205m) was
drawn under the committed facilibies and £nil{last year £30m) was drawn under the uncommitted faciibies

In addition to the existing borrowings, the Croup has a Euro Medium Term Note programme of £3bn, of which £1 4bn (last year £1 1bn) was in
155uance as at the balance sheet date A new £300m bond, set tomature in 2023, was issued under the Euro Mediurm Term Note programme
duning the financial year

The contractual maturity of the Group's non-derivative financial labibties (excluding trade and other payables (see note 19) and dernvatives,
ts as follows

Partnership

Labitty tothe Total
Marks & borrownngs Total
Bankloans Spencer UK and other derivative
and Syndicated Medwum term  Finance lease pansion financial Dervative Derivative assetsand
overdrafts  bankfaciity notes tabrlities {note 12) tabilities assets' Lizbibties' labilities
£m im £m £m £m £m £m £m fm
Timing of cash flows
Within one year (922 (2051) (98 6) 2 4) (719) (470 2} 175 (628) 547
Between one and two years - - (448 1) (26) (719) {5226} 3993 (362 6) 367
Between two and five years - - 6059) (71) (215 6) (828 6) 614 (4 2) 202
More than five years - - {1,3293) (1769) (1437) (16499 4656 (4270) 386
92 2) (2051) {24819} (1890) {503 1} {34713) 10438 (893 6} 1502
Effect of discounting - - 7556 1404 A7 4 9434
At 2 April 2016 (92 2) (2051 {17263} {48 6) (4557) (25279)
Timing of cash flows
\ithin one year {70.3) - (514.2) {2.5) (71.9) (658.9) 5436 {3734) 170.2
Between one and two years - - (88.0) (2.6) {71.9) (162.5) 26.7 (14.5) 12.2
Between two and five years - - (915.1) (7.3} {215.6) (1,138.0) 63.9 (41.2) 227
More than five years - - {1,309.0) (176.0) (71.9) (1,556.9) 519.5 {413.2) 106.3
(70.3} - {2,8263) (188.4) (431.3) (3,5163) 1,53.7 (842.3) na4
Effect of discounting - - 715.6 139.7 348 890.)
At 1 April 2017 (70.3) -~ {2,110.7) (48.7) (396.5) (2,626.2)

I Dervative cash flows are disclosed based on actual settlement Allderivatives are settlednet, except for currency swaps
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Financial risk management continued
(a} Liquidity and funding risk continued

The present value of finance lease labilibes 15 as follows

2017 2006

£m £m

Within one year (0.4) {04
Later than one year and not later than five years (1.6) {16)
Later than five years (46.7) (465)
Total (48.7) (480)

{b) Counterparty risk
Counterparty risk exists where the Group can suffer financial loss through default or non-performance by financialinstitutions with whem
It transacts

Exposures are managed in accordance with the Group's treasury poticy which bmits the value that can be placed with each approved
counterparty to mingmise the nsk of tess The minimurm long-term rating for all counterparties 1s long-term Standard & Poor's (A-)/Moody's
{A3)((BBB+/Baal for commmitted lending banks) Inthe event of a rating by one agency being different to the other, reference wili be made
to Fitch to determine the casting vote of the rating group Inthe absence of a Fitchrating, the lower rating will prevail Limits are reviewed
regularly by seror management The credit risk of these financial instruments is estimated as the fair value of the assets resulting from
the contracts

The table below analyses the Group's short-term investments and dervative assets by credit exposure excluding bank balances, store cash
and cashintransit

Credit rating of counterparty

AALT DAk Al AA- A A A- BEBB- Total

£m £m £m £rm £rr £m Em Em £m

Short terminvestments’ - - - 251 606 635 - - 1492
Dervative assets? - - - 426 333 234 - 18 2 1175
At 2 April 2016 - - - 677 a39 869 - 182 2667
AAAM AAA AA AA- Ae A A- BBB-« Total

£m £m £m tm fm £m £m £m £m

Short-term investments! - - - 174 149.3 185.0 - - 351.7
Derivative assets? - - - 62.8 84.1 19.0 - 41.0 206.9
At 1 ApniL2017 - - - 80.2 2334 204.0 - 41.0 558.6

I Includes cash ondeposit and money market funds held by Marks & Spencer Scottish Limited Partnership, Marks and Spencer plc and Marks and Spencer General Insurance Excludes cash
at hand andintransit of £1169m{last year £98 4m)
2 Standard &Poor's equivalent rating shown as reference to the majont y crecht rating of the counterparty from either Standard & Poor's, Moody s or Fitch where applicable

The Croup has very low retail credit risk due to transactions being principally of a high volume, low value and short maturity

The maximum exposure to credit nisk at the balance sheet date was as follows trade receivables £111m (last year £114m), other recaivables
£44m (last year £63m), cash and cash equivalents £469m (last year £248m) and dernvatives £220m (last year £146m)
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Financial risk management continued

{c) Foreign currency risk

Transactional foreign currency exposures arise primarily from theimport of goods sourced from overseas suppliers and also from the
export of goods from the UKto overseas subsichanies The maost significant exposure s to the US dollar incurred in the sourcing of clothing
and home products from Asia

Croup Treasury hedges these exposures principally using forward foreign exchange contracts progressively based on dynamic forecasts
from the business Hedging begins around 15 maonths ahead of the start of the season and s between 80% and 100% hedged nine months
before the start of the seascn

Other exposures from the export of goeds to overseas subsidiaries are also hedged progressively over the course of the year before
they are incurred As at the balance sheet date, the gross notional value in sterling terms of forward foreign exchange sell or buy contracts
amounted to £2,023m (last year £1,640m) with a weighted average matunty date of six months (last year five months)

Cains and losses In equity on forward foreign exchange contracts designated in cash flow hedge relationships as at 1 Aprl 2017 will be
released to the income statement at vanous dates over the follewing 17 months {last year 15 months) from the balance sheet date

The Croup also holds anumber of cross-currency swaps to designate its fixed rate US dollar debt to fixed rate sterung debt These are
reported as cash flow hedges

The Group uses a combination of foreign currency debt and derivatives to hedge balance sheet translation exposures As at the batance
sheet date €26m (last year €nil} and HK$190m (last year HK$1,245m) of derivatives were hedging overseas net assets

The Group also hedges foreign currency intercompany loans where these exist Forward foreign exchange contractsin relation to the
hedging of the Group's fereign currency mtercompany loans are designated as held for trading with fair value movements being recognised
nthencome statement The corresponding farr value movement of the intercompany loan balance resultedin a £2 3m gain (last year £nil)
intheincome staterment As at the balance sheet date, the gross notional value of intercompany loan hedges was £367m (last year £289m)

After taking into account the hedging derivatives entered into by the Croup, the currency and interest rate exposure of the Group's financial
habilities, excluding short-term payables and the lability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme, 1s set cut below

2017 016

Fixed rate Floating rate Total Fixedrate Floating rate Total
£m £m £m £m fm fm

Currency
Sterling 1,727.8 492.3 2,220.1 1,3437 7167 20604
Eurc 6.6 0.7 73 62 08 70
Ctiher Al 2.2 2.3 o1 47 48
1,734.5 495.2 2,2297 1,3500 7222 20727

The floating rate sterling and eurc borrowings are inked to interest rates related to LIBOR These rates are for penods between one and
sixmonths

As at the balance sheet date and excluding finance leases, the fixed rate sterling borrowings are at an average rate of 5 0% (last year § 3%)
and the weighted average time for which the rate s fixed 1s six years {last year sevenyears)

(d) Interest rate risk
The Croup is exposed to interest rate nskinrelation to sterling, US dollar and eurc vanable rate financial assets and Liabilities

The Croup's policy 1s to use dernvative contracts where necessary to maintain a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings to manage this risk
The structure and matunty of these dervatives correspond to the underlying borrowings and are accounted for as fair value or cash flow
hedges as appropriate

At the balance sheet date, fixedrate borrowings amounted to £1,734 5m (last year £1,3500m) representing the public bond issues and
finance leases, amounting to 78% (last year 65%} of the Group’s gross borrowings

The effective nterest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows

2017 2016

% %

Committed and uncommiitted borrowings 0.3 10
Medium-termnotes 5.0 53

Finance leases 4.3 41
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Financial risk management continued
{d) interest rate risk continued

Derivative financial instruments

2017 2016
Assets Liabilities Assets Liaknltties
£m £m £ Em
Current
Cross-currency swaps - cash flow hedges 726 - - -
Ferward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges 89.1 {9.0) 697 (267)
- held for trading 0.7 (1.5) 16 {18)
- netinvestment hedges 0.7 - 08 -
163.1 (10.5) 721 (285)
Non-current
Cross-currency swaps - cash flow hedges 14.0 - 273 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges 1.3 (0.8) 54 0.2)
Interestrate swaps - fairvalue hedges 41.5 - 43 -
56.8 (0.8) 740 02)

The Croup holds a number of Interest rate swaps to re-designate its sterling fixed debt to floating debt These are reportedas farr value
hedges The Ineffective porticn recognised inthe profit or loss that anises from fair value hedges amounts to £0 3m (last year £0 2m)as the
loss on the hedged itermns was £0 3m {last year £3 0m loss) and the gain on the hedging instruments was fril {ast year £2 8m gain} The Croup
also holds a number of cress-currency swaps to re-designate its fixed rate US dollar debt to fixed rate sterling debt These are reported as
cash flow hedges

Sensitivity analysis

The table below illustrates the estimated impact on the income statement and eqguity as a result of market moverments in foreign exchange
and interest rates in relation to the Croup's financialinstruments The directors consider that a 2%+/- (last year 2%) movement in interest and
a 20% +/- (last year 20%) weakening in sterling aganst the relevant currency represents a reasonably passible change However, this analysis
15 for illustrative purposes only

The table excludes financial instruments that expose the Croup to interest rate and foreign exchange nsk where suchriskis fully hedged
with another financial instrument Also excluded are trade receivables and payables as these are either sterling denorminated or the foreign
exchange niskis hedged

interest rates: the impact in the Income statement due to changes ininterest rates reflects the effect on the Croup's floating rate debt as at
the balance sheet date The impact in equity reftects the fair value movement in relation to the Croup's transactional foreign exchange cash
flow hedges and the net investment hedges at the balance sheet date The impact in equity reflects the farr value movement inrelaticn to
the Group's Cross-currency swaps

Foreign exchange: the impact from foreign exchange moverments reflects the change in the fair value of the Group's transactional foreign
exchange cash flow hedges and the net mvestment hedges at the balance sheet date The equity impact shown for foreign exchange
sensitivity relates to derivative and non-denvative financialinstruments hedging net investments This value s expected to be fully offset
by the re-translation of the hedged foreign currency net assets leaving a net equity impact of zero

2% decrease in 2% Increasein 20%weakening  20% strengthening
interest rates Interest rates in sterling nsterling
fm £rm £m Em

At 2 April 2016

Impact onincome statement gain/{loss} 92 ) — -

Impact on other comprehensive income (less)/gan (08} 10 1360 (9C7)
At April 20017

Impact onincome statement gainfloss) 78 (2.1 - -

Impact on other comprehensive Income (less)/gan {2.2) 0.3 2464 {164.3)
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

The following tables set out the financial assets and financial labilities which are subject to offsetting, enforceabte master netting
arrangements and simular agreements Amounts which are set off against financial assets and labwties n the Croup's balance sheet are
set out below For trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, amounts not offset in the bailance sheet but which could be
offset under certam circurmnstances are also set out

Crass financial
assets/(Labilities)

Net financial

Grossfimancial  assets/(liabitibes)
(latiitiesy  per statemenit of
assetsset off  fimancial position

Relatedzmounts

~ztsetoffin
the staternent of
financal position

Net

£Em £m fm £mn Em
At 2 April 2016
Trade and other receivables 316 (295) 21 - 21
Denvative financial assets 1461 - 1461 (287} N74
Cash andcash equivalents 393 (393} - - -
2170 (68 8) 1482 (287) 195
Trade and cther payables (2593) 295 (2298) - (2298)
Dervative financial babilities (287) - (287) 287 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 908) 393 (51 5) - (515)
(378 8 688 (3100) 287 (2813}
Net financial Related amounts
Gross financial  assets/{liabilities) nat set off in
Gross financial {labilities)/  per statement of  the statement of
assets/{Labilities) assets set off  financial position  financial position Net
£m Em £m £m £m
At 1 April 2017
Trade and other receivables 251 (22.8) 23 - 23
Dervative financial assets 219.9 - 2199 (11.3) 208.6
Cashand cash equivalents 42.4 {41.6) 0.8 - 0.8
2874 (64.4) 2230 (11.3) 211.7
Trade and other payables (279.2) 228 (256.4) - (256.4)
Derwative financizl Labilities (11.3) - {11.3) 11.3 -
Bank loans and overdrafts {103.9} 41.6 (62.3) - {62.3)
(394.4) - (330.0) ni3 {318.7)

The gross financial assets and liabilities set off In the balance sheet primarily relate to cash pooling arrangements with banks Amounts
which do not meet the critena for offsetting on the statement of financial posiion but could be settled net in certain circumstances
principatly relate to dervative transactions under ISDA {International Swaps and Dervatives Association}agreements where each party
has the option to settle amounts cnanet basis in the event of default of the other party

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Croup uses the following hierarchy for determiming and disclosing the fair value of financialinstrurnents by valuation techrigue

= level 1 quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and babilities

- Level 2 not traded in anactive market but the farrvalues are based on quoted market prices or alternative pricing sources with reasonable
levels of price transparency The Groug's Level 2 financial instruments include interest rate and foreign exchange dervatives Farr value s
calculated using discounted cash flow methodology, future cash flows are estimated based on forward exchange rates and interest rates
{from observable market curves) and contract rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit nisk of the various counterparties for
those with along maturity

- Level 3 technigues which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable
market data
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Fair Value Hierarchy continued
At the end of the reporting pericd, the Croup held the following financial nstrurment s at far value

2017 2016

Level } Level 2 Level 3 Total Levell Level2 Level3 Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets measured at fair value

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

-trading derivatives - 0.7 - 0.7 - 14 - 14

Dernvatives used for hedging - 219.2 - 219.2 - 1447 - 1447

Short- term investments - 14.5 - 14,5 - 191 - 191

Liabilities measured at fair value

Financial habilities at fairvalue

through profit or loss

-trading derivatives - {1.5) - {1.5) - (L8:)] - 08

Derwvatives used for hedging - (9.8) - (9.8) - (269) - (26 9)

The Marks & Spencer DB Pension Schemes holds a number of financial instruments which make up the pension asset of £10,135 1m {last year
£8,515 3rn) Level 1 and Level 2 financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive Income armounted to £8,650 2m (last
year £7,296 2m) Additionally, the pension scheme assets mclude £1,444 9m {last year £1,219 1m) of Level 3 financial assets See note 11 for
information onthe Croup's retirement benefits

There were no transfers between the levels of the far value hierarchy Inaddition tc the above, the Group has £30m (last year £30m)
Inuniisted equity securities measured at cost {see note 16}

The following table represents the changes in Level 3 instruments held by the Pension Schemes

2007 2016

&m £m

Opening balance 1,219.1 10936
Fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive Income 100.6 703
Additicnalinvestment/(derecognition) 125.2 552
Closingbalance 1,444.9 1,2191

Inthe prior year the Croup purchased lima (Bradford) S arl This resulted in the derecognition of the embedded dernvative as the lease
contract was between subsidianes of the Group Gains recognised inthe prior year ncome statement related to the valuation of the
embedded derivative in the lease contract up until the acguisition date The fair value movement of the embedded dervative of £20m
loss and subsequent derecognition of the asset (£21 7m) was treated as an adjustment to reported profit inthe prior year (see note 5)

Fair value of financial instruments

With the exception of the Croup's fixed rate bond debt and the Partnership Lability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme, there were
no material differences between the carrying value of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabitities and therr fair values as at the
balance sheet date

The carrying value of the Group's fixed rate bond debt {(Level 1 equivalent)was £2,110 7m (last year £1,726 4my), the fair value of this debt
was £2,236 7m (last year £1,868 3m}

Capital policy
The Croup’s objectives when managing caprtalare to safeguard its ability to continue asa going concern in order to provide optimal returns
for shareholders and to mantain an efficient capital structure to reduce the cost of capitat

Indoing so, the Croup’s strategy s to maintain a capital structure commensurate with an nvestment grade credrt rating and to retain
appropnate levels of lquidity headroom to ensure financial stability and flexibility To achieve this strategy the Croup regularly menitors
key credit metrics such as the geanng ratio, cash flow to net debt (see note 27) and fixed charge cover ta mantain this position Inaddition,
the Group ensures a combination of appropnate committed short-term liguidity headroom with a diverse and batanced long-term debt
matunty profile As at the balance sheet date, the Group's average debt maturity profile was seven years (last year eight years) Durning the
year, the Group maintained an mvestment grade credit rating of Baa3 (stable) with Moody's and BBB- (stable} with Standard & Poor's

inorder to mantain or realign the capital structure, the Group may adjust the number of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, Issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt

QUR BUSINESS

OUR PERFORMANCE

GOVERNANCE

FINANCLAL STATEMENTS



124
MARKS AND SPENCER CROWLP PLC
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
|
22 PROVISIONS

Property Restructuring Other 2017 2016
£m Em Em £m Ern
At 2 April 2016 52.4 9.8 3.8 66.0 783
Provided inthe year 104.5 116.8 24.7 246.0 400
Released in the year (19.4) (5.8) (1.1) (26.3) (315)
Utiised dunng the year (9.4) (20.9) 0.1 (30.2) (216)
Exchange differences 0.4 29 0.1 3.4 04
Discount rate unwind 0.2 - - 0.2 04
Reclassfication from trade and other payables - {1.2) 2.8 1.6 -
At 1 April 2017 128.7 101.6 304 260.7 660
Analysedas
Current 147.2 140
Non-current 113.5 520

Property provisions relate to onerous lease contracts and dilapidations prirarily ansing as a result of the clesure of stores inthe UK, as part
of the UK store estate strategic programme, together with the centralisation of the London Head Office functions into one central Londen
location These provisions are expected to be utiised over the pencd to the end of each speafic lease

Restructuning provisions primarily reiate to the estimated costs associated with the International exit strategy which include lease exit costs
These provisions are expectad to be utilised within the next year

Other provisions include £23 6m of transition payments due following completion of the consultation in respect of pay and premia
Please see note 5 for further inforrmation on these provisions

23 DEFERRED TAX

Deferredtax s provided under the balance sheet labiity method using the taxrate at which the balances are expected to unwind of
19% and 17% (last year 20%, 19% and 18%) for UK differences and local tax rates for overseas differences Details of the changes to the
UK corporation tax rate and the impact on the Croup are descrioed in note 7

The movements in deferred taxassets and labilities (after the offsetting of balances within the same junisdiction as permitted by
IAS 12 tncome Taxes'} dunng the year are shown below

Deferred tax assets/(Liabilities):

Landandbuildings  Capital allowances Pension  Qther short-term
temporary INnexcess termporary temporary Total UK Overseas
di—erences of depreciation drerences differences deferredtax deferredtax Total
£m £m £mn £m £m £m £m
At 28 March 2015 470) {1060) (154 8) 31 (3109} 32 (3147)
Credited/{charged)
toIncome statement 64 259 07 30 360 (25) 335
Credited/(charged)
to equity/other
comprehensive ncome - - (514) (18) {532) 24 (508)
Other balance
sheet moverment 62) - - - 62) - 62)
At 2 April 2016 (46 8) {801) (205 5} 19) (3343) (33) (3376}
At 3 April 2016 (46.8) (80.1) (205.5}) (1.9} (334.3) (3.3) {337.6)
Credited/{charged)
toIncore statement 35 17.7 14.5 14 371 {0.7) 364
Credited/(charged)
to equity/other
comprehensive Income - - 21.6 4.8 264 {5.2) 21.2
Other balance
sheet moverment - - - (1.6} (1.6) (0.2) (1.8)
At 1 April 2017 {43.3) {62.4) {169.4) 27 (272.4) {9.4) {281.8)

Other short-term temporary differences relate manly to employee share options and financial instruments

Other balance sheet movements, categonsed as other shert-term temporary differences, include £1 4m inrelation to recognition of
adeferred tax lability on the acquisition of the remaining 50% stake in Lima (Bradford)Sarl

The deferred tax liability on land and buikdings temporary differences is reduced by the benefit of capital losses with a gross value of
£254 5m {last year £249 5m}and a tax value of £48 4m {last year £499m)
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23 DEFERRED TAX CONTINUED

Due to uncertainty over therr future use, no benefit has been recognised inrespect of trading losses carned forward in overseas junsdictions
with a gross value of £1479m (last year £106 6m) and a tax value of £34 2m (last year £22 3m)

No deferred tax is recognised inrespect of undistributed earnings of overseas subsicianes and joint ventures unless a materiat bability is
expected toarse on an anticipated distribution of these earnings under applicable tax legislation Undistributed earnings with a gross value
of £38 2m {last year £306m) and a potential tax lability of £9 0rn (last year £7 2m) have not been recognised onthe basis that the distribution
can be controlled by the Croup

24 ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016
Shares £m Shares im

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of 25p each

At start of year 1,622,964,807 4058 1647814746 4120

Shares issued on exercise of share options 1,763,039 04 6,797,209 17

Shares cancelled through share buy back - - (31,647148) {79)

At end of year 1,624,727,846 406.2 1622964807 4058

Issue of new shares
1,763,039 {last year 6,797,209) ordinary shares having a nominal value of £0 4m (last year £1 7rmywere allotted during the year under the terms
of the Company’s schermnes which are descnbed in note 13 The aggregate consideration recerved was £5.5m {last year £20 6m)

Share buy back
Last year 31,647,148 ordinary shares having a nominal value of £79m were bought back and subsequently cancelled during the year
The aggregate consideration paid, ncluding directly attributable costs was £150 7m There was no buyback prograrnme in the current year

25 CONTINCENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
A. Capital commitments

2017 2016

£m £m

Commitments inrespect of properties in the course of construction 156.4 1292
Software capital commitrments 1.0 171
167.4 1463

B. Other material contracts

Inthe event of a material change in the trading arrangerments with certain warehouse operators, the Group has acommitrnent to purchase
property, plant and equiprent which are currently owned and operated by the warehouse operators on the Group's behalf (at values
ranging from historical net book value to market value)

See note 12 for details on the Partnership arrangerment with the Marks & Spencer UK DB Pension Scheme

C. Commitments under operating leases
The Group leases various stores, offices, warehouses and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements The leases have
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal nghts

207 2006
£m £m

Total future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
Within one year 3420 3113
- Later than one year and not later than five years 1,115.9 17084
— Later than five years and not Later than ten years 964.1 1,0994
- Later than ten years and not later than 15 years 4219 542 8
- Later than 15 years and not later than 20 years 285.3 3519
- Later than 20 years and not later than 25 years 166.8 2258
—Later than 25 vears 1,069.5 9703
Total 4,365.5 46099

The tatal non-cancellable future sub-fease payments to be received are £ 34 6m (last year £36 1}

Of the total commitments under operating leases disclosed above, £70m are already provided for on the balance sheet with regards to
expected lease exit costs ansing from the International strategic programme
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26 ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS GIVEN IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash flows from operating activities

2017 2015

£m £m

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 157 404 4
Income tax expense 60.7 844
Finance costs 130 164
Finance income {36.2) 211

Operating profit 253,2 5841
Depreciation, amortisation and asset impairments and write -offs before adjusted items 5895 5768
Share-based payments charge 10.6 160
Pension costs charged agamst operating profit 100.3 1020
Adjusted profit iterms 4374 2008
Decrease/(increase) ninventories 53.9 (225)
{Increase)/decrease In receivables (9.9) 33
{Decrease)/ increase in payables (53.1) 324
Ad)justed items cash cutflows (36.8) (129)
Adjusted iterns non-cash {44.1) (503)
Cash contributions to pension schemes {135.3) (18 4)
Cash generated from operations 1,165.7 13113

Adjusted tems cash outflows relate to the utiisation of the prowvisions for international store closures, strategic programme costs
assaociated with the UK store estate, UK organisation and UK logistics and legal settlements Adjusteditems non-cashrelateto the
reduction in M&S Bank incame for the mpact of the financial product rmis-seiling provision

27 ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT
A. Reconciliation of movement in net debt
Exchange and
At 3April othernon cash At 1 April
2016 Cash flow rmovements 2017
£ Em £m £m
Net cash
Bank loans, overdrafts and syndicated bank facility (see note 20) (2973) 2372 (102} (70.3)
Less amounts treated as financing (see below) 2457 (2480) 102 19
(516) (108) - {62.4)
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 18) 2476 2154 56 468.6
Net cash per statement of cash flows 1960 2046 56 406.2
Current financial assets {(see note 16) 191 (46) - 145
Debt financing
Bank loans,and overdrafts treated as financing (see above) (2457) 2480 (002) (7.9)
Medium-term notes {see note 20) (1,6138) (3000) 24 (1,911.4)
Finance lease babilities (see note 20) (486} 20 21 (48.7)
Eﬂnershlp Liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme {(see note 12) {445 3) 579 - (3874)
Debt financing (2,353 4) 79 (99) {2,355.4)

Net debt (2)383) 2079 {43) (1,934.7)
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27 ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT CONTINUED
B. Reconciliation of net debt to statement of financial position

2017 2016
£m £rn
Statement of financial position and related notes
Cashandcash equivalents {seenote 18) 468.6 2476
Current financial assets (see note 16) 14,5 191
Bank iocans and overdrafts (seenote 20) (70.3) (2973)
Medurn-term notes - net of hedging dervatives {1,957.8) (1,656 1)
Finance lease liabilibties (see note 20) {48.7) (486)
Partnership liability to the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme (see notes 12 and 21) {396.5) {4557)
(1,990.2) (2,191 0)
Interest payable included within related borrowing and the Partnership Liability to the Marks & Spencar
UKPension Scheme 55.5 527
Total net debt {1,934.7) (21383)

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A, Subsidiaries
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been elminated on consolidation and are not
disclosedin this note Transactions between the Company and its subsidiartes are disclosed in the Company's separate financial statements

B. Hedge End joint venture
Aloan of £60m was recewved from the joint venture on 9 October 2002 It1s repayable on five business days' notice and was renewed on
1 January 2015 Interest was charged on the loan at 20% until 31 December 2009 and 0 5% thereafter

C. Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme
Detalls of other transactions and balances held with the Marks & Spencer UK Pension Scheme are set out innotes 11 and 12

D. Key management compensation

The Croup has determined that the key management personnel constitute the Board for the whole year and the members of the
Operating Committea with effect from November 2016, when the terms of reference of the Operating Committee were ratified
For the whole of the prior year the Croup had determined that only members of the Board were key management personnel

207 2006

£m f£rn
Salaries and short-term benefits 8.1 75
Share-based payments - 03
Total 81 78

E. Other related party transactions

Therewere no related party transactions during the year to 1 April 2017 Last year, suppler transactions occurred between the Group and a
cormpany controlled by Martha Lane Fox's partner Martha was a non-executive director of the Group, retiring from the Board on 2 April 2016
These transactions amounted to £ 2 6m during the year with an outstanding trade payable of E02mat 2 Apri 2016
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L ______________________________________________________________|

As at Asat
1 Apnil 2017 2 ApriL 2016

Notes £m Em

Assets

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiary undertakings (@3] 9,249.3 92358

Total assets 9,249.3 92358

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 2,552.2 2,559 2

Total liabilities 2552.2 25592

Net assets 6,697.1 66766

Equity

Crdinary share capital 406.2 4058

Share prermum account 416.4 4113

Capitalredermnmptionreserve 2,210.5 22105

Merger reserve 1,397.3 13973

Retained earnings 2,266.7 22517

Total equity 6,697.1 66766

The Company's profit for the year was £3790m {last year £3021m)

The Company financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised for 1ssue on 23 May 2017 The financial statements also
comprse the notes on pages 12910131

Steve Rowe Chief Executive Officer Helen Weir Chief Finance Officer

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
L. ]

Ordinary  Share premium Cantal redemption Merger Raraned

share capital account reserve reserve earnings Total

Em £Em £m £m fm Em

At 29 March 2015 N20 3924 22026 1,3973 23926 6,7969
Profit for the year - - — - 3021 3021

Dividends - - - - (30 7) (3017)
Capttal contribution for share-based payments - - - - 94 94

Shares purchased in buy-back (79) - 79 — (1507) (1507)
Shares i1ssued on exercise of employee share options 17 189 - - - 206
At 2 April 2016 405.8 411.3 2,2105 1,397.2 2,251.7 6,676.6
At 3 April 2016 405.8 411.3 2,210.5 1,397.3 2,251.7 6,676.6
Profit for the year - - - - 3790 379.0

Dividends - - - - (377.5) (377.5)
Capital contribution for share-based payments - - - - 13.5 13.5
Shares issued on exercise of employee share options 0.4 5.1 - - - 5.5
At 1 Aprit 2017 406.2 46.4 2,2105 1,397.3 2,266.7 6,697.1

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
. __________________________________________________________ |

52 weeks ended 53 weeks ended

1 Aprit2017 2Apnl 2016
£m im

Cash flow from investing activities
Dividends received 379.0 3021
Net cash generated from investing activities 379.0 3021
Cash flows from financing activities
Shares issued on exercise of employee share options 5.5 206
Shares purchased in buy-back - {1507)
Repayment of iIntercompany loan (7.0) 1297
Equity dividends paid (377.5) (3017)
Net cash used in financing activities (379.0) (3021}

Net cash inflow from activities - _
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning and end of year - -
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C1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company's accounting policias are the same as those set out it neta 1 of the Croup financial staterments, except as noted below

Investments in subsidianies are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment The Company grants share-based
payments to the employees of subsidiary companies Each period, the farr value of the employee services received by the subsidiary as
a capitalcontribution from the Company 1s reflected as an addition to investments in subsiciaries

Loans from other Group undertakings and all other payables are mitially recorded at fair value, which is generally the proceeds recerved
They are then subsequently carried at amortised cost The loans are non-interest bearing and repayable ondemand

The Company’'s financial sk 15 managed as part of the Croup's strategy and policies as discussed in note 21 of the Group financial staterments
Inaccordance with the exerngtion allowed by Section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own incorme
statement or staterment of comprehensive iIncome

C2 EMPLOYEES

The Company had no employees during the current or prior year Directors recerved emoluments inrespect of ther services to the
Company during the year of £936 000 {last year £956,000) The Company did not operate any pension schemes dunng the current or
preceding year

C3 AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

Auditor's remunerationinrespect of the Cormpany’s annualaudit has been borne by its subsidiary Marks and Spencer plc and has been
disclosed cna consolidated basis in the Company's consolidated financial statements as required by Section 494(4)(a) of the Companies
Act 2006

C4 DIVIDENDS

2017 2015 2017 2006
per share per share £Em fm

Dividends on equity ordinary shares
Paid final dividend 11.9p 116p 192.7 1908
Special dvidend 4.6p - 74.5 -
Pad interim dividend 6.8p 68p 110.3 1109
23.3p 18 4p 3775 3017

The directors have proposed a final dividend inrespect of the year ended 1 April 2017 of 119p per share (last year 11 9p), amountingtoa
dividend of £193 3m (last year £192 7m) This payment is subject to approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, to be held on
11 July 2017

Adividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) 1s avallable to shareholders who would prefer to nvest therr dividends inthe shares of the Company
The shares willgo ex-dividend on 1 June 2017 For those sharehotders electing to receive the DRIP the last date for receipt of anew election
15 23 June 2017

C5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Dunng the year, the Company has receved dividends from Marks and Spencer plc of £3790m (last year £302 1m}and decreased 1ts loan
from Marks and Spencer plc by £70m {last year increased by £129 7mj) The outstanding balance was £2,552 2m {last year £ 2 559 2m)and
1s non-interest bearng There were no other related party transactions

C6 INVESTMENTS
A. Investments in subsidiary undertakings

2017 2016

£m Em

Beginning of the year 9,235.8 9,226 4
Additionalinvestment in subsidiary undertakings relating to share-based payments 13.5 94
End of the year 9,249.3 92358

Shares in subsidiary undertakings represent the Company's investment in Marks and Spencer plc The directors believe that the carrying
value of the mvestments is supported by ther underlying net assets
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C6 INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

B Related undertakings

Inaccordance with Section 409 of the Companies Act 2006, a full st of related undertakings, the country of ncorporation and the effective
percentage of equity owned, as at 1 April 2017 15 disclosed below

Subsidiary undertakings registered in the UK®

Praportion Propartion

Progortion Proportion

of shares  of shares of shares  of shares
heldbythe held by held bythe heldby
Cornpany  subsiduary Company  subsidiary
Narme Share Class (%) (%) Narme Share Class %) %)
Amethyst Leasing (Holdings) Linuted £10rdinary 0 100 Marks and Spencer Pension Trust £1Ordinary o 0o
investmeants Limited
Hedge End Park Uimsted i1 Crdinary 0 50
Regrstered Office 33 Holbown London ECTN 2HT Marks and Spencer Penswen Trust Limied™ 1 ACHdinary 100 o
ML&S Limited £1 Crdnary Q 100 EYBOrdinary o a
Manford (Textiles) Limrted L1 Crdinary 4] 00 £1COrdinary o 0
Marks & Spencer Company Archive CIC £1Orcdinary o 100 Marks and Spencer plc 1025 0Ordinary 100 s}
Marks & Spencer Outlet Limited £1 Ordhnary 1 100 Marks and Spencer Property Developments Limited  £1 Ordinary 0 100
Marks & Spencer Simply Foods Dmited 1 Ordinary 0 100 Marks and Spencer Scottish Limned Partnership™ Partnershipinterest s} 100
Regrstered Office } 785t Nt holas Street
Marks and Sparks Lmited £1Ordhinary hl 100 Aterdesn AT U
Marks and Spencer (Northern Ireland) Limited [1 Qrdtinary 0 00 Marks and Spencer Shared Services Limited 1 Orctmary o 100
Registered Offn « 8 Laganbank Road Belfast BT13LR
— Minterion Services Limited £1 Grdinary o 100
Harks and Spencer (Property Investments) Limited  £1 (rdinary qQ 100
Marks and Spencer {Braciford) Limited £10rdinary a 190
Marks and Spencer Chester Limited 1 Ordtinary 0 100
Ri Properoes (Enfield) Limited £1 Ores o 100
Marks and Spencer France Lamited £ Ordinary Q 100 by pe (Enfieid) L ranay
St Michael {Textiies) Lmred L1Ordinary e} 100
Marks and Spencer Guernsey Imastments LLP L1 Orcdinary 4] 100
" . St Michael Finance plc L1 Ordinaty [+] 100
Marks and Spencer international Holdngs Limited £Y Orcdinary 0 100

UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit
The following UK subsidianes will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the year
ended 1 April 2017 Unless otherwise stated, the undertakings listed below are registered at Waterside House, 35 North Wharf Road, London,
W2 INW, United Kingdomn, and all have a single class of ordinary share with a nominal value of £1

Propartion
of shares

Proportionof held by

Proportion
of shares

Proporton of heldby

sharesheldbythe subsidiary  Coempany shares heldbythe subsidary Company
Namg Campany (%) (%) Number Name Company (%} (%) Nurmber
Amethyst Leasing (Propertees) Limdted 0 100 042465934 Marks ard Spencer 2005 ] 100 H502h8H
(Parman House Kingston Store} Limited
Busyexport Lmned Q 100 01411320
Marks nicer 2005 i i 15502544
Marks and Speacer (Initial LP) Limated 00 5] SC 3153665 and Spencer {Pudsey Store) Limited v « i >
Registered Office No 2 Lochnn Square Marks and Spencer 2005 Q 100 05502402
96 Fountanbfigge Edmbyrgh Midiothian EH2904 (Warrington Gemim Store) Limited
Marks and Spencer (Property Venturesj Limted g Toxs 95504513 #daris and Spencer Hungary Limited i 10 O A078A
Marks and Spencer 2005 (Brookiands Store) Limied 0 100 5502608 -”Marks and Spencer Investments 3] 100 04903061
o
Marks and Spencer 2005 Q 100 05502519 Marks and Spencer Property Holdings Limited a 100 02100781
[Chester Sateilite Store) Limited
¢ ) L Ruby Prepertres (Cumber nauld) Limited o 100 01922298
M 200: Limrted 0 1 05502542
arks and Spencer 2005 {Chester Store) Limi % 550 Ruby Properties (Hardwick) Limited ) 100 04716018
Marks and Spencer 2085 a o 05802598 A
(Fife Road Kingston Stare) Limitedt Ruby Propertres (Long Eaton) Linited a 100 04716031
Marks and Spencer 2005 0 100 05502546 Ruly Propertres (Thernclffe) Limited o 100 04716110
(Glargow Sauchiehall Stare} Limited Ruby Properties (Tunbradge) Limited o 100 DA7M6O3Z
Marks and Spencer 2005 (Hedge End Store) Limited 0 o 05502528 Simply Food (Proparty Investments) o 00 05502543
Marks and Spencer 2005 (Kensington Store) Limited O an 0h502478 Simpiy Food [Propesty Ventures) Limited o 00 022 X799
Marks and Spencer 2005 a o 05504523
{Kingston-on-Thames Satellite $tore) Limited
Marks and Spencer 2005 o 100 DREGR A0

(Kingston-on-Thames Stare) Limited

The Comparny will guarantee the debts andbatilties of the above UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date of £6 3minaccardance with section 473C of the Comparies Act 2006
The Cornpany has assessedthe probability ofloss under the guarantee as rermote
() Allcompanies registered at Waterside House, 35 North Wharf Road, London, W2 INW, United Kingdorn, unless otherwise stated
{1} Inaccordance with the articles of association of Marks and Spencer Pension Trust Limited, the holders of Bana C Ordinary shares are both directors of that company
(m}Marks and Spencer (Initial LP) Limited and Marks and Spencer Pension Trust Lirmited are the Lmited partners, Marks and Spencer plc is the General Partner

e
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B Related undertakings continued
tnternational subsidiary undertakings®

Proportion Proportion
of shares of shares
heldby held by
subsidiary subsidiary
Name Registered Address Country Share Class %) Narme Registered Address Country Share Class %)
Marks and Spencer Aurora Place, 88 Phillip Streer Australia ALD 2Crdinary 00 Marks and Spencer 11 Ahad Haam Street Israel NISCrdinary 100
{Austratia) Pty Limited  Sydney NSW 2000 Australia (Israel) Limited TELAVIV 65202 Israel
Marks and Spencer Sterngasse 13 Vienng Austug  Austrig 300 ary 102 Per Una ltalia SRL viz Ciotto 25 - 59100 Laly € Quota 160
CmbH in Ligqu. {in Liquidati Prata ltaly
{in liguidation}
Marks and Spencer 7-11 Batanmua Flace Jersey L1 Ordinary 0o
Marks and Spencer AthFloor 97 Rue Rovale Belau~ €1 21 Ordinary 102 (Jersey) Limrted BathStreat St Helier
{Belgrum) SPRL 1000 Brussels Belowm
MSF Latwvia SIA lenkuela 3 Riga talvia €142 1d nary 0o
Marks & Spencer A0Wellington Row, Saint John  Canada CAD Y Common 100 (in Lquidatron) LY-1084 Latvia
Canada Incorporated NBEZL 453 Canada
wania Sedimine pr 20, Vilnus 1hua=i Zrd nar
CADNPY 100 UAB MSF Lithu Cedh 20,V Lishy a €2896 Zrd ¥ 160
Lithuania
CAD | Pref 100
fastGiobal Limited,  Montenegra
Marks & Spencer A0 Welungton Row Sant John  Canada CAD 1 Common 100 Marks and Spencer %‘?E‘E‘fsvz?cpﬁja rrited, 9 £ Ordnary 100
Holdings Canada NBE2L 453 Canada ) ulsverog
f rated cAaD1 100 Podgorica Cetinjskog 3100 Podgorca
neorpa Preterence Class {under liquidation) Montenegro
2 # & 5 Mode Frins Bernhardplein 200 Ne:zherlands €100 Crdnary 16a
Marks & Spencerinc.  d0Welungton Row Saint John  Canada CAD 1 Common 100 International B.V YO9TIB Amsterdam
MNBEZL 453 Canada Netherlands
Marks and Spencer Unit 03-04 &FECCOCty 1788 Ching Reqistered 100 Marks and Spencer Frins Bernhardplein 200 1097 Ne herionds (A0 Orddnan + 100
(Shanghai) Limited 1788 West Nan Jing Rpac Capital {Nederland) BV JB Amsterdam Netherlsnds
Shangha Ching Marks and Spencer BV Pring Berhardplein 1097 JB  Nehertands €100 Zrdnacy 100
Marks and Spencer BE3 Nanpng Road Weer China Registersed 100 Amsterdam Netherlands
o dnAnDistrict Shanghai China Camral Marks and Spencer  Munfplein 10C 1012WR Ne hedands €10000 Crdnary 100
(Shanghan) Nederland (Retail) BY  Armsterdam Netherlands
:?arks‘ a::Spence: gra“[;”cm‘atm 8210000 Croana ARK Qrdinary 100 Marks and Spencer Prins Bernhardplein 200 1097 Netherlands €450 Orddnar v 100
roatiad.o o agreb Lroatia Stores BY JB Amstergam Netherlards
(in Liquidation)
M kowska 1114122, Poland Pl 100
Marks and Spencer Prahaa Michle Vysktibova  Czech Republic CZ2K 1000 w0 :,‘::::;: mcer g;—ﬁ??;f:‘rsoz::v;%tajnd ! gﬁd?rc‘;?g o
Czech Republic a.s 14814 Czech Republic Ordinary -
Maris & Spencer Averuda da Liberdade 249 Portugal €1 Ordinary 100
CZX 100000 rae {Portugal) Lda. 1250-113 Lisbon Portugal
Ordinary
Marks and Spencer No /b2 Timisosra Boutevard  Romana RON 1830 100
CZK1000 000 b Romani SA anchor Plaza 3rd Foar Orctnary
Ordinary premises 3B-1 6th Distrct
Marks and Spencer Vyskoclowa 148144 1000 Czech Republic Registered 00 Bucharest Romarua
Servces S RO Prana 4 Mihle.Czech Reputiic Captal Marks and Spencer Doo Patrisa tumumbe no 70 Serbia RSD Guotas 100
©Oli MSF Estonia Palgisks mnt 102 Tallinn Estoria Regutered 100 Beograd (in liqudatian) 1'000Belgrade
13522 Estania capital Marks and Spencer 77 Robinson Road #13 00 Srgapore NoParvalue NoPar value
Andis SARL 48 Ruede la Chausseg dAnnn, France €1062 Ordiary M [Singapore) Investments Robunson 77 Singapore 06RBAE Oronary Qrdinary
7500 Panis, France Pte Ltd Singapore
Marks & Spencer 33-35ErmouStreet Athens  Creece €30rdi~ary B2 MSF Slovakia SR O Wvanska cesta 16 Bratislava B215lovakia Registered 0o
Marinopoulos Greece 04 Slavakia capital
Creece 84 Marks and Spencer  Woolworths House 93 South Africa ZAR 2 Ordinary G0
Ignazia Limited Hentage Hall, Le Marchant Guernsey L1 Crchnary 999 (SA) (Pty) Limited Longmarket Street Cape Town
Street, St Pater Fort 800 South Africa
GY! 4JH Guernsey MAS {(Spamn) 5 L Calle Fuencarral No 119, Spain €1 Ordinary W00
Marks and Spencer Limwood Alles es Feeg, Guernsey L1 Ordingry 100 2B0O10, Madnd, Spain
{Alderney) Limited Alderney Marks and Spencer 101 Supala Grand Tower Thaiiand THB 10000 100
Teranis Limited Hentage Hall, Le Marchant Cuernsay £1 Ordinary 9699 (Thailand) Limited 24thFlgor Rama 3 Road Ordinary
Street St Peter Port Kwaeng Chongnons, Khet
GY14HY Guernsey Yannawa, Bangkak
10120 Thalland
Marks and Spencer Suite 1006, 10/F Tower & Hong Kong HKD 1 Orvchinary 100
(Asia Pacific) Limited ~ The Cateway 8 Cantan Road Marks and Spencer Havalani Karsisnstantul Turksy TRL 25 00 100
Kewloon, Hong Kong Clothing Textile Durrya Ticaret Merken, A3 Blok Orcinary
Trading LLC Kat 1) Yesilkoy Bakirkoy
Marks and Spencer Suite 1009 1O/F Tower g Hong Keng HKD1 Ordhinary i8] istanbul, Turkey
(Hong Kong} The Cateway, 9 Canton Road
Investments Limited Kowloon, Hong Kong Marks & Spencer 2711 Centerville Road Sute  United States UsD Common 0o
Services Inc. 400, Wilmington DE 19808,
Marks and Spencer Fehervanut 50-52 117 Hungary HUFZBO 500 000 100 United States
{Hungary) Kft Budapest Hungary Quota
Marks & Spencer 2711 Centervile Road Suite  United Slates UsCH Commaon 100
Marks and Spencer Tower C RMZMillema, 4th Floor, India INRIOOrdinary 100 Ventures Finance LLC 400 Wilmington DE 19808,
(incha) pvt Limited LakeWing #1 Murphy Road United States
Bangalore 560008 Indja
Marks and Spencer ath Floor Court House, India INRIDClass A 51
Reliance India Pyt Ltd  Lokmanya Tilak Marg, Dhobr
Talao Murmbar, 400002 india INR10OCLa35B 100
INR 10 Class 0
Supremie Tradelnks First Floor, Anand Bhawan India INR 10Qrdinary oo
Private Limited Sansar Chandrs f0ad L,
302 001 Incha
Aprell Limited 24-29 Mary Street resLarned €1250rdirary 100
Dublin Y Freland
Marks and Spencer 24-27 Marty Street Ireland €1250rdinary 100
{Iretand) Limited Dubln 1 freland
Marks and Spencer 24-27 Mary Street iredared Lirmited by 160
Pension Trust Dubiin 1 reland Quarantes

{Ireland) Limlted™

NOTE Anumber of the compariies listed are legacy comparies which no longer serve any operational purpose

() Theshares of allinternat wnal subsidiary undertakings are held by companies withinthe Croup other than the Company (Marks and Spencer Groug plc)
() INR 10 Class C shares 100% owned by IV partner

{1y No share capital as the company s imrted by guarantee
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MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC

GROUP FINANCIAL RECORD
. ___________________________________________________________________________|]

017 2006 2015 204 2013
52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks 57 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m £m £rm £m
Income statement
Revenue'
UK 9.4M.7 94708 972231 91557 8451 4
International 1,180.3 10846 10883 11540 10754
10,622.0 10,5554 10,3114 103097 10,0268
Operating profit/(loss)’
UK 3276 6273 6406 6003 6328
International (74.4) 432 607 942 1202
Total operating profit 253.2 5841 703 6945 7530
Net interest payable (106.1} (1106) (11 8) (1258) (2129
Pension finance Income 29.3 153 105 n7 71
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 176.4 4888 6000 5804 5472
Analysed between
Profit befare tax and adjusted items 613.8 6896 6612 6229 6481
Adjustrments to reported profit {437.4) (2008) 612) {425) (1009)
Income tax expense (60.7) (84 4) (1183 (74 4) (102 4)
Profit after taxation 115.7 404 4 4817 5060 4448
2007 2016 2015 2014 203
52 weeks 43 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks
Basic earnings per share' Profit after tax/
Weighted average
ordinary shares inissue 7.2p 249p 297p 325p 283p
Adjusted basic earmings Adjusted profit after tax/
per share' Weighted average ordinary
shares inissue 30.4p 350p 331p 322p 319p
Dividend per share declared
inrespect of the year? 18.7p 1870 180p 170p 170p
Dwvidend cover Adjusted basic earnings per
share/Dividend per share 1.6x 19x% 18x 19x% 19x
Retail fixed charge cover Operating preht before
depreciation and operating
lease charges/Fixed charges 3.4x 37x 36x 34x 35x
Statement of financial position
Net assets (£m) 3,150.4 3,443 4 3,988 27067 25195
Net debt? (£m) 1,934.7 21383 22232 24636 26143
Capital expenditure (Em) 331.2 5251 5266 7100 8213
Stores and space
UK stores 979 914 852 798 766
UK selling space (m sq ft) 170 168 166 164
International stores 454 468 480 455 418
International selling space (m sq ft) 59 61 60 58 54
Staffing (full-time equivalent)
UK 53,562 52,388 52,247 54,678 51,835
International 6,202 6,507 6,849 6,498 5683

1 Basedoncontinuing operations
2 Excludes accruedinterest
3 Excludes special dvidend
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GLOSSARY
]
Reconciling
Closest equivalent items to statutory
APM statutory rmeasure measure Definition and purpose
income Statement Measures
Like-for-like Movement in Sales frorn non Lke-The period on period change i revenue {excluding VAT } from stores which

revenue growth revenue perthe  for-lke stores

Income Statement

have been trading and where there has been no significant change infootage
forat least 52 weeks and online sales The measure is used widely nthe retait
industry as anindcator of sales performance It excludes the impact of new
stores, closed stores or stores with significant footage change

FY16/17  FY 15/16
£Em £m %

UK Revenue

Like-for-Like 90382 92130 ~-19%

Net space change 4025 m7

Total 9,441.7 9,324.7 1.3%

Week 53 - 1461

Statutory 94417 94708 -0.3%

M&S comrevenue/ None Not applicable

Online revenue

Total revenue through the Croup’s online platforms These revenues

are reported within the relevant UK and International segment results

The growth inrevenues on a year-on-year basis 1s a good indicator of the
performance of the online channeland is a measure used within the Croup's
incentive plans Refer to the Remuneration Report for explanation of why
this reasure s used withinincentive plans

Revenue growth at None
constant currency

Not applicable

The period on period change in revenue retranslating the previcus year
revenue at the average actual pernodic exchange rates used in the current
financial year Thus measure s presented as ameans of elirminating the effects
cfexchange rate fluctuations on the period-on-period reported results

FY 16/17 FY 15/16
£m £m %

International Revenue

At reported currency 11803 10663 107%
Impact of FXtranslation - 152

At constant currency 1,803 1,815 -01%

Certain
downstream
logistics costs
(see Note 2)

Gross profit
margin'

Cross margin

Where referred to throughout the Arnnual Report, gross marginis calculated
as gross profit before adjusted items on a management basis dvided by
revenue The gross profit used in this calculation s based on an internal
measure of margin rather than the statutery margin, which excludes cerfain
downstream Llogistics costs Thisis akeyinternal management metric for
assessing category performance

Adjusted items None Not applicable

Those items which the Group excludes fromits adjusted profit metrics in
order to present a further measure of the Group's performance Eachof
these iterns (costs or Incomes) 1s considered to be sigrificant n nature
and/cr value Excluding these items from profit metncs provides readers
with helpfutadditionalinformation on the perforrmance of the business
across penods because it 1s consistent with how the business performance
15 reported to the Board and the Operating Committee

EBIT before EBIT?
adjusteditems

Adjusteditems
(SeeNote )

Calculated as profit before the iImpact of adjusted items, net finance costs
and tax This measure s used in calculating the Return on Capital Employed
for the Croup

Profit before tax

and adjusted items Note 5)

Profit beforetax Adjusted items (seeProfit before the impact of adjusted itemns and tax The Croup consigers this

to be animportant measure of Group performance and is consistent with
how the business performance s reported to and assessed by the Board
and the Operating Committee

This1s a measure used within the Group’s incentive plans Refer to the
Remuneration Report for explanation of why this measure i1s used within
incentive plans

Adjusted earnings

per share Note 5)

Earnings per share Adjusted itemns (seeProfit after tax attributable to owners of the parent and befcre theimpact of

adjusteditems, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
imssue during the financial year

This s a measure used within the Group's incentive plans Refer tothe
Remuneration Report for explanation of why this measure 1s used within
incentive plans
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MARKS AND SPENCER GROUP PLC

GLOSSARY CONTINUED
L _____________ ]

Recanciling
Closest equivalent items to statutory
APM statutory measure measure Definition and purpose
Income Statement Measures continued
Adjusted diiuted Dilutedearnings  Adjusteditems Profit after tax attnibutable to owners of the parent and before the impact of
earnings per share per share {SeeNote 5l adjusted itermns, dended by the waighted average nurnber of ordinary shaves
N 1ssue during the financial year adjusted for the effects of any potentrally
dilutive options
Effective taxrate Fffective taxrate Adjustedternsand Totalincorne tax charge for the Croup excluding the tax impact of adjusted
before adjusted items theirtaximpact  items divided by the profit before taxand adjusted tems
See Note 5 .
¢ ) Thus measure is an indicator of the ongoing tax rate for the Group
52-week 53-week Results for the Every b years anadditional week s Included within the statutory period to
pernod ended per.od ended 53rd week in ensure that the year end date stays in line with the end of March The prior
26March 2016 2 ApriL 2016 the statutory year statutory financial measures were based onsuch a 53 week reporting
reporting pernod
penod ended .
In order to provide a2 meaningful comparnison with this year’s 52 week period,
2 Apnl 2016
all financial movements In commentary retative to the prior year are provided
on ab2 week basis and exclude the 53rd week, unless otherwise noted The
Croup consicers that presentation of comparatives on this basis enables
stakeholders to more appropriately compare the performance of the
business year onyear
The 52 week period for the prior year has been used for management
INCENTIVE pUrpOses
Balance Sheet Measures
Net debt None Reconciliation Net debt comprises total borrowings (bank, bonds and finance lease
of net debt labities net of accrued interest), net derwative financialinstruments that
{see ncte 27) hedge the borrowings and the Scottish Limited Partnership lability to

the UK pension scherme less cash, cash equivalents and unlisted and
short-terminvestments

This measure is a good indication of the strength of the Group's balance
sheet position and Is widely used by credit rating agencies

Capitalemployed Net assets Refer todefinition  The net total of assets and liabilities as reported in the annual financial
statement excluding assets and liabilities in relation to Investment property,
net retirement benefit position, derrvatives, current and deferred tax
labilities, Scottish Lirmited Partnership Liabslity, non-current borrowings
and provisions inrespect of adusted iterns

This measure 1s used in the calculation of Return on Capital Employed

Cash Flow Measures

Free cash flow Net cashinflow  SeeFinancial The cash generated from the Group's operating activities less capital
fromoperating  Review expenditure and interest paid
activities This measure shows the cash retained by the Group in the year
Free cashflow Net cashinflow  SeeFinancial Calculated as the cash generated from the Group's operating activities less
pre-shareholder fromoperating  Review capital expenditure and interest paid excluding returns to shareholders
returns activities (dwidends and share buyback)

This measure shows the cash generated by the Group during the year that
15 avallable for returning to shareholders and is used within the Group's
incentive plans

Other Measures

Capitalexpenditure  None Refer to defimtion  Calculated as the purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment
property and intangible assets during the year less proceeds of asset
disposals excluding any assets acquired as part of a business combination

Return on Capital None Not applcable Calculated as EBIT before adpusted items diaded by the average of apening

Employed and clesing capital employed

This measure s used within the Group's ncentive plans Refer tathe
Remuneration Report for explanation of why this measure 1s used within
incentive plans

t - Gross profit margin s not defined within IFRS but 15 a widely accepted proft measure being derived from revenue tess cost of sales divided by revenue
2 EBIT s not defined within IFRS but 1s a widely accepted profit measure being earnings before interest and tax
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SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

ANALYSIS OF SHARE REGISTER

Ordinary shares

As at 1 Apnl 2017, the Company had 166,083 registered holders of ordinary shares Thesr shareholdings are analysed below It should be
noted that many of our private Investors hold their shares through nominee companies, therefore the actuat number of shares held
privately 1s estimated tabe around 30% higher than indicated

Number of Balanceasat
Range of sharehotding holdings % 1ApriL2017 %
1-500 8713 5245 16,514,336 102
501 1,000 31,960 1924 23,920,896 147
1,001 - 2000 24,254 1460 34,835,196 214
2001-5000 16,132 a7l 49,329,942 304
5,001 -10000 4119 248 28,449,793 175
10,001 - 100,000 1,941 117 45,369,711 279
100,001 1,000,000 407 025 141,605,826 872
1,000,001 —Highest 157 010 1,284,702,146 7907
Total 166,083 100.00 1,624,727,846 100.00

Percentage Number of Percentage

Number of of total ordinary of ssued
{ategory of sharehotder shareholders shareholders shares share capital
Private 161,053 9697  185490,855 1142
Institutionaland corporate 5030 303 1439236991 8858
Total 166,083 100.00 1624727846 100.00
2017/18 FINANCIAL CALENDAR AND KEY DATES
1 June 2017 Ex-dividend date - Final divmidend
2 June 2017 Reccrd date tc be eligible for the final dividend
11 July 2017 Results ~ Quarter 1 Trading update!
11 July 2017 Annual Ceneral Meeting (11am)
14 July 2017 Final dividend payment date for the year te 1 April 2017
8 November 2017* Results - Half Yeart
16 November 2017* Ex-dividend date - Interim dwidend
17 Novernber 2017* Record date tc be eligible for the interm dividend
January 2018* Results - Quarter 3 Trading update!
12 January 2018 Intenim dividend payment date

t Thosewho have registered for electronic communication or news alerts at marksandspencer.comy/thecompany will receive notification by emaill when this s available
* Prowvisionaldates

MANAGING YOUR SHARES ONLINE DIVIDENDS
Shareholders can manage their holdings = Have dividends paid into their Dividends are paid in January and July each
onlne by registering with Shareview, the bank account year, subject tc the relevant Board and

shareholder approvals These can be paid
quickly and securely directly into your bank
account Youmay also choose to have your
M&S encourages sharehclders tosignup for  davidends invested in further M&S shares
electronic communication as thereduction  through our dividend reinvestment plan

internet-based platform provided by
Equiniti Registration s a straightforward
process and allows shareholders to

-3 Vote in advance of Company
generalmeetings

- Signiup for electronic sharehclder
cammunicabion

INnprnting costs and paper usage makes (DRIP) (terms and conditions apply) To
- Recewve trading updates by email avaluable contribution to our Plan A arrange either of these options, simply call
- commitments It1s also beneficiaito Egquinitionthe numbers provided on the
> gf:ﬁgg therr sharenoldings in shareholders, who can be notified by ematt following page Alternatively,youcan
whenever we release trading updates to manage your dividend payment choices
- Update their records following the London Stock Exchange, which are not by registering with shareview.co.uk
achange of address mailed to shareholders

For more information about the services
offered by Shareview and to register,
please visit shareview.co.uk
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION CONTINUED

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2017

CHANGING YOUR ADDRESS

SHAREHOLDER QUERIES

This year's AGMwilt be held at Wermbley
Stadium, Wermbley London HA9 OWS

on Tuesday 11 July 2017 The meeting witl
start at 11am and registration will be open
from 9 3Cam

DUPLICATE DOCUMENTS

Many shareholders have morea than one
account on the share register andrecelve
duplicate documentation fromus as
aresutt If you fallinto this group, please
contact Equiniti to combine your accounts

CORPORATE WEBSITE

You can access the corporate website at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany

The M&S corpeorate website provides

a wealth of useful nformation for
shareholders and should be your first port
of call for general gueries relating to the
Company and its shares Through the
website you canalso register toreceive
news alerts by emait, simply cick on ‘alerts
inthetop right cornerand enter your details

The directors are resparisible for the
maintenance andintegrity of the financial
information on our website This information
has been prepared under the relevant
accounting standards and legislaticn

You should inform Equinit of your new
address as soon as possible to avoid missing
mportant correspondence relating to your
shareholding If you hold 2,500 shares or
fewer and reside inthe UK, this can bedone
quickly over the telephone Haldings of
rmore than 2,500 shares willreguire a wntten
instruction guoting your full name, 11-digit
shareholder reference number (if known)
and both your previous and new addresses

SHAREGIFT

If you have a very small shareholding that
s uneconomical to sell, youmay want

to consider donating it to ShareCift
{registered charity no 1052686), achanty
that specialises in the donation of small,
unwanted shareholdings to good causes
Find out rmore by visiting sharegift.org

or by calling +44 {0)207 930 3737

CAPITAL GAINS TAX

For the purpose of Capital Gains Tax (CCT),
the price of an ordinary share on 31 March
1982 was 153 5p, which whenadjustedfor the

1 for 1 scripissue N 1984, gives a figure of

76 75p Following the capital reorganisation
N March 2002, HMRC has confirmed that the
base cast for COT purposes was 372 35p

(81 423%) for an ordinary share and 68 75p
(1875%) for aB share

USEFUL CONTACTS

The Company’s share register 1s maintained
by our registrar, Equinitr Shareholders with
queries retating to ther shareholding should
contact Equinitidirectly using cne of

the methods listed below For more generat
queries, shareholders should consult the
‘Investors' section of our corporate website

AMERICAN DEPOSITARY
RECEIPTS (ADRS) :

The Company has a sponsored Level 1

ADR programme with Deutsche Bank

This enables US investors to purchase
Marks & Spencer American Depositary
Shares (ADS) In US dollars ‘over the counter’
The Company has chosen to have the
ADRs quoted on the OTC market’s ughest
tier, International PremierQiX

For information on GTCGX go to otcgx.com

For Deutsche Bank, ermail
DB@astfinancial.com

ADR website adr.db.com
Toll-free catlers within the US
1866 249 2593

For those calling outside the US
+1(718)921 8137

M&S Registered Office
Waterside House

35 North Wharf Road

London W2 INW

United Kingdom

Telephone +44 (0)20 7935 4422
Registered in England and Wales
(no. A256886)

General queries

Customer guernes 0345302 1234
Alternatively, email us at
chairman@marks-and-spencer.com

Registrar/Shareholder queries

Equirut Lirmited

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lanoing

West Sussex BN99 6DA

United Kinggom

Telephone 0345 6030810

If calling from outside the UK

+44(0)121 415 707

Online help.shareview.co.uk (from here,
you will be able to email Equiriti securely
with your enquiry)

Students
Please note, students are advised to
source inforrnation frorn our website

SHAREHOLDER SECURITY

Additional documents
Aninteractve version of our 2016/17
Annual Report s available online at
marksandspencer.com/
annualreport2017

Additionally, both the Annual Report
and Strategic Report are available

for download n pdf format at
marksandspencer.com/thecompany
Alternatively, call 0800 591 697

Group Secretary and Head
of Corporate Governance
Amanda Mellor

Anincreasing number of shareholders
have been contacting us to report
unsolicited and suspicious phone calls
recerved from purported ‘brokers’ who
offer to buy therr shares at aprice far in
excess of their market value 1115 unlikely
that firms authorised by the Financial
Conduct Authority (FCA) will contact you
with offers like this As such, we believe
these calls are part of a scam, commaonly
referred to as a ‘boder room’ The callers

obtain your details from publicly avallable
sources of infermation, ncluding the
Company's share register, and canbe
extremely persistent and persuasive

Shareholders are cautioned to be very
wary of any unsolicted adwvice, offers to
buy shares at a discount, selt your shares
ata prermum or requests to complete
confidentiality agreements with the callers
Remember, if it sounds teo good to

be true, it probably is!

More detailed information and guidance

is avallable on the shareholder information
pages of our corporate website, We also
encourage shareholders toread the

FCA's guidance on how to avoid scams

at fea.org.ukfconsumers/scams.

An overview of current common

scams can be found on the Action

Fraud website actionfraud.police.uk
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